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Introduction

Introduction
Who we are
King’s College Hospital NHS Foundation
Trust is one of London’s largest and busiest
teaching hospitals. It has a reputation for
providing excellent local healthcare in the
boroughs of Lambeth and Southwark and,
more recently, in Bromley and Lewisham. It
also provides a range of specialist services
for patients across south east England and
beyond.
King’s has been recognised nationally and
internationally for its work in the fields of
liver disease and transplantation, neurosciences, diabetes, cardiac services,
haemato-oncology and fetal medicine.
Designated a Major Trauma Centre and
host to two of eight hyper-acute stroke units
in London, King’s plays a key role in the
education and training of the next
generation of medical, nursing and dental
students.
King’s is also part of the Academic Health
Sciences Centre known as King’s Health
Partners (KHP). Together with academic
partners King’s College London and fellow
foundation trusts Guy’s and St Thomas’ and
South London and Maudsley, KHP brings
together an unrivalled range of physical and
mental health clinical and research
expertise. The combined strengths of this
collaboration benefits patients through
breakthroughs in research and
improvements in patient care.

beginnings on Portugal Street it has moved
south of the river to one of the UK’s most
diverse areas and transformed into a
complex campus of old and modern
buildings which together house groundbreaking research, cutting-edge technology
and the highest levels of patient care.
In the same year King’s acquired hospitals
and services which were formerly under the
management of South London Healthcare
Trust. When financial and operational
difficulties meant the NHS trust was no
longer viable, the Department of Health
approached King’s to become part of the
solution to provide healthcare services to
the populations of outer south east London.
The demands on King’s, and the NHS as a
whole, are significant. This is due to a
number of factors, including extreme
pressure on emergency departments, the
challenges presented by an aging
population, and reduced real-term funding
from central Government. Failings in care
across the NHS, most notably in Mid
Staffordshire and Morecambe Bay, have
been the subject of much scrutiny by
regulators, the public and the press.
This report tells the story of how King’s has
performed this year and how the challenges
have been tackled by the people who work
here. It reflects on this year’s performance
and next year’s priorities for providing
quality, patient-centred care. It also outlines
King’s plans for creating a sustainable
future which reflects the five King’s Values
that underpin the organisation.

An extraordinary year
This was the year when King’s College
Hospital celebrated 100 years of being part
of the community of Camberwell. From its
King’s College Hospital NHS Foundation Trust | Annual Report 2013/14
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Chair’s Statement
In the year that we
celebrated our centenary,
King’s underwent one of
its biggest and most
significant changes in
recent history.
In last year’s report, I
talked about the role we
might play in the future of
hospitals run by South London Healthcare
Trust. Specifically, we were considering the
possibility of acquiring the Princess Royal
University Hospital (PRUH) in Bromley. Fast
forward to 01 October 2013, and this became
a reality. We are now responsible for the
PRUH, Orpington Hospital, as well as
services at Queen Mary’s Hospital in Sidcup,
Sevenoaks Hospital and Beckenham
Beacon.
The opportunity this expansion presents is
enormous. However, as we expected, the
first six months have been challenging for
everyone, and it may be some time before we
feel the real benefits. That said, the attitude
of staff, local patients and the population, has
been extremely positive, and this has made
things much easier. The outlook for the future
is bright.
Centenary celebrations
2013/14 was also the year we celebrated 100
years in Camberwell, and we held a series of
events to mark the occasion.
We re-created the famous photograph from
1913 when King George V and Queen Mary
officially opened the hospital at Denmark Hill
(see page opposite). We held a centenary
themed open day, as well as a series of
lectures looking at the contribution King’s has
made to medicine and surgery over the
years.

Our centenary was a unique – and rare –
opportunity for everyone at King’s to take
stock, and celebrate the enormous
contribution we have made over the years. It
also reminded us how valued King’s is by the
local communities we serve, and how
fortunate we are to be based in an area as
culturally rich and diverse as Camberwell.
Listening to our patients and engaging the
communities we serve
Since we acquired the PRUH, we have taken
even greater care to make sure we listen to
the patients and local communities who use
our services, as well as the staff in our
hospitals who run them.
The expansion of King’s has been
challenging for everyone – this includes
existing staff, as well as those new to the
organisation.
We have held a series of listening events
over the past 12 months, and we are using
the feedback we’ve received to make sure we
are acting in the best interests of staff and
patients, who know their own service better
than anyone.
We’ve recruited new patient and staff
governors from our new constituencies in
Bromley and Lewisham, and will shortly be
recruiting new governors in Lambeth and
Southwark. We are also expanding our
membership – we had an impressive 21,000
at last count, which is good news.
In summary, it has been another busy year.
However, we shouldn’t forget that it has also
been a very successful and productive one.

Professor Sir George Alberti, Chair
King’s College Hospital NHS Foundation Trust | Annual Report 2013/14
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Chief Executive’s Statement
I have pleasure in
introducing and
commending to you
the sixth Annual
Report since my arrival
in 2008. This report
describes the most
significant year since
King’s relocated to Denmark Hill in 1913. I
am delighted that our Values ensure that we
continue to strive for excellence in all we do
and to ‘Always Aim Higher’. This year has
seen us begin the next stage of our
transformation journey. We acquired major
parts of the failing South London Healthcare
Trust; most notably, the Princess Royal
University Hospital, Orpington Hospital and
a number of services based at Beckenham
Beacon, Queen Mary’s Hospital in Sidcup
and Sevenoaks Hospital. This means we
now serve large numbers of residents in
Bromley, Lewisham and Bexley in addition
to those in Lambeth and Southwark. Our
successful integration and transformation of
these new additions to King’s will radically
transform the quality of healthcare in south
east London.
So first and foremost, I would like to thank
our patients, our stakeholders, our staff and
the Board of Directors and Council of
Governors. This has been a trail-blazing
year, as well as the one in which we
celebrated our centenary on Denmark Hill.
It has all been made possible by the
goodwill we have established over many
years.

too long in A&E and for elective
appointments. We are victims of our own
success, but we need to increase capacity
and efficiency, whilst continuing to deliver
compassionate care.
There are a number of other important
matters I must mention in this report - our
Volunteers’ Programme is ground-breaking;
our work in overseas jurisdictions is
innovative; our leadership of King’s Health
Partners and Southwark and Lambeth
Integrated Care, all demonstrate our ability
to work across boundaries. The award of
the Collaboration in Leadership for Applied
Health Research & Care (CLAHRC) and the
opening of the Clinical Research Facility,
are testament to our increasing academic
focus. This will support our tertiary
specialties, but will also increase the quality
of care we provide locally.
We have the lowest mortality rates we’ve
ever had. We have very strong clinical
leadership and governance. We are serving
more patients than ever before. There are
many other examples of which we are
proud.
I hope you enjoy this report and find it
useful.

Timothy Smart
Chief Executive

This report also describes the many
challenges we face. It would be
disingenuous not to mention here that we
face many challenges. Patients are waiting
10
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Strategic Report
Measuring and Managing
Performance
Operating and performance review
2013/14 was an exceptionally challenging
year for King’s in terms of performance.
Unprecedented levels of activity, including
the highest ever recorded number of
emergency attendances at 482 on 17 March
2014, have placed enormous pressures on
staff and resources. The challenges are
made no less manageable by the
knowledge that this is a situation mirrored
across London and the NHS.
Key performance highlights at the
Denmark Hill site
For the first six months of the reporting
period King’s was a single organisation
based at the Denmark Hill site in
Camberwell. From 01 October King’s
expanded to incorporate the Princess Royal
University Hospital (PRUH) and other sites
but maintained its current systems for
monitoring and measuring performance.
Throughout the year the Denmark Hill site
continued to face growth in emergency
attendances, admissions and patient acuity.
Despite this the Denmark Hill site
succeeded in delivering key national and
local targets for cancer waiting times, nonadmitted and incomplete referral to
admission times, Clostridium Difficile (C.
difficile), standard hospital mortality rates
and venous-thromboembolism assessment.
The Denmark Hill site met targets for
emergency care waiting times in the first
two quarters of the year. This achievement
was in line with the declaration made in the

forward plan submitted to Monitor in May
2013.
Denmark Hill: emergency department ‘4hour wait’ performance
Despite unprecedented demand for
emergency department services, the waiting
time target of 4 hours was achieved in
quarters 1 and 2. To ensure optimal
performance over winter, King’s made
significant investment at the Denmark Hill
site in the form of additional staff and extra
capacity. King’s failed to achieve the same
target in quarters 3 and 4, as predicted in
the forward plan. This was due to a 6% rise
in emergency attendances and a 9% rise in
emergency admissions in the last two years.
In addition there was an increase in the
acuity of patients coming into the
emergency department and a widening
catchment area for emergency care. King’s
continues to manage emergency
performance at a senior executive level on a
daily basis and is working with
commissioners to address the issue of
sustained additional demand.
Denmark Hill: access targets
High levels of emergency admissions
heavily impacted on the achievement of 18week referral to treatment targets for
admitted patients throughout the year.
Although anticipated and declared in the
forward plan submitted to Monitor, a strong
focus has been maintained on improving
performance in this area and to clear the
backlog. This focus will continue in 2014/15
to ensure that the referral to treatment time
position becomes more robust.
National waiting time targets for cancer
patients were achieved ensuring that cancer
and suspected cancer patients were treated
in a timely manner throughout the year.

King’s College Hospital NHS Foundation Trust | Annual Report 2013/14
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Denmark Hill: infection prevention and
control
The number of cases of C.difficile continued
to reduce this year. There were a total of 49
cases, compared with 54 cases in 2012/13.
Although no longer a reporting requirement,
there were seven cases of MRSA attributed
to King’s during the year. King’s monitors
other instances of other healthcare acquired
infections and this remains a priority area.
Denmark Hill: mortality indicators and
VTE
In line with guidance from the Department of
Health, King’s has continued reporting inhospital deaths using the Summary
Hospital-level Mortality Indicator (SHMI). In
2013/14 the SHMI was 58, compared with
the expected index of 100, indicating that
outcomes were better than expected.
Finally, the Denmark Hill site delivered
above the nationally set target of 90% of
patients being assessed for venousthromboembolism (VTE) and in 2013/14.
Key performance highlights at other
King’s sites in 2013/14
On 01 October King’s took responsibility for
the PRUH, Orpington Hospital and services
at Queen Mary Hospital n Sidcup,
Sevenoaks Hospital and Beckenham
Beacon.
On acquisition, the PRUH was operationally
in a very challenging position. King’s has
put in robust plans to improve performance
against all local and national indicators.
Targets achieved in quarter 3 include
C.difficile, 31-day cancer waiting time, 62day wait for consultant screening and 2week wait for breast screening. Targets
achieved in quarter 4 include 31-day cancer
waiting time, 62-day cancer waiting time
12

and 2-week wait for breast screening. (N.B.
Cancer data is reported one month in
arrears and equates to only January and
February data).
As part of the plans submitted to Monitor
during the acquisition process, King’s
declared that for the remaining two quarters
of the year the PRUH site would not meet
the emergency department 4-hour waiting
time target, the trajectory for cases of Cdifficile, the RTT admitted and incomplete
pathway targets, the 62-day wait for first
clinician appointment and 2-week wait for all
cancers.
PRUH: emergency department ‘4-hour
wait’ performance
There were a number of drivers for the
failure of the PRUH to achieve the 4-hour
waiting time target, including insufficient
establishment numbers on acquisition,
capacity issues, and ongoing problems with
patient flow. These were identified prior to
the acquisition and have been an area of
focus for urgent improvement since day 1.
PRUH: access targets
As anticipated, the PRUH did not meet the
18-week referral to treatment targets for
admitted patients and incomplete pathways
in quarters 3 and 4. The PRUH also failed
the non-admitted pathway target for four
months during the reporting period, primarily
due to data issues associated with the
Sidcup site, however did achieve it by the
end of the financial year. As at Denmark
Hill, a strong focus on improving
performance in this area has been
maintained and will continue in 2014/15.
Delivery of national waiting time targets for
cancer patients was also an area of
challenge. The 62-day wait for first clinician
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appointment target was not achieved in
quarter 3 and the 2-week wait for all
cancers wasn’t achieved in quarters 3 or 4.
PRUH: Infection control
Between 01 October and 31 March the
number of cases of C.difficile at the PRUH
site reached 13. This exceeded the
trajectory of 10 and so there is a strong
executive focus on improvement in this
area.
PRUH: mortality indicators and VTE
SHMI is provided by King’s benchmarking
partner CHKS and for 2013/14 they do not
have access to PRUH-specific data so are
unable to provide a SHMI score for the
PRUH site. For 2014/15 King’s is
implementing the Healthcare Evaluation
Data system, which will enable reporting for
both sites going forward.
By the end of 2013/14 the PRUH had
improved its performance for VTE
assessment and delivered above the
nationally set target of a 90% assessment
rate.
Information about financial and governance
risk ratings during the reporting period can
be found on pages 19-20. Further details on
key quality improvements and King’s
performance against goals agreed with
commissioners can be found in the Quality
Account 2013/14 on pages 80-175.
Facilities management services
King’s currently has separate full facilities
management services contracts at the
PRUH, Orpington and Denmark Hill sites.
These contracts provide a range of key
facilities services which range from
cleaning, patient catering to linen and postal
services.

At the PRUH and Orpington these services
are provided by ISS Facility Services
Healthcare. At the Denmark Hill site these
services are provided by Compass –
Medirest.
The performance and compliance levels of
these contracts are managed by strict
monitoring processes linked into payment
mechanisms, which can penalise the
contractor when performance is poor but
can also reward the contractor when their
performance is found to be excellent or
beyond expectations.
Non-emergency patient transport
services
King’s has a current contractual agreement
with Savoy Ventures Ltd for the provision of
these services at both the Denmark Hill and
PRUH sites.

Ensuring Financial
Sustainability
The 2013/14 financial year was
characterised by two major factors affecting
King’s reported financial position. Firstly the
acquisition of assets and services
previously owned by South London
Healthcare Trust and, secondly, the
continued capacity challenge caused by the
rapid increase in emergency demand. Both
these factors had a material effect on the
financial outturn. The reported surplus after
exceptional items was £59.7m; however this
included a gain on the transfer of the
acquired assets of £65.5m and an
impairment of asset values of £2.65m. The
deficit before exceptional items was £3.1m.
This compares to a target surplus of £2m
before exceptional items submitted in the
forward plan to Monitor. Impairments

King’s College Hospital NHS Foundation Trust | Annual Report 2013/14
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Table 1: Key financial indicators
Full year (£’000)
Income
Expenditure excluding Impairment
Operating surplus excluding Impairment
Net financing costs
Public dividends
Share of profit of associate (GSTS Pathology LLP)
accounted for using the equity method
Operating surplus/(deficit) before impairment and
exceptional items
Impairment
Deficit before exceptional items
Gain/(Loss) on transfer by absorption
Surplus/(Deficit) after exceptional items
occur when the economic or
service benefit from an asset no longer
reflects the holding value in the accounts.
This can occur with both existing assets and
new assets when first brought into use. See
table 1 on page 14 for further information.
King’s continuity of services risk rating
(COSR) for the financial year was 3, in
accordance with the planned value. The
COSR rating is the new four point risk rating
(where a larger number indicates a better
rating) used by Monitor to assess the
financial viability of foundation trusts. It
consists of two metrics: debt service cover
and liquidity. Debt service demonstrates
that a trust is able to meet all debt
obligations from the surplus produced in
year. The liquidity metric aims to ensure that
the trust can meet all of its cash obligations.
Unlike the old rating system this does not
take into account the working capital facility
which King’s has in place with the Royal
Bank of Scotland, and is purely based on
King’s own internal resources. The aim of
the systems is to provide assurance that
14

2012/2013

2013/2014

£679,260
£658,765
£20,495
£10,257
£7,764

£892,054
£869,227
£22,827
£17,055
£10,195

£738

£1,278

£3,212

-£3,145

£9,129
-£5,917
0
-£5,917

£2,648
-£5,793
£65,542
£59,749

King’s is ‘a going concern’ and, therefore,
will be able to continue to provide
healthcare services.
Acquisition of assets and services from
South London Healthcare NHS Trust
In July 2012 the Secretary of State for
Health enacted the Regime for
Unsustainable NHS Providers at South
London Healthcare Trust (SLHT). At that
point the Trust Board was suspended and a
Trust Special Administrator (TSA) appointed
to be the Accountable Officer for the Trust
and to develop recommendations for the
Secretary of State on how to deliver clinical
and financial sustainability.
Following a period of formal public
consultation the TSA submitted his final
report to the Secretary of State for
Health.The TSA recommended that
Princess Royal University Hospital (PRUH)
be acquired by King’s College Hospital NHS
Foundation Trust, with the associated
hospital sites in Bromley (Beckenham
Beacon and Orpington Hospital) being part
of this transaction. The Secretary of State
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supported this recommendation and the
NHS Trust Development Authority
progressed discussions with King’s in order
to agree the Heads of Terms for this
transfer.
As part of the discussions around the
transfer of PRUH to King’s a number of
amendments to the TSA’s original
recommendation were agreed:
 Bromley Mental Health Services,
provided by Oxleas NHS Foundation
Trust, will remain in Green Parks House
at the PRUH pending a review of King’s
capacity requirements once the TSA
recommendations have been
implemented; and


King’s will maintain Orpington Hospital
to provide the short term capacity
required by King’s to provide support
during winter by functioning as an
elective care centre. After a period of
three years, the use of Orpington
Hospital will be reviewed based on local
commissioning plans, King’s wider
service portfolio and the requirement
around service change at that point in
time.

King’s received all services provided at
PRUH, excluding the services provided
within Green Parks House. King’s also
received all SLHT services provided at
Orpington Hospital; all SLHT services
provided at Beckenham Beacon for a period
of three years, except where otherwise
requested by Bromley Clinical
Commissioning Group at an alternative site
once the King’s lease expires; and all SLHT
services provided at the Sevenoaks site.
King’s also received a range of services
provided at Queen Mary’s Hospital (QMH)
in Sidcup, including all dental services,

community midwifery services and
ophthalmology (for an interim period of 22
months). Inpatient elective surgery,
endoscopy and Programmed Investigation
Unit/Day Assessment Unit services
provided on the QMH site for PRUH
patients were also received by King’s, with a
view to them being repatriated to King’s
sites as soon as possible.
In order to support effective working with
other receivers King’s was required to put in
place lease arrangements and to establish a
number of cross party agreements with
other receiver organisations.
A financial agreement for the transfer of the
PRUH to King’s was agreed that provides
King’s with £192.1m of support over the
next five years (see table 2 on page 16).
This includes revenue support of £145.4m,
and capital and liquidity support totalling
£46.7m, excluding any capital required to
deliver the service changes.
Progress in implementing the change
programme associated with the transaction
is monitored by means of the Board
Integration Committee (further information
on page 54). Information about the
managing the risks associated with the
transaction can be found in the Annual
Governance Statement on pages 177-188.
Income and expenditure
King’s over performed against the service
level agreements with commissioners as
has consistently been the case over the last
few years. This year, the emergency
department at Denmark Hill saw its highest
ever daily attendance and emergency
admissions saw a 15% year-on-year rise.
These increases were partly due to the
general increase in emergency demand
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Table 2: Acquisition financial support
PFI
Org. Solutions
Run Rate Support
Total Revenue
Liquidity
Other
Total Capital
Total

2013/14
10.5
14.0
21.0
45.5
12.3
30.9
43.2
88.8

seen nationally, but also due to the
particular effects of being a Major Trauma
Centre and Hyper-acute Stroke Unit.
Although this activity generated additional
income, the overall effect was deleterious
on the financial position. This was due to:
 Additional bed usage for emergency
patients which meant that elective
patients, particularly in the tertiary
specialties, were displaced. It is
estimated that this reduced the net
surplus position by nearly £2m in the
year;
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In order to maintain reasonable waiting
times, some elective procedures were
undertaken offsite in the private sector
or outside normal operating hours.
These were at a higher cost than normal
operations and, in a number of cases,
the costs exceeded the income
received. A total of £7m was spent on
this in the financial year; and
The acuity of the emergency patients
required higher than normal staffing
levels, leading to high usage of
temporary staffing both from the internal
staff bank and agencies. This was
exacerbated by a general shortage of
suitably trained staff and the need to
supplement inadequate nursing levels at

2014/15
10.8
11.3
19.0
41.1
0.0
1.6
1.6
42.8

2015/16
11.1
5.5
8.4
25.0
0.0
1.8
1.8
26.8

2016/17
11.5
1.7
7.9
21.1
0.0
0.0
0.0
21.1

2017/18
11.8
0.9
0.0
12.7
0.0
0.0
0.0
12.7

Total
55.7
33.4
56.3
145.4
12.3
34.3
46.6
192.0

the PRUH revealed by King’s due
diligence exercise.
These effects were partially offset by
additional support by local commissioners
and strong private patient income growth.
Liquidity and capital
The overall liquidity position of King’s was in
line with the plan value. Significantly, more
money was spent than planned on capital
development projects due to the need to
increase capacity. This included a new
temporary Clinical Decision Unit at Denmark
Hill, equipping the new Centenary Wing,
fitting out and equipping the new elective
centre at Orpington, enabling works for the
new Critical Care Unit and estates
development at the PRUH.
The level of over-performance, coupled with
changes in commissioning structures, has
led to significant delays in payments of
amounts owing and a consequent increase
in the year end debt balance. King’s has
verified the balances owing with debtor
organisations and is confident the vast
majority will be honoured.
King’s has been able to maintain a position
where there was no requirement to access
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its short term working capital facility1. King’s
aims to pay creditors within 30 days of
receiving a valid invoice, subject to the
timely settlement of invoices by its
commissioners. King’s achieved this for
80% of invoices in the year.
Value for money and improved efficiency
Divisions and corporate departments
delivered 73% of the planned efficiency
schemes during 2013/14, a slightly lower
rate compared to 2012/13. This was
predominantly due to the high levels of
emergency demand adversely affecting
plans for additional tertiary income. For
2014/15, the efficiency will be improved by a
combination of divisional schemes together
with a range of trust-wide schemes such as
improved length of stay, increased
outpatient productivity and theatre
productivity. Performance is monitored by a
programme management office and, where
applicable, the integration teams overseeing
the delivery of the acquisition business case
benefits.
Trading environment and financial risks
Despite commissioner attempts to manage
demand and to redirect patients to more
community based healthcare provision,
demand on King’s facilities increased again
during the year.
Two hyper-acute stroke units and
designation as a Major Trauma Centre has
also increased the number of patients
referred to King’s. The pressure on facilities
caused by the high level of emergency
activity affected the number of elective

patients treated and caused a knock on
effect to emergency care waiting times
during the year. In addition, King’s is
working with its KHP partners and local
commissioners to improve integrated care in
the community to provide the most clinically
effective arrangement of services for the
local population and to help avoid inpatient
admissions by identifying deteriorating
patients earlier particularly amongst the frail
elderly. More information about integrated
care can be found on pages 75-76.
The continued economic downturn means
that there will be pressure on NHS income
streams for the foreseeable future. It is also
likely that central funding streams will be
squeezed, tariffs will fall even after allowing
for inflation and commissioners will seek to
reduce activity. Over the next five years,
King’s will be required to deliver significant
cost efficiencies to mitigate this income loss.
Non-clinical activities
KCH Commercial Services Limited, the
company established to oversee
commercial operations, continues to
diversify income by expanding commercial
activities both in the UK and overseas. It
has now been in operation for six years.
During that time, the first of the operating
companies, Agnentis Limited, successfully
established itself as a market leader in
patient costing and benchmarking solutions
before divesting the associated products in
2012. KCH Management Limited continues
to develop a hospital management and
consultancy business both in the UK and
overseas, predominantly in the Middle East
and Africa. King’s first non-UK operation will
open in Abu Dhabi, UAE in May 2014.

1

King’s had in place at 31 March 2014 a £40m
working capital facility, to protect it from the
effects of any short-term fluctuations in cash
flow.

The financial performance of GSTS
Pathology, a venture between King’s, Guy’s
and St Thomas’ and Serco plc, has

King’s College Hospital NHS Foundation Trust | Annual Report 2013/14

17

Strategic Report
continued to improve during 2013 and the
venture delivered an increased surplus in
the year ending December 2013. Future
profitability will be affected in the short term
by the decision of Her Majesty’s Revenue
and Customs to change the VAT treatment
on the delivery of pathology services. This
will require a corporate restructuring of
GSTS which will be undertaken during
2014.
King’s is a public benefit corporation and its
principal purpose is the provision of goods
and services for the purposes of the health
service in England. During the reporting
period, income from the provision of goods
and services for the purposes of the health
service in England was greater than from
the provision of goods and services for any
other purpose. Income received from nonNHS services is directly invested in the
provision of NHS services and do not
impact the services provided to NHS
patients. For the financial year 2013/14, it is
estimated that the surplus reinvested was
approximately £5m.
Changes to accounting policies
There were no significant changes to
accounting policies during the year.
Cost allocation requirements
King’s has complied with the cost allocation
and charging requirements set out in HM
Treasury and Office of Public Sector
Information guidance.
External audit services
Deloitte LLP is King’s external auditor
having been appointed by the Council of
Governors in May 2011 for a period of three
years following a competitive tendering
exercise. King’s incurred £121,000 in audit
services fees in relation to the statutory
18

audit for the year to 31 March 2014 and
£7,000 in respect of audit-related assurance
services.
So far as King’s directors are aware, there
is no relevant audit information of which the
auditors are unaware. King’s directors have
taken all of the steps that they ought to have
taken as directors in order to make
themselves aware of any audit information
and to establish that the auditors are aware
of that information.
After making enquiries, the directors have a
reasonable expectation that the NHS
Foundation Trust has adequate resources
to continue in operational existence for the
foreseeable future. For this reason they
continue to adopt the going concern basis in
preparing the accounts.
Borrowing and capital plans
Monitor previously set a prudential
borrowing limit for King’s of £141m. Due to
the adoption of International Financial
Reporting Standards, the majority of this
limit is consumed by past expenditure on
the private finance initiative schemes for the
Golden Jubilee Wing and Ruskin Wing.
King’s does not hold any financial
instruments, nor have any exposure to price
risk, credit risk, liquidity risk or cash flow risk
material for the assessment of the assets,
liabilities, financial position and results of
the entity. Further information about these
risks can be found in the financial
statements on pages191-196.
Enabling works for the new critical care
scheme have commenced, with full
operation anticipated during 2015.
Fundraising campaigns were instituted to
provide a new helipad facility to augment
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King’s position as a Major Trauma Centre
for south east London and the wider south
east. During the year additional capacity
was commissioned at the Denmark Hill,
PRUH and Orpington sites as required to
meet the increasing demand for services.
More information about some of these
projects can be found on page 31.
The policy of maintaining King’s asset base
by committing capital expenditure on
existing assets at a level broadly consistent
with their rate of depreciation will continue.
Full details of financial performance in
2013/14, the responsibilities of the
Accounting Officer and a statement from the
auditors can be found in the Annual
Accounts 2013/14 on pages 175-247.
The accounts have been prepared under a
direction issued by Monitor under the
National Health Service Act 2006.

How King’s is Regulated
King’s received foundation trust status on
01 December 2006. Every year, King’s is
required to submit a forward plan to
independent regulator of foundation trusts,
Monitor. The plan provides a framework for
decision-making and performance tracking
and as such includes projected performance
against financial and governance targets.
Until 30 September 2013 these targets were
set out in Monitor’s Compliance Framework.
On 01 October 2013 Monitor’s new
framework, known as the Risk Assessment
Framework (RAF), was introduced following
a period of consultation. As the year
progressed, King’s was required to make
quarterly submissions regarding
performance against the projections
declared in its forward plan.

In May 2013 King’s declared that the
performance indicators at risk of not being
achieved in 2013/14 were:
 MRSA;
 C. difficile;
 18-week Referral to Treatment (RTT)
admitted; and
 A&E clinical quality – total time in A&E
under 4 hours
The MRSA indicator was subsequently
removed from consideration under the
newly introduced RAF.
In quarters 1 and 2, when reporting under
the Compliance Framework, King’s reported
itself as having a governance rating of
‘Amber-Green’ due to the non-achievement
of the RTT admitted target. Under the RAF
Monitor revised these ratings to ‘Green’.
For quarter 3 the governance rating has
been changed to ‘considering investigation’
because the following indicators were not
achieved, as had been stated in the forward
plan:
 C. difficile;
 18-week RTT admitted; and
 A&E clinical quality – total time in A&E
under 4 hours.
Due to the continued and extreme pressure
on King’s and across healthcare services in
south east London in quarter 4, it is
anticipated that the quarter 4 rating will also
be ‘considering investigation’ despite the
achievement of the C.difficile target.
The financial risk rating changed to the
continuity of services risk rating under the
RAF. Under both frameworks, the rating has
remained at 3 throughout the year.
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King’s a series of governance trajectories
for the PRUH but that it would not receive
formal governance ratings in quarters 3 and
4. For 2014/15, there are plans in place to
establish an ‘Access Board’, with a model
similar to that used by the Emergency Care
Board, which will review RTT, cancer and
diagnostic waiting time performance.

Tables 3 and 4 below outline the financial
and governance ratings for this reporting
period and the previous year, reflecting the
change in reporting frameworks.
The governance ratings in table 4 apply only
to the Denmark Hill site. As part of the
acquisition process, Monitor agreed with

Table 3: Monitor Financial and Governance Ratings 2013/14
Annual Plan
Q1 2013/14
2013/14
Under the Compliance Framework
Financial risk
3
3
rating
Governance risk
Red
Amber-Green
rating
Under the Risk Assessment Framework
Continuity of
n/a
n/a
services rating
Governance risk
n/a
n/a
rating

Q2 2013/14

Q3 2013/14

Q4 2013/14

3

n/a

n/a

Amber-Green

n/a

n/a

n/a

3

3

Green

Considering
investigation

Considering
investigation

Table 4: Monitor Financial and Governance Ratings 2012/13
Annual Plan
2012/13
Under the Compliance Framework
Financial risk rating
Governance risk
rating

Q1 2012/13

Q2 2012/13

Q3 2012/13

Q4 2012/13

3

3

3

3

3

Red

Amber-Red

Green

Green

Amber-Red

Planning for the Future
Everything that King’s does is focused on
patient need. From local services to global
specialties, the vision of this hospital is for
patients to experience the highest possible
quality of care.
As the new financial and regulatory year
begins, King’s is three hospitals in one plus
many additional services at other sites
across outer south east London. King’s is
an exceptionally busy acute emergency
20

hospital, a very large district general
hospital, and a tertiary specialist hospital
with high impact academic research.
All hospitals and services will be bound
together by King’s Values and by
compassionate high quality patient-centered
care. It will be essential that King’s is
efficient in the use of resources, highly
productive and that innovation is fostered
and encouraged.
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In the wider context of the NHS as a whole,
all trusts are continuing to adjust to the
significant changes to the structure and
commissioning arrangements within the
NHS and continuing pressure on public
finances.
Monitor has required all foundation trusts to
submit a two-year operational plan and
financial projections. This plan will be used
as a cornerstone of scrutiny and
assessment of organisational fitness and
progress over the medium and long-term.
Trusts are also required to submit a fiveyear strategy. At the time of publication, this
strategy was still in development. It will be
approved by the Board of Directors and
submitted at the end of June.
Quality priorities
King’s Quality Account sets out the priority
areas for improving quality in the coming
year, as well as evaluating performance
against last year’s priorities. The Quality
Account can be found on pages 80-175.
King’s Health Partners Academic Health
Sciences Centre
King’s Health Partners Academic Health
Sciences Centre was set up five years ago.
It brings together a world-leading research
led university (King’s College London) and
three successful NHS foundation trusts
(Guy’s and St Thomas’, King’s College
Hospital and South London and Maudsley).
In November 2013, KHP was successfully
designated as an Academic Health
Sciences Centre (AHSC) for a further five
years. It is one of only six centres
nationwide to achieve AHSC status.
KHP sits at the heart of a diverse
community in south London and aims to
provide the people who live here with

King’s two-year operational plan has five
key themes:
1.




Consolidation and focus on the basics
Getting the basics right every time
Delivering high quality productive services
Meet all operational and quality regulatory
requirements and targets
2. All Together Better
 One high-performing hospital across multiple
sites
 Consistently high-quality care at all times in
all places
 Services reorganised across sites to improve
quality and efficiency
3. Organising around quality
 Embedding quality in the culture in every
ward and patient interaction
 Staff training and education
 Holistic patient assessment and better
information and advice
4. Integrating care
 More effective integration of acute care with
primary, community and social care
 Focus on frail and elderly local population
 Collaborate with partners to transform care
pathways out of hospital
5. Rebalancing our service portfolio
 Review service configuration in the new
enlarged organisation
 Free up medical bed capacity and provide
protected beds for elective services
 Work at high productivity rates for elective
procedures

access to the best health services possible.
At the same time, it aims to develop new
treatments that will benefit people locally,
nationally and internationally.
In 2012 KHP explored the outline case for
changing the way the organisations are
structured so that it can go further, faster.
This could involve merging the three NHS
organisations and becoming more closely
integrated with the university partner King’s
College London.
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On the 30 October 2013 the KHP Partners
Board met to discuss the options for next
steps on the KHP journey towards better
patient outcomes and experience, enabled
by better academic and education
performance.

The King’s Values are:
 Understanding you
 Inspiring confidence in our care
 Working together
 Always aiming higher
 Making a difference in our community

It was concluded that it was not the right
time to launch a full merger process. One
key reason for this was the lack of clarity
over the regulatory and competition
framework, which had been evidenced by
decision of the Competition Commission to
not approve the merger of hospitals in
Bournemouth and Poole. The Partners
Board instead agreed in principle some next
steps precedent to the development of a full
business case for merger. These include
the development of a Clinical and Academic
Site Strategy, accelerated work to develop
integrated care services in south east
London, further definition of the patient
benefits case, and proposed changes to the
governance of KHP going forward.

Implicit in King’s Values and significant
factors in King’s strategic thinking are
social, community and human rights issues.

King’s Values
King’s is committed to playing a meaningful
role within the community it serves and for
the staff it employs.
In 2009 King’s Values were developed and
defined by staff and stakeholders.
Establishing these values within the
organisational culture begins at recruitment
and continues throughout the induction of
new staff. This applies to the staff that
joined King’s from former SLHT sites during
the reporting period. The King’s Values are
further incorporated into training and
development throughout employment.
There are five King’s Values and more
information about them can be found on
King’s website.
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Tackling the health inequalities prevalent
amongst sections of the local population is
an area of focus for both King’s and KHP.
More information about how King’s works
with its members and governors to ensure
that hospital services meet the needs of its
diverse community can be found on pages
68-69.
Ensuring that the human rights of patients
are protected is an important part of King’s
practice. King’s policies uphold protocols of
the European Convention on Human Rights,
and recognise the importance of human
rights such as privacy, dignity, liberty and
right to life.
Workforce statistics
King’s is a significant employer in the local
area and is committed to the training and
development of its staff.
In the table on the next page there is a
breakdown of staff according to age,
ethnicity, gender, recorded disability, sexual
orientation and religion covering the past
three years. Disclosure requirements that
are new for 2013/14 are indicated by an
asterisk. More information about King’s
workforce and in particular its approach to
equality and diversity can be found in the
directors’ report on pages 33-67.
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2011/2012
Headcount
%
Age
0-16
17-21
22+
Ethnicity
White
Mixed
Asian or Asian British
Black or Black British
Other
Unknown
Gender (all staff)

2012/2013
Headcount
%

2013/2014
Headcount

%

0
50
7177

0%
1%
99%

0
69
7845

0%
1%
99%

0
117
10984

1%
99%

3736
225
1246
1742
137
141

52%
3%
17%
24%
2%
2%

4119
242
1366
1838
154
195

52%
3%
17%
23%
2%
2%

6148
314
1861
2214
208
356

55%
3%
16%
20%
2%
3%

Male
Female
Gender (senior managers)*
Male
Female
Gender (directors)*
Male
Female
Recorded Disability

1879
5348

26%
74%

1986
5928

25%
75%

2641
8460

24%
76%

-

-

-

-

10
18

36%
64%

-

-

-

-

11
5

69%
31%

Yes
No
Not Declared
Unknown
Sexual Orientation
Bisexual
Gay
Heterosexual
Lesbian
I do not wish to disclose
Unknown
Religion
Atheism
Buddhism
Christianity
Hinduism
Islam
Jainism
Judaism
Sikhism
Other
I do not wish to disclose

216
6064
215
732

3%
84%
3%
10%

223
6771
216
704

3%
86%
3%
9%

291
9103
888
819

3%
82%
8%
7%

54
74
4449
31
1445
1174

1%
1%
62%
0%
20%
16%

56
97
5141
33
1366
1221

1%
1%
65%
0%
17%
15%

77
123
7596
41
1941
1323

1%
1%
68%
0%
17%
12%

444
42
3289
225
258
14
17
29
366
1373

6%
1%
46%
3%
4%
0%
0%
0%
5%
19%

601
52
3705
249
293
12
19
35
397
1334

8%
1%
47%
3%
4%
0%
0%
0%
5%
17%

913
79
5193
336
375
11
24
53
549
2258

8%
1%
47%
3%
3%
0%
0%
0%
5%
20%

Unknown
Total Staff Numbers

1170
7227

16%

1217
7914

15%

1310
11101

12%
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Caring for the Environment
King’s undertakes sustainability reporting in
line with the HM Treasury 2013/14 guidance
Public Sector Annual Reports: Sustainability
Reporting in the Public Sector.
Sustainability reporting is an important
element of King’s performance and the
need to minimise impact on the environment
and to operate as a sustainable and efficient
organisation is recognised.
At the time of publication, data from the
sites which King’s took responsibility for in
October 2013 was not available. Therefore
the following information applies only to the
Denmark Hill site.
Summary of performance
This year King’s has again increased the
size of its estate and activity on the site.
This resulted in an increase in energy
consumption and carbon emissions by 4%
to 22,642 tonnes.

Overall the total waste generated has
increased by 736 tonnes in 2013/14 as a
result of the increase in the size of the
estate and the opening of new wards and
departments.
A change in the disposal processes and
treatment of waste commenced in
November 2012. This involved diverting the
domestic waste stream to materials
recovery facilities and energy from waste
facilities and has generated an additional
414 tonnes of recycling and a reduction of
637 tonnes of waste sent to landfill.
King’s increased water consumption
compared to the previous year of 5% or
10,000 cubic metres (see table 6 below).
Water metering technology has been
installed as the next step in King’s water
reduction strategy.

Table 6: Summary of performance
Performance
2013 – 14

Area
Greenhouse Gas Emissions (Scope 1, 2, 3 Business
Travel (excluding air and rail travel)

Emissions (000, tonnes)

Estate Energy

Consumption (kWh)
Expenditure (£)

Estate Waste

Amount (tonnes)
Expenditure (£)

Estate Water

22,129
120,706,175
4,619,474

3,941

1,268,596

Consumption (m3)
197,771
Expenditure (£)
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Summary of future strategy
King’s Environmental Strategy came into
effect on 01 April 2012. This strategy
details objectives and targets for the
following environmental themes:
 Improving the patient experience;
 Designing and maintaining the built
environment;
 Waste management and minimisation;
 Pollution prevention;
 Energy and CO2 management;
 Water;
 Sustainable procurement;
 Low carbon transport and travel;
 Staff engagement and ownership;
 Working with our stakeholders; and
 Governance and finance.
A copy of King’s Environmental Strategy
document can be obtained from:
kch-tr.foi@nhs.net.
Greenhouse gas emissions
King’s has increased its carbon emissions
this year by 4% due to the increased activity
on the site.
It is increasingly challenging to reduce
energy consumption on site because King’s
is a successful and growing trust which will
increase its energy consumption as it
increases in size and activity increases.
Work has already started on the design and
build of a critical care unit and helicopter
pad at the Denmark Hill site.
In addition King’s continues to invest in the
latest high tech equipment to deliver
improved patient care. This includes MRI
and CT scanners which are very energy
intensive pieces of equipment.
Further new buildings will be added to
King’s estate in 2014/15, all of which will be

heated and powered from energy generated
sustainably from King’s Energy Centre. All
new buildings and refurbishments are being
designed by the projects team with energy
efficiency and sustainability as a priority
(see page 31 for further information).
As a result of this expansion King’s set a
target this year of maintaining its carbon
emissions at the same level per m2 and to
maintain emissions at their current level of
22,642 tonnes for the same footprint.
However the annual energy costs and
consumption reported next year will
increase substantially when data for the
newly acquired PRUH and Orpington
Hospitals is reported.
Waste management
Overall the total waste generated by King’s
has increased by 736 tonnes in 2013/14.
However this increase in total waste can be
attributed to the expansion in estate size
with the opening of new wards and
departments, for example, the Centenary
Wing. There has also been an increase in
activities around the hospital, especially
within the emergency department, from
December 2013 to the early part of 2014
which has contributed to the increase in the
clinical waste stream.
In November 2012, general non-hazardous
waste and furniture items, such as broken
and beyond repair tables and chairs, were
diverted to materials recycling facilities and
this has improved the recovery of materials
for recycling. This off-site change of
process and treatment has recovered an
estimated 1,273 tonnes for recycling, which
represents an increase of 48% on the
previous year.
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The overall waste tonnes are expected to
increase in the future due to new project
development on the Denmark Hill site and
also due to the acquisition of the formerSLHT sites which will be reported
separately in future reports.

costs have risen to £4.7 million excluding
costs for the PRUH and Orpington Hospital.
Energy inflation for the year 2014/15 is
expected to be at 10%, further increasing
the need for energy efficiency measures.

The provision of waste management
services is a fixed annual cost to King’s.
Any increases in costs associated with
waste quantities, HM taxes or gate fees, are
at risk with the contractor. The total cost of
waste disposed was £1,268,596 per 3,941
tonnes in 2013/14.
A new centralised waste management
facility situated in Unit 8 has allowed us to
manage waste more effectively. Waste can
be properly segregated allowing more waste
to be recycled and reclaimed.
Environmental management system
In December 2012 the Capital Estates and
Facilities department achieved ISO 14001
accreditation for the environmental
management system. Continued
commitment to the maintenance of this
accreditation provides a system of
assurance that the department is compliant
with all waste and environmental legislation.
King’s has successfully passed all British
Standards Institution (BSI) surveillance
visits carried out, the most recent of which
was in April 2014. The next BSI
surveillance will be in October 2014.
Energy and CO2 management
King’s Environmental Strategy has
superseded the Carbon Management Plan.
King’s continues to work towards a target to
reduce CO2 emissions by 25% by 2015.
Energy cost inflation
Energy inflation continues to have a
negative effect on budgets. Total energy
26
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Financial
Indicators
(£s million)

Related Energy
Consumption (million
kWh)

Non-Financial Indicators
(1,000 tCO2e)

Table 7: Greenhouse gas emissions
20092010

20102011

20112012

20122013

20132014

Total Gross Emissions

24.5

25.3

25.3

26

26

Total Net Emissions

24

21.1

20.7

22

22

Gross Emissions (Scope 1
-direct)

8.9

19.7

19.7

18.6

20.1

Gross Emissions (Scope 2
and 3 - indirect)

15.6

5.6

5.6

7.4

5.9

Electricity (non-renewable)

28.5

10.2

10.1

12.2

9.7

Electricity (renewable)

n/a

n/a

n/a

n/a

n/a

Gas

48

107

106

116

114

LPG

0

0

0

0

0

Other

0

0

0

0

0

Expenditure on energy

3.5

3.2

3.8

4.1

4.6

Expenditure Accredited
Offsets

n/a

n/a

n/a

n/a

n/a
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Table 8: Waste

Financial Indicators (£s)

Non - Financial Indicators (tonnes)

Total
Waste

20082009
2516

20092010
2592

20102011
3198

20112012
2995

20122013
3205

20132014
3941

Hazardous
Waste

Total

1238

1192

1459

1335

1327

1603

Non
Hazardous
Waste

Landfill

909

1032

1158

1070

736

99

Reused/
Recycled

369

368

581

590

859

1273

Composted

0

0

0

0

0

0

Incinerated
with energy
recovery

0

0

0

0

283

967

Incinerated
without
energy
recovery

0

0

0

0

0

0

N/A

N/A

904,309

950,338

978,164

1,268,
596

Total
Waste
(£s)

In 2009/10 revised PFI contract to include total waste management. This is for all waste streams including hazardous chemical waste.
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Water minimisation
King’s is committed to looking at its use of
finite resources and how it can become
more sustainable and efficient as an
organisation.

Services Company has guaranteed a
reduction of 1,900 tonnes of carbon and a
reduction in King’s energy consumption
equating to annual energy savings of
approximately £380,000 per year.

Working closely with Thames Water, a
water reduction strategy has been
developed. The first stage has been to
install water meter data loggers in March
2013 on the main water meters on the
Denmark Hill site. This will provide the
detailed water consumption data to carry
out leak detection analysis later in the year.

Designing and maintaining the built
environment
King’s has targets in place to attain
‘Excellent’ under the Building Research
Establishment Environmental Assessment
method (BREEAM) on all new build projects
and ‘Very Good’ on all major
refurbishments. Some of these projects are
outlined below:

King’s increased water consumption on the
2012/13 figure by 5% or 10,000 cubic
metres. This is as a result of the increased
activity on site.
King’s is also working with Thames Water to
develop a water resilience plan in the event
of an emergency scenario.
Energy performance contract
In March 2013, King’s signed an energy
performance contract (EPC) to deliver
£7.8m of energy efficiency and heating
infrastructure improvements to the Denmark
Hill site.
The implementation phase is ahead of
schedule with a number of projects
completed by March 2014. As the EPC is
delivery improvements to heating systems
they will deliver their full energy and carbon
reduction benefit in the 2015 heating
season.
The scheme is contracted to be completed
in March 2015 and will improve the heating
infrastructure, reduce continuity risk to the
hospital and reduce energy consumption
and carbon emissions. This is an energy
reduction project whereby the Energy

Centenary Wing
Construction of the Centenary Wing was
completed in December 2013. It utilises a
modular system of construction whereby
individual modules are assembled at an offsite factory location with many of the
internal services already installed. There are
several advantages associated with the
modular construction system:
 Energy efficiency due to high levels of
efficient insulating materials integrated
into the modular system assemble in a
controlled off-site factory environment;
 Reduced disruption and noise on site for
patient and staff;
 Reduction in construction and building
related waste; and
 Reduced vehicle movements involved in
the actual construction process including
construction materials and waste
removal; and
 Energy for space heating, domestic hot
water are provided by connecting to the
combined heat and power plant heating
network.
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Table 9: Finite Resource (Water) Consumption

Non-Financial Indicators (,000 m3)

Water Consumption (nonoffice Estate)

Financial Indicators (,000
£)

Water Consumption (nonoffice Estate)

20092010

30

20102011

20112012

20122013

2013 2014

Supplied

251

209

206

187

197

Abstracted

n/a

n/a

n/a

n/a

n/a

371

330

320

310

358
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Critical Care Unit over Theatre Block
The new Critical Care Unit over the existing
Theatre Block (CCUTB) has been designed
to achieve optimum energy performance by
designing a high performance building
fabric, low air leakage rates, high efficiency
lighting solutions and energy efficient
building services. Energy for space heating,
domestic hot water and cooling will be
provided by connecting to the combined
heat and power plant heating and cooling
network.
The south facing aspect of the CCUTB
building has been designed to maximise the
use of natural daylight. A fully glazed curtain
wall is proposed for the south facing rooms
which will maximise natural daylight in these
spaces. A good level of natural daylight
reduces the demand for electric lighting,
Saving carbon and energy but also creates
and enhances the environment for patients,
visitors and staff. Construction of the
CCUTB commenced in 2013. It is on target
to achieve a BREEAM Very Good score.
Helipad
Helicopter ambulances have for many years
landed in the local Ruskin Park which is a
Civil Aviation Authority recognised landing
site in order to take emergency patients to
King’s emergency department for treatment.
This involves disruption to the park and
requires the presence of the police to
secure the site. The London Ambulance
Service also provides the ambulances to
transfer the patients to the operating
theatre.
King’s has submitted a planning proposal
for a helipad on top of the Ruskin Wing.
This would provide a safer, more patientcentred approach that would have the
added advantage of reducing the secondary

effects on the police and London
Ambulance Service and the inconvenience
to the public inherent with the aircraft
landing in the park.
The helipad will facilitate landings of
helicopters transferring patients to King’s by
shortening transfer times from the existing
landing zone in Ruskin Park, to the benefit
of all patients, and by removing the existing
disruption to the use of the park and noise
and disturbance, to the benefit of
neighbouring residents.
Low carbon transport and travel
Work has continued on the Active King’s
project to promote activity and wellbeing to
staff. A staff bicycle user group remains
established and continues to support and
promote cycling to work as an alternative
low carbon means of transport.
In November 2012 King’s was fully
registered for the Transport for London
Cycle Superhighway Workplace Offering
and was awarded credits to exchange for
cycle parking, training or cycle safety
checks.
King’s has purchased a tracking system for
the internal transport staff vehicles. This
allows us to monitor driving techniques in
relation to fuel use, hours worked or
whether further training would be required.
This may be extended to all King’s lease
cars in order that departments can monitor
fuel and driving behaviour.
King’s is also looking at replacing the
transport fleet and has had trials of Toyota
hybrid cars for GP collections.
The Transport Feeder Group was formed in
2012 to work with the local stakeholder
community to influence relevant decision
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makers and contribute to improving the local
transport infrastructure. The objectives of
the group are to address transport, access
and sustainability issues affecting all
relevant stakeholder groups including
patients, disabled service users, visitors and
staff.
Climate change adaption and mitigation
King’s has a target in place to assess how
climate change may impact the site and to
devise an action plan outlining adaption
measures.
Biodiversity and the natural environment
There is also a target in place to assess
how the implementation of promoting
biodiversity on site can assist the healing

process. A draft biodiversity action plan has
been developed and issued to Southwark
Council and the Friends of Ruskin Park for
consultation.
Governance
King’s Environmental Strategy places an
emphasis on the improvement of staff
engagement and ownership, working with
our stakeholders and governance systems
to ensure that King’s continues to evolve to
become a more sustainable and efficient
organisation. The Board of Directors
receives reports on sustainability twice a
year.

The strategic report was approved by the
Board of Directors on 27 May 2014 and
signed on its behalf by:

Timothy Smart
Chief Executive Officer
Date: 27 May 2014
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Directors’ Report
Statement of directors’ responsibility
The strategic report, financial statements
and annual report taken as a whole are fair,
balanced and understandable. Together
they describe the development and
performance of King’s throughout the year
and a description of the principal risks and
uncertainties ahead. They provides the
information necessary for patients,
members, regulators and other stakeholders
to assess King’s performance, business
model and strategy during the year 2013/14.

King’s People
2013/14 was a year of significant workforce
growth and organisational change as King’s
acquired new sites, services and people. In
October 2013, 2,700 colleagues joined
King’s from the dissolved South London
Healthcare Trust (SLHT). The months prior
involved King’s in delivering major structural
reorganisation in partnership with other
stakeholders, senior managers, trade
unions and staff to ensure smooth transition
for 5,800 staff as they transferred into their
destination organisations. Simultaneously,
as one of the principal receivers, King’s
embarked on an organisational
development programme which is centered
on the five King’s Values.
Key organisational development themes
are:
 Leadership and talent management;
 Performance assessment and
development;
 Continuing professional and personal
development; and
 Staff engagement.

All staff joining ‘Team King’s’ on 01 October
2013 were invited to attend welcome
sessions designed to convey key
introductory messages about their new
employer, signpost sources of essential
information and to share the King’s Values
which are well embedded at the Denmark
Hill site and feature throughout staff
education, training and development.
Already recognised for its culture of
continuous improvement and consistently
high levels of support for staff development,
King’s has been a ‘Gold’ standard ‘Investor
in People’ since 2010. At the close of
2013/14 the enlarged King’s was
reaccredited as ‘Gold’.
Leadership and talent
King’s programmes are designed to be multi
professional, to embrace leaders at all
levels, be available across the enlarged
King’s and where appropriate are open to
King’s Health Partners delegates, or run in
partnership.
Examples include:
 Front-line leaders: an established
programme at ward manager level;
 Aspiring ward managers: newly
designed and commissioned for the
enlarged King’s;
 Strategic and operational leaders;
 New action learning sets for matrons (in
planning for early 2014/15)
 Combined leadership development
programme for matrons and ward
managers in Trauma, Emergency and
Medicine - developed specifically for
staff based at the PRUH;
 Focusing on the Bromley sites,
‘Appreciative Inquiry’ has been
introduced in various team and group

King’s College Hospital NHS Foundation Trust | Annual Report 2013/14

33

Directors’ Report








settings to support team development
and staff feedback;
King’s department of Postgraduate
Medical and Dental Education offers
multi-disciplinary leadership
development for senior clinicians;
Leadership for foundation trainees;
Training Tomorrow’s Trainers: for senior
registrars preparing for their first
consultant appointment; and
Coaching and mentoring focused on
unlocking potential and maximising
performance.

Performance assessment & development
 A newly designed appraisal system for
non-medical staff links talent
management to the NHS Leadership
Framework;
 The system links individual objectives to
King’s objectives and values, has been
well received at pilot stage and is ready
for launch throughout 2014/15; and
 In medical appraisal, colleague and
patient feedback is used to support
successful revalidation.
Continuing professional and personal
development (CPPD)
 Education commissioning for the
2013/14 academic year has ensured
equal access for non-medical staff
across all sites;
 Recruited as apprentices, local people
are placed in clinical and non-clinical
areas into King’s schemes which have
achieved a 65% employment rate and
are being rolled out across all sites;
 Diplomas are available in:
o Health & Social Care;
o Health & Allied Health
Professions; and
o Business Administration &
Customer Service.
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Vocational qualifications for support staff
has active learners across all sites;
Examples of staff gaining first or second
professional qualifications through
secondment, include healthcare
assistants training as nurses and adult
nurses training as midwives;
Staff successes also include Institute of
Leadership and Management; and
specialist post-graduate qualifications
Development sessions for governors
have had positive uptake.

Staff health and wellbeing
 Under the Public Health Responsibility
Deal, King’s pledges to actively support
staff to lead healthier lives;
 King’s has secured accreditation against
a set of nationally approved standards
known as a Safe Effective Quality
Occupational Health Service (SEQOHS)
 King’s annual wellbeing event is a
popular opportunity for staff to check out
their lifestyle choices against health
indicators;
 Muscular skeletal and mental health
issues continue to be the highest causes
of staff absence;
 The rate of sickness for financial year
2013/14 was 3.07%. This benchmarks
well in comparison to public and private
sector organisations;
 Seven members of staff retired early on
grounds of ill-health during 2013/14.
Health and safety
Health and Safety Guidance (HSG 65)
‘Successful health and safety management’
is the model used by King’s to achieve the
requirements of the Management of Health
and Safety at Work Regulations 1992/99.
The Operations Safety team liaises with
Occupational Health, Manual Handling,
Security, Fire and Risk Management teams
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regarding the management of health risks
for King’s employees, visitors and
contractors.
King’s health and safety strategic direction
adheres to the guidance from the Health
and Safety Executive (HSE) and relevant
safety standards. This is subject to a further
review to align with HSG 65 in the coming
year.
The work plan for the Operations Safety
Department in 2013/14 covered:
 The efficient integration of former SLHT
sites and personnel and the
implementation and practice of effective
safety management across all sites,
including policies and standard
operating practice;
 Due diligence management of identified
health and safety risks (including
asbestos, legionella, medical gases and
non-clinical falls). The generic issues
identified have been incorporated into
the overall priorities for King’s, to be
managed through a comprehensive risk
assessment and inspection programme.
Notably, King’s was able to capture the
compliance of risk assessment coverage
in each site through department safety
audits;
 The preparation of upgrading policy and
procedures for hazardous substances to
be rolled out, starting in 2014/15; and
 The Reporting of Injuries Diseases and
Dangerous Occurrences Regulations
(RIDDOR) and associated
investigations. The reporting of incidents
and near misses has increased slightly
to 39 from 36 due to an enhanced
training and education programme
together with specific accident
investigation training.

Significant health and safety
incidents
An external investigation was conducted
by the HSE in July 2013 into two
separate incidents where a member of
staff and a student were exposed to
blood borne viruses in a splash and a
sharps injury respectively. King's
clinical sharps technology and
intravenous care programmes were
found to be robust; however, aspects of
student and trainee training programmes
required evaluation. Early
improvements were made and a wide
ranging action plan is being coordinated
with King’s College London to the
satisfaction of the HSE.
Reward and recognition
 King’s Commendation: recognises
outstanding contributions to patient care
or hospital services by an individual or
team;
 Long Service: King’s 2013 bi-annual
awards ceremony has been postponed
due to the acquisition but planning is
underway to recognise new achievers of
25 or 40 years with King’s in 2015;
 Michael Parker Inclusion Award: In
honour of former Chair Michael Parker
who championed inclusion and diversity,
the award was launched in 2013 to
recognise staff whose contributions
follow Michael’s example.
Actions taken in the financial year to
provide employees systematically with
information on matters of concern to
them as employees:
 At induction, new staff are introduced to
the Kingsweb intranet and provided with
the necessary tools and training to
access regular corporate
communications;
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King’s Daily Bulletin, Kingsdocs, Kwiki
and the Chief Executive’s monthly
bulletin are examples of important
information sources and communication;
King’s intranet also provides easy links
and access to information about King’s
Health Partners;
King’s management/ committee
structure and culture of regular team
meetings ensure that key issues are
cascaded throughout the organisation;
Bi-monthly Joint Consultation
Committee (JCC) involves and informs
staff representatives on matters of
significance; in 2013/14 the acquisition
featured strongly alongside King’s
strategy, the financial position,
integration, transformation and King’s
Health Partners; and
The JCC nominates a staff side
representative to serve as a stakeholder
governor on the Council of Governors.

Actions taken in the financial year to
encourage the involvement of employees
in King’s performance:
 The 2013 national NHS staff survey
reported King’s in the top 20% nationally
for good communication between staff
and senior managers and for staff
feeling able to contribute towards
improvements at work;
 Challenges and success are regularly
communicated by the Chief Executive in
his monthly brief to staff;
 Despite the managerial challenges of
2013/14, 48.5% of staff with 12 months
or more service received performance
appraisals; and
 Staff rated King’s as ‘above average’ for
well-structured appraisals in the 2013
NHS staff survey.
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Actions taken in the financial year to
achieve a common awareness on the
part of all employees of the financial and
economic factors affecting the
performance of King’s:
 The Chief Executive maintained a strong
focus on King’s financial position
throughout the year, keeping staff
informed through his monthly brief;
 Emphasis was placed on the importance
of achieving significant cost reductions
and the role of individual staff; and
 The JCC received regular updates on
the financial position.
Actions taken in the financial year to
consult employees or their
representatives on a regular basis so
that the views of employees can be taken
into account in making decisions which
are likely to affect their interests:
 Throughout 2013/14, the JCC was
regularly well attended by
representatives of recognised trade
unions and staff associations and senior
management;
 The JCC kept the proposed acquisition
of the PRUH and development of King’s
Health Partners as standing agenda
items;
 The British Medical Association has a
seat at the JCC table but, in practice,
specific matters relating to medical and
dental staff are discussed at the Local
Negotiating Committee;
 The activity of staff-led diversity groups
included invitations to senior King’s staff
to discuss issues of specific interest;
 King’s Staff Engagement Group met
quarterly to review and share best
practice on improving and developing
staff engagement; members of this
group were involved in our King’s in
Conversation initiative.
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A Diverse Workforce
King’s Denmark Hill site is located in one of
the most diverse areas in London. The sites
acquired during the year have further added
to the diverse composition of staff and
patients. Equality, diversity and inclusion
are more important than ever and must
remain front-of-mind as King’s works
towards its goal of ‘effortless inclusion’.
Three staff-led diversity groups are active in
taking forward King’s work on the national
Equality Delivery System and participate in
King’s Staff Engagement Group. They are
the Cultural Diversity Network, Disability
Inclusivity Network and the Lesbian, Gay,
Bisexual and transgender Forum.
Individually and collectively these groups
provide support and networking
opportunities for their members, whilst at
the same time hold King’s to account on its
equality and diversity commitments.
King’s has worked closely with external
partners such as Stonewall. Over 1,000
staff have been trained on Stonewall’s Train
the Trainer scheme.
King’s commitment
King’s is committed to employing a
workforce that reflects and delivers great
care to the diverse communities it serves.
The Equality & Diversity Committee (EDC)
set out to make inclusion a reality for patient
and staff through implementation of the
Department of Health’s national Equality
Delivery System (EDS). In 2013/14, a post
implementation review of EDS concluded
that the EDS and the work of the EDC could
be effectively mainstreamed into the
everyday business of King’s.

In 2013/14, the EDC considered the Annual
Equality and Diversity Workforce Report,
which details information regarding the
demographics of staff. 45% of King’s staff
are from Black and Minority Ethnic (BME)
backgrounds.
Information about the future direction of the
EDC can be found on page 55.
Reviewing and changing policies to
reflect commitment to equality
All existing and planned policies are
reviewed against equality and diversity
indicators on a three year cycle, thereby
ensuring that King’s considers the impact on
staff and patients from different
backgrounds. Policies are equality impact
assessed and the assessments are
available via King’s Equality and Diversity
webpage:
www.kch.nhs.uk/about/corporate/equalityand-diversity
Staff have 24/7 access to two support
services: Dignity at Work Helpline, which
supports staff in relation to bullying and
harassment, and Workplace Options, which
offers telephone, online and web-based
advice on a range of matters including legal
matters, financial management, and general
counselling. Kingsflex, King’s working
scheme, helps staff balance family and work
commitments.
National initiatives
In addition to the EDS, relevant equality
information is published to ensure
compliance with the Public Sector Equality
Duties as set out in the Equality Act (2010).
We are ‘positively diverse’
King’s is accredited as a nationally
recognised Positive About Disabled People
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‘Two-Ticks’ employer and is reassessed on
a regular basis.
Equality and diversity training is mandatory
for all new staff and a majority of all staff
have been appropriately trained. This helps
ensure staff have the skills and knowledge
to provide patients with consistently high
standards of care.
Positive about disabled people
King’s has a Disability Charter which sets
out its ethos and a firm commitment to
disability equality. King’s also has a
Disability and Deaf Guide which outlines the
responsibilities and behaviours expected of
staff and managers.
King’s recruitment, training and equal
opportunities policies are designed to
support those who declare a disability.
Policies apply from the pre-employment
stage, when applying for vacancies, to
supporting those who become disabled
during the course of their employment and
ensure that all staff have equal access to
promotion and development opportunities.
To help improve the experience of those
working at King’s with a disability, disability
network advisors are trained to offer support
to staff with a disability and their line
managers. Training is also provided for staff
working with people who may have learning
disabilities, and there are e-learning
programmes available which relate to a
range of diversity issues, plus an
introductory British Sign Language elearning programme.
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Listening to Staff
A listening organisation
Each year King’s takes part in the national
survey of NHS staff. In 2013/14 the annual
survey was complemented by special
listening events under the King’s in
Conversation programme and a cultural
survey in the aftermath of the acquisition in
order to ascertain the thoughts and opinions
of staff from across all of King’s sites.
National staff survey
The 2013 response rate to King’s
participation in the national NHS staff
survey was 42%, which, whilst lower than
usual, was attributed to staff opinions being
canvassed in so many different ways in so
short a time frame.
King’s scored well for overall staff
engagement. A score of 3.96 placed King’s
in the top 20% nationally.
Of the 28 national key findings, King’s
ranked in the top 20% for 12; and in the
worst 20% for 8. See tables 11 and 12 on
page 40.
Significant statistical changes since
2012 survey
King’s recorded statistically significant
positive changes in the following areas:
 Staff able to contribute towards
improvements at work;
 Staff job satisfaction;
 Staff recommending King’s as a place to
work or receive treatment;
 Staff motivation at work; and
 Fairness and effectiveness of incident
reporting procedures.
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Staff engagement
King’s has initiated a number of key
activities designed to improve
understanding of what matters to staff.
King’s in Conversation was launched as
part of King’s response to the Francis
Report and its recommendations. The
project engaged in dialogue with 1,420 staff
and patients across all sites.
An anonymous staff cultural survey was
rolled out across all sites towards the end of
2013 with the aim of assessing King’s
cultural ‘baseline’ post acquisition, using an
academic behavioural engineering model.
Action plan for 2014/15
The feedback obtained as part of King’s in
Conversation and the cultural survey is
being compiled and analysed. From this
information, the Board is developing an
understanding of what steps need to be
taken to strengthen the organisation from
this point on.

Clear priority areas have emerged and, to
avoid duplication, forward action plans are
being devised which incorporate feedback
from all the initiatives which have run during
2013/14. These action plans will be taken
forwards under one umbrella workstream
called ‘All Together Better’.
‘All Together Better’ is King’s transformation
programme. It has identified three areas of
focus:
 Doctors, nurses and managers working
effectively together;
 Empowering staff to take confident
decisions; and
 Promoting positive behaviours and
performance.
All Together Better is one of the five key
themes within King’s two-year operational
plan. Further information can be found in
the ‘Planning for the Future’ section within
the strategic report (pages 20-22).
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Table 10: Response Rates
Improvement/
Deterioration

2013/14

2012/13
King’s

Nat. Average

King’s

Nat. Average

49%

49%

42%

49%

7% Deterioration

Table 11: Top Ranking Scores
2012/13
King’s
Fairness and effectiveness
of incident reporting
procedure
Recommending King’s as a
place to work or receive
treatment
Good communication
between senior
management and staff
Staff reporting good
communication between
senior management and
staff
Staff able to contribute
towards improvements at
work

2013/14
King’s
3.66%

Nat.
Average
3.51%

Improvement/
Deterioration
No Change

3.57%

4.08%

3.68%

0.03
improvement

40%

27%

39%

29%

1% deterioration

40%

27%

39%

29%

1% deterioration

75%

68%

74%

68%

1% deterioration

3.66%

Nat.
Average
3.50%

4.05%

Table 12: Bottom Ranking Scores
2012/13
King’s
Staff experiencing
discrimination at work
Staff experiencing
harassment, bullying or
abuse from patients,
relatives or the public
Staff receiving health and
safety training
Staff having equality and
diversity training
Staff working extra hours

40

2013/14
King’s

19%

Nat.
Average
11%

17%

Nat.
Average
11%

35%

30%

35%

29%

66%

74%

65%

76%

44%

55%

43%

60%

71%

70%

75%

70%

Improvement/
Deterioration
2%
improvement
No Change

1%
improvement
1% deterioration
4% deterioration
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Innovation: from Bench to
Bedside
As a world renowned research institution,
King’s aims to integrate clinical research
into the daily care received by patients.
Independently, through KHP and as part of
other collaborations, King’s is committed to
improving quality of care and to making a
contribution to wider health improvement.
During the reporting period, King’s became
involved in two important research
collaborations that are designed to
implement research into clinical practice as
rapidly as possible, and which particularly
address the needs and health inequalities
experienced by patients in communities
local to King’s.
King’s Improvement Science (KIS) brings
together clinicians, patients, researchers
and health care managers, to solve
problems to improve healthcare.
The Collaboration for Leadership in Applied
Health Research and Care (CLAHRC) is
closely linked with KIS and is concerned
with late stage applied research, supporting
projects that will allow improved
understanding of disease as it affects the
local community, how best to solve
identified issues, and then to address how
findings can be implemented. King’s will be
hosting the CLAHRC and clinicians from
King’s are leading on some projects.
The Denmark Hill site also plays host to the
Clinical Research Facility which is a fully
operational KHP facility currently supporting
over 100 studies. It has highly specialised
equipment and projects range from mental
health disorders to diabetes.

Listed below are a few examples which
reflect the high quality, patient focused
research that is being conducted and
supported at King’s and how it impacts and
benefits the local community and influences
national policy and standards of care.
Further information about research and
development at King’s and how patients can
become involved in studies can be found on
pages 130-137 of the Quality Account.
Cardiac
Professor Ajay Shah heads the
internationally renowned academic cardiac
research centre, providing a strong link
between King’s College London and the
clinical cardiology service. He leads a team
which employs an integrative
multidisciplinary approach to address
questions surrounding the development of
cardiac hypertrophy, failure and vascular
dysfunction.
King’s was the first UK centre to enrol a
patient into the BioVentrix study, in which a
suture and anchor system allows major
reconstruction of the left ventricle on a
beating heart.
Stroke
In October 2013, King’s was commended as
Stroke Research Network Team of the Year
by the National Institute of Health Research
(NIHR). It has attracted a portfolio of six
industry sponsored studies, including 2 “first
in man” stem cell modulation studies, and
has recruited 59 hyper-acute patients to
take part in the studies, exceeding the
target of set by the NIHR.
Palliative care
The Cicely Saunders Institute, the world’s
first institute for palliative care, continues to
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grow and thrive. Locally, its programmes
are improving palliative care, including the
development and evaluation of improved
care for patients with advanced stage renal
disease and the implementation of improved
systems of assessment and evaluation.
Globally, the Cicely Saunders Institute team
have programmes linking across the UK,
many other European countries, the USA,
Australia, and Africa, where their research is
studying better ways to improve and control
symptoms, support patients and their
families, improve communication and
dignity, address spiritual needs and reduce
inequity.
Sexual health & HIV
King’s is an internationally recognised
centre for HIV-associated kidney disease,
and work continues to focus on kidney
disease progression, end-stage kidney
disease and kidney transplantation in HIV
positive patients.

local population. The group has recruited
some 1,700 patients in portfolio-adopted
studies, and was recently awarded a
£4,000,000 programme grant to develop
and evaluate online sexual health services
for south east London.
Haematology
The Sickle Cell department has been
undertaking several clinical trials of novel
investigational medicinal products for both
the chronic treatment of sickle cell disease
and the acute treatment of sickle cell crisis.
They continue their ground-breaking
research into the genetics of sickle cell
disease with the initiation of a King’s-led,
multi-centre, observational study of 475
patients, investigating the ability of genetic
variants associated with Foetal
Haemoglobin to predict fetal haemoglobin
levels de novo and disease severity.

Sexual health research is focused on
developing an evidence base for sexual
health service development and service
improvement that reflects the needs of the
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Respecting and Protecting
Patient Information
The Information Governance Steering
Group (IGSG) is responsible for reviewing
the effectiveness of King’s information
governance systems and processes.
King’s Senior Information Risk Owner,
Caldicott Guardian, Information Security
Manager and Information Governance &
Records Manager, together with other

colleagues play a key role in ensuring the
highest practical standards and systems for
the confidential handling of patient
information and personal data within King’s.
During the year 2013/14 there were two
serious incidents related to a confidentiality
breach, the details of which and the actions
taken are summarised in table 13 below.

Table 13: Serious Incidents involving information loss or confidentiality breach
Date of incident

Summary of incident

Number of people affected

10/01/2014

Identifiable patient data sent in error
to a patient rather than GP

19 patients

Nature of incident
King’s breast screening service produces daily GP reports containing patients’ test results which are
collated and posted out to relevant GP practices. Reports for patients attached to a local GP surgery
became separated from the front sheet containing the surgery address and were posted in error to the
home address of one of the patients. King’s was alerted to the incident when the patient who had
received the reports returned them to the GP surgery.
Action taken
 Reported as an adverse incident. Investigation undertaken by the Screening Office Manager;
 Additional checks put in place to ensure all envelopes have GP surgery address in window of
envelope before posting; and
 Incident report reviewed at Information Governance Steering Group.
Date of incident

Summary of incident

Number of people affected

01/09/2013

Stolen Computer Hardware

0< > 500

Nature of incident
A desktop computer was stolen from the Day Surgery Unit, Denmark Hill. Although King’s IT policy
states that individuals should not store data on local drives, the settings of the stolen computer permitted
information to be saved locally and it could not be guaranteed that no information was stored in this way.
Action taken
 Reported as an adverse incident and to the police as a theft. Investigation undertaken by IT Security
Manager;
 Users were identified and interviewed;
 IGSG reviewed the incident and determined the level of data risk was low; and
 IGSG to be kept informed of the programme of work to remove local drive storage across King’s.
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Code of Governance
Statutory framework
King’s College Hospital NHS Foundation
Trust received foundation trust status on 01
December 2006. The Trust is a public
benefit corporation and its principal purpose
is the provision of goods and services for
the purposes of the health service in
England.
King’s is committed to high standards of
corporate governance as set out in the NHS
Foundation Trust Code of Governance.
King’s meets all the main principles of the
code especially those relating to the
development and management of patient
services, information provision and
accountability for the use of public
resources.
Governance framework
King’s governance framework comprises its
membership body, the Council of Governors
and the Board of Directors.
The Trust’s membership body is drawn from
patients, staff and individuals from the local
constituencies it serves. More information
about recruiting and involving members in
the life of King’s can be found on pages 7879.
The Council of Governors is elected by the
membership or appointed by various
organisations in accordance with the Trust
Constitution and the ‘fit and proper’ persons
test described in the provider licence.
The Council of Governors is responsible for
representing the interests of members and
stakeholders in the governance of the
King’s. The introduction of the Health &
44

Social Care Act 2012 expanded, clarified
and added to the various statutory roles and
responsibilities of the Council of Governors.
In particular, it exercises statutory powers,
such as the appointment or removal of nonexecutive directors, appointing the external
auditor, approving mergers, acquisitions
and significant transactions, holding the
non-executive directors individually and
collectively to account and representing the
interests of members and the public.
The Council of Governors meets formally
four times per year to discharge its duties.
The matters specifically reserved for the
Council’s decision are set out in the Trust’s
Constitution. More information about the
Council of Governors, including its
composition and terms of office, can be
found on pages 60-67.
Led by the Chair, the Board of Directors
sets King’s strategy, determines objectives,
regularly monitors performance and ensures
that adequate systems are maintained to
measure and monitor effectiveness,
efficiency and economy. It decides on
matters of risk and assurance and is
responsible for delivering high quality and
safe services. It provides leadership and
effective oversight of King’s operations to
ensure it is operating in the best interests of
patients within a framework of prudent and
effective controls that enables risk to be
assessed and managed.
Further information about King’s internal
controls and approach to clinical and quality
governance can be found in the Annual
Governance Statement on pages 177-188.
The Board of Directors comprises the Chair
and six non-executive directors and eight
executive directors all of whom are
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collectively responsible for the success of
King’s. The Director of Corporate Affairs
and the Director of Strategy are non-voting
executive directors (see table 14 on page
47). All directors meet the ‘fit and proper’
persons test described in the provider
licence.
The Board considers that all of its nonexecutive directors (NEDs) are independent
in character and judgement, including
Professor Ghulam Mufti, who was the
representative from the Medical School at
King’s College London throughout the
reporting period. NEDs bring a breadth of
expertise to the Board and provide objective
and balanced opinions on matters relating
to King’s business. The independence of
NEDs is tested at interview and at their
annual performance review.
The Board meets regularly and has a formal
schedule of matters specifically reserved for
its decision. The Board delegates other
matters to the executive directors and other
senior managers.
The Board of Directors and the Council of
Governors meet periodically to discuss
topical and strategic matters.
The Trust’s Constitution sets out the roles
and responsibilities of the membership
body, Council and the Board. It also details
the resolution procedures for resolving any
disputes between the Council of Governors
and the Board of Directors.
To develop an understanding of the views of
members and governors, Board members
attend meetings of the Council of Governors
and its sub-committees, the Annual
Members Meeting and community events.

Management framework
The Board of Directors is responsible for the
management and governance of King’s. It is
responsible for ensuring compliance with
the Trust’s provider licence, constitution,
mandatory guidance issued by the
independent regulator, Monitor, and with
relevant statutory requirements and
contractual obligations.
Commercial opportunities and activities are
subject to scrutiny by the Board of Directors,
through the Strategy Committee and the
minutes of KCH Commercial Services Ltd
Board of Directors, to ensure that benefits
derived from non-NHS income are
channelled into supporting King’s core NHS
activities without incurring significant
financial or reputational risk. Information
about King’s services outside the UK can be
found in the strategic report on page 17.
Information, development and evaluation
Directors and governors are supplied with
information in a timely manner in an
appropriate form and quality to enable them
to discharge their duties. The information
needs of the Board of Directors and Council
of Governors are subject to periodic review.
The performance of the Board of Directors,
its committees and individual directors are
subject to regular review, as outlined on
page 52.
Company directorships and other
significant interests and commitments
King’s maintains a register of interests for its
directors and governors. Arrangements to
view the register can be made by contacting
the Foundation Trust Office on kchtr.FTO@nhs.net
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Board members and elected governors are
asked declare any interests and to selfcertify that he/she meets the eligibility
criteria set out in the Trust’s Constitution. In
addition, governors elected after December
2011 are subject to a disclosure and barring
service investigation (formerly the criminal
records bureau).

instruments and plans for capital projects
can also be found in the strategic report in
the section entitled ‘Ensuring Financial
Sustainability’.

Accountability and audit
As detailed on page 18, the Council of
Governors reappointed Deloitte LLP as
King’s external auditor on 11 December
2013. In addition, the Board of Directors
maintains a sound system for evaluating
and continually improving effectiveness of
its risk management and internal control
processes. King’s re-appointed KPMG to
undertake a comprehensive internal audit,
the plan for which is discussed with
executive directors, non-executive directors
and the Audit Committee.

So far as King’s directors are aware, there
is no relevant audit information of which the
auditors are unaware. King’s directors have
taken all of the steps that they ought to have
taken as directors in order to make
themselves aware of any audit information
and to establish that the auditors are aware
of that information.

The Board of Directors ensures effective
scrutiny of financial and operational matters
through its designated committees and
regular reporting to the Board by presenting
a balanced and understandable assessment
of King’s position and forward plans.
Information about King’s financial, quality
and operational objectives and
performance, including clinical outcome
data, is published to allow members and
governors to evaluate its performance.
Within this annual report, information about
King’s future plans and likely future
developments, for example, the
development of King’s Health Partners is
recorded in the ‘Planning for the Future’
section of the strategic report.
Information about the financial risk
management policies, use of financial
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Information about greenhouse gas
emissions can be found in the ‘Caring for
the Environment’ section.

Board of Directors
Executive directors are full time King’s
employees. Non-executive directors are
appointed by the Council of Governors on a
four year fixed term contract. The Council of
Governors also has the power to remove
non-executive directors. Executive directors
manage the day-to-day running of King’s
whilst the Chair and the non-executive
directors provide strategic and board level
guidance, support and steer. The members
of the Board boast a wide range of skills
and bring experience gained from NHS
organisations, other public bodies and
private sector organisations.
The skills portfolio of the directors, both
executive and non-executive, is wideranging and includes accountancy, audit,
education, management consultancy, law,
engineering and medicine. This broad
coverage of knowledge and skills
strengthens the effectiveness of the Board
of Directors giving assurance that the Board
of Directors is balanced, complete and
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Table 14: Directors of the Trust during 2013/14
Non-Executive Directors
Professor Sir George Alberti (Chair)
Graham Meek (Vice Chair )
Christopher Stooke
Faith Boardman
Marc Meryon (Senior Independent Director)
Professor Ghulam Mufti
Sue Slipman

Executive Directors
Timothy Smart, Chief Executive
Angela Huxham, Director of Workforce Development
Mr Michael Marrinan, Medical Director
Roland Sinker, Chief Operating Officer
Simon Taylor, Chief Financial Officer
Dr Geraldine Walters, Director of Nursing and Midwifery
Jane Walters, Director of Corporate Affairs (non-voting)
Jacob West, Director of Strategy (non-voting, on secondment from December 2013)
Pedro Castro, Interim Director of Strategy (appointed January 2014)

King’s College Hospital NHS Foundation Trust | Annual Report 2013/14

47

Directors’ Report
appropriate to supporting King’s in meeting
its objectives.

(1997-2000) and more recently of Lambeth
Council (2000-05).

During the reporting period, Director of
Strategy, Jacob West, was seconded to the
London Healthcare Commission. Pedro
Castro joined the Board as Interim Director
of Strategy in January 2014.

She is Chair of Trustees for Vauxhall City
Farm, and also works with the Metropolitan
Police in a non-executive capacity, as an
independent adviser to the Mayor's Office
for Policing and Crime.

Non-executive directors’ biographies

Faith joined the Trust Board in March 2012;
her term will end in March 2016.

Professor Sir George Alberti (Chair)
Internationally renowned for his work in the
field of diabetes, George has also been
instrumental in shaping recent healthcare
policy towards the management of urgent
care and major emergencies. He served as
a non-executive director of the Trust before
being appointed as Trust Chair in December
2011. George was knighted in 2000 for
services to diabetic medicine, and is a
member of the World Health Organisation’s
expert advisory panel on diabetes. He is a
past Dean of Medicine at the University of
Newcastle upon Tyne and a former
President of the Royal College of
Physicians. He was the Government’s
National Clinical Director for Emergency
Access from 2002 to 2009, and was the
author of the influential Emergency Access
– Clinical Case for Change. George’s term
of office will end in November 2015.
Faith Boardman
Faith lives in Lambeth, and brings 40 years
of public service at both the local and the
national level. She has a proven track
record of delivering service improvements in
large public sector organisations that are
dealing with substantial change, and
significant financial, performance and
customer challenges. She has been Chief
Executive of the Child Support Agency
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Graham Meek (Vice Chair)
Graham is a trustee of the British
Cardiovascular Society and a non-executive
director of Filtronic plc and Capital Gearing
Trust plc. He was previously chairman of
two other listed companies, ICM Computer
Group plc and SPI Lasers plc. During his
career as an investment banker with Wood
Mackenzie, Smith New Court and Merrill
Lynch, he advised a broad range of UK
companies on capital raising, mergers and
acquisitions and corporate strategy.
Graham joined the Trust Board in
December 2011 and his current term of
office will end in November 2015.
Marc Meryon
Marc Meryon is a partner and Head of
Industrial Relations of international law firm
Eversheds LLP. Marc specialises in
employment law and is recognised in the
legal directories as an expert in industrial
relations. He frequently comments on this
area in both broadcast and print media.
Marc acts for a large number of household
names in a wide range of sectors including
manufacturing, transport/logistics and
healthcare, advising on effective
organisational change in a unionised
environment, as well as managing and
resolving industrial disputes. In the
healthcare sector he has advised Trusts on
equal opportunities law, the application of
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the working time directive and pay
protection for junior doctors. Marc has been
a non-executive director of the Trust since
August 2010.
Professor Ghulam J Mufti
Professor Mufti has worked at King’s since
1985 when he was appointed as a senior
lecturer/consultant haematologist. His
current appointment is Professor of
Haemato-oncology, Clinical Director of
Pathology and Head of the Department of
Haematology, one of the largest in Europe.
Ghulam is internationally renowned for
research and treatment of myelodysplastic
syndromes (MDS) and other pre-leukaemic
diseases, and has published over 400
original papers in medical journals. He is
founding member of the International MDS
foundation Board, Chair of the UK MDS
Forum and Member of GSTS Members
Board. He was formerly a member of the
scientific committee of Leukaemia &
Lymphoma Research. He has been a nonexecutive director of the Trust since
December 2012; his term will end in
December 2016.
Christopher M Stooke
Christopher graduated in economics from
Durham University and started his
accountancy career at PwC. He was made
partner in 1990 and was responsible for the
audit of a number of blue chip companies in
the UK and Europe, mainly in the financial
services sector. From 2003 to 2009 he was
Chief Financial Officer of Catlin Group, the
FTSE 350 insurer. He is now a nonexecutive director at three companies and
one charity, in addition to King's. He has
lived in south London almost all his life and
is now based in Dulwich. Chris joined the
Trust Board in November 2011 and his

current term of office will end in October
2015.
Sue Slipman
Sue was the founding Chief Executive of the
Foundation Trust Network, the national
trade association for authorised and
aspirant foundation trusts in the NHS. She
was also director of the campaigning
charity, The National Council for One Parent
Families and ran the Gas Consumer
Council. She was an executive director at
Camelot where she held the role of Director
of Corporate Responsibility before
becoming Director of Communications. She
has been Chair of the Financial
Ombudsman Service, has held a number of
non-executive positions in public life and is
currently a trustee of NEST Corporation, the
pension scheme set up by government to
support auto-enrolment.
Executive directors’ biographies
Timothy Smart (Chief Executive)
Since 2008, when he joined the Trust, Tim
has brought a renewed focus on
improvements in patient experience, service
quality, and partner and stakeholder
relationships.
Before joining the NHS, Tim had a 30-year
career in the commercial sector, first with
Shell and latterly with BT. He brings with
him a wealth of experience in customer
service and satisfaction, developing
commercial partnerships, and team and
people development.
He has worked in the Middle East, the
Netherlands and the US. He also has
experience as a non-executive director of a
US-listed financial services company and as
a Trustee of two national charities. He is an
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elected member of the Foundation Trust
Network Board. Tim is also on the KHP
Partners' Board, and the members' boards
of GSTS and the London Cancer Alliance.
Tim has a passion for equality and
inclusiveness. He is proud of the fact that
the Trust is now a safer hospital and that it
is increasingly reflective of and integrated
with the local communities it serves. He is
also proud that the focus on closing the
local health inequality gap and involvement
in King’s Health Partners, is attracting more
talent to the area, and has also resulted in
the growth of employment and career
opportunities for the local population, not
least through the innovative volunteers’
programme.
Pedro Castro (Interim Director of
Strategy)
Pedro is the Interim Director of Strategy at
King’s. He has a background in Strategy
and Healthcare consultancy and he has
worked extensively over the last 10 years
across all health sub-sectors internationally.
In the UK, he has worked with a large
number of NHS organisations including
providers, commissioners and regulators.
Angela Huxham (Director of Workforce
Development)
Angela has been a Director of HR in the
NHS for more than eleven years, joining
King’s in her current role in 2009. Her
career in people management spans a
range of sectors including manufacturing,
insurance, retail and local government.
Within the NHS she has engaged nationally
in various reforms of national terms,
conditions and pensions. Currently, she is
management side chair in negotiations to
design a new contract for doctors in
training. Angela is a Chartered Fellow of
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her professional institute and holds an MSc
in Human Resource Leadership.
Mr Michael Marrinan (Medical Director)
Michael graduated in business studies
before commencing his medical degree. He
then trained as a Cardiothoracic Surgeon,
primarily in London and the US. He was
appointed as trust Medical Director in
February 2010 having been Deputy Medical
Director since 2008. Michael has been a
Consultant at King’s for over 20 years, and
has been heavily involved in clinical,
educational and managerial improvements
through the Trust.
His overriding responsibility, with others, is
to ensure that the quality of care for our
patients is of the highest order. In keeping
with this he is chair of the Patient Safety
Committee, chair of the Serious Incident
Committee and vice-chair of the Patient
Outcomes Committee and a member of the
Patient Experience Committee. In addition
he is the Trust lead for research and is
heavily involved in ungraduated and post
graduate education and training. He is a
member of the KCL committee supervising
development of the new medical
undergraduate curriculum. He is currently a
leader in the integration of the Princess
Royal University Hospital within King’s
College Hospital and the development of a
21st century system of high-quality
networked care.
Roland Sinker (Chief Operating Officer)
Roland joined the Trust in 2005 as Director
of Strategy for King’s and worked latterly as
Joint Director of Strategy for King’s and
Guy’s and St Thomas’. He was appointed
Director of Operations in July 2009 and
Chief Operating Officer in April 2012. Prior
to joining the NHS, Roland worked as a
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lawyer and management consultant. Roland
is a Director and Company Secretary of
KCH Commercial Services and is on the
Board of GSTS, the pathology joint venture.
Simon Taylor (Chief Financial Officer)
Simon has worked at King’s for over 20
years holding positions as Financial
Controller and Director of Finance before
becoming Chief Financial Officer in 2002.
He is also responsible for Information
Services, Capital Estates & Facilities and
overseeing King’s commercial
developments. Simon is a director of KCH
Commercial Services and its subsidiaries,
Agnentis Ltd and KCH Management Ltd.
Dr Geraldine Walters (Director of Nursing
and Midwifery and Director of Infection
Prevention and Control)
A cardiac nurse by background, Geraldine
has held a number of executive nurse
director posts in acute NHS Trusts in
London. Geraldine is Visiting Professor at
both Buckinghamshire New University and
the Florence Nightingale School at King’s
College London. Geraldine is an advisor to
the Florence Nightingale Foundation, a
member of the National Advisory Group on
Clinical Audit and Enquiries and a trustee of
Trinity Hospice. She is currently a member
of the Morecambe Bay Inquiry Panel.
Geraldine worked in a variety of hospitals in
her early career, including King’s, and
subsequently gained a PhD and an MBA.
Non-voting directors’ biographies
Jane Walters (Director of Corporate
Affairs and Trust Secretary)
Jane has worked at the Trust since 1992,
holding positions as Business Manager and
Head of Corporate Services before being
appointed as Director of Corporate Affairs in

2004. Her earlier career was in local
government, where she worked in a variety
of senior roles in the fields of corporate
governance, communications and quality
assurance.
Jane holds a Masters in Social Policy from
the University of Cranfield, and leads King’s
Patient Experience and Volunteering
Programmes. She is also responsible for
corporate and clinical governance and
communications and marketing. She is a
director of KCH Management Ltd. Outside
of the Trust, she is Vice Chairman of St
Christopher’s Hospice, Sydenham.
Jacob West (Director of Strategy)
Jacob joined King's in 2010. From
December 2013 Jacob is on secondment to
City Hall, working for Lord Darzi and the
Mayor of London on the London Health
Commission. Prior to his arrival at King’s,
Jacob was Deputy Director and Acting
Director at the Prime Minister's strategy unit.
His role was to advise Number 10 and the
Prime Minister on a range of public service
reform issues, and was lead adviser on
health policy from 2007. In 2006 Jacob was
seconded to the Premier's Office in
Queensland, Australia where he helped
develop a public health strategy for the
State. Jacob has also worked as a
consultant to a number of government
agencies in the United States on a range of
public service reform issues.
Evaluation and development of the
Board
Executive directors hold a weekly meeting
to monitor and respond to current issues,
particularly in relation to performance and
finance. The Chair and non-executive
directors hold informal meetings on a
regular basis to discuss matters relating to
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the running of King’s without the executive
directors present.
Collectively the Board holds development
sessions periodically throughout the year to
allow for deeper discussion and
investigation of key topics. In addition,
King’s internal auditors, KPMG, conducted
an evaluation of the Board in summer 2013
the results of which were presented to the
Audit Committee in December 2013. The
Board plans to engage an external training
company to deliver a board development
programme in 2014. This programme will
provide an opportunity for the Board to build
on the issues identified in the KPMG
evaluation and help focus the Board’s
priorities.
Board members undertake personal
development on an on-going basis.
All executive and non-executive directors
have an annual performance appraisal and
personal development plan, which forms the
basis of their individual development.
The performance of executive directors is
reviewed by the Chief Executive and
considered by the Remuneration and
Appointments Committee. Annual
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performance appraisals were completed in
June 2013 and are next due in June 2014.
The process for evaluating the performance
of the Chair and non-executive directors has
been agreed in consultation with the Council
of Governors.
Board meetings and committees
The Board of Directors met regularly
throughout the year. This year the Board
had a particularly busy schedule of
meetings with the discussion around the
acquisition of the former South London
Healthcare Trust sites and services.
The attendance of each director at Board of
Directors’ meetings held in public during
2013/14 is recorded in table 15 on page 53.
King’s has seven Board committees which
also meet regularly and are each chaired by
a non-executive director. Some of the work
of the Board is delegated to these
committees, as illustrated in the diagram
below table 17 on page 56.
The Board of Directors approve the terms of
reference which detail the remit and the
delegated authority of each committee.
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Table 15: Directors’ attendance at Board meetings
Attendance at meeting
(attended/possible)
Non-Executive Directors
Professor Sir George Alberti, Chair
Graham Meek, Vice Chair
Marc Meryon, Senior Independent Director
Faith Boardman
Professor Ghulam Mufti
Sue Slipman
Christopher Stooke

12/13
11/13
12/13
11/13
11/13
12/13
13/13

Executive Directors
Timothy Smart , CEO
Angela Huxham
Mr Michael Marrinan
Roland Sinker
Simon Taylor
Dr Geraldine Walters

13/13
12/13
13/13
10/13
13/13
13/13

Executive Directors – Non Voting
Jane Walters
Jacob West*1
Pedro Castro*2
*1
On secondment leave from December 2013
*2
Appointed as Interim Director of Strategy from January 2014

Each committee is required to complete an
annual review and self-assessment which is
then presented to the Board of Directors.
In addition to regularly reporting to the
Board of Directors, committee minutes are a
standing item on each Board agenda.
Table 18 on page 57 records the
membership of each Board committee. In
addition, tables 16 and 17 on page 56
record attendance at the Audit Committee
and Remuneration and Appointments
Committee respectively.
Audit Committee
The Audit Committee is responsible for
monitoring the externally reported
performance of King’s and for providing
independent assurance to the Board of

13/13
07/09
02/02

Directors in a range of areas including
internal control, risk management, external
assurance of risk management processes,
internal and external audit and financial
reporting. King’s also has a zero-tolerance
policy towards fraud and bribery and this
committee is responsible for overseeing the
work of the counter fraud team.
It continues to closely monitor the
effectiveness of internal control and audit
processes on behalf of the Board of
Directors.
The committee is chaired by Christopher
Stooke who brings a wealth of financial
expertise to the Committee. The internal
and external auditors regularly attend
committee meetings in addition to the Chief
Financial Officer, Chief Executive and the
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Director of Corporate Affairs, although
they are not members of the
committee. The Trust Chair and other
members of the executive team attend
meetings of the committee by invitation.
The broad knowledge and skills of the
members and attendees strengthens
the effectiveness of the committee.
King’s is satisfied that the committee is
sufficiently independent.
During the reporting period the
committee considered reports from
internal and external auditors around
significant issues including nursing staff
levels, safeguarding children, data
security, working with commissioners,
corporate records management and
responding to the Francis Report. It
also received reports on counter fraud
investigations and recommendations.
In May 2013 the committee fulfilled its
oversight responsibilities with regard to
monitoring the integrity of the financial
statements, the annual accounts and
the annual governance statement
(formally known as the statement of
internal control), before submission to
the Board.
In September 2013 the committee
agreed that, based on the performance
of King’s external auditors Deloitte and
the complexity of the forthcoming
acquisition it would make a
recommendation to the Council of
Governors that Deloitte’s contract with
King’s be extended for a further two
years, until June 2016.
The committee met four times during
the reporting period.
Independence of the external auditor
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King’s external auditors, Deloitte, have
communicated the following matters to
the Audit Committee:
 The principal threats, if any, to
objectivity and independence
identified by the auditor, including
consideration of all relationships
between King’s, directors and the
auditor;
 Any safeguards adopted and the
reasons why they are considered to
be effective;
 Any independent partner review;
 The overall assessment of threats
and safeguards;
 Information about the general
policies and processes for
maintaining objectivity and
safeguarding independence when
undertaking non-audit work.
Deloitte is not aware of any
relationships that may affect the
independence and objectivity of the
team, and which are required to be
disclosed under auditing and ethical
standards.
Board Integration Committee
The Board Integration Committee was
established to support the work around
the acquisition of sites and services
from the former South London
Healthcare Trust and to oversee the
integration process.
The committee is chaired by
Christopher Stooke. In July 2013 the
committee revisited its terms of
reference to reflect the current position
with regard to the acquisition process
and expanded its membership to
include all executive directors and five
of the non-executive directors. The
Transformation and Integration Director
is a regular attendee.
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This committee met 13 times during the
reporting period.
Equality and Diversity Committee
Until January 2014, this committee was
responsible for monitoring the equality
and diversity issues related to the
provision of services to patients,
employees and procurement practices.
In July 2013 executive and nonexecutive director members of the
committee met to consider a review of
the progress that King’s had made in
developing, mainstreaming and
monitoring the Equality Delivery
System objectives, introduced in April
2011.
A series of recommendations for
mainstreaming equality and diversity
issues into the business cycle were put
to the full committee in November 2013
and in January 2014 the Board
accepted the recommendations and
agreed to disband the committee.
Finance and Performance
Committee
This committee is responsible for
reviewing and monitoring King’s
operational and financial performance
against core targets and indicators and
for ensuring that King’s remains
compliant with Monitor’s financial and
governance risk ratings.

This committee is responsible for
overseeing the three dimensions of
quality: patient safety, patient
experience and patient outcomes as
well as organisational safety, risk
management and compliance and
information governance.
As part of King’s response to the
Francis Report and recommendations
the committee membership was
expanded to include all Board members
and patient complaints and/or video
stories were made a regular item on the
agenda.
The committee met five times during
the reporting period.
Strategy Committee
This committee is responsible for
overseeing the development of King’s
strategy and vision. It also reviews
progress against King’s strategic
objectives, discusses major strategic
issues and monitors external political,
economic and social factors which
influence the hospital’s business.
This committee met three times during
the reporting period.

The committee also received detailed
performance reports from clinical
divisions.

Remuneration and Appointments
Committee
On behalf of the Board of Directors, this
committee agrees executive directors’
remuneration and terms of service.
Together with the Chief Executive,
committee members form a panel for
the appointment of executive directors.

This committee met 11 times during the
reporting period.

The committee met three times during
the reporting period.

Quality and Governance Committee

More information can be found in the
remuneration report on pages 58-59.
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Table 16: Audit Committee attendance
Attendance at meeting
(attended/possible)
Christopher Stooke (Chair)
Faith Boardman
Graham Meek
Marc Meryon

4/4
3/4
3/4
3/4

Table 17: Remuneration and Appointments Committee attendance
Attendance at meeting
(attended/possible)
Prof George Alberti

3/3

Graham Meek

3/3

Faith Boardman

2/3

Marc Meryon

3/3

Prof Ghulam Mufti

3/3

Sue Slipman

3/3

Christopher Stooke

3/3
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Strategy
Committee

Quality &
Governance
Committee*3

Finance &
Performance
Committee

Equality &
Diversity
Committee

Board Integration
Committee

Table 18: Membership of Board Committees

Non-Executive Directors
Professor Sir George Alberti
Faith Boardman
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until December 2013

*2  From January 2014
*3

The Board approved expanding the membership of the Quality & Governance Committee to
include all Board members at its meeting in May 2013
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Remuneration Report
The remuneration and terms of service of
the Chair and non-executive directors
(NEDs) are determined by the Council of
Governors, taking account of market and
survey data from relevant benchmark
sources which can include the Foundation
Trust Network and the Trust’s NHS peer
group. More information about this process
and the role of the Council of Governors’
Nominations Committee can be found on
page 62.
Remuneration for the King’s most senior
managers (directors accountable to the
Chief Executive) is determined by the
Remuneration and Appointments
Committee, which comprises the Chair and
the non-executive directors. See table 17 on
page 56 for committee membership and
meeting attendance.
The work of the Remuneration and
Appointments Committee is informed by
relevant benchmark data, periodic
assessments conducted by independent
remuneration consultants and by salary
awards and terms and conditions applying
to other NHS staff groups. The work of the
committee is supported by the Director of
Workforce Development who is not a
member of the committee.
In 2012, following a three-year pay freeze
for directors, the Remuneration and
Appointments Committee commissioned an
independent review of the directors’ pay and
reward framework, to make external
comparisons and establish internal
differentials, using recognised job
evaluation tools.
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The independent advisor was selected from
a shortlist invited to submit proposals and
present to a panel drawn from the
Remuneration and Appointments
Committee. The panel was supported by
the Procurement Shared Service in its
assessment of prospective bidders against
the Terms of Reference.
For 2012/13, the Committee accepted the
independent report and effected its
recommendations. During 2013/14 the
same independent advisor, the Hay Group,
was re-instructed by the Committee to
reassess executive pay, taking into account
its previous evaluation of roles and
recommendations in the light of
organisational expansion arising from the
acquisition of sites and services from the
former SLHT on 01 October 2013 and the
consequent changes in the scale and
complexity of director responsibilities. The
fee for these services was £9,610.84.
The Committee’s decision following this
review reflects the significant challenges
faced by the enlarged organisation; it
agreed to adjust director salaries in two
stages, the first of which was effected in the
reporting year. The second stage
adjustment would be effected in the
following reporting year, subject to relevant
performance conditions.
King’s strategy and annual planning
processes set key business objectives
which, in turn, inform individual and
collective objectives for senior managers.
Individual performance and that of King’s as
a whole is closely monitored, discussed
throughout the year and forms part of the
annual appraisal as outlined on page 52.
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Details of senior employees’ remuneration
can be found on page 203 of the annual
accounts. Note 1.10 on page 199 sets out
accounting policies for pensions and other
retirement benefits.
The only non-cash element of the most
senior managers’ remuneration packages is
pension related benefits accrued during
membership of the NHS Pension Scheme.
Contributions into the scheme are made by
both the employer and employee in
accordance with the statutory regulations.
The Medical Director is a medical consultant
within the Trust, whose role is undertaken
on a fixed term, three-year contract,
renewable by agreement. The contract was
reviewed in February 2013 and extended for
a further three years. Additional paid
programmed activities are provided in the
Medical Director’s job plan to enable the
performance of these additional
responsibilities. As an executive Board
member the Medical Director also receives
a pay supplement.
All other directors are substantive
employees of the Trust employed on openended employment contracts which can be

terminated by the Trust with contractual
notice.
Compensation in the event of early
termination would be in accordance with
contractual entitlements as set out in the
Agenda for Change national terms and
conditions of service.
With the agreement of the Board, the
Trust’s Director of Strategy accepted an
invitation to join the Greater London
Authority’s Health Commission as
Programme Director. During his release on
secondment, effective from 01 December
2013, the Trust was fully reimbursed for
salary and on costs.

Signed:

Timothy Smart
Chief Executive
Date: 27 May 2014
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Council of Governors
On 01 October 2013, King’s acquired new
sites and services in outer south east
London from the now dissolved South
London Healthcare Trust. As a result King’s
expanded its membership constituencies to
include Bromley and Lewisham. During the
reporting period, King’s also held elections
for governors to represent the new
constituencies.
The Council of Governors played an
important role in the acquisition process,
exercising its statutory duty to approve the
significant transaction and necessary
changes to the Trust’s Constitution.
Composition of the Council of Governors
In September 2013 the Council of
Governors held an extraordinary meeting
and voted to approve the decision to
proceed with the acquisition. As a result it
became necessary to revise the Trust
Constitution and the composition of the
Council during the transitional period and
beyond for the new constituency areas. The
Council agreed to change the composition
of the governor body to ensure it was
representative of the wider area now served
by King’s but was not too large or unwieldy.
Prior to the 31 January 2014, the Council of
Governors comprised 24 elected governors
and nine appointed stakeholder governors
as detailed on page 64. From the 31
January the Council of Governors
comprises 31 elected governors and 11
appointed stakeholder governors as
detailed on page 65.
Appointed stakeholder governors include
representatives from clinical commissioning
groups and local councils, which play an
important part of stakeholder relations.
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The names of individual governors, their
constituencies and terms of office between
01 April 2013 and 31 March 2014 are
detailed in tables 19 and 20 on pages 64
and 65.
Governor elections
Following the expansion of King’s to include
two entire hospitals plus sites and services
at other locations it was important to ensure
full representation on the Council of
Governors. An election was held for four
public governors from Bromley, one public
governor from Lewisham and two staff
governors drawn from any of King’s new
sites.
45 candidates stood for governor in the
Bromley constituency and 4 stood in the
Lewisham constituency. Two members of
staff stood and so were elected unopposed.
An election report can be found on page 67.
Election results were published on 31
January and successful candidates were
invited to an induction session prior to
attending their inaugural Council of
Governors meeting on 05 March.
Function and meetings of the Council of
Governors
The Council of Governors met five times
during the reporting period. The attendance
of individual governors at these meetings,
which were held in public, is detailed in
tables 21 and 22 on pages 65-66.
All directors are invited to attend Council
meetings. Individual directors, executive
and non-executive, regularly present items
at Council meetings, in accordance with the
planned agenda. Each governor subcommittee has an appointed executive lead
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and one or two affiliated non-executive
directors.
The Council of Governors has two key
functions, which are to hold non-executive
directors to account for the performance of
the Board and to represent the interests of
members and the public.
The Council of Governors also has specific
responsibilities, which include the
appointment, remuneration and removal of
the Chair and other non-executive directors.
Further responsibilities came into effect on
01 April 2013 as a result of the Health and
Social Care Act 2012. The normal term of
office for governors is three years.
During the reporting period, the Council of
Governors:
 Approved the reappointment of Deloitte
as external auditors for a further two
years;
 Received and considered the Trust
Annual Report and Accounts and the
auditor’s report on the accounts;
 Received regular updates on King’s
business planning process and provided
comments which were duly incorporated
into King’s forward plan and submitted
to Monitor in May 2013;
 Approved changes to the Trust
Constitution;
 Received regular information on and
discussed the proposed acquisition of
sites and services of the former South
London Healthcare Trust;
 Voted to approve the decision to
proceed with the acquisition; and



Decided to make changes to the terms
of governors, in order to create a natural
staggering of terms and thereby to
preserve knowledge.

Governors receive regular reports on the
Trust’s finances and performance.
Governors in the community
Governors are active within the community,
helping to facilitate communication between
King’s, members and the local community.
Governors are pivotal to sharing King’s
vision and performance with key
stakeholders.
As guardians of the community interest, the
Council of Governors ensures that the
needs of members are considered in the
planning of future services.
Further information about governor
engagement can be found on pages 68-69.
Governor sub-committees
The Council of Governors delegates some
of its work to sub-committees which provide
the opportunity for governors to delve
deeper into issues that are of interest to
members, patients and the local community.
The sub-committee structure is illustrated in
the diagram on the next page.
All governors are eligible to sit on governor
sub-committees, with the exception of the
Nominations Committee for which
governors stand and are elected.
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Membership and Community
Engagement Committee
This committee monitors membership
recruitment and reviews the engagement
and experience strategy ensuring that
membership continues to be representative
as well as identifying ways in which the
membership can be more actively involved.
Committee members are encouraged to
provide feedback about the engagement
activity they have been personally involved
with, both within and outside King’s, and
opportunities for facilitating communication
between governors and the membership are
explored. More information about these
opportunities can be found on pages 68-69.
Local transport issues are addressed by a
feeder group which reports to this
committee. Information about the Transport
Feeder Group can be found on page 31.
Patient Experience and Safety
Committee
This committee acts as a reference group
for King’s planned activity around patient
experience and safety.

Committee members are involved with a
range of initiatives to improve patient
experience and safety and to monitor
progress against King’s quality priorities.
Strategy Committee
This committee reviews King’s strategy and
annual forward plan, and feeds back to the
Council of Governors.
It considers external factors and the climate
in which King’s operates, such as revised
commissioning structures.
Nominations Committee
This committee is responsible for
determining and administering the selection
process for the appointment and
remuneration of the Chair and nonexecutive directors, and recommending the
preferred candidates to the Council of
Governors for appointment. This includes
consideration of the structure, size and
composition of the Board. It also monitors
the performance of non-executive directors
and makes recommendations to the Council
of Governors for the reappointment or
removal of individual non-executive
directors.

This year a particular focus has been King’s
response to the Francis Report and
recommendations.
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The members of the committee are detailed
in table 23 on page 67. The committee met
three times during the reporting period.
Governor development and engagement
King’s is committed to providing on-going
support and training for governors and
opportunities to engage with staff, directors,
member and one another.
Governors were invited to participate in
workshops at which topical issues selected
by governors themselves were presented by
directors and other senior members of staff.
Three governor development days were
organised in-year, one of which was
delivered to governors from all three
foundation trusts within King’s Health
Partners by the Foundation Trust Network.
Governors have also received presentations
from external speakers invited to subcommittee meetings and workshops in order
to give different perspectives on relevant
issues.
The process to develop a full business case
for the acquisition of sites and services from
South London Healthcare Trust was a key
feature of discussions throughout the
reporting period. A number of opportunities
were organised for governors to hear more
about the developing plans, regulatory
requirements and implications for King’s.

Governors, members and directors came
together to share ideas about King’s vision
and future plans at community events and
the Annual Members Meeting. There was
also an annual joint meeting of the Board of
Directors and Council of Governors and all
governors are invited to attend Board of
Directors meetings.
Governors also participated in ward-based
initiatives such as collecting patient stories
and the King’s in Conversation project.
More information about these involvement
activities can be found on page 69.
Governors are provided with a secure
remote resources centre through which they
can access information relevant to their role.
Some governors attended external events
hosted by the Foundation Trust Governors’
Association and the Foundation Trust
Network during the reporting period.
Company directorships and other
significant interests and commitments
King’s maintains a register of interests for its
governors, which is open to the public.
Arrangements to view the register can be
made by contacting the Foundation Trust
Office on kch-tr.FTO@nhs.net
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Table 19: Composition of the Council of Governors – 01 April 2013 – 31 March 2014
Constituency

Term of Office
Began

Term of
Office Ends

Patient
Patient
Patient
Patient
Patient
Patient

01/12/2011 Re-elected
01/12/2011
01/12/2011
01/12/2011 Re-elected
01/12/2011
01/12/2011

30/11/2014
30/11/2014
30/11/2014
30/11/2014
*1
30/11/2014

Southwark Central
Southwark Central
Southwark Central
Southwark South
Southwark South
Southwark North
Southwark North
Lambeth Central
Lambeth Central
Lambeth South
Lambeth South
Lambeth North
Lambeth North

01/12/2011
01/12/2011 Re-elected
01/05/2013
01/12/2011 Re-elected
01/12/2011
01/12/2011
17/02/2013
01/12/2011
01/12/2011
01/12/2011
01/12/2011
01/12/2011
01/12/2011

30/11/2014
*2
30/11/2014
30/11/2014
30/11/2014
30/11/2014
30/11/2014
30/11/2014
30/11/2014
30/11/2014
*3
30/11/2014
30/11/2014

Medical & Dentistry
Nursing & Midwifery
Nursing & Midwifery
Support Staff
Allied Health Professionals
Admin, Clerical & Management

01/12/2011
01/12/2011
01/12/2011 Re-elected
01/12/2011
01/12/2011
01/12/2011 Re-elected

30/11/2014
30/11/2014
30/11/2014
30/11/2014
30/11/2014
*4

Richard Gibbs
Sue Gallagher

Southwark CCG
Lambeth CCG

09/05/2011
01/01/2013

08/05/2014
31/12/2015

Cllr Jim Dickson

Lambeth Council

01/03/2012

28/02/2015

Dr Warren Turner
Chris Mottershead

London South Bank University
King's College London

29/01/2013

28/01/2016
30/06/2015

Diane Summers

Guy’s and St Thomas’ NHSFT

Elected
Patient
Thomas Duffy
Derek Cookson
Patti Kachidza
Jan Thomas
Christine Klaassen
David Sullivan

Public
Barbara Pattinson
Andy Alatise
Pam Cohen
Michelle Pearce
Stuart Owen
Andrew McCall
Olorunjuwonlo Onabaworin
Michael Robinson
Godwin Ubiaro
Nandakumar Ratnavel
Alam Zabit
Fiona Clark
Christopher North

Staff
Rachel Burman
Carolyn Campbell-Cole
Nicky Hayes, Lead Governor
Ahmad Toumadj
Phyllis Barnett
Brady Pohle

Appointed

01/07/2012 Reappointed
06/10/2013 Reappointed

05/10/2016

Carol Bell

South London & Maudsley
NHSFT
Joint Staff Committee

Phidelma Lisowska

Joint Staff Committee

01/09/2013

30/08/2016

Cllr Catherine McDonald

Southwark Council

27/07/2012

26/07/2015

Madeliene Long

01/12/2011

30/11/2014

01/12/2011

*5

*1 Died during the reporting period
*2 Resigned 01/06/2013
*3 Resigned 30/08/2013
*4 Resigned 03/01/2014
*5 Not re-elected as Joint Staff Committee representative therefore not eligible to be an appointed governor
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Table 20: Composition of the Council of Governors – 31 January 2014 – 31 March 2014
The following governors were elected to the Council of Governors in January 2014. They are in
addition to the governors listed in table 19.
Elected

Constituency

Term of Office
Began

Term of
Office Ends

Bromley

31/01/2014

30/01/2017

Bromley
Bromley
Bromley
Lewisham

31/01/2014
31/01/2014
31/01/2014
31/01/2014

30/01/2017
30/01/2017
30/01/2017
30/01/2017

Nursing and Midwifery
Medical and Dental

31/01/2014
31/01/2014

30/01/2017
30/01/2017

Bromley Council
Bromley CCG

16/12/2013
05/03/2014

15/12/2016
05/03/2017

Public
Anouska de AlmediaCarragher
Eniko Benfield
Paul Corben
Penny Dale
Alan Hall

Staff
Helen Mencia
CV Praveen

Appointed
Cllr Robert Evans
Jim Gunner

Table 21: Governors in office for Council meetings held between 15 May 2013 and 05
March 2014
Governor

Constituency

Attendance at meetings
(Actual/Possible)

Patient
Thomas Duffy*
Derek Cookson*
Patti Kachidza*
Jan Thomas*
Christine Klaassen*
David Sullivan*

Patient
Patient
Patient
Patient
Patient
Patient

4/5
1/5
3/5
2/5
3/4
1/5

Southwark Central
Southwark Central
Southwark South
Southwark South
Southwark North
Southwark North
Lambeth Central
Lambeth Central
Lambeth South
Lambeth South
Lambeth North
Lambeth North
Southwark Central

5/5
0/1
5/5
5/5
4/5
5/5
3/5
3/5
5/5
0/1
5/5
5/5
4/5

Public
Barbara Pattinson*
Andy Alatise*
Michelle Pearce
Stuart Owen
Joe Onabaworin*
Andrew McCall
Michael Robinson*
Godwin Ubiaro*
Nanda Ratnavel
Alam Zabit*
Fiona Clark
Christopher North
Pam Cohen*
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Staff
Rachel Burman
Carolyn Campbell-Cole*
Nicky Hayes
Ahmad Toumadj*
Phyllis Barnett*
Brady Pohle

Medical & Dentistry
Nursing and Midwifery
Nursing and Midwifery
Support Staff
Allied Health Professionals
Admin, Clerical & Management

5/5
4/5
5/5
2/5
0/4
4/4

Appointed
Southwark Clinical Commissioning
3/5
Group
Lambeth Clinical Commissioning
Sue Gallagher*
4/5
Group
Cllr Jim Dickson*
Lambeth Council
2/5
Cllr Catherine McDonald*
Southwark Council
2/5
Dr Warren Turner*
London South Bank University
3/5
Chris Mottershead*
King's College London
3/5
Diane Summers*
Guy’s and St Thomas’ NHS FT
3/5
Madeliene Long*
South London & Maudsley NHS FT
2/5
Phidelma Lisowska
Joint Staff Committee
4/4
*
A register of attendance is presented at each meeting of the Council of Governors. The reasons for
individual governors’ non-attendance is considered and accepted or not accepted accordingly.
Attendance at private sessions of the Council of Governors is not recorded here.
The extraordinary meeting held on 05 September 2013 was convened at short notice therefore several
governors were unable to attend.
Richard Gibbs*

Table 22: Governors in office for the Council meeting on 05 March 2014 only
Governor

Constituency

Public
Anouska de Almedia-Carragher
Eniko Benfield
Paul Corben
Penny Dale
Alan Hall*
Staff
Helen Mencia*
CV Praveen

Attendance at meetings
(Actual/Possible)

Bromley
Bromley
Bromley
Bromley
Lewisham

1/1
1/1
1/1
1/1
0/1

Nursing and Midwifery
Medical and Dental

0/1
1/1

Appointed
Cllr Robert Evans
Bromley Council
1/1
Jim Gunner
Bromley CCG
0/1
A register of attendance is presented at each meeting of the Council of Governors. The reasons for
*
individual governors’ non-attendance is considered and accepted or not accepted accordingly.
Attendance at private sessions of the Council of Governors is not recorded here.
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Table 23: Membership of the Nominations Committee
Members
Prof Sir George Alberti, Committee Chair
Nanda Ratnavel , Vice Chair
Fiona Clark
Thomas Duffy

Public Governor
Public Governor
Patient Governor

Brady Pohle (until January 2014)

Staff Governor

Rachel Burman

Staff Governor

Table 24: Election Report
No. of eligible voters

No. of votes cast

Turnout

Bromley

2,297

937

40.8%

Lewisham

1,109

263

23.7%

Elected

Constituency

Votes received

Bromley

161

Bromley
Bromley
Bromley
Lewisham

323
165
162
120

Nursing and Midwifery
Medical and Dental

Elected unopposed
Elected unopposed

Public
Anouska de AlmediaCarragher
Eniko Benfield
Paul Corben
Penny Dale
Alan Hall
Staff
Helen Mencia
CV Praveen

Front row: Fiona Clark, Penny Dale, Olorunjuwonlo Onabaworin, Anoushka de Almeida-Carragher, George Alberti,
Pida Ripley, Ahmad Toumadj, Patti Kachidza Second row: Phyllis Barnett, Sue Gallagher, Pam Cohen, Andrew
McCall, Michelle Pearce, Stuart Owen, Diane Summers, Catherine McDonald, Madeliene Long Third row: Nicky
Hayes, Richard Gibbs, CV Praveen, Robert Evans, Jim Gunner, Michael Pedro, Chris Mottershead, Nanda Ratnavel,
Alan Hall
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Patient and Public
Focus: Listening
and Responding
Improving Patient Care
An important part of the life of King’s for the
past 100 years has been its relationship
with the community. King’s is committed to
addressing healthcare inequalities and
responding to the needs of the local
population. This is one reason why the
majority of foundation trust members and
the governors who are elected to represent
them are drawn from the London boroughs
of Lambeth, Southwark, Lewisham and
Bromley. Other members have an
association with King’s because they are
patients, staff or affiliated to partner
organisations. More information about
membership constituencies can be found on
page 78.
During the year 2013/14, members and
governors have continued to play an active
role in helping to improve services and
ensuring that they meet the health needs of
the diverse community served by the
hospital.
Council of Governors: representing the
patient voice
As outlined on page 61, the key functions of
the Council of Governors are to hold nonexecutive directors to account for the
performance of the Board and to represent
the interests of members and the public.
In order to meet these responsibilities
governors ensure that the patient voice
remains at the forefront of King’s work by
providing lay representation and an external
68

perspective on a range of committees and
working groups. These include:
 End of Life Care Group;
 Older People's Committee;
 Maternity Services Liaison;
 Patient Food and Nutrition Committee;
and
 Patient Experience Committee.
Governors also have their own committees,
which focus on strategy, patient experience
and safety, membership and community
engagement.
More information about governors and their
sub-committees can be found on pages 6062.
Patient experience
Both governors and members continue to
volunteer to help with a range of projects
aiming to improve the experience of
patients. Some of these projects are
outlined below.
PLACE assessments
Governors and members have joined multidisciplinary teams to take part in our annual
Patient Led Assessments of the Care
Environment (PLACE). Teams of assessors
go into hospitals to assess how the
environment supports patients’ privacy and
dignity, food, cleanliness and general
building maintenance. The focus is entirely
on the care environment, not clinical care
provision or staff competency.
Transforming outpatient services
Governors have again carried out
observations of care and contributed to
project steering groups aiming to improve
outpatient services, which this year have
included phlebotomy, pharmacy and
ophthalmology.
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Help with the Friends and Family Test
Governors and members are lending
valuable support by gathering feedback
from patients through the Friends and
Family Test survey (FFT). All inpatients,
emergency patients and women who use
King’s maternity services are offered the
opportunity to answer the FFT question:
‘would you recommend this service to your
friends or family should they need similar
care or treatment?’
Governors and members are helping at both
the Denmark Hill and PRUH sites by
handing out FFT cards and supporting
patients to complete the survey using iPads.
Patient stories and video stories
Feedback from patients is gathered by
governors visiting wards to listen to a
patients’ experience or ‘story’ and in some
cases capturing them on camera. Four
governors have received training to take
patient video stories, which this year have
focussed on maternity services at the PRUH
and the experience of 'harms' such as
falling in hospital, developing pressure
ulcers or an infection. These stories are a
valuable resource used as part of clinical
training.
King's in Conversation
As part of King’s response to the Francis
Inquiry into serious failings at Mid
Staffordshire Hospital, the King’s in
Conversation programme was launched.
Governors and members acted as
facilitators at listening events at the
Denmark Hill, PRUH and Queen Mary
Hospital, Sidcup sites. The views of staff
and patients views were gathered through
formal group discussions or via 'pop up
conversations' held in corridors, offices and
the canteen.

Dignity visits
February 2014 was Dignity Month and once
again, governors played an active role in
this important annual event. During the
month they accompanied staff on a series of
ward visits to hear from staff about
initiatives that they had developed to
improve and promote dignity for patients.
Annual Members Meeting
On 18 September 2013 governors and
members gathered for the Annual Members
Meeting. The event was well attended and
members were offered the chance to have
routine health checks such as blood
pressure and blood sugar. A review of the
past year was presented by the Chief
Executive, Timothy Smart; Chief Financial
Officer, Simon Taylor presented a financial
review; and Lead Governor, Nicky Hayes,
reported to members on the activities of the
Council of Governors during the year and
how they have discharged their
responsibilities. The formal part of the
meeting was followed by break-out sessions
on two topical issues: movement disorders
and the care of older people.
Service improvements following staff or
patient surveys or comments and Care
Quality Commission reports
Care Quality Commission (CQC)
During the reporting period Chief Inspector
of Hospitals, Professor Sir Mike Richards,
identified 18 trusts that would be among the
first to be inspected by the end of 2013
under the new inspection regime.
The now dissolved South London
Healthcare Trust appeared on the list as
‘high risk’. On 02 December a team of
inspectors arrived at the PRUH. They were
provided with information about the
acquisition process and as part of their
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inspection spoke with members of staff,
patients and carers and individual directors.
King’s was invited to participate in a Quality
Summit to discuss the outcome of the
inspection and the draft report, then on 06
February 2014 the final report was
published highlighting areas of good
practice and areas requiring improvement.
King’s was asked to respond outlining the
actions that would be undertaken to meet
these essential standards.
National patient surveys
The CQC commissioned two national
surveys in 2013: one for inpatients and one
for maternity service users. The Department
of Health commissioned a national cancer
patient experience survey.
Inpatient survey
This annual national survey was sent to a
random sample of 850 adults who were
inpatients at King’s during July 2013. As this
was before the acquisition of former SLHT
sites and services took place, only Denmark
Hill patients were surveyed.
Overall performance dropped slightly
compared to 2012. King's was rated ‘amber’
in nine sections and ‘red’ in one section.
Out of 60 comparable indicators, King’s
recorded an improved score for 28
indicators, remained the same in nine and
scored slightly scored less well in 23.
The most improved area was patients’
views of their care in the emergency
department and two of the survey questions
which focussed on opportunities for patients
to give their feedback and how to make a
complaint were rated green.
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There was deterioration in the experience of
patients waiting for admission, particularly in
relation to the time that they were on the
waiting list, and patient satisfaction around
the information provided by anaesthetists
prior to an operation and feeling that they
were not given enough notice about their
discharge were red-rated.
An action plan has been developed to
improve areas where King’s has performed
less well and to drive further improvement.
National maternity survey
The results of the national maternity survey
were published in December 2013. Again,
results only included respondents from the
Denmark Hill site. The survey asked the
views of a sample of women who had live
births at King’s in February 2013. The
survey asked women about all aspects of
their maternity care from antenatal to their
care in hospital after they had their baby
and about feeding their baby.
King’s was rated ‘green’ for views of
antenatal services and ‘amber’ for antenatal
care, labour and birth, staff during labour
and care after birth.
Compared to the last survey, which was
conducted in 2008, King's made
improvements in a number of areas
including:
 Women having sufficient space to move
around during their labour;
 Not being left alone by a midwife or
doctor at a worrying time; and
 Having confidence and trust in the staff
treating them during labour and birth.
King's was top amongst its London peer
teaching hospitals for satisfaction with
antenatal check-ups.
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Department of Health national cancer
survey 2012/13
This survey seeks the views of patients with
a primary diagnosis of cancer admitted as
an inpatient or day-case patient and
discharged between 01 September 2012
and 03 November 2013.
Overall the results were disappointing and
showed that the comprehensive
improvement plan, implemented after
disappointing survey results in 2010/11, had
not yet made significant impact.
Sections that showed significant
deterioration included ‘Hospital care as a
day patient/ outpatient’ and ‘Overall NHS
Care’.
However, there were some positives to be
observed, including improvement in 11
sections of the survey and significant
improvement in ‘Support’, ‘Hospital
Doctors’, and ‘Ward Nurses’.
A number of actions have been undertaken
to improve the experience of cancer
patients including:
• Launch of a comprehensive King’s
cancer patient website;
• Launch of the King's Cancer Helpline;
• Training in advanced communication for
cancer clinicians;
• Research to understand where in the
hospital inpatients are cared for so staff
training can be targeted appropriately;
and
• Macmillan funded information stands in
Golden Jubilee Wing and at the
Denmark Hill site entrance.
‘How are we doing?’ survey
The ‘How are we doing?’ (HRWD) patient
feedback programme used to monitor
performance and drive improvement has
further developed this year.

HRWD inpatient Survey
This year saw a strong performance at the
Denmark Hill site. The target score was
reached in eight months of the year and, in
the remaining months, fell only one point
below target.
On the day that King’s took responsibility for
the PRUH and Orpington Hospital the
HRWD inpatient and maternity surveys
were launched. Initial scores in October
were encouraging, slipped slightly in
November and December but recovered in
January to just one below target.
Over these initial months, the number of
responses to the survey was low. A
programme of work is underway to support
staff to deliver the survey to increase the
response rates so that improvement work is
informed by robust feedback.
HRWD outpatient survey
On the Denmark Hill site, performance has
been good with the overall target score met
or exceeded in eight months of the year and
the remaining months scoring one point
below target.
An outpatient survey linked to the Friends
and Family Test will be launched at the
PRUH and for King’s patients at
Beckenham Beacon and Queen Mary's
Hospital, Sidcup from October 01 2014.
The HRWD outpatient survey has been
successfully used to monitor improvements
in patient experience linked to this year's
local CQUIN target, which was to improve
the experience of patients visiting Suite 1 for
their orthopaedic outpatient clinics.
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The Friends and Family Test
The NHS-wide Friends and Family Test
(FFT) is an important opportunity for
patients to provide feedback on the care
and treatment that they have received in
order to improve services.

is more variable. Initially, at the Denmark
Hill, scores fluctuated. However, since
October 2013, scores have consistently
risen. Given the significant pressures on the
emergency service over the last year, these
results are encouraging.

Introduced nationally on 01 April 2013, the
FFT asks patients whether they would
recommend hospital wards, emergency
departments and maternity services to their
friends and family if they needed similar
care or treatment. This means every patient
in these wards and departments is able to
give feedback on the quality of the care they
receive, giving hospitals a better
understanding of the needs of their patients
and enabling improvements. The inpatient
FFT is incorporated into the HRWD
inpatient survey.

FFT scores at the PRUH, recorded from 01
October, have been less positive. There
was a downward trend to December 2013,
although scores picked up slightly during
the last quarter of the year.

Eventually the test will be open to everyone
using any NHS services.
Initially, King's set itself a target to achieve a
score of 68 for inpatients and 61 for
emergency patients which would place the
trust in the top 25% of London hospitals.
FFT: inpatients
Wards across all of King’s sites are
achieving and exceeding the inpatient
target. Learning from these exemplary
wards is being shared to promote
improvement across all areas.
Response rates on the Denmark Hill site
regularly exceed the target. Responses at
the PRUH and Orpington sites have been
slow to increase and work is ongoing to
build the response rates.
FFT: emergency departments
FFT performance in the emergency setting
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The national patient experience CQUIN for
this year is linked to rollout of the FFT and
achieving target response rates. Achieving
adequate response rates in an emergency
setting has been challenging, particularly
with the ever increasing activity. The
Denmark Hill site reached the response rate
target for each month of quarter 4. Staff at
the PRUH site have worked hard to promote
FFT in the emergency department and have
seen a steady rise in the response rates.
As part of a programme to improve
response rates we have also introduced text
messaging to patients post discharge which
is proving successful.
FFT: maternity services
FFT for maternity services was launched on
all King’s sites on October 01 2013. The
maternity FFT is structured so that women
are given the opportunity to provide
feedback on care received at different
points along their maternity journey.
It is proving challenging to achieve robust
response rates, particularly for the antenatal
and community midwifery stages. New
delivery methods for obtaining feedback will
be introduced to increase response rates
including iPads, survey cards and
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volunteers supporting patients to complete
surveys on the wards.

experience quality priorities can be found in
the Quality Account on pages 80-175.

Service improvements
Below are some examples of improvements
that have been introduced as a result of
feedback from patients:

Patient experience reports continue to
provide integrated monthly data on
complaints, contacts with the Patient Advice
and Liaison Service (PALS) and the Friends
and Family Test survey.

At the Frank Cooksey Rehabilitation Unit,
patient and relative diaries have been
introduced to improve communication,
particularly out of hours and at weekends.
Patients and their relatives are encouraged
to note down questions and queries. The
diaries are checked each morning and
actioned appropriately. The diaries are
intended to enhance communication
between patients, their relatives and the
staff team and to complement face to face
interaction.
In Haematology, patients are now offered a
pre-transplant information session, a
measure which has been well received by
patients.
In response to patient feedback from liver,
renal and cystic fibrosis patients, new
menus have been developed for to meet the
specific dietary needs of these groups of
patients.
Patients using the phlebotomy service
consistently reported that waiting times
were too long. The service has undertaken
a major review including the levels of
staffing and has increased the number of
staff on duty at peak times. This has
resulted in significant improvements in
waiting times and patient satisfaction.
Patient experience priorities
Detailed information about the work
undertaken this year around patient

King’s Volunteers
2013/14 has been an exciting year for
King’s volunteering service. From 01
October 2013, the volunteering schemes at
the PRUH, Orpington Hospital and
Beckenham Beacon became part of the
King’s volunteering programme.
Across all of King’s sites, there are now
over 1,500 volunteers and the vision is to
develop the service until volunteers are in
every hospital area where they can support
patients and visitors.
This year also saw the launch of community
volunteering programmes, and the success
of the Hospital 2 Home pilot project which
aims to support patients through the
discharge process. The King’s College
Hospital Charity have generously granted
the service funding to continue both the
internal and community volunteering
programmes.
In January 2014, the Prince of Wales and
the Duchess of Cornwall visited the
Denmark Hill site. The Royal couple met
volunteers and heard about how King’s
volunteering programme works and what
motivates people to sign up. The majority of
King’s volunteers are aged between 16 and
21 and the Prince expresses great personal
interest in including young people in social
action. The volunteering service has since
been involved in discussions to establish a
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national health and social care volunteering
scheme.
King’s is keen to grow and develop these
services, and to support the volunteers who
are already in post and providing a great
asset to their organisations. Prospective
volunteers who wish to help at any of the
King’s sites can apply online and, if
recruited, will receive comprehensive
training.
“To give up time to improve somebody
else’s life is a wonderful thing to do”
Patient
“The volunteers have been really positive
for the wards… Overall feedback is very
good – they’re making a difference to
patient care.”
Matron
Volunteering - King's College Hospital NHS
Foundation Trust

Responding to complaints
King’s received 792 complaints during
2013/14 concerning the Denmark Hill site
which is a 23% increase on the number of
complaints received in 2012/13 (635). A
total of 439 complaints were made during
the reporting period concerning the Princess
Royal University Hospital and other sites for
which King’s now has responsibility. 239 of
these were received prior to the acquisition
on 01 October 2013. Therefore, as an
enlarged organisation, King’s has recorded
992 complaints for the year. The ratio of
complaints to patient attendance, especially
on the Denmark Hill site, has remained
broadly consistent for the past few years,
despite the increase in patient activity
observed in all emergency, outpatient and
admission settings.
The profile of complaints has also remained
consistent in that half of all complaints relate
to some aspect of clinical treatment.
However alongside this are concerns about
how patients feel we have communicated
with them about their care and treatment,
staff attitude and behaviour,
cancellation/delays of outpatient
appointments and cancellations/delays in
arranging an admission to hospital which is
somewhat reflective of the on-going
pressures on inpatient beds due to
emergency and trauma care. Just over
50% of complaints responded to were
considered to be well founded.
Following the published Francis Report and
Clywd/Hart reviews last year, a number of
actions and initiatives were taken to ensure
the Trust was responding to its complaints
effectively. These included inviting
complainants and patients to participate in
listening events, refreshing our information
leaflets for all sites, and establishing a
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Serious Complaints Committee, chaired by
a non-executive director. We have also
asked complainants to complete a
questionnaire to tell us about their
experience in making a complaint. This
survey will be ongoing and will be used to
measure the impact of changes to the
complaints process over the coming year.
Offering immediate ‘on the spot’ support to
patients, families and carers, remains a
priority and we encourage and welcome the
opportunity to respond to feedback on all
patient experiences. During the year 5,411
enquiries were made with PALS;
approximately a third of the enquiries
related to the Bromley sites since 01
October 2013.
Stakeholder relations
The Board of Directors recognises the
importance of effective communication with
a wide range of stakeholders, including
foundation trust members, local
Healthwatch organisations and Health
Overview and Scrutiny Committees
(HOSCs). In this year more than any other it
was important to be in dialogue with key
stakeholders about King’s plans for
enlarging the organisation.
The Annual Members Meeting is a key
event in the King’s calendar and an
opportunity to communicate with members,
in addition to regular written communication
and events for members. A series of
community meetings are held annually to
enable members to feed into King’s annual
strategic planning process and to ensure
that the views of governors and members
are clearly communicated to the Board.
Regular communication and dialogue is
maintained with local stakeholder, including

patient groups, at six-monthly stakeholder
events and via a stakeholder update enewsletter. King’s representatives regularly
attend HOSC meetings across Southwark,
Lambeth and Bromley.
Southwark and Lambeth Integrated Care
King’s is committed to working with partners
across local boroughs to integrate services
at a local level to improve patient care. One
example of an on-going project which
involves working alongside key
stakeholders is Southwark and Lambeth
Integrated Care (SLIC).
King’s is a founder member of SLIC, along
with South London and Maudsley and Guy’s
and St Thomas’. SLIC is a movement for
change that aims to genuinely shift how
care services are delivered so that they are
coordinated around the needs of people,
treating mental health, physical health and
social care needs holistically.
SLIC is governed by a federation of the
leading commissioning and provider
organisations across Southwark and
Lambeth. This includes the two local
authorities, the two local clinical
commissioning groups, representation from
local medical committees, three foundation
trusts (encompassing acute and community
services and physical and mental health),
as well as the King’s Health Partners and
Guy’s and St Thomas’ Charity.
In practice SLIC has fulfilled two main
functions: it provides a neutral space where
partners come together to work through the
difficult practical challenges associated with
leading system transformation; and it
supports the rapid testing and
implementation of specific interventions
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aimed at improving the value of care
received by the frail and elderly.
Work to date has built an ever deepening
shared understanding of the issues, a
commitment to action, and an
understanding of the options to reduce
avoidable emergency admissions, speed up
delays in discharge, improve mental and
physical health liaison, and reduce
admissions to residential care.
New services have been delivered, for
example, 3,200 people have had a holistic
health assessments within general practice
to generate a care plan, and 322 people
have had their care co-ordinated by an
integrated care manager. Experience from
patients and staff suggests that care is
changing for the better.
A lot still needs to be done. Building on the
first two years of the programme there is a
clear recognition of the need to do more,
both in terms of the scope of new services,
and in terms of more fundamental changes
to the care system.
To make fundamental changes in the care
system King’s will need to work closely with
commissioners and partners to transform
how care is commissioned, paid for and
provided. This work will:
 Identify if and how health and social
care budgets are brought together to
fund services for specified segments of
the population;
 Recommend different financial
mechanisms and incentives to help
providers focus on preventing avoidable
activity and providing care in the right
place at the right time; and
 Establish ways in which the various
providers can come together across the
76

full value-chain, either in formal or virtual
organisations and networks, to manage
contracts and sub-contracts for the
provision of coordinated care.
This type of transformation is well aligned
with the Call to Action endorsed by NHS
England, Monitor and the CQC.
However, it is widely recognized that such a
transformation will require a fundamental
change in the way that resources, including
people, buildings and infrastructure, are
utilised within the whole health economy.
Patient information
Patient information produced to support
consent follows a set template to ensure
that all necessary information is included
and that it is written in jargon-free English.
Braille versions are available on request, as
are translations for those patients whose
first language is not English. Brochures are
available in printed formats, on the hospital
intranet for use by staff and on the external
website for download by patients and
carers.
This year, as part of a pilot project to avoid
patients having to visit hospital to undertake
training, King’s allergy service created a film
reminding patients how and when to use
anaphylaxis devices such as epipens. Not
only does this support patient care but, if
successful, this approach could reduce
unnecessary hospital visits for patients and
costs to King’s.
In April 2013 an independent website was
established for the Havens service, which
offers advice and support to victims of rape
and sexual assault. Due to the sensitivity of
the service it was difficult to involve service
users in the development of the website.
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However, clinicians, nurses, counsellors
and police were consulted and feedback
following the launch has been positive,
including suggestions for changes and
amendments.
In October 2013 when King’s took
responsibility for the PRUH, Orpington
Hospital and other associated sites a
temporary website was developed to
continue providing patient information
during the integration process. Plans are
underway to integrate all service and
location information into one website during
2014. All web content will be reviewed and
updated to reflect service changes, and a
web user group involving patients and other
web users will be established to help with
user journeys and to provide feedback on
developments.
King’s is committed to providing online
information that is accessible to the widest
possible audience, regardless of technology
or ability, including disabled people, people
with visual impairments and those with
motor deficiencies and cognitive
disabilities. Therefore the Trust website
conforms to the World Wide Web
Consortium (W3C) Web Content
Accessibility Guidelines 2.0 at the AA
standard, making it more user friendly for
everyone.
Enhanced quality governance reporting
The Quality Account on pages 80-175
outlines King’s quality priorities and
processes for monitoring progress in
achieving them. In addition King’s Board of
Directors has regard for Monitor’s Quality
Governance Framework, principally through
the work of the Quality and Governance
Committee and its reporting committees
which focus on the three dimensions of

quality: patient outcomes, patient safety and
patient experience.
The reporting structures and processes for
the governance of quality are well
embedded across the Denmark Hill site and
satellite units. Since the acquisition these
processes have been superimposed across
the extended organisation to ensure that
patient outcomes, patient and organisational
safety and patient experience at all King’s
sites will be integrated within an existing
and established quality governance
monitoring framework and robust
performance management infrastructure.
The Board of Directors continues to receive
a monthly performance report and
performance scorecard which provides up
to date information on key quality indicators
and highlighting current quality and safety
issues and action being taken. A suite of
other reports are received on a quarterly
basis including a comprehensive integrated
quality and governance report. This report
includes updates on quality priorities and
driving improvement across the quality
dimension. The Quality & Governance
Committee reviews the adequacy of and
progress against action plans.
Reporting to the Board of Directors, an
internal working group was established to
provide a dedicated forum for considering
the Francis Report and recommendations
and to work collaboratively with the health
community in developing a response. A
work programme was established around
six work themes, all of which were led by
members of the executive.
More information about the Quality and
Governance Committee can be found on
page 55.
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Further detail about King’s quality
governance processes can be found in the
Annual Governance Statement within the
annual accounts on pages 177-188.

A Representative Membership
A strategy for membership development is
incorporated within King’s Engagement and
Experience Strategy. It outlines the
approach to ensuring that it has a
membership reflective of local communities,
how the membership is involved in the work
of King’s and how King’s can make a
difference in the local community.
A representative membership
King’s membership is split into three
constituencies: public, patient and staff.
Public membership - anyone who is 16
years old or over and lives within the
London Boroughs of Lambeth, Southwark,
Bromley or Lewisham is entitled to become
a public member.
Patient membership - anyone who is 16
years old or over and lives outside the four
boroughs but has been a patient of King’s in
the last six years, or has been the carer of a
patient of King’s in the last six years, is
entitled to become a patient member.
Staff membership - All staff that have
employment contracts lasting more than 12
months are automatically opted into
membership. They have the option to opt
out should they wish to. King’s Volunteers
and full time employees of King’s
contractors are also eligible to become
members, though they have to opt in to
become a member.
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New sites, new members
In anticipation of the acquisition of the
PRUH and other sites and services from the
former SLHT, the Membership Development
Strategy was revised to reflect the enlarged
organisation and included strategies to
recruit members to the new public
constituencies of Bromley and Lewisham. A
key aim was to ensure that there was a
large pool of members who were eligible to
vote and to stand as candidates in the
governor elections.
Targets were set to ensure equity of
membership across the three largest public
constituencies: Lambeth, Southwark and
Bromley, which have similar populations
and are each served by four governors. A
smaller target was set for recruiting
members in Lewisham, which is
represented by one governor.
Targets were also put in place to recruit
additional patient members as
approximately 1,500 patient members
transferred to the new public constituencies
of Bromley and Lewisham on 01 October
and it was important to replenish the patient
constituency, which is represented by six
governors, and thereby have representation
which is proportionate to the number of
members represented by governors in the
public constituencies.
Patient members resident in either Bromley
or Lewisham automatically transferred to
one of the two new public constituencies on
01 October were as follows:
 536 patient members resident in
Bromley joined the public constituency
of Bromley;
 1,060 patient members resident in
Lewisham joined the public constituency
of Lewisham.
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Recruitment activity
Leading up to the acquisition a sample of
30,000 patients of the PRUH was drawn
and a letter sent inviting them to become a
member of King’s. The sample was
weighted to include a larger proportion of
younger people, as this is a category where
historically King’s has had fewer members.
The response was very positive with a total
of 2,228 members signing up which equates
to a 7.5% response rate.
Other recruitment activities included:
 Stakeholder events held in Bromley;
 Face to face recruitment and leafleting
at the PRUH;
 Promoting membership at a number of
road show events held in venues across
the new constituency areas including
supermarkets, railway stations and
shopping centres;
 Information online;
 Promotion in @King’s magazine; and
 Encouraging current members to recruit
friends and family.
Alongside this a programme of cost-neutral
recruitment activity continued to recruit
more members to the existing public
constituencies of Lambeth and Southwark
and to the patient constituency.
By 31 March 2014, the total number of
members was 21,019. This total includes
7,888 from the public constituencies, 3,141
from the patient constituency and 9,990
from the staff constituency.
Over the coming year, and in accordance
with the revised membership development
strategy, a target of maintaining a patient
and public membership of between 9,800
and 11,100 members is set out.

King’s continues to work hard to ensure that
its membership is representative of the local
community, and takes steps to ensure that
membership is accessible to all who are
eligible, irrespective of age, gender, race or
social background. Demographics of the
membership are monitored via the
membership database and any gaps can be
addressed with targeted recruitment.
An involved membership
A number of initiatives are undertaken to
involve members with activities at King’s.
Some of these are outlined on pages 68-69
under patient experience. Others include:
 Regular publication of @King's
magazine to update members on news
and events, as well as opportunities to
get more involved, plus notification of all
Council of Governor meetings;
 Programme of talks on public health and
how services are structured and
delivered which this year have taken
place at the Denmark Hill site and at
Beckenham Beacon;
 A digest of the Trust Annual Report,
called the Annual Review, published in
the summer; and
 Members’ section on the website with
useful up-to-date information, news and
more information on how they can get
involved.
Contacting the membership team
If you have any queries regarding
membership, please contact the
membership team:
Membership Office
King’s College Hospital
FREEPOST NAT 7343
London SE5 9BR
Email: kch-tr.members@nhs.net
Telephone: 020 3299 8785.
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Quality Account 2013/14

King’s College Hospital NHS Foundation Trust
Quality Account 2013/14
Presented as part of the “Annual Report and Accounts 2013-2014” to
Parliament pursuant to the Health Act 2009 and supporting regulations, e.g.
the National Health Service (Quality Accounts) Regulations 2010 and
Amendments Regulations 2011, 2012 and 2013.
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Part 1: Statement of Quality from the Chief Executive, structure of
report and CQUINs
Statement from Chief Executive
Since we started publishing our Quality Report five years ago, we have prided ourselves on
putting quality and safety first. We have embedded our commitment to kind and compassionate
care in our Values, and they have sustained us and enabled us to put patients at the centre of
everything we do. During the year to which this report refers, we have taken an enormous step
in our transformation journey, and our Values are again sustaining us through challenges. In
acquiring a number of the parts of the failing South London Healthcare NHS Trust (PRUH,
Beckenham Beacon, Orpington Hospital, and several services at Queen Mary’s Sidcup) on 1
October, we took on significant risk, because we identified the need for underlying culture
change in order to realise the transformation required. The first six months has proven to us that
we did not under-estimate the challenge, and I thank all staff at all our sites for their commitment
to progress, with compassionate patient care at the centre. All of our values matter in this
regard, and in particular I would highlight ‘Working as One Team’ as being vital. Colleagues
from across our enlarged organisation are working collaboratively to deliver the same quality of
care in all settings. It will take time, but I am confident that we will achieve the necessary culture
change and improve the quality of care across the boroughs we serve.
It would be foolish to suppose that our Quality Accounts this year have not been affected our
acquisition in October 2013 of the Princess Royal University Hospital, Orpington Hospital, and a
range of other services delivered across a number of sites across Kent. It is no secret that
South London Healthcare Trust was challenged financially and in the quality of the care it was
providing to patients, and our task over the last six months has been to establish our own quality
standards and procedures across all our new sites.
We made it very clear at the time of the PRUH acquisition that the quality of our services to
patients was and would continue to be our number one priority. For example, we identified
through our due diligence process that the ratio of nurses to patients on wards at the PRUH was
not as high as we felt it should be, and we worked quickly to bring the levels up to these enjoyed
at Denmark Hill.
The acquisition and integration work have not been an easy process and I would like to take this
opportunity to express my thanks and admiration for staff both old and new, who have risen to
the occasion magnificently.
Quality Priorities
Our stakeholder engagement around the setting of quality priorities this year has been carried
out across two patient catchment areas – in addition to Lambeth and Southwark, we have had
discussions with key stakeholders in Bromley to reflect our presence at the PRUH and other
new sites.
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Looking back to last year’s priorities, I am pleased to report that we fully met our objectives with regard
to care of patients with dementia and CoPD, improved patient experience in outpatients and established
a consistent performance framework for the identification and escalation of acutely ill patients. Our
work on improving discharge processes continues and whilst we have made progress in this area,
there is still more work to be done to improve the consistency of information and processes
across the Trust. Likewise, whilst the surgical safety checklist has been established across the
Trust, it is still not being used in a consistent manner and more work needs to be done to
embed this into the culture of our surgeons. We will continue to monitor and progress work in
these areas and will feed back on further progress next year.
Our quality priorities for 2013/14, as devised with and agreed by with local stakeholder groups
consist of :
 A reduction in preventable ill-health by increasing our assessment of patients whilst in the
hospital to identify whether we can offer support and advice on alcohol and smoking
 Improving outcomes for patients following hip fracture
 Improving the experience of Cancer patients , and
 Improving the identification and management of patients at risk of falling in hospital
We are also continuing our work on:
 Improving experience and co-ordination of discharge, and
 Improving effective use of the surgical safety checklist
We have a lot to do over the next year, bringing our new sites into the King’s family and
ensuring we are delivering a consistent performance – as well as a detailed operational
integration and transformation plan, we have launched a culture programme amongst our staff
designed to increase transparency, encourage closer working between clinicians and managers
and to empower staff to make decisions at a local level.
King’s Values are important to us all, and I would like to feel that all staff in our enlarged
organisation can see how those Values can help us deliver higher quality care for all our
patients. I hope you find the detailed information in the following report useful. We have
reflected our progress, but have also been clear where we still need to do more work to reach
our goals.
Quality Account and CQUINs
CQUINs are intended to reward excellence and encourage providers to drive a portfolio of
quality improvements on a continuous basis. Each year providers and commissioners come
together to agree the detail of how national priorities (e.g. Dementia screening) and local
priorities (e.g. public health screening & advice for patients) will be achieved and measured. A
series of milestones and targets are agreed in advance and each provider is required to submit
evidence to commissioners at regular intervals in order to secure the funding associated with
them.
The CQUIN framework contributes to the implementation of the National Institute of Clinical
Excellence (NICE) Quality Standards and Department of Health-led innovations as well as to
improving patient experience and outcomes. As a result, there is a natural overlap between the
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objectives associated with Quality Account priorities and those contained in the Trust’s CQUIN
agreement. Where relevant, CQUIN evidence has been used throughout this document to
support the achievement of Quality Account priorities.
Structure of this report
The following report summarises our performance and improvements against the quality
priorities and objectives we set ourselves for 2013-2014. It also outlines those we have agreed
for the coming year (2014-2015). As the Trust only acquired the new sites and services on 01
October it has not been able to fully consolidate its data. PRUH and Denmark Hill site data have
been included separately where available.
The Trust acquired services and sites from the now dissolved South London Healthcare Trust
on 1 October 2013. As part of its due diligence process in 2013, the Trust highlighted significant
concerns with lack of systems and processes and availability and reliability of data relating to
the Princess Royal University Hospital (PRUH) site. Since acquisition, the Trust has
implemented new systems and processes to improve data capture, accuracy and availability.
However, for the period 1 October 2013 to 31 March 2014, the Trust takes the view that the
data cannot be relied on as entirely accurate, and has therefore taken the decision to exclude it
from the report.
We have outlined our quality priorities and objectives for 2014-2015 under the same headings:
patient safety, clinical effectiveness and patient experience. We have detailed how we decided
upon the priorities and objectives and how we will achieve and measure our performance
against these. The regulated Statements of Assurance are included in this part of the report.
We have also provided other information to review our overall quality performance against key
national priorities and national key standards. This includes the 2014/15 requirement to report
against a core set of indicators relevant to the services we provide; using a standardised
statement set out in the NHS (Quality Accounts) Amendment Regulations 2013. We have also
published the Statements from Clinical Commissioning Groups, NHS England, Health Overview
and Scrutiny Commit tees, and Healthwatch that outline their response to this Quality Account.
Having had due regard for the contents of this statement to the best of my knowledge, the
information contained in the following Quality Account is accurate.

Timothy Smart
Chief Executive
Date: 27 May 2014
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Part 2: Priorities for improvement and statements of assurance from
the Board
Our Quality Priorities and Objectives for 2013/14

Patient Safety

Patient Experience

Clinical Effectiveness

In February 2013, our Board of Directors chose the following six quality priorities taking onboard
feedback from external stakeholders, staff and governors.
Priority

Key Objectives (Outline)

Measure

Rating

1. Care of
patients with
dementia

To improve the care of patients with
dementia by focusing on the detection of
undiagnosed patients admitted to acute care,
proving support for the carers of patients
with dementia and the level of staff with
specialised dementia training.

Process/
Outcome

Fully met

2. Chronic
obstructive
airway disease

To improve the self-management of
symptoms for patients with the long term
condition COPD and to improve community
support in a way that reduces acute COPDrelated readmissions.

Process/
Outcome

Fully met

3. Improve
outpatient
experience

To make focused specialty-specific
improvements, based on and measured by,
direct patient feedback from the Outpatient
‘How are we doing?’ survey.

Process/
Outcome

Fully met

4. Improve
patient
experience of
discharge

To implement key elements of the discharge
policy and deliver improvements to patient
satisfaction in relation to discharge
information.

Process/
Outcome

Not met

5. Management
of the acutely
unwell patient

To build on the work conducted in 2012/13 to
establish a consistent performance
framework for the identification and
escalation of acutely ill patients.

Process/
Outcome

Fully Met:
further
need
identified

6. Surgical
Safety Checklist

To develop and implement a strategy to
ensure the Surgical Safety Checklist (SSC)
is integrated into the working practices of all
theatre/interventional teams.

Process/
Outcome

Partially
met further
need
identified
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Our Performance against Quality Priorities and Objectives for 2013/14
The Trust has been under immense pressure in what has been an extremely busy year including a significant organisational restructure.
Despite this, these quality priorities have been the cornerstone of our operations and performance management during the year. The tables
below summarise the priorities, objectives and our performance against each of these priorities. More information on the service improvements
as a result of these priorities can be found in the Trust’s Annual Report and Accounts 2013/14 on pages 69-73.

Clinical Effectiveness Priorities:
Our Quality Priorities
and why we chose
What we aimed to do
them
1. Care of patients with  Improve the detection of dementia for
dementia

2

elderly people admitted to acute care: 90%
of the emergency admissions aged 75 and
older will be screened for dementia and
90% of patients with a positive dementia
screen, who were not previously known to
have dementia, will have an appropriate
follow up in place before discharge. This
outcome will be communicated to their GP.




Implement NICE guidance for the support
and interventions for the carers of people
with dementia: we will complete a monthly
audit of carers of people with dementia to
test whether they feel supported. These
results will be reported to the Trust Board.
Develop and deliver an annual dementia
training plan under the guidance of the Trust
nominated Clinical Lead for dementia.

What we achieved
On the Denmark Hill site, we have ensured that 90% of emergency admissions
aged 75 or older since June 2013 have been screened for dementia and delirium.
Of those with a positive dementia screen, 90% have been assessed and referred
if further action has been required. The Trust is working to ensure that this
standard can be achieved at the PRUH site from March 2014.
Training has been offered to the relevant staff groups, for example, all ward based
nursing staff are provided with a 4-hour face to face dementia training session
provided by a dementia and delirium clinical nurse specialist and all junior doctors
are provided with clinical dementia training as part of their foundation course
training modules. This is being delivered across both Denmark Hill and PRUH
sites.
In collaboration with the dementia team at GSTT hospital, and in agreement with
both Lambeth and Southwark commissioners, a carers’ survey has been
designed. This has been delivered Trust-wide. The results of this are being fed
back to the team, and this will continue into next year to ensure a robust set of
data which can be used to target specific improvements in patient care.
In addition to what was set out in the aims, we undertook a Dementia Day in May

2

King’s provides a dedicated Dementia and Delirium service, which supports patients with dementia and delivers its CQUIN requirements for screening admissions and staff
training. Services are tailored to the individual person with dementia as far as possible, therefore multi-agency approaches can include input from South London &
Maudsley liaison psychiatry services and memory services (outpatients).
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Our Quality Priorities
and why we chose
them

2. Chronic obstructive

What we aimed to do

What we achieved



Ensure that patients admitted with a COPD
exacerbation are given a COPD care bundle
during, or immediately following, their
admission.



Roll out the COPD care bundle Trust-wide
to include all patients with a confirmed
diagnosis who are admitted with an acute
exasperation of COPD.

pulmonary disease



Report figures for quarter 1 to our local
commissioners and set improvement targets
for quarters 3 and 4.



Achieve the quarter 3 and year end
improvement targets for the percentage of
patients who have received the COPD care
bundle.



Measure the impact of the care bundle
through a comparison of 2011/12, 2012/13
and 2013/14 attendance and readmissions
data for this group of patients.

2013 to publicise the developments for managing care of dementia patients
across the Trust and a new intranet page was launched. We developed new
patient information booklets for dementia and delirium. Finally, a ‘dementia
friendly hospital’ initiative was launched with the health and ageing wards. This
focuses on the design of wards specifically to stimulate dementia patients. The
success of the initiative is now influencing the design of other wards across the
hospital.
We have developed a care bundle for COPD and ensured that patients are given
the bundle during or immediately after admission. Information on the bundle is
also sent to the GP, along with a letter, and followed up with a phone call
discussing the patient’s exacerbation. This bundle was given to over 80% of
applicable patients this year.
When any patient with COPD is admitted via A&E an alert has been initiated to
ensure that all patients are picked up early in their pathway. This has been
strengthened with a 7 day a week presence among the respiratory team. There
has also been a weekly consultant-led multi-disciplinary team meeting with GPs,
community matrons and HomeWard (a ‘hospital-at-home’ initiative) to strengthen
relations with primary care.
Members of the integrated respiratory team now work in the hospital and in the
community to ensure that the care bundle is delivered at home as well as in
hospital. The team see patients at home post discharge, see housebound patients
following GP referral, and support HomeWard with education and joint clinical
reviews. The team also offers a home oxygen service to prevent inappropriate
and wasteful oxygen prescription.
We have delivered virtual clinics in every GP practice in Lambeth and Southwark
with the aim of supporting GPs and practice nurses with accurate diagnosis and
good chronic disease management of COPD in the community and facilitating
appropriate referrals.
A smoking cessation programme has been launched with a hospital based advisor
and training across both sites. This has the aim to reduce smoking in the local
population and the long-term prevalence of COPD.
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Patient Experience Priorities:
Our Quality Priorities
and why we chose
them

What we aimed to do

What we achieved

3. Improve outpatient



The results of the ‘How Are We Doing?’ survey in Suite 1, orthopaedic outpatient
department have improved by 7% across the 5 areas targeted for improvement.

experience



4. Improve patient
experience of
discharge

88

Based on the Q4 2012/13 results identify a
key specialty and agree which 5 questions
are most in need of improvement within their
area.
Develop action plans on how to deliver
improvements in the 5 identified question
areas.

There have been a number of projects carried out in the Suite to improve patient
experience. These have included:


A full redesign of the waiting area to increase the number of seats and
improve the flow of patients through the department.



Agree improvement target percentages for
Q2, 3 and 4.



The numbers of nursing and administrative staff have been increased to allow
patients to have time with a nurse after consultation.



Improve response rates to provide robust
feedback on patient experience.



The link with X-ray has improved so patients who are waiting in X-ray are not
worried they will miss their appointment.



Improve scores on the local ‘How Are We
Doing?’ outpatient survey on questions
targeted for improvement in specific areas.



Decrease the number of patient complaints
relating to the outpatient department.



Ultimately, ensure that patients have a
better experience of outpatients.
Implement the new Trust-wide discharge
policy.





Roll-out the ‘Home for Lunch’ information
sheet across the Trust to improve the
standard of:
a. discharge planning; and

The Discharge policy is in place with associated audit standards.
Improvement in the following ‘How Are We Doing?’ survey questions, representing
overall satisfaction score for:
‘Did a member of staff tell you about medication side effects to watch for
when you went home?’
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Our Quality Priorities
and why we chose
them

What we aimed to do

What we achieved

b. Information given to patients.


Improve Trust-wide patient satisfaction in
two key areas:
a. providing information about medication
after discharge; and
b. providing patients with information on
what to do and who to contact if they
have a concern after discharge.

o
o
o

reached the target score of 73 in 6 out of the last 12 months – rated green
was one below target for 5 months – rated amber
below target for the remaining month – rated red

‘Did the hospital staff tell you who to contact if you were worried about your
condition or treatment after you went home?’
o reached the target score of 86 in 9 out of the last 12 months – rated green
o was one below target for 2 months – rated amber
o below the target for 1 month in 2013/14 – rated red
There has been a slight improvement in the Renal and Surgical wards in giving
information about medication side effects. However, more focus is required in
ensuring patients are given contact information if they are worried after leaving
hospital. Please see below chart which demonstrates the percentage increase
and decrease NB Scores for ‘contact information given to patients to use if worried’
did demonstrate a 2% increase until March 2014 which was a low scoring month
and brought the overall percentage back down to -2%.
% increase from Quarter
1 to Quarter 4
Renal

Surgery

Medication Side Effects

4%

7%

Contact information if worried

-2%

0%

Discharge leaflet to be launched by May 2014 giving clear explanations and
expectations for patients.
An audit took place in relation to the following criteria:
a) A copy of a patient’s discharge summary detailing the care and treatment
received and follow-up management plan.
b) Any appointments for follow-up where appropriate.
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Our Quality Priorities
and why we chose
them

What we aimed to do

What we achieved

c) Discharge checklist utilisation.
d) Relevant leaflets and information packs regarding their condition (where
appropriate).
e) Nursing transfer letter and wound care plan for the district nurse or care
home if required.
1. The audit took place during January/February 2014 and was spread
across the 3 healthcare aging wards.
In summary:
 The discharge summary was of a good quality overall but there was wide
variation in the detail of clinical care and investigations evidenced on the
forms.

90



The discharge checklist was poorly utilised and there was no evidence of any
literature that may be given to patients in relation to their health needs.



Wound care plans, whilst completed, were not consistently being sent to the
community services to evidence care given and wound
progression/deterioration.
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Our Quality Priorities
and why we chose
them

What we aimed to do

What we achieved

2. The audit took place during March/April 2014 and was across the 2 renal
in patient wards.
In Summary





The discharge checklist present on the back of the section 2 was not
being utilized. There were not any other discharge checklists in utilization
The discharge summary was of a good standard overall
There was no evidence that patient information leaflets were being given
in relation to their health needs – note that for the majority of patients this
was ‘not applicable’
There was good evidence of community referrals to the district nursing
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Our Quality Priorities
and why we chose
them

What we aimed to do

What we achieved

services although not quite reaching the target



Audits from surgical wards available end April 2014.

As this priority was not met, the Trust has taken forward this priority into 2014/15
see pages 102-105 for further information on the actions the Trust will take to
meet this priority.

92

King’s College Hospital NHS Foundation Trust | Annual Report 2013/14

Quality Report

Safety Priorities:
Our Quality Priorities
and why we chose
them
5. Management of the

What we aimed to do

What we achieved



Improve the identification, escalation and
response to patient deterioration, more
effective escalation of patient deterioration
using formal communication protocols (e.g.
SBAR), swifter escalation to the right person
through clear local escalation policies with
clear alternatives when initial escalation is
not successful.

The iMobile critical care outreach team have been utilising Wardware, our
electronic vital signs recording system, to proactively seek out patients who have
reached the trigger threshold on their early warning score (EWS). Since the
launch of the service in September 2013, 10% of service activations were via the
proactive route.

Complete the roll out of Wardware and
develop the reporting functionality to aid
monitoring and management of
observations and escalation; all areas able
to demonstrate how they are using the data
to identify improvement opportunities and
corrective actions to improve patient safety.

All preceptees attend the ALERT course during their preceptorship programme.
During this one day study day we have a 30 minute session on communicating
with the deteriorating patient where we discuss the use of SBAR in depth. The
students are also expected to demonstrate the use of SBAR during assessed
scenarios.

acutely unwell
patient





Continue to develop the use of the new
monthly patient-level divisional reports to
ensure effective action plans are devised
and implemented locally.



Build on the successful staff event of
February 2013 to support penetration of key
messages and actions to all staff.



Reference relevant national guidelines and
standards and identify gaps and associated
action plans and improved penetration and
alignment with relevant national
recommendations (NCEPOD, NICE).



An accessible central store of relevant

The iMobile team has an open access referral system and encourage all staff
members to refer using SBAR, a safety standard communication tool.

The launch of the iMobile critical care outreach team has provided staff with an
alternative route for escalation if they are faced with an initial escalation block.
iMobile offers an open access referral system with calls being welcomed from all
staff groups. Since the launch of the service in September 2013, there has been a
steady increase in referrals from nursing staff and junior doctors. The service now
receives 24% of its monthly referrals from nursing staff. iMobile is achieving a 15
minute response rate from the time of referral to review of the patient.
iMobile offers the following service for acutely unwell patients:
 Outreach advice and education: iMobile are contactable via a mobile phone
and staff can call at any time for advice about managing deteriorating patients.
In addition to this, the iMobile team has provided both formal and informal
teaching sessions to the ward areas to help to improve staff knowledge,
confidence and skill in managing unwell patients.


iMobile have been providing critical care treatments on the wards with
dedicated critical care nursing and medical supervision. Patients are either
treated as a ‘rapid response’ when the critical care bed is not immediately
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Our Quality Priorities
and why we chose
them

What we aimed to do

What we achieved
available or as a ‘trial of treatment’ and will remain on the ward if they are
responsive to treatment.

information and data (on Kwiki) for all staff
to access.


Rapid Response: In this instance, there is no delay in the commencement of
critical care treatments because the team is able to deliver care at the
patient’s bedside on the ward. Patients are admitted to the critical care units
having received initial resuscitation and optimisation.



Trial of Treatment: The aim of this is to provide early optimisation to patients
who are not yet requiring critical care admission or for those whose respond to
treatment is uncertain. In October 2013, 26 patients had a trial of treatment,
19 of these avoided critical care admission.



Critical Care Discharge Reviews: The team supports the service provided by
the critical care matron. Patients are now seen 24/7 with most discharge
patients receiving two reviews.
We have recognised key areas within the recent NCEPOD ‘Time to Intervene’
report recommendations 2, 3, 9 and are building both interim and long term state
of the art critical care facilities to enable it to meet the rising demands of its local
and tertiary referral population. It has also moved to bridge the gap between the
general wards, the specialty high dependency areas and the critical care service
so that patients can benefit from an improved interface and experience, as well as
expert consultation, even if they do not meet criteria for intensive care admission.
We undertook a commitment to improve recognition and management of sepsis.
The sepsis group launched a ‘Think Sepsis, Think Severity’ campaign. Posters
were put on all wards, and Quick Reference Guides were distributed to guide staff
in the two stage approach or 60-minute resuscitation and risk stratification for
iMobile referral.
Opportunistic education sessions were run on wards, and information was made
available on Kwiki and Cliniweb to collate all the relevant sepsis guidance. We
also participated in the UK sepsis day on 06 March 2014, where we launched our
work and this has now been cascaded via sepsis champions from all disciplines
throughout the organisation.
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Our Quality Priorities
and why we chose
them
6. Safer Surgical

What we aimed to do

What we achieved



Develop a strategy to ensure the SSC is
integrated into the working practices of all
theatre/interventional teams.

Surgical Safety Improvement Group (SSIG) was set up and meets monthly.

Ensure all surgical procedures on an
inpatient or day case basis which involve
general or local anaesthesia or sedation use
an approved version of the SSC.

SSC strategic action plan developed and Kwiki page available.

Checklist (SSC)




Develop specialty-specific SSCs where
appropriate, ensuring these comply with
NPSA guidance.

SSIG has approved 16 specialty-specific SSCs against a minimum dataset.

Culture survey and mystery shopper audit completed.
These showed:
o distractions/ interruptions are frequent;
o SSC routinely completed but quality of checks often sub-standard; and
o staff need to be empowered to challenge SSC non-compliance.
Surgical site marking and surgical count policies revised.



Develop audit tool(s) to assess the use and
effectiveness of the SSC, and build these
into audit programmes.

A target of zero surgical Never Events was set. Between January 1 and
st
December 31 2013 5 surgical related never events have been reported.



Develop measure(s) to assess SSC impact
on defined surgical outcomes.

Use of swab trays to provide additional visual cue for swab counts piloted in
neurosurgery.



Establish a Surgical Safety Checklist
Improvement Group to help achieve the
above.



Defined surgical outcome(s) show
improvement from baseline.

st
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Our process for developing the Quality Priorities and Objectives for 2014/15
This section of the Quality Report summarises our patient safety, clinical effectiveness and
patient experience objectives for 2014/15, how these were developed, and how these will be
achieved and measured.
In a busy acute hospital like King’s, there are always several quality improvements going on
at any given time. The wider range of improvements to patient care happening across King’s
will not stop or slow down, but we have honed a clear set of priority objectives. These act like
a set of promises that everyone at King’s commits to meet or exceed this year. From our
various consultations, we know they are clear and meaningful to you as our key
stakeholders. We would like you to support our agenda for continuously improving our high
quality patient care and to hold us to account.
On 01 October 2013, we became an enlarged hospital having acquired additional sites and
services from the now dissolved South London Healthcare Trust (SLHT) which had
historically experienced significant performance challenges. In developing our quality
priorities for 2014/15 we have considered the needs of the enlarged communities we are now
serving.
The process for developing priorities involved collaborating and communicating with our
stakeholders in the following ways.


Reflected on our progress with the current year’s quality priorities.
We reviewed this at the Board Quality and Governance Committee, as well as the
Stakeholder Engagement Events on 10 January 2014 for Lambeth and Southwark
stakeholders and 17 January 2014 for Bromley stakeholders



A long-list of priorities were identified with the executive chairs and leads of each of
the committees which focus on the three dimensions of quality, namely Patient Safety,
Patient Outcomes and Patient Experience.



External stakeholders’ perspectives were collected in prioritising the long list of
potential areas for improving patient safety, clinical effectiveness and patient experience
at the two stakeholder events. Each stakeholder was given the opportunity to comment
on the draft report. We also attended the parallel discussions at our Academic Health
Science Centre partners, GSTT. This has involved discussions with the patients and
public who highlighted and helped select the Trust’s priorities.



Frontline teams/subject matter experts were consulted about the work planned to
meet these quality improvements, to shape feasible improvement objectives. The
Performance Directorate was closely involved to ensure alignment with the emergent
CQUIN framework.
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A summary of the key engagement activities are outlined in the table below.
Summary of stakeholder engagement 2013/14
Groups
Engagement Events


External Stakeholder Event 1 – Review of last 6 months progress, and
early discussion about 2013/14 priorities
External Stakeholder Event 2 – Review of last 6 months progress, and
early discussion about 2013/14 priorities
External Stakeholder Mail out – 2013/14 priorities

Commissioners



Governors




NHS SEL Clinical Quality Meeting – This group will meet monthly to discuss
key quality issues related to the Trust.
Patient Experience & Safety Committee
Council of Governors

Staff









Frontline teams and subject matter experts
Quality & Governance Committee
Patient Safety Committee
Patient Outcomes Committee
Patient Experience Committee
Performance Directorate
King’s Executive

Commissioners,
governors,
Healthwatch,
OSCs

Learning from the past
We have also learnt that organisation-wide quality improvements may warrant the profile and
attention over a period longer than 12 months. We have therefore reflected on how we build
on our success to sustain and continue improving. The diagram below summarises our
quality objectives and priorities over the last four years.

These are our priorities for quality improvement in recent years:

Improve end of life care

2013/14

2014/15

Dementia

Reducing mortality
associated with alcohol &
smoking

Improve diabetes care

Improve diabetes care

Chronic obstructive
pulmonary disease

Improve outcomes of
patients with hip fracture

Patient
Experience

Improve end of life care

2012/13

Improve the consistency
of positive inpatient
experience

Improve responsiveness
to inpatients personal
need

Improve outpatient
experience

Improve experience of
cancer patients

Improve cleanliness of
the hospital environment

Improve outpatient
experience

Improve patient
experience of discharge

Improve patient
experience and
coordination of discharge

Patient Safety

Patient
Outcomes

2011/12

Reduce hospital acquired
infection
Reduce avoidable death,
disability, and chronic ill
health from venous
thromboembolism (VTE)

1

Improve medication safety

Improve identification and
escalation of acutely ill
patients

Management of the
acutely unwell patient

Reduction in falls

Minimise harm acquired
in the hospital

Surgical Safety checklist

Surgical safety
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Our Quality Priorities and Objectives for 2014/15
On 25 February 2014 our Board of Directors provided final ratification on the recommended
six priorities for quality improvement over 2013/14 reflecting on the comments and feedback
we had from our governors, stakeholders and employees.
The table below summarises these clinical effectiveness, patient experience and patient
safety objectives and priorities
Priority

Key Objectives (Outline)

CQ*

Measure

1. Working to
reduce
preventable illhealth

Increase assessment of patients to identify whether
they want help with reducing the likelihood of harm
caused through smoking and alcohol.

Y

Outcome/
Process

N

Outcome/
Process

N

Outcome/
Process

Increase the number of staff trained to provide brief
interventions for smoking and alcohol.

Clinical Effectiveness

Increase the number of referrals for specialist
smoking and alcohol support.
Increase the number of smoking ‘quitters’.
Identify opportunities to promote exercise and
healthy eating.
2. Improve
outcomes of
patients following
hip fracture

Improve pain relief.
Reduce time before surgery.
Increase physiotherapy to help people recover
sooner.
Reduce length of stay in hospital.
Increase the number of patients who are
discharged to their own home.

Patient Experience

Increase the % of patients who have a bone health
and falls assessment, and thereby reduce the
likelihood that patients will fall and incur further
injury in the future.

98

3. Improving
experience and
coordination of
discharge: elderly,
renal and surgery

Across all sites:
Reduction in ‘unsafe’ discharges as reported by
primary care, community and social work
colleagues.
Improvement on 2013-14 discharge audit results
(elderly care, surgery and renal).
Positive qualitative feedback from stakeholders
and users.
Increase of 5 points in ‘How are we doing?’ survey
combined scores for questions relating to
discharge and reduction in comments about the
discharge process.
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Priority

Key Objectives (Outline)

CQ*

Measure

N

Process/

Better experience for elderly and vulnerable
patients with timely discharges and more seamless
transfers and cross agency working.
Patients and their families receiving better
information and explanations in regard to the
discharge process, medications and any ongoing
concerns they may have.
4. Improving the
experience of
cancer patients

Increase the number of clinicians who have
undertaken the National Advanced Communication
Course across the organisation.

Outcome

Ensure patient have a Holistic Needs Assessment
(HNA) undertaken.
Patients are receiving appropriate information at
the right time.
More patients having improved access to the trust
e.g. Cancer Helpline.

Patient Safety

Provide education for ward nurses to improve their
understanding of cancer patients’ needs.

5. Improving the
identification and
management of
patients at risk of
falling in hospital

Reduction in falls with moderate and major to <3
per month.

Y

Process/
Outcome

N

Process/
Outcome

Reduction in falls by age band.

Appropriately assessed pre fall.
6. Safer surgery

Zero never events.
Effective use of surgical checklist.
Completion & situational awareness.

*CQ=Part of our CQUIN framework of national and locally agreed targets
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Clinical Effectiveness Priorities: Plans for 2014/15
PRIORITY 1. Working to reduce preventable ill health
There is a longstanding aspiration for the NHS to focus as much on promoting wellness as
managing poor health (NHS England). Nationally, smoking leads to premature death in half
of all smokers and half of all hospital admissions are attributable to smoking (British Thoracic
Society). Deaths from lung cancer in Southwark and Lambeth are amongst the highest in
England, and alcohol-specific hospital admissions in Lambeth and Southwark are much
higher than the London average. Across all our communities, premature deaths caused by
smoking and alcohol are a key factor in health inequalities and the reduction of unnecessary
deaths is a priority for patients and clinicians alike.
Many patients wish to take action to improve their own health and prevent future illness and
there is much that hospitals can do to support them.
In recent years, across all our sites there have been many initiatives to reduce smoking and
harmful alcohol use and to promote exercise and healthy eating over recent years. In
2014/15, we will:
 Review initiatives that have been successful, share good practice and extend roll-out
across new areas of King’s;


Ensure staff in key areas receive the training they need to support patients in reducing
smoking and harmful alcohol use;



Increase provision of advice and brief interventions relating to smoking and harmful
alcohol use;



Work to develop an electronic referral process into smoking cessation and alcohol
services across all our sites;



Increase referrals into smoking cessation and alcohol services;



Work with the providers of hospital food, both on the wards and in our cafes, to promote
and deliver healthier food; and



Review ways in which we can increase promotion of exercise to improve health; and



Continue work to implement NICE public health guidance.

How we will monitor progress?
CQUINs will be agreed to support the monitoring of:
 The identification of patients who smoke and/or are using alcohol in a harmful way;


The provision of advice to these patients;



Referrals made into specialist smoking (and alcohol?) services; and



The roll-out of training to staff.

In addition, over the year we will work to identify local measures of success, for example,
smoking cessation rates. We will also work collaboratively with our local commissioners.
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At the end of 2014/15, what will success look like?
A greater number of our patients will have received:
 Advice on smoking and harmful alcohol use; and


Referrals into specialist services, where this is requested.

A greater number of our staff will have received the training that they need to offer evidencebased advice and brief interventions relating to smoking and harmful alcohol use.
PRIORITY 2. Improving outcomes for patients following hip fracture
Why have we chosen this is as a priority?
Hip fractures are cracks or breaks in the top of the thigh bone (femur) close to the hip joint,
and are usually the result of a fall. Hip fracture is usually extremely painful and most people
will require surgery to fix the fracture.
Around 500 patients a year are admitted to our sites following hip fracture and these patients
form one of our highest group of users of hospital beds (over 12,000 bed days each year
over the Denmark Hill and PRUH sites). Hip fracture is associated with increased age, so
the predicted increase in the number of elderly people across the area served by King’s will
lead to an increase in the number of patients with hip fracture in the future. It is therefore
crucial that we provide a first-rate service for these patients.
King’s currently provides excellent orthopaedic services through our recently redeveloped
facilities at Orpington Hospital and the geriatric/orthopaedic liaison service at Denmark Hill.
However, there are some identified areas in which we want to improve, including:
 The proportion of patients admitted to orthopaedic care within 4 hours;


The process of booking hip fractures for surgery;



Pain relief, including the provision of pain relief earlier in the patient pathway;



Increasing the number of patients who receive pre-operative assessment by a
geriatrician, on all sites;



Early mobilisation of patients; and



Monitoring of patients’ mental health.

The development of seamless care between orthopaedic surgeons and care-of-the-elderly
doctors is a priority area and will not only improve the care of hip fracture patients but will
also benefit patients coming to King’s for elective hip and knee surgery.
How will we monitor progress?
The National Hip Fracture Database collects key data from all hospitals in relation to hip
fractures and will provide King’s with data that will enable us to compare our results over
time, and with other hospitals. In addition, a database has been set up to collect data within
King’s so that we can monitor our care against NICE guidance. Key outcomes that we will
measure include:
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Length of stay in hospital;



Number of patients who are discharged to their own home;



Provision of pain relief in Emergency Department;



Time before surgery;



Provision of physiotherapy and mobilisation;



Proportion of patients who have a bone health and falls assessment; and



Assessment of patients’ mental status.

At the end of 2014/15, what will success look like?
Our patients will:
 Receive improved pain relief in the Emergency Department;


Receive the specialist care that they need in hospital, including support from care-of-theelderly doctors and a faster time to surgery;



Be fitter so that they can be discharged from hospital earlier and are more likely to be
going to their own home;



Receive preventative advice and treatment so that they are less likely to fall in the future,
or if they do fall they are less likely to incur a serious injury; and



Have improved mental health.

Patient Experience Priorities: Plans for 2014/15
PRIORITY 3. Improving experience and coordination of discharge: All elderly care
wards, renal inpatient wards (Denmark Hill) and surgical wards:
Why have we chosen this is as a priority?
Increased demand on our capacity urges us to ensure that our discharge coordination
provides a safe and positive experience for our patients and stakeholders. The real test
around discharge will be in areas of high patient turnover with often complex needs at
discharge such as healthcare of the aging units where many of the more complex patients
require placement to care homes or large packages of care. Renal and surgery wards have
also been identified as an area of focus for discharge planning through the ‘How are we
doing?’ survey results. These areas provide care to both tertiary referred and local patients
External stakeholders continue to describe concerns around medication information and
information on who to contact if complications arise after discharge. Feedback from patients
and GPs indicates that patient experience continues to be poor in this area due to the lack of
a well-planned and co-ordinated approach from ward to home. This includes discharges
made suddenly, long waits in discharge lounges, sometimes poor co-ordination with social
care/primary care and poor planning for medication on discharge. The aim would be a more
person-centred quality priority in this area, linking to the development of integrated care.
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In order to demonstrate our plans for quality improvement we will:
At the Denmark Hill site:
 Southwark & Lambeth Integrated Care: simplify discharge and continue the ongoing
project to refer elderly vulnerable patients to the Enhanced Rapid Response (ERR)
service to enable faster, safer discharge out to the community. Discharging patients to
assess them in the community as opposed to in hospital. This is taking place within
Medicine predominantly. Aim to see an increase in effective referrals.
o Ensure discharge processes that reduce duplication and deliver a clear
assessment of a person’s needs. Early multi-disciplinary assessment, including
social care that reflects the perspectives of all partners;
o

Provision of the right service at the right time for a person being discharged from
hospital. Timely Transition Support with assessments being moved from the
acute to the community setting enhancing the capacity of the existing ERR team
in the community; and

o

Provision of clear information to people about the outcome of the assessment
process and the care pathway they will be following on discharge. Additional
support via Health Education South London funding.
 Timely Transition Support aims to:
 Make the process of passing a patient from one organisation to
another easier;
 Allow the assessment process to take place at home;
 Get people out of hospital faster; and
 Identify patients who are in hospital but are medically fit who if
discharged would require additional supported home.



Hospital 2 Home project: aims to increase the number of volunteers working at King’s
with the specific aim of ensuring a safe transition to home from hospital including
accompanying patients home. This work is already being carried out in some of the
medical and surgical wards and aims to expand further to other wards.



Southwark Early Intervention project: early intervention social worker (SW) being wardbased on the health and aging wards. The additional SW staff will attend the multidisciplinary meetings (MDMs) that occur on the Health and Aging Units (HAU) wards,
gather information relating to the community set up for patients and have access to
Southwark ICT systems to be able to feedback information to ward teams. They also aim
to commence joint assessing for patients that may require placement to improve on the
patient/relative experience around placement from hospital further funding dependent.



Homeless Team: this is project currently jointly funded between King’s and Guy’s and St
Thomas’s (GSTT). Consisting of a team that track and see homeless patients at King’s
that may require help regarding housing/hostels/SW/follow up clinics. This has just been
awarded funding into 2014/15. The aim is to attain an increase in referrals with
associated positive feedback.



@Home service: this is a service run jointly between King’s and GSTT regarding the
expansion of Virtual Ward. There is now a clinical nurse specialist from the @Home
service based at King’s who is a face to face contact for the service that can help to take
patients out of hospital at an earlier juncture to receive both health and social care at
home.
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Target work with ward based pharmacist and ward managers to improve information
around medications:
o Ensure a robust system is in place for auditing medication information at
discharge (currently not included in discharge audit tool and difficult to ‘prove’ it
has been done).



Target work/working group approach to improving discharge arrangements on the
specified wards; reviewing and improving processes, learning from areas that do well
(multi-disciplinary team).



Ensure discharge leaflets are given out from every ward and that there is a focus on the
supported carer when discharging a patient into a family member/partner’s care.



Increase effectiveness of discharge summaries: the first one goes to the patient with their
TTAs. The second one is signed by 2 registered nurses that the TTAs have been
checked as correct and discussed with the patient. This is then signed off and should be
filed in the patient notes as evidence.

At the PRUH site:
 Facilitate timely completion of key documents whilst supporting patients/families through
this complex process;


Discharge co-ordinators provide at least twice weekly support to board rounds;



Support family meetings for complex discharges;



Case manage complex patients as part of the multidisciplinary team; and



Introduce a rolling educational programme for nursing staff.

How will we monitor progress?
Progress will be monitored via ongoing audit cycles and adjusting action plans including:
 Monitoring improvement on discharge related issues including results from the ‘How are
we doing?’ inpatient survey and national survey and the number of patient comments
relating to discharge. These are routinely reviewed though the Trust’s Patient Experience
Committee;


Monthly review of complaints from users around discharge, action and evaluation;



Audit of patient note discharge summaries, correctly signed off and evidenced; and



Feedback in regular meetings with stakeholders: CQRG, Council of Governors, GPs etc.

At the end of 2014/15, what will success look like?
At the Denmark Hill and PRUH sites:
 Increase of 5 points for ‘How are we doing?’ combined scores for questions relating to
discharge and reduction in negative comments about the discharge process;
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Better experience for elderly and vulnerable patients with timely discharges and more
seamless transfers and cross-agency working measured by decrease in quality
alerts/adverse incidents:
o 2014/15 Ensure robust reporting and monitoring system is in place for adverse
incident (quality alert) reporting and collaborating between community and
hospital (currently held at GSTT); and
o





2015/16 Set target of reduction in quality alerts.

Patients and their families receiving better information and explanations about the
discharge process, medications and any ongoing concerns they may have:
o Ensure a robust system is in place for auditing medication information at
discharge
Improvements in discharge audit results. For 2014/15, we will use the same tool to be
able to see improvement but will plan to improve the audit tool to give more detail going
forward.

PRIORITY 4. Improving the experience of cancer patients:
Why have we chosen this is as a priority?
Following disappointing performance in the last two national cancer surveys, we are
committed to improving the experience of our cancer patients.
Patients have highlighted a number of areas where we need to make improvements
including:
 How we communicate with patients;


The information that we give patients about both their clinical care and the support
available to them;



Involving patients in decisions about their care and ensuring that they understand
their care plan;



Lack of understanding from some staff about the needs of cancer patients;



Patients find it hard to get access to key staff such as the Clinical Nurse Specialist;
and



Poor experience for outpatient and day case patients.

In order to demonstrate our plans for quality improvement we will:


Increase the number of doctors receiving advanced communication skills training;



Improve information provision for patients - carry out a Holistic Needs Assessment (HNA)
in partnership with the patient to ensure that the patient understands their care and
treatment plan and provide them with information about the support available to them. As
part of this process, provide all patients with a patient held record.



Hold education sessions for ward nurses to improve their understanding of cancer
patients’ needs.
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Extend the Macmillan Value Based Standard™ programme to additional non-cancer
specialist wards to improve the quality of care for all our cancer patients. The Macmillan
Values Based Standard™ aims to achieve a transformation in patients’ and families
experience of care, through patients and staff co-designing solutions and interventions
that change behaviour.



Gather feedback from patient through qualitative methods such as patient stories to get a
better understanding of how our patients experience their cancer care.

How will we monitor progress?


Communication:
o Doctors attending communication skills training.
o Conduct a pre and post training evaluation to assess attitudes to
communication.


Information for patients:
o Audit to confirm that a Holistic Needs Assessment has been carried out – use
LCA baseline and aim for 5% incremental increase each quarter across all
tumour sites;
o

Audit and improve the use and availability of patient hand held record; and

o

Survey of patients to assess satisfaction with the hand held record and
suggest improvements.



Contacting staff:
o Audit contacts to the King’s cancer help-line and the Macmillan Centre and
information stands.



Education:
o Audit numbers of nurses undertaking education sessions.



Pre and post staff survey on wards where the Macmillan Value Based Standard is
implemented.



Overall performance in the National Cancer Survey for 2013/14.



The use of patient stories for staff training.

At the end of 2014/15, what will success look like?


Improvement in the 2013 /2014 National Cancer Survey.



Improved performance in the King’s How are we doing? inpatient and outpatient surveys.



Increased contacts with the helpline and Macmillan Centre.



Increase in the number/percentage of nurses who have received training.
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Safety Priorities: Plans for 2014/15
PRIORITY 5. Reducing the number of falls in hospital for patients
Why have we chosen this is as a priority?
From April 2013 until the end of February 2014 there were 21 serious patient falls at King’s,
of which 15 resulted in a fractured neck of femur, 3 resulted in intracranial bleeding and 3
resulted in other fractures. This represents a significant increase in the number of serious
falls compared to the 2012/13 year when 6 serious falls were reported. Most of the serious
falls (17) occurred on the Denmark Hill site, although patient harm from falls remains a
significant issue at the PRUH site as well, with 4 serious falls reported in year. The risk of
patient falls can be minimised by accurate and timely falls risk assessments which tailor the
care plan according to need.
In order to demonstrate our plans for quality improvement we will:
Review the falls risk assessment documentation to ensure it is fit for purpose and that the
same approach to falls risk is followed across all sites:


Launch a falls awareness campaign to promote use of the standardised falls risk
assessments and other measures which have been shown to prevent falls.



Make falls prevention training mandatory for all nursing staff.



Extend pilot work on fundamentals of nursing care to more wards.



Progress in recruitment process of a pool of staff who will be available to provide
immediate 1:1 care to patients who are deemed at high risk of falls.



Develop falls metrics (such as injurious patient falls per 100 bed days by age range,
patient falls by ward by month) to enable tracking of performance at Trust, Divisional and
ward level.



Review the root causes of moderate and serious patient falls at the Safer Care Forum to
identify common themes and develop safety improvements.

How will we monitor progress?


Monitor the number of injurious patient falls per 1000 bed days by age range.



Monitor the % of nursing staff who have in-date falls prevention training.



Measure the number of serious falls in 2014/15.

At the end of 2014/15, what will success look like?


Reduction in the number of injurious patient falls per 1000 bed days across each age
range compared to baseline.



Increase the % of nursing staff who have in-date falls prevention training compared to
baseline.



Reduction in the number of serious falls in 2014/15 compared to 2013/14.
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PRIORITY 6. Safer Surgery
Why have we chosen this is as a priority?
In 2008, the World Health Organisation (WHO) developed a core set of safety checks for use
in any operating theatre environment. The checks were designed to improve anesthetic
safety, avoid wrong site surgery and surgical site infections and generally improve
communication within surgical teams. A multi-site international study of almost 8000 surgical
patients showed that use of a checklist containing these core safety checks significantly
reduced death and complications. The WHO checklist was adapted and endorsed by the
NPSA in England in 2009.
King’s implemented the checklist in April 2009. In 2012/13 three retained swab incidents (and
one retained tampon) were reported at King’s - as a result this was identified as a safety
priority for 2013/14. However, despite the establishment of a SSIG, which focused on
surgical safety and the implementation of a number of safety initiatives, it has been
recognised that further work needs to be done to create a safety aware culture across all
theatre environments. This is reflected in the fact that surgical Never Events continued to
occur in 2013/14 (1 wrong tooth extraction, 2 retained guide wires and 1 retained diathermy
scratch pad).
In order to demonstrate our plans for quality improvement we will:
 Develop a standard operating procedure for SSC use at King’s.


Develop an audit tool and audit programme to assess the quality of SSC use across all
surgical environments.



Audit effectiveness of policy revisions from 13/14 and compliance.



Ensure all relevant policies and procedures are in date or reviewed.



Improve the standard of completion of SSC.



Empower staff need to challenge SSC non-compliance.



Implement learning from Root Cause Analysis from never events in 2013/14



Conduct monthly audits of SSC compliance (as per audit tool and programme above) and
publish results on monthly divisional scorecards.



Extend audit tool for evaluation of pre-operative process (which has been successfully
trialled in vascular surgery) to other surgical specialties.



Develop a surgical safety website on Kwiki.



Continue to monitor surgical specialty compliance with SSC via presentation at the Safer
Surgery Improvement Group.



Develop an electronic SSC on the theatre system (Galaxy) ready for pilot by the March
2015.
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How will we monitor progress?


Ongoing monthly audits of SSC use will be conducted and results published in divisional
scorecards.



The number of surgical Never Events will be monitored through the SSIG.



As a minimum each surgical specialty will attend the Safer Surgery Improvement Group
once a year where audit and outcome measures will be monitored.

At the end of 2014/15, what will success look like?


Audit of SSC use indicates improvement in compliance from baseline.



Zero surgical Never Events achieved in year.

Statements of assurance from the Board
2a: Information on the review of services
During the reporting period 2013/14 King’s College Hospital NHS Foundation Trust provided
and/or sub-contracted 9 relevant health services.
King’s College Hospital NHS Foundation Trust has reviewed all the data available to them on
the quality of care in all these relevant health services.
The income generated by the relevant health services reviewed in the reporting period
2013/15 represents 100% of the total income generated from the provision of relevant health
services by King’s College Hospital NHS Foundation Trust for the reporting period 01 April
2013-31 March 2014.
2b: Participation in Clinical Audits and National Confidential Enquiries
During the reporting period 2013/14, 43 national clinical audits and 4 national confidential
enquires covered relevant health services that King’s College Hospital NHS Foundation Trust
provides.
The breakdown over King’s main acute sites is as follows:
 Relevant to services provided at Denmark Hill (DH) - 43 national clinical audits and 4
NCEPOD studies;


Relevant to services provided at Princess Royal Hospital, Bromley (PRUH) - 32 national
clinical audits and 3 NCEPOD studies.

During that period, King’s College Hospital NHS Foundation Trust participated in 100%
(43/43) of national clinical audits and 100% (4/4) national confidential enquires in which it
was eligible to participate.
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The breakdown over the Trust’s main acute sites is as follows:
 DH participated in 100% (43/43) of national clinical audits and 100% (4/4) of
NCEPOD studies.


PRUH participated in 94% (30/32) of national clinical audits and 100% (3/3) of
NCEPOD studies.

The national clinical audits and national confidential enquiries that King’s College Hospital
NHS Foundation Trust was eligible to participate in during 2013/14, and those in which we
actually participated in (with data collection completed during 2013/14), are listed below
alongside the number or registered cases required by the terms of that audit or enquiry.
The following list is based on that produced by the Department of Health and Healthcare
Quality Improvement Partnership (HQIP).
NB: Data for the PRUH which is separate from South London Healthcare Trust (SLHT) for
several audits during this period is not available.
National Clinical Audit
or Confidential
Enquiry

Reporting
period

Participation

Participation rates

KCH
(Denmark
Hill)

PRUH

Acute
Case Mix Programme
(CMP) ICNARC

01/04/13 –
31/03/14

Yes

Yes

Emergency Use of
Oxygen

15/08/13 –
01/11/13

Yes

Yes

National Audit of
Seizures in Hospitals
(NASH)
National Emergency
Laparotomy Audit
(NELA)
National Joint Registry
(NJR)

01/01/13 15/09/13

Yes

Yes

07/01/14 –
30/11/14

Yes

Yes

01/01/13 31/12/13

Yes

Yes

Paracetamol Overdose
(Care Provided in
Emergency
Departments)
Severe Sepsis and
Septic Shock

01/08/13 –
31/03/14

Yes

Yes

01/08/13 –
31/03/14

Yes

Yes

Trauma Audit and
Research Network,
TARN

01/04/13 –
31/12/13

Yes

No
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Data submission and validation in
process. To date:
 KCH (DH) LITU: 100%.
 KCH (DH) ICU: 100%.
 PRUH ICU: 100%.
Data collection complete:
 KCH (DH): 100% (70 patients).
 PRUH: 21 patients.
Data collection complete:
 KCH (DH): 100% (30 patients).
 PRUH: 97% (29 patients).
Data collection in progress - deadline
30/11/14.
Data collection in progress - deadline
31/03/14. Participation rate will be
included in the annual report, due to be
published September 2014.
Data collection in progress - deadline
31/03/14. Participation rate will be
included in the audit report, due to be
published May 2014.
Data collection in progress - deadline
31/03/14. Participation rate will be
included in the audit report, due to be
published May 2014.
Data collection complete:
 KCH (DH): 112% (779 patients).
 PRUH: No data submitted. Action
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National Clinical Audit
or Confidential
Enquiry

Reporting
period

Participation
KCH
(Denmark
Hill)

Participation rates
PRUH

plan in progress.
Blood and Transplant
Audit of the Use of AntiD

01/04/13 –
31/05/13

Yes

Yes

Audit of the
Management of Patients
in Neuro Critical Care
Units

04/03/13 –
26/04/13

Agreed nonparticipation

Not
applicable

Audit of Patient
Information and Consent

13/01/14 –
04/04/14

Yes

Yes

Cancer
Bowel Cancer
(NBOCAP)

01/04/12 –
31/03/13

Yes

Yes

Head and Neck
Oncology (DAHNO)

Not applicable

Lung Cancer (NLCA)

01/01/13 –
31/12/13

Yes

Yes

Oesophago-gastric
Cancer (NAOGC)

01/04/12 –
31/03/13

Yes

Yes

Prostate Cancer

Organisatio
nal audit:
Oct 2013.
Clinical
audit: April
2014
onwards.
PREM: April
2015
onwards.

Yes

Yes

Data collection complete. Participation
rate will be included in the audit report,
due to be published spring 2014.
KCH (DH): Non-participation approved
by the Trust’s Clinical Effectiveness
Committee on the grounds that
insufficient notice was provided by the
audit supplier to enable participation.
PRUH: Service not provided.
Data collection in progress - deadline
30/04/14. Participation rate will be
included in the audit report, due to be
published August 2014.
Data collection complete.
 KCH (DH): 121% (121 patients).
 PRUH: SLHT data available only for
this period.
Participation rate will be included in the
audit report, due to be published July
2014.
Service not provided at KCH. The
service is centralised at Guy's and St
Thomas' NHS Foundation Trust.
Data collection in progress - deadline
30/06/14. Participation rate will be
included in the audit report, due to be
published December 2014.
Data collection complete.
 KCH (DH): 96% (93 patients).
 PRUH: SLHT data available only for
this period.
Participation rate will be included in the
audit report, due to be published June
2014.
Data collection in progress.
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National Clinical Audit
or Confidential
Enquiry

Reporting
period

Participation

Participation rates

KCH
(Denmark
Hill)

PRUH

01/04/13 –
31/03/14

Yes

Yes

01/04/13 –
31/03/14
(TBC)

Yes

Yes

Congenital Heart
Disease (CHD)

01/04/13 –
31/03/14

Yes

Not
applicable

National Audit of
Percutaneous Coronary
Interventional
Procedures

01/01/13 –
31/12/13

Yes

Not
applicable

National Adult Cardiac
Surgery Audit

01/01/13 –
31/12/13

Yes

Not
applicable

National Heart Failure
Audit

01/04/13 –
31/03/14

Yes

No

Heart
Acute Coronary
Syndrome or Acute
Myocardial Infarction
(MINAP)
Cardiac Rhythm
Management (CRM)

National Vascular
Registry - Carotid
Interventions Audit (CIA)

1/10/12 –
30/09/13

Yes

Not
applicable

National Vascular
Registry - National
Vascular Database

01/01/13 –
31/12/13

Yes

Not
applicable

National Cardiac Arrest
Audit (NCAA)

01/04/13 –
31/03/14

Yes

No

Pulmonary Hypertension
Audit
Long term conditions
National Diabetes Adult
(NDA)
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PRUH: Service not provided.
KCH (DH): Data collection in progress deadline 31/03/14. Participation rate will
be included in the audit report, due to be
published October 2014.
PRUH: Service not provided.
KCH (DH): Data collection in progress deadline 30/06/14.
PRUH: Service not provided.
Data collection in progress - deadline
02/06/14.
PRUH: Non participation for 2013/14
period. Actions in place to ensure
successful participation 2014/15.
KCH (DH): Data collection in progress deadline 31/03/14 (TBC). Participation
rate will be included in the audit report,
due to be published September 2014.
PRUH: Service not provided.
KCH (DH): Data collection in progress –
continuous data collection.
PRUH: Service not provided.
Data submission and validation still in
process. To date KCH (DH): 100%.
PRUH: Approved non participation in the
audit (by SLHT). Data submission due to
start April 2014.
Service not provided at KCH.

Not applicable

01/01/12 –
31/03/13

Data collection in progress - deadline
31/05/14. Participation rate will be
included in the audit report, due to be
published September 2014.
Data collection in progress - deadline
August 2014 (TBC). Participation rate
will be included in the audit report, due
to be published Autumn 2014.
KCH (DH): Data collection in progress deadline 30/05/14.

Yes

Not
applicable

KCH (DH): 100%.
PRUH: PRUH does not provide an
outpatient diabetes service.
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National Clinical Audit
or Confidential
Enquiry

Reporting
period

National Diabetes
Inpatient Audit (NADIA)

16-20/09/13

Pregnancy Care in
Women with Diabetes

01/07/13 –
31/01/14

Participation

Participation rates

KCH
(Denmark
Hill)
Yes

PRUH

Yes

Not
applicable

Yes

National Paediatric
Diabetes Audit (NPDA)

01/04/12 –
31/03/13

Yes

Yes

Inflammatory Bowel
Disease (IBD) (Adult
and Paediatric patients)

01/01/14 –
31/12/13

Yes - adult
and paediatric
cases

Yes adult
cases
only

National Chronic
Obstructive Pulmonary
Disease (COPD) Audit
Programme
Paediatric
Bronchiectasis

Renal Registry
Rheumatoid and Early
Inflammatory Arthritis

Mental Health
Mental Health Clinical
Outcome Review
Programme: National
Confidential Inquiry into
Suicide and Homicide
for people with Mental
Illness (NCISH)

1/2/2014 30/4/2014

Yes

Yes

01/10/13 –
30/11/13

Yes

Not
applicable

01/01/13 –
31/12/13
01/02/14 –
31/01/15
(and follow
up data by
30/04/15)

Not applicable

Yes

Yes

Yes

Yes

Data collection complete:
 KCH (DH): 100% (133 patients).
 PRUH: 43 patients.
KCH (DH): Data collection complete.
Participation rate will be included in the
site specific report, due to be published
August 2014.
PRUH: Pregnant women with diabetes
are managed by Bromley Health Care.
Data collection in progress - deadline
14/02/14.
Data collection complete. Participation
rate will be included in the annual report,
due to be published June 2014.
PRUH: Not eligible to participate in the
paediatric component of the audit due to
small patient numbers.
Data collection in progress - deadline
31/05/14.

KCH (DH): Data collection in progress deadline 07/02/14.
PRUH: No patients diagnosed with
bronchiectasis during the audit period.
Data collection in progress – deadline
31/05/14.
Data collection in progress – deadline
30/04/15.
Participation rate will be included in the
site specific reports, due to be published
June 2015.
Service not provided at KCH.
The recommendations produced by the
study are, however, reviewed for
relevance to the Trust.

King’s College Hospital NHS Foundation Trust | Annual Report 2013/14

113

Quality Report
National Clinical Audit
or Confidential
Enquiry

Reporting
period

Participation
KCH
(Denmark
Hill)

Participation rates

National audit of
schizophrenia (NAS)
Prescribing Observatory
for Mental Health
(POMH)
Older People
Falls and Fragility
Fractures Audit
Programme (FFFAP) –
National Hip Fracture
Database
Sentinel Stroke National
Audit Programme
(SSNAP)
Other
National PROMs
Programme

Not applicable

Service not provided at KCH.

Not applicable

Service not provided at KCH.

PRUH

01/04/13 –
31/03/14.

Yes

Yes

Data collection in progress – deadline
13/04/14. Participation rate will be
included in the audit report, due to be
published September 2014.

01/04/13 –
31/03/14.

Yes

Yes

Data collection in progress – deadline
03/02/14 (Q3, 2013/14 data).

01/04/2012 –
31/03/2013

Yes

Not
available

Data collection complete:
 KCH (DH): 48.3% (provisional data
published December 2013).
 PRUH: SLHT data available only for
this period.

Women’s & Children’s Health
Child Health Clinical
01/06/12 –
Outcome Review
31/03/13
Programme (CHR-UK)

Yes

Yes

Data collection complete – participation
rate not provided by Royal College of
Paediatric and Child Health (RCPCH).

Epilepsy 12 Audit

Yes

Yes

Data collection in progress – deadlines:
 Clinical audit and organisational
audit mid May 2014. PREM:
31/03/14.

Yes

Yes

Data collection in progress – continuous.
100% participation.

01/08/13 –
31/03/14

Yes

Yes

Data collection in progress - deadline
31/03/14. Participation rate will be
included in the audit report, due to be
published May 2014.

01/01/13 –
31/12/13

Yes

Yes

01/11/13 –
30/11/12
01/01/11 –
31/12/13

Yes

Yes

Data collection in progress – continuous.
 KCH (DH): 100%.
 PRUH: 100%.
Data submission deadline 28/02/14.

Yes

Not
applica
ble

Data collection in progress – continuous.
 KCH (DH): 100%.
 PRUH: Service not provided.

Maternal, Newborn and
Infant Clinical Outcome
Review Programme
(MBRRACE-UK)
Moderate or Severe
Asthma in Children
(Care Provided in
Emergency
Departments)
National Neonatal Audit
Programme (NNAP)
Paediatric Asthma
Paediatric Intensive
Care Audit Network
(PICANet)
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Clinical
Audit:
01/02/13 –
31/10/13
Organisation
al Audit:
01/01/14
10/04/13 Continuous
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In addition, King’s participated in the following NCEPOD studies:

National Clinical Audit
or Confidential
Enquiry

Reporting
period

Participation

Participation rates

KCH
(Denmark
Hill)

PRUH

25/02/13 –
12/05/13

Yes

Yes

Lower Limb Amputation

01/10/12 –
31/03/13

Yes

Not
applicable

Subarachnoid
Haemorrhage

01/01/13 –
30/04/13

Yes

Yes

Acute
Tracheostomy Care

83% (insertion questionnaires)
73% (critical care questionnaires)
72% (ward care questionnaires)
100% (patient notes)
100% (organisational questionnaire)
Data collection in progress –
participation rates to date:
33% (clinician questionnaires)
33% (patient notes)
100% (organisational questionnaire)
80% (secondary clinician
questionnaires)
81% (tertiary clinician questionnaires)
60% (secondary patient notes)
100% (tertiary patient notes)
100% (organisational questionnaire)

The reports of 36 national clinical audit reports were reviewed by King’s College Hospital
NHS Foundation Trust in 2013/14 and King’s intends to take the following actions to improve
the quality of healthcare:
Key
Symbol

*
+
=
N/A

Definition
Highest result nationally
Above the national average/within nationally expected range
Similar to national average
Below the national average
Not applicable – national average comparable data not available

National Clinical Audit and
Confidential Enquiry
Acute

Headline results and/ or actions taken

KCH (DH)
Rating

PRUH
Rating

Adult Community Acquired
Pneumonia (British Thoracic
Society)

The audit shows that the death rate within 30 days of
discharge from KCH (DH) is lower than national
average (2.1% compared to 3.4%).

+

N/A

Published: June 2013
Audit Period: 01/12/12 – 31/01/13
Sample Size:
 KCH (DH): 100% (108
patients)
 PRUH: Part of SLHT during
audit period. PRUH did not
participate in this audit.

KCH (DH) performed at or above national average for
9/11 audit standards and has improved since 2012 for 6
of the 7 criteria re-audited. Re-admission rate, however,
is higher than national average and is currently under
investigation by the audit lead. Action is being taken to
ensure that antibiotics are prescribed in line with local
community acquired pneumonia guidelines and that data
is recorded correctly through the e-prescribing work.
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National Clinical Audit and
Confidential Enquiry
Adult Critical Care (Case Mix
Programme – ICNARC CMP)
Published: Quarterly reports
available
Audit Period: 2012/13
Sample Size:
 KCH (DH): 100% (775 - 825
patients)
 PRUH: Part of SLHT during
audit period and PRUH data
not available.

Adult Critical Care (Case Mix
Programme – ICNARC CMP)
Published: Quarterly reports
available
Audit Period: 01/01/13 – 31/03/13
Sample Size:
 KCH (DH): 100% (200 - 250
patients)
 PRUH: Not applicable –
service not provided.

Emergency Use of Oxygen
(British Thoracic Society)
Published: November 2013
Audit Period: 15/08/13 – 01/11/13
Sample Size:
 KCH (DH): 100% (70
patients)
 PRUH: 21 patients.

Headline results and/ or actions taken

KCH (DH)
Rating
+

PRUH
Rating
N/A

The ICNARC confidential comparison of Liver Intensive
Care Units (LICU) shows that mortality at KCH (DH) is
below expected and is comparable to Trusts with a
similar casemix.

+

N/A

In line with the national picture, the Trust had mixed
results for the audit compared to the national average at
both KCH (DH) and PRUH.

=

-

The ICNARC confidential comparison of Intensive Care
Unit (ICU) shows that mortality at KCH (DH) is below
expected and is comparable to Trusts with a similar
casemix.

Following the 2012/13 audit KCH (DH) implemented a
detailed action plan that included the development of
local guidelines, electronic flagging and a staff training
programme. As a result KCH (DH) performance has
improved for all key criteria compared to the previous
round including for patients currently using oxygen with a
prescription or bedside order, percentage of signatures to
rounds, percentage of observations to rounds and
patients with SpO2 within target range at last
assessment.
A trust-wide (KCH (DH) and PRUH) action plan is in
development to support further improvement.
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National Clinical Audit and
Confidential Enquiry
National Audit of Seizure
Management (NASH)
Published: February 2014.
Audit Period: 01/01/13 – 15/09/13
Sample Size:
 KCH (DH): 100% (30
patients)
 PRUH: 97% (29 patients).

National Joint Registry (NJR)
Published: September 2013
Audit Period: 01/01/12 – 31/12/12
Sample Size:
 KCH (DH): 372 patients
 PRUH:150 patients
Orthopaedic Surgery: National
Joint Registry (NJR) (Surgeonlevel data)
Published: June 2013
Audit Period: 01/01/12 – 31/12/12
Sample:
 KCH (DH): Data published on
8 consultants.
 PRUH: Data published on 7
consultants.

Non-invasive Ventilation (NIV) Adults (British Thoracic Society)
Published: June 2013
Audit Period: 01/02/13 – 31/03/13
Sample Size:
 KCH (DH): 100% (24
patients)
 PRUH: Part of SLHT during
audit period. PRUH did not
participate in this audit.

Headline results and/ or actions taken
KCH (DH) performed at or above the national average for
28/31 criteria and is similar to or better than 2011
performance for all criteria re-audited.

KCH (DH)
Rating
+

PRUH
Rating
+

+

+

+

+

+

N/A

PRUH performed at or above the national average for
21/31 criteria and in line with or better than 2011
performance for 15/25 criteria re-audited.
A detailed action plan has been implemented at KCH
(DH) to improve patient management further. This
includes the implementation of a care pathway for adult
patients with established epilepsy presenting in the ED
with seizures and detailed patient information. The
implementation of a Rapid Access Clinic and appointment
of an additional Epilepsy Nurse is under investigation and
work is in progress to improve further the liaison between
the ED team and the Epilepsy Specialist Nurses and
ensure all patients receive the best quality service.
A PRUH action plan is currently in development.
Both KCH (DH) and PRUH are within expected range
for mortality following hip and knee replacement and
revision surgery.
Both sites are also rated ‘green’ for consent, an
improvement from ‘amber’ on both sites in the previous
report.
KCH (DH): No non-consenters, all surgeons within
expected range.
PRUH: No non-consenters, all surgeons within expected
range.

The audit identifies KCH (DH) as performing at or above
national average for 15/19 audit criteria. KCH (DH)
experiences a higher length of stay for ventilated patients
than the national average (17 days compared to 13 days).
Below national average performance was recorded for 3
standards relating to planning in case of NIV failure. An
action plan, that includes the development of a flow chart
for NIV and a review of the prescription of oxygen across
the Trust, is being implemented by the Integrated
Respiratory Team to address these issues. How to
improve referral for sleep study for obese patients is
under review by the audit lead - performance against this
standard was poor nationally.
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Trauma Audit and Research
Network (TARN)
Published: Data available [online], current as of 09/04/14.

Headline results and/ or actions taken
The TARN data demonstrates that more trauma
patients admitted to KCH (DH) are surviving
compared to the number expected based on the
severity of their injury.

KCH (DH)
Rating
+

PRUH
Rating
N/A

+

N/A

+

+

Rate of Survival at KCH (DH): Between January 1st
2011 and December 31st 2013

Cancer
Bowel Cancer (NBOCAP)
Published: July 2013
Audit Period: 01/04/11 – 31/03/12
Sample Size:
 KCH (DH): 102% (102
patients)
 PRUH: Part of SLHT during
audit period and PRUH data
not available.

Colorectal Surgery: Surgeon-level
data
Data taken from: Bowel Cancer
(NBOCAP)

KCH (DH) adjusted mortality for bowel cancer is
better than national average at 30 days, 90 days and 2
years. A high proportion of KCH (DH) patients undergo
laparoscopic surgery (72%; national average = 40%).

Three areas of underperformance relate to data
recording: CT scans, MRI scans and pre-operative
radiotherapy. All areas have improved since 2012 and
continue to be addressed.
KCH (DH): No non-consenters, all surgeons within
expected range.

Published: June 2013
Audit Period: 01/04/10 – 31/03/12
Sample:
 KCH (DH): Data published on
6 consultants
 PRUH: Surgeon-level data
not provided.
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Lung Cancer (NLCA)
Published: December 2013
Audit Period: 01/01/12 – 31/12/12
Sample Size:
 KCH (DH): 104% (118
patients)
 PRUH: Part of SLHT during
audit period and PRUH data
not available.
Oesophago-gastric Cancer
(NOGCA)
Published: June 2013
Audit Period: 01/04/11 – 31/03/12
Sample Size:
 KCH (DH): >80% (36
patients)
 PRUH: 60-80% (99 patients).

Headline results and/ or actions taken
KCH (DH) performed in line with or above the national
average for 7/13 standards. PRUH data is currently
being extracted from SLHT data, and once available a
joint action plan for the audit will be developed across all
sites.

KCH (DH) has significantly improved its case
ascertainment from <25% in 2012 to >80% in 2013 and
was rated ‘green’ for the first time. KCH (DH) is rated
green for percentage of patients with planned intent (i.e. a
plan in place for the approach to treatment - curative or
palliative) and planned modality (i.e. a plan in place for
the treatment to be given, e.g. surgery, chemotherapy,
radiotherapy) and red for percentage of patients for
recording of ‘M-stage after CT’ (i.e. presence or absence
of metastases).

KCH (DH)
Rating
=

PRUH
Rating
N/A

+

N/A

The ‘red’ rating for percentage of patients with M-stage
after CT is a data completeness issue and has improved
over the past year. Actions continue to ensure that after
CT scans all M-stages are recorded on the multidisciplinary meeting proformas.
PRUH was part of SLHT during audit period and PRUHspecific data against standards of best practice is not
available.
Cancer
Acute Coronary Syndrome or
Acute Myocardial Infarction
(MINAP)

KCH (DH), which is a Heart Attack Centre, performed at
or above the national average for 9/11 audit criteria of
best practice.

Published: October 2013
Audit Period: 01/04/12 – 31/03/13
 KCH (DH): 823 patients
PRUH: 70 patients

PRUH performed in line with or above the national
average for 4/5 criteria (6 criteria applied to Heart Attack
Centres only).
KCH (DH) and PRUH performed below national average
for nSTEMI patients admitted to cardiac unit or ward:
 KCH (DH) = 41.8%, PRUH = 28.8% and national
average = 52.6%.
 At KCH (DH) these patients are routinely admitted
under General Medicine. Additional capacity has
recently been achieved for cardiology patients and
the issue remains under review.
 At PRUH this is a data submission issue and actions
are in place to improve data quality.
KCH (DH) performed above the 75% target for patient
receiving primary percutaneous coronary intervention
(PCI) within 150 minutes of calling for help, however
performed below 75% for patients receiving primary PCI
within 120 minutes of calling for help. In 2013 the KCH
(DH) cardiology team completed a detailed local audit of
the causes of delay, which were found to be primarily
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Adult Cardiac Surgery: Surgeonlevel data.
Data taken from: Adult
Cardiothoracic Surgery.
Published: June 2013
Audit Period:01/04/09 – 31/03/12
Sample:
 KCH (DH): Data published on
6 consultants
 PRUH: Not applicable –
service not provided.
Congenital Heart Disease
Published: Available on-line
Audit Period: 01/04/11 – 31/03/12
Sample Size:
 KCH (DH): 29 procedures*
 PRUH: Not applicable –
service not provided.
* 2012/13 data to be validated on
13/03/14.
Heart Failure (HF)
Published: November 2013
Audit Period: 01/04/12– 31/03/13
Sample Size:
 KCH (DH): 31.2% (157
patients)
 PRUH: 256 patients (case
ascertainment provided for
SLHT only)

Interventional Cardiology:
Surgeon-level data.
Data taken from: National Audit of
Percutaneous Coronary
Interventional Procedures.

Headline results and/ or actions taken

KCH (DH)
Rating
+

PRUH
Rating
+

+

+

No mortality reported at 30 days or at 1 year post
procedure.

+

+

KCH (DH) performed at or above the national average for
10/11 best practice criteria. Performance was variable at
PRUH, which met or exceeded the national average for
3/11 audit criteria.

+

-

+

+

inter-hospital transfers. As a result:
 Work is underway to engage DGH A&E departments
to streamline the inter-hospital transfer process.
 A new internal acute coronary syndrome referral
pathway has been developed to facilitate transfer
from KCH (DH) A&E to cardiac care.
 Re-audit is planned for 2014.
KCH (DH): No non-consenters, all surgeons within
expected range.

KCH (DH) performed below national average for 1 criteria
– heart failure patients treated under Cardiology. At KCH
(DH) these patients are cared for under General
Medicine. An acute heart failure pathway is in place for
the care of these patients, with the audit demonstrating
that 94.8% of heart failure patients receive specialist
cardiology input. An additional cardiology ward was
made available in February 2014, with dedicated heart
failure beds.
PRUH performance was affected by poor data
submission against key fields so is not an accurate
reflection of clinical practice. A detailed action is in place
to improve data submission.
KCH (DH): No non-consenters, all surgeons within
expected range, data does not include any comparison to
national average.

Published: June 2013
Audit Period:01/01/12 – 31/12/12
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Sample:
 KCH (DH): Data published on
7 consultants.
 PRUH: Not applicable –
service not provided.
National Vascular Registry Carotid Interventions Audit (CIA)
Published: October 2013
Audit Period: 01/10/2011 –
30/09/12
Sample Size:
 KCH (DH): 105% (139
patients)
 PRUH: Not applicable –
service not provided.

Vascular Surgery: Surgeon-level
data.
Data taken from: National
Vascular Registry.

Headline results and/ or actions taken

KCH (DH)
Rating

PRUH
Rating

KCH (DH) performed at or above the national average for
all 7 standards of best practice. In particular more
patients at KCH (DH) are undergoing surgery within 7
days of referral compared to the national average.

+

N/A

KCH (DH): No non-consenters, all surgeons within
expected range, with excellent unadjusted mortality
below the national average.

+

+

Published: June 2013
Audit Period:
 Elective abdominal aortic
aneurysm repair,
01/01/08 – 31/12/12
 Carotid endarterectomy,
01/10/09 – 30/09/12
Sample:
 KCH (DH): Data
published on 5
consultants

King’s College Hospital NHS Foundation Trust | Annual Report 2013/14

121

Quality Report
National Clinical Audit and
Confidential Enquiry
 PRUH: Not applicable –
service not provided.

Headline results and/ or actions taken

KCH (DH)
Rating

PRUH
Rating

National Cardiac Arrest Audit
(NCAA)

KCH (DH) is within the expected range for survival
after cardiac arrest.

+

N/A

Published: June 2013
Audit Period: 01/04/12 – 31/03/13
Sample Size:
 KCH (DH): 100%
(167patients)
 PRUH: Part of SLHT during
audit period. PRUH did not
participate in this round of the
audit.

Survival to hospital discharge by shockable
presenting/ first documented rhythm

-

N/A

Survival to hospital discharge by non-shockable
presenting/ first documented rhythm

Long Term Conditions
National Diabetes Audit (Adult)
(NDA)
Published: October 2013
Audit Period: 01/01/11 – 31/03/12
Sample Size:
 KCH (DH): 100%
(5220patients)
 PRUH: Part of SLHT during
audit period and did not
participate in this round of the
audit.
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KCH (DH) performed below the national average for
patients receiving all 8 care processes recommended by
NICE and above the national average for 4/7 treatment
targets achieved. Patient care has, however improved
for 10/15 care processes and treatment targets
compared to the 2010/11 data, and is better than peer.
Performance improvements include the measurement of
cholesterol, serum creatinine and BMI as well as the
provision of foot surveillance and smoking cessation
advice.
The Trust’s Clinical Effectiveness Committee undertook a
detailed focused review of diabetes care across all KCH
sites, taking into account the results of all national audits
along with data on patient experience and patient safety.
The Committee concluded that the poor performance
identified in this audit is due to data issues and does not
reflect the quality of patient care.’
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National Diabetes Inpatient Audit
(NADIA)
Published: March 2014
Audit Period: 16 – 20 September
2013
*1 day snapshot audit during audit
period.

Sample Size:
 KCH (DH): 100% (133
patients)
 PRUH: 43 patients

National Diabetes Inpatient Audit
(NADIA)

Headline results and/ or actions taken
KCH (DH) continues to perform well in comparison to the
national average for the clinical aspects of the audit,
performing in line with or above national average for
26/29 criteria, and improving for 9 out of 10 of the patient
experience criteria since 2012.

KCH (DH)
Rating
+

PRUH
Rating
+

+

N/A

=

N/A

PRUH performed in line with or above national average
for 18/28 criteria with performance improving across the
board, compared to 2012 and in particularly for
medication safety, where performance has exceeded the
national average .
The Trust’s Clinical Effectiveness Committee has planned
a focused review of all the diabetes audit results across
all KCH sites (see above).
Overall KCH (DH) results for this audit were mixed,
however performance has improved compared to 2011
results and compared to the national average, indicating
safer patient care. PRUH was part of SLHT during this
cycle of the audit and PRUH-specific data is not available.

Published: March 2013
Audit Period: 17/09/12 – 23/09/12
Sample Size:
 KCH (DH): 102% (102
patients)
 PRUH: Part of SLHT during
audit period.
National Diabetes Inpatient Audit (NADIA) data, 17/09/12 – 23/09/12

Diabetes (Paediatric) (NPDA)
Published: December 2013
Audit Period:01/04/11 – 31/03/12
Sample Size:
 KCH (DH) 100% (159 patients)
 PRUH: Part of SLHT during
audit period. PRUH did not
participate in this round of the
audit.

KCH (DH) patients had slightly higher blood glucose
levels than national average but this reflects KCH’s local
population and, on detailed review by the Clinical
Effectiveness Committee, was not found to be an
indicator of poor quality care. A comprehensive action
plan is in place to increase staff numbers (psychological,
medical and nursing staff); to improve service provision
across sites with the implementation of Young Diabetes
Connections, peer review and common guidelines for
working practices; and improve data submission with the
introduction of the TWINKLE database system.
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Renal Registry
Published: December 2013
Audit Period: 01/01/12 – 31/12/12
Sample Size:
 KCH (DH): 100% (125
patients)
 PRUH: Part of SLHT during
audit period and did provide a
renal service at that time.

Headline results and/ or actions taken
To improve further the services offered at KCH (DH), the
paediatric diabetes clinic and MDT have been restructured in line with feedback provided by families of
patients.
KCH (DH) has the highest rate in England of patients
starting on renal replacement therapy (RRT) who have
diabetes, at 39.2% (national average = 25%), however
survival for patients on RRT is very similar to national
average (KCH adjusted (to age 60) 1year after 90 day
survival and national average = 90.9%).

KCH (DH)
Rating

PRUH
Rating

+

N/A

+

N/A

=

+

Compared to the 2011 data patients presenting to a
nephrologist less than 90 days before RRT initiation has
improved from 21.9% to 18.8% at KCH (DH) and is now
better than the national average. This has been achieved
through the introduction of the renal e-mail helpline, renal
services at PRUH, joint referral guidelines between KCH
(DH) and Guy’s and St Thomas’ Hospital and the Clinical
Commissioning Groups as well as the GP liaison team.
Patients on home dialysis continues to exceed the NICE
target of 15% at 16.1%, and total infections recorded
(01/05/11 – 30/04/12) are all below the national average.

Renal Registry
Published: May 2013
Audit Period: 01/01/11 – 31/12/11
Sample Size:
 KCH (DH): 100% (139
patients)
 PRUH: Part of SLHT during
audit period and did provide a
renal service at that time.

Time on waiting list for kidney transplant not reported this
cycle.
An action plan is currently being developed across sites.
KCH (DH) has a similar proportion of patients starting on
renal replacement therapy to peers (139 per million
population; peer range 90-164). KCH (DH) has the
highest rate nationally of patients starting on renal
replacement therapy who have diabetes, at 41% (national
average = 24.8%), however survival for patients on renal
replacement therapy is similar to national average (KCH
(DH) adjusted (to age 60) 1year after 90 day survival =
88.3%; national average = 89.6%). KCH (DH) home
haemodialysis rate is 17.1%, exceeding the NICE target
of 15%.
Median time to wait listing for a kidney transplant is 635
days at KCH (DH) (peer range 120-1197 days). The
decision-making process is under review to identify
opportunities to reduce delays.

Older People
Hip Fracture Database (NHFD)
Published: September 2013
Audit Period: 01/04/12 – 31/03/13
Sample Size:
 KCH (DH): 95% (114
patients)
 PRUH: 91.1% (346 patients)
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Both KCH (DH) and PRUH performed in line with national
average for surgery within 48 hours, bone health
medication and falls assessment. Both hospitals
performed below national average for time taken to
orthopaedic care, pre-operative assessment by a
geriatrician. Actions are in place, led by the newlyestablished Hip Fracture Forum, to drive improvement in
these areas and, whilst performance demonstrates
improvement in 2013-14, the area remains under close
internal scrutiny and is a Trust quality priority topic for
2014/15.
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National Audit of Dementia (NAD)
Published: March 2013
Audit Period: 17/09/12 – 23/09/12
Sample Size:
 KCH (DH): 102.5% (41
Patients)
 PRUH: Part of SLHT during
audit period and PRUH data
not available.

Sentinel Stroke National Audit
Programme (SSNAP)
Published: February 2014
Audit Period: 01/07/13 – 29/09/13
Sample size:
 KCH (DH): 205 cases (≥90%)
 PRUH: 207 (80-89%)

Headline results and/ or actions taken
KCH (DH) performed in line with or above the national
average for 80% of the applicable criteria audited across
6 domains.
An action plan is in place to improve patient management
further. This includes the development of a care pathway
and guideline for patients with delirium and dementia, an
improved discharge planning process formalised in the
Trust’s Discharge Policy, and improved training on the
assessment and documentation of delirium and dementia.
Dementia was a 2013-14 Quality Priority at KCH (DH).
KCH (DH) achieved an overall SSNAP level of B (70 <80%), higher than all London HASUs and nationally
the joint highest routinely admitting unit. The
Denmark Hill site also performed at or above the national
average for 22/24 criteria and in line with or better than
previous performance (April - June 2013) for 18/23
criteria.

KCH (DH)
Rating
+

PRUH
Rating
N/A

+

+

*

PRUH achieved an overall SSNAP score above the
national average, and performed in line with or above the
national average for 17/24 criteria and in line with or
better compared to previous performance (April - June
2013) for 22/23 criteria.
An action plan to continue to drive improvement is
currently being developed across sites.
Women’s & Children’s Health
National Neonatal Audit
Programme (NNAP)
Published: August 2013
Audit period: 01/01/12– 31/12/12
Sample Size:
 KCH (DH): 100% (692
patients)
 PRUH: 100% (324 patients)

Paediatric Asthma (British
Thoracic Society)
Published: February 2013
Audit Period: 01/11/12 – 30/11/12
Sample size
 KCH (DH): 100% (23
patients)

The audit identifies KCH (DH) as one of the best
performers nationally for the second year running,
performing in line with or above best practice for all audit
criteria. PRUH performed at or above national average
for 4 of the 5 criteria.

+

+

+

N/A

KCH (DH) performance has improved since 2011 for
antenatal steroids and consultation with senior member of
the team within 24 hours of admission.
At PRUH one criteria is below the national average provision of retinopathy of screening in accordance with
guidelines. Action has already been taken to address this
issue and a local audit is planned for early 2014. PRUH’s
performance has improved since 2011 for babies
receiving mother’s milk at discharge and consultation with
a senior member of the team within 24 hours of
admission.
KCH (DH) performed in line with or above the national
average for 13/19 criteria including: initial assessment,
treatment, prophylaxis reviewed at discharge and
information provided at discharge.
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 PRUH: Part of SLHT during
audit period and PRUH data
not available.

Headline results and/ or actions taken

Paediatric Intensive Care
(PICANet)
Published: September 2013
Audit Period: 01/01/12 – 31/12/12
Sample size
 KCH (DH): 100% (644
patients)
PRUH: Not applicable – service
not provided.

Paediatric Pneumonia (British
Thoracic Society)
Published: April 2013
Audit Period: 01/11/12 – 31/01/13
Sample size
 KCH (DH): 100% (25
patients)
 PRUH: Part of SLHT during
audit period and PRUH data
not available.

KCH (DH)
Rating

PRUH
Rating

The audit identifies the mortality rate at KCH (DH) as
being one of the lowest nationally, and comparing very
favourably with peer trusts.
KCH (DH) and Great Ormond Street have the lowest
rate of emergency admissions of all peer Trusts.

+

N/A

KCH (DH) performed in line with or above the national
average for 7/11 criteria, including admission tests,
provision of oxygen, method of administering oxygen,
avoidance of nasogastric feeding tubes (KCH (DH) = 0%),
provision of oral antibiotics and hospital follow up
arranged.

+

N/A

A local audit of data to assess correct patient
management will be completed and work will be
undertaken with ED staff to reduce unnecessary
investigations and prescriptions of antibiotics.

The data indicates that KCH (DH) is treating patients with
a higher severity of pneumonia compared to the national
average. A clinical review of the data concluded that,
whilst the Trust is performing more tests and interventions
(c-reactive protein, chest physiotherapy and chest x-ray)
than the national average, these were clinically
appropriate and the results are a reflection of severity of
pneumonia due to KCH (DH) tertiary status.

The reports of 26 local clinical audits were reviewed by King’s College NHS Foundation Trust
in 2013/14
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Headline results and/ or actions taken

UK Liver Transplant Audit
Published: May 2013
Audit Period: 01/10/11 – 30/09/12
Sample Size:

KCH (DH) has the joint lowest 90 day mortality in the UK for:
 All adult patients who received a first liver transplant as superurgent.
 All adults who received a first liver transplant as elective (riskadjusted).





The audit also shows that for paediatric cases mortality at KCH
(DH) is below national average.

KCH (DH) Adults: 131
KCH (DH) Paediatrics:37
PRUH: Not applicable – service not
provided.
Potential Donor Audit
Published: June 2013
Audit Period: 01/04/12 – 31/03/13
Sample Size:
 KCH (DH): 100% (all relevant patients are
reported in the potential donor audit and to
the UK Transplant Registry)
 PRUH: Part of SLHT during audit period and
PRUH data not available

Bariatric Surgery: Surgeon-level data
Data taken from: National Bariatric Surgery
Registry.

The number of organ donors at KCH (DH) increased from 13 in
2011/12 to 35 in 2012/13, and the total number of patients whose
lives were saved through receiving a transplanted organ from
donations at KCH rose from 45 in 2011/12 to 105 in 2012/13.

KCH (DH): No non-consenters, no outliers identified.

Published: June 2013
Audit Period:01/04/012 – 31/03/13
Sample:
 KCH (DH): Data published on 3 consultants.
 PRUH: Consultant-level data not listed for
PRUH.

King’s College Hospital NHS Foundation Trust | Annual Report 2013/14

127

Quality Report
Local Clinical Audit

Headline results and/ or actions taken

Urological Surgery: Surgeon-level data
Data taken from: The British Association of
Urological Surgeons – Nephrectomy Outcomes
Data

KCH (DH): No non-consenters, no outliers identified.

Published: June 2013
Audit Period: 01/01/12 – 31/12/12
Sample:
 KCH (DH): Data published on 2 consultants.
 PRUH: Part of SLHT during audit period. No
data returned to the BAUS audit for 2012.

Audit of NICE derogation CG122 ovarian cancer

Audit of NICE derogation CG154 ectopic
pregnancy and miscarriage

Audit of NICE derogation CG95 chest pain of
recent onset
Audit of NICE derogation CG112 sedation in
children and young people

Audit of NICE derogation CG144 venous
thromboembolic diseases
Audit of NICE derogation CG149 antibiotics for
early onset neonatal infection
Audit of NICE derogation CG151 neutropenic
sepsis

Audit of NICE derogation IPG149 division of
ankyloglossia (tongue-tie) for breastfeeding

An audit on gynaecological cancers including ovarian cancer and
rapid access service is performed annually. Audit results will be
available to demonstrate KCH (DH) compliance with the NICE
guidance in 2014.
The Early Pregnancy Unit audits its outcomes on an annual basis
including outcome of management options. The data generated
from this informs the continuous updating of the unit management
protocols.
Attendance, investigation and outcomes are audited for all patients
who are managed in the rapid access chest pain clinic. Results
expected April 2014.
A retrospective analysis of case notes and EPR clinical notes of 99
consecutive paediatric patients sedated for painless and painful
procedures at KCH (DH) has been completed. The audit
demonstrated a high-level of compliance with the paediatric
sedation protocol. Sedation for painful procedures was successful
for all patients, whilst 10% (6/60) failed sedation for painless
procedures. This was due to the child waking up in 4/6 cases. The
audit identified several areas for improvement in the quality of
documentation. This is currently being addressed by the Division.
Audit in progress to provide assurance of high quality clinical
outcomes and processes. Results expected September 2014.
Audit in progress to provide assurance of high quality clinical
outcomes and processes. Results expected March 2014.
Routine audit is in place to assess the number of cases of
neutropenic sepsis presenting to KCH (DH) and the door to needle
time in minutes. Audit results are reviewed by the Acute Oncology
Service Committee monthly. Any issues such as delay between
prescription of antibiotics and administration are discussed with the
ED team.
PRUH is planning to adopt the derogation by April 2014 and the
neutropenic sepsis audit programme will incorporate PRUH sites in
due course.
An outcome audit was carried out in 2013 to examine the
breastfeeding difficulties following frenulotomy and parents’
feedback. The results were reviewed by the Trust Evidence-Based
Practice Committee and it was agreed that the tongue-tie clinic is a
successful service with good outcomes.
Work has begun to improve the referral pathway from the Trust’s
post-natal ward and neonatal unit, including staff training in
assessment of tongue tie, and for community practitioners post
frenulotomy wound care.
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Headline results and/ or actions taken

Annual Audit of Modified Early Obstetric
Warning Score (MEOWS)

The audit demonstrated documentation needs to be improved and
the MEOWS chart has been amended as a result, including
clarification of the escalation process and the addition of bleep
numbers for key contacts. Training in the use of the new charts is in
progress and re-audit is planned.
In response to the publication of the NPSA Alert 0861 Surgical
Safety Checklist, 2009 and the incidence of Never Events at KCH
(DH) 2012-13, a number of actions have been taken to improve
compliance with the SSC. These include the development of an
SSC audit tool used to review completion rates and the quality of
SSC completion; all staff informed of SSC expectations; formal
launch across all KCH sites, including training sessions and
communication strategy, baseline audit to be undertaken across all
sites, the swabsafe box introduced to all areas where appropriate
and efforts taken to reduce avoidable interruptions in theatre.

Surgical Safety Checklist (SSC)

Oral/Nasogastric Feeding Tubes

High Risk Medical Equipment

Infection Control Audit Programme

Line Flushing and Peripheral Line Insertion Audit

Risk Assessment Model for Venous
Thromboembolism (VTE) in Hospitalised
Medical Patients

Following the publication of the NPSA Alert 1253 Reducing the
harm caused by misplaced nasogastric feeding tubes in adults,
children and infants, (2011) and an adverse incident in 2013 at KCH
(DH) a number of steps have been taken to improve patient care in
relation to nasogastric feeding tubes. A routine audit programme is
currently in development to monitor compliance with best practice,
due to start March 2014.
Audit conducted to assess the number of high risk medical devices
are in use without planned maintenance contracts. All devices
identified will be added to maintenance contracts.
KCH (DH): Routine audit is in place to assess compliance with
infection control standards. A hand hygiene tool recommended by
the Department of Health is fully operational and an audit
management system is in place to facilitate routine data entry,
analysis and dissemination at all levels of the organisation, with
results incorporated in the Trust scorecard
KCH (PRUH and other sites): Routine audit, monitoring and
reporting is in place to assess compliance with infection control
standards. There are plans in place to roll out the KCH Infection
Control Audit Programme to all newly acquired sites in 2014.
Audit to monitor compliance with the clinical guideline Flushing
Intravenous Lines in the Immediate Post General Anaesthesia
period in Operating Theatres. The audit demonstrated good
performance for hand over between theatre and recovery (75%)
and excellent performance for handover between recovery and
ward (100%).
VTE is monitored through a CQUIN and KCH (DH) is compliant with
all external requirements.
KCH (DH): Monthly audit takes place to ensure VTE is compliant
with the Quality Standards set by NICE. An electronic audit tool is
set up to facilitate data entry and analysis. Hospital associated
thrombosis cases are audited by the VTE Clinical Nurse Specialists
with root cause analysis completed for all. Results of the audit are
disseminated to all levels of the organisations.
KCH (PRUH and other sites): Compliance with the NICE VTE
Quality Standard is audited bi-annually. Results are disseminated at
all levels throughout the organisation. A VTE risk assessment tool
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Local Clinical Audit

Annual Audit of Physiological Observation Track
and Trigger System (POTTS)

Blood Sampling and Labelling Audit

Blood Wastage and Tag Compliance
Audit

Headline results and/ or actions taken
based on the tool recommended by the Department of Health is in
use at PRUH and continuous audit is in place to assess compliance
with its use.
POTTS charts are routinely used across KCH (DH). POTTS will be
replaced with the National Early Warning Score via Wardware
implementation, with Wardware to be implemented in all adult
wards at KCH (DH) by March 2014.
Actions are being developed across KCH (DH) to address training
needs and to raise awareness and improve responsiveness. Action
plan implementation to be monitored via the Trust’s Deteriorating
Patients Committee.
KCH (DH) audits blood sampling and labelling on a monthly basis
using electronically gathered data. Results are fed back to the
Divisions and are reported into and monitored by the Patient Safety
Committee.
KCH (DH) audits blood wastage and tag compliance on a monthly
basis using electronically gathered data. Results are fed back to the
Divisions and are reported into and monitored by the Patient Safety
Committee.

In addition to this priority audit programme, many hundreds of audits are undertaken at specialty and
Divisional-level. These are appropriately managed within Divisions and not centrally-reported.

2c: Information on participation in clinical research
The number of patients receiving health services provided or sub-contracted by King’s
College Hospital NHS Foundation Trust in 2013/14 that were recruited during the period 1
October 2012 – 31 September 2013 to participate in National Institute for Health Research
(NIHR) portfolio badged research approved by a Research Ethics Committee was 4834.
These patients were recruited to 197 NIHR adopted studies. This is an 18% decrease in
recruitment from 2011/12. Additionally, King’s was involved in over 600 non-commercial
studies, and over 200 commercial clinical research studies during the same time period, for
which further patients cohorts were recruited. Nationally, King’s has the 2nd highest number
of commercial trials (223), and the 4th largest number of complex trials (145).
Over 400 Principal Investigators across 26 different specialities participated in research
during 2013. These staff were a mix of scientists, clinical staff (medical, nursing,
physiotherapy, pharmacy, dietetics and many others) and support staff, demonstrating the
successful integration of research into all clinical areas with associated benefit to patients,
and staff.
There were over 850 publications involving King’s staff or patients during 2013.
Investigators across King’s have been successful in securing grant awards in excess £8.8
million. Additionally, NIHR Clinical Research fellowship awards were received by 2
Physiotherapists.
As a world renowned research institution, King’s College Hospital aims to integrate clinical
research into the daily care our patients receive, with all staff being either directly aware of
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the opportunities for patients to participate or who they should talk with to obtain relevant
information. Taking part in transitional, clinical, or health services research, or being treated
by a team who are research aware, offers the best opportunities for treatment, investigation,
and support for our patients, ensuring that they enjoy an optimal experience & clinical
outcomes. We are committed to improving the quality of care we offer, and to making our
contribution to wider health improvement.
Our commitment to driving research that will lead to improvement in patient outcomes and
experience across the NHS can be demonstrated through the investment the trust has made
in research and the outcomes this has driven.
In 2013, we became involved in 2 exciting new collaborations that are designed to take
research findings and implement into clinical practice as rapidly as possible, addressing the
needs of the local community. The first, Kings Improvement Science (KIS), brings together
clinicians, patients, researchers and health care managers, to solve problems to improve
healthcare. King’s is hosting the Collaboration for Leadership in Applied Health Research
and Care (CLAHRC), which is closely linked with KIS. It is concerned with late stage applied
research, supporting projects that will allow improved understanding of disease as it affects
the local community, how best to solve identified issues, and then to address how findings
can be implemented.
The NIHR Wellcome Trust Clinical Research Facility (CRF) is now fully operational, with over
100 studies being supported by the CRF, ranging from mental health disorders to physical
health problems such as diabetes and renal. The specialised facilities within the CRF include
the functional 3T MRI scanner, EEG suite, Virtual Reality suite. The Experimental Medicine
Facility within the CRF is currently working towards gaining accreditation for Phase I trials
with the Medicine Health Regulatory Authority (MHRA). The Cell Therapy Unit is also fully
functional and operational and working under HTA accreditation for sample collection and
storage. Currently the CTU is undergoing the process to gain its MHRA licenses to fulfil the
legal requirements of being a GMP licensed facility with the function of being able to
transplant stem cells in to patients. We anticipate the continued growth and expansion of
translational and experimental research with in the CRF for 2014.
Involving our local population in the development of new projects has proven to be valuable
and rewarding. There are a number of groups across King’s, comprising of clinicians,
patients and carers, who regularly meet and contribute to new and ongoing projects. Notable
groups include Renal, Critical Care, Neurosciences, Liver and Sexual Health/HIV.
Additionally, King’s Patient Governor groups have been engaged in conversation with R&D
to better inform them of the value of research to improving health car, and to involve them in
making change.
Other highlights include commendation by NIHR as an example of good practice for the
research section of the website.
The breadth and depth of clinical research at King’s has been again recognised this year by
the large number of a number of new clinical professorships that have been awarded and the
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appointment of a third NIHR Senior Investigator (Professor Anne Greenough).
We have picked some headline examples of the research being conducted within the Trust,
to give a flavour of the how it impacts and benefits our local community as well as nationally.
Gerontology
The department has been undertaking a Research for Patient Benefit funded pilot study
investigating a multi-factorial intervention to prevent falls in older people with cognitive
impairment living in residential care. During 2013 this study has recruited to time and target
and is due to be completed in 2014. Julie Whitney was awarded a 4 year NIHR Allied Health
Professional Clinical Lectureship which will start in 2014. A randomised controlled trial to
determine the efficacy of an exercise programme for walking frame users to prevent falls will
be conducted as part of the lectureship.
Cardiac
The Cardiac Research Department has enrolled patients into over thirty different studies
through the course of 2013, a number of which have offered groundbreaking treatments.
King’s was the first UK centre to enrol a patient into the BioVentrix study, in which a suture
and anchor system allows major reconstruction of the left ventricle on a beating heart.
Cardiology and Neurosurgery worked together on the NECTAR-HF study to investigate the
potential effect of vagus nerve stimulation on chronic heart failure.
Professor Ajay Shah heads the internationally renowned academic research centre,
providing a strong link between KCL and the clinical cardiology service. He leads a team
which employs an integrative multidisciplinary approach to address questions surrounding
the development of cardiac hypertrophy, failure and vascular dysfunction. They utilise
molecular, cellular, biochemical, physiological and clinical techniques with a strong emphasis
on carefully phenotyped relevant gene-modified models, several of which have been
generated within the group.
Haematology
The Sickle Cell Department has been undertaking several clinical trials of novel
investigational medicinal products for both the chronic treatment of sickle cell disease and
the acute treatment of sickle cell crisis. They have recently successfully completed an
industry led, Phase I, first in human, clinical trial to treat acute sickle cell crises, and the
results of the investigations were presented at the annual American Society of Haematology
Conference in Dec 2013. They are also collaborating with Quintiles Clinical Research
Organisation in identifying and recruiting patients to an industry led, Phase II/III, clinical trial
of a novel investigational medical product for the chronic treatment of sickle cell disease.
They continue their ground-breaking research into the genetics of sickle cell disease with the
initiation of a King’s lead, multi-centre, observational study of 475 patients, investigating the
ability of genetic variants associated with Foetal Haemoglobin to predict fetal haemoglobin
levels de novo and disease severity. This study is looking to recruit well above the initial
recruitment target. The study has led to 2 publications on genetic associations of SCD
severity, one with Duffy Antigen Receptor for Chemokines (DARC) and the other, with
Telomere Lengths.
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Very few research projects have been undertaken during an acute sickle cell crisis. The
Sickle Cell Department is proud to be collaborating with King’s Emergency Department in
initiating an observational study looking at the changes in biomarkers during an acute sickle
cell crisis.
Neurosciences
Worldwide validation and use of KCH led (Non motor group led by Prof K Ray Chaudhuri and
colleagues using an European (EUROPAR) and international network ) development of the
non-motor symptoms questionnaire (NMSQuest), the Non-Motor Symptoms Scale (NMSS)
and the Parkinson’s Disease Sleep Scale (PDSS). Non-motor symptoms in Parkinson’s
disease are key determinants to quality of life in this condition, yet prior to KCL work, there
were no bedside tools to specifically address the overall impact of such symptoms in
Parkinson’s disease, no tools to allow self-declaration of symptoms or any grade-rating tools
for overall non-motor symptom scoring. The tools from part of mandatory national audit in
Parkinson's in the UK as well as non-motor measurements in clinical practice which forms
part of best practice tariff criteria of UK Department of Health.
Additionally, other highlights have included the pioneering trials of DC Vaccine led by Mr K
Ashkan and full validation and publication of the first ever patient related outcome tool (PROAPD) in Parkinson's disease by Dr P Reddy, supported by the movement disorders team at
Kings funded by a research initiative grant from Kings R&D department. King’s Staging
System for the management of ALS is now in fairly widespread use and the subject of two
grants, including an EU/MRC Joint Programme on Neuro Degeneration and a World
Federation of Neurology Task Force, as well as being under review by a number of
pharmaceutical companies.
Stroke
In October 2013, King’s College Hospital was commended as “NIHR Stroke Research
Network Team of the Year” and received the SRN awards for 'The top recruiting network in
the UK for patients to stroke studies' and the “Best Hyper-acute Site in England”. For
2013/2014, the annual SRN target for KCH was already exceeded by 33% in December
2013. We have also outperformed the 2014 NIHR Performance targets for Hyper-acute
Stroke Research Centres by attracting a portfolio of 6 industry sponsored studies (including 2
“first in man” stem cell modulation studies) and recruiting 59 hyper-acute patients up to
December 2013, exceeding the aspirational HSRC target of 40 patients set by the NIHR by
48%."
Liver
In 2013, the Dr Antoniades was awarded in excess of £1.4 million from the MRC/Charitable
bodies to investigate the role of monocytes/macrophages in patients with acute liver failure.
This project is now forms the infrastructure of a research network between three of the most
academically productive liver units in the UK (KCL, Imperial College and University of
Birmingham) that will enable the development of novel therapeutic strategies to will reduce
the burden of infection and premature death in patients with liver disease. This work having
recently received media attention following publication in Hepatology Journal Reuters:
http://www.newsdaily.com/health/b0cfcad2937cf6b1c1243eb9e0901765/serine-proteaseinhibitor-may-predict-infection-in-acute-liver-failure)
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Radiology
Continuing the innovative work on imaging modality to improve diagnosis of breast cancer,
the addition of 3D has great potential for improving specificity in a screening programme by
allowing radiologists to avoid recalling false negatives. The study has shown that the
performance of 2D with 3D is better than 2D alone in terms of specificity with a marginal
improvement with sensitivity. The study study was recognised for a prestigious award by
Radiological Society of North America, and discussed in 2 press releases:
Digital Breast Tomosynthesis Offers Superior Pre-surgical Staging,
http://rsna2013.rsna.org/dailybulletin/index.cfm?pg=13mon07.
Tomo is accurate in measuring invasive breast cancer
http://www.auntminnie.com/index.aspx?Sec=road&sub=wom_2013&pag=dis&itemId=105325
Professor Paul Sidhu developed an imaging technique for children which is radiation-free
and, thus, reduces the likelihood of developing cancer (http://www.bbc.co.uk/news/health25052955)
Dental
The CBT service for individuals with dental fear and anxiety has been identified as a model
of excellence in the care of patients with dental anxiety by the Department of Health. The
team has developed training materials and courses in order to be able disseminate this best
practice to other settings. To date similar services have been commissioned in Sheffield,
Northampton and Edinburgh based on the KCL model.
A research team led by Professor Marie Therese Hosey have developed an online resource
for children who are scheduled to undergo dental treatment under general anaesthesia. The
aim of the resource is to reduce the child's anxiety upon admission for the general
anaesthesia and at induction. The resource was developed in collaboration with parents
attending the service.
Dermatology
The dermatology team has increased recruitment from zero to over 200 patients to CLRN
studies. We are partaking in BADBIR, a national registry for patients receiving biological
agents for the treatment of psoriasis. As these agents come in to increasing usage, the
monitoring of patients receiving these drugs, for side effects and adverse incidents becomes
increasingly important. We have contributed patients with acne to a study examining the
genetic determinants of this disease; an abstract of this paper is currently in press with
Nature Genetics. We have enrolled a number of paediatric dermatology patients to a study
examining the interaction between food allergy and eczema. This is an important area of
emerging research in paediatric eczema.
Ophthalmology
This year has been a real success for Ophthalmology as we received provisional funding for
3 NIHR grants worth a total of £5 million in collaboration with Kings CTU to evaluate novel
treatment options for diabetic retinopathy and age-related macular degeneration. The
vitreoretinal research team, in collaboration with Oxford Eye Hospital, led a pioneering trial of
subretinal implantation. This involved insertion of a photodiode under the retina, to provide
‘artificial vision’ to totally blind patients with retinitis pigmentosa. The operations were the first
in the UK, lasted 9 hours, and involved a team of maxillofacial, ENT and ophthalmic
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surgeons. This was widely covered by media in the UK and internationally, and was to sight
what the first cochlear implants were to hearing.
Palliative Care
The Cicely Saunders Institute, the world’s first Institute for palliative care, continues to grow
and thrive. Locally, its programmes are improving palliative care, highlights include: the
development and evaluation of improved care for patients with advanced stage renal
disease, support for psychosocial care and communication in intensive care following a joint
project with intensivists, resulting in a new communication aid called PACE, and the
implementation of improved systems of assessment and evaluation. Patients and families in
our area have achieved the highest numbers in the UK being offered the opportunities to
engage in research. Globally, the Cicely Saunders Institute team have programmes linking
across the UK, many other European countries, the USA, Australia, and Africa, where their
research is studying better ways to improve and control symptoms, support patients and their
families, improve communication and dignity, address spiritual needs and reduce inequity.
The team have published over 60 papers in top quality peer reviewed journals, including the
Lancet, PLOS Medicine and BMC Medicine, as well as specialist journals.
Rheumatology
The department is headed by Professor David Scott, who is the chief investigator for the
NIHR programme grant TITRATE. This grant is supporting a body of work exploring
treatments and outcomes for people with rheumatoid arthritis. In particular the grant focuses
on patients with 'moderate disease activity'. Whilst we have clear therapeutic paradigms for
people at the extreme ends of the spectrum (highly active disease and remission), in fact the
majority of our patients end up in the moderate activity cohort - and there is currently no
evidence base to direct practice. TITRATE aims to address this knowledge gap through a
multicentre RCT, with the first patients due to enrol next month. In addition to TITRATE, the
trials team continue to deliver a broad portfolio of research, with the aiming of offering
patients the broadest access to research. We are currently set to commence recruitment to a
high intensity mode of action phase 2 trial of a novel therapeutic in rheumatoid as part of the
NOCRI Translational Research Partnership scheme in collaboration with other experimental
medicine teams around the UK.
Diabetes
One of the many trials the Diabetes team has been working on this year is a hypoglycaemia
unawareness pilot study, which is looking to restore their brain's warning symptoms of very
low blood sugar levels.
The intervention was a 6 week group programme incorporating education around
hypoglycaemia unawareness and what maintains the problem and incorporated
psychological techniques (including motivational interviewing and cognitive behavioural
therapy) to support patients in making the behaviour changes necessary to minimise
problematic hypoglycaemia. The pilot study involved 24 patients and demonstrated a
significant reduction in severe and moderate hypoglycaemia and a significant improvement in
awareness of hypoglycaemia warning signs at 12 month follow up. The study was published
in Diabetes Care. 2013 Dec 6. [Epub ahead of print] and there are plans to extend this pilot
into an RCT.
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Professor Francesco Rubino was appointed as the first established chair of bariatic and
metabolic surgery in the UK, potentially globally. KCH is following its own tradition –
Professor Stephanie Amiel was appointed to the first Chair Diabetic Medicine in the UK.
Critical care
2013 has been a strong year for critical care, building on previous success. The research
group again was successful in attracting both NIHR and industry research grants and began
supporting MRES and PhD students for the first time in parallel with strong CRN portfolio
participation, including in-house projects. Submissions from projects funded by NIHR
research for patient benefit grants were accepted to high impact journals and two NIHR
funded projects completed on target. The group started their first single site interventional
randomised controlled trial. Again several awards for recruitment to portfolio projects were
gained including funding for a nurse to attend and present at ESICM in Paris. By February,
2014, the combined Emergency Department, Critical Care and anaesthetics CRN group, the
largest of its type in London, had been established. Finally, 2013 was an important year for
the Critical Care Group as we jointly hosted the annual speciality group meeting at KCL, with
strong inter-professional representation.
Sexual Health & HIV
King’s is an internationally recognised centre for HIV-associated kidney disease, and work
continues to focus on kidney disease progression, end-stage kidney disease and kidney
transplantation in HIV positive patients. Sexual health research is focused on developing an
evidence base for sexual health service development and service improvement that reflects
the needs of local population. The group has recruited some 1700 patients in portfolioadopted studies, and was recently awarded a £4,000,000 programme grant to develop and
evaluate online sexual health services for South East London.
Child health
The Lung Biology group led by Anne Greenough (PI in the MRC/Asthma UK Centre for
Allergic Mechanisms in Asthma) has completed a number of important projects. The UKOS
follow up study supported by NIHR HTA has been completed to time and target (n=319)
demonstrating extremely prematurely born infants supported by high frequency oscillation
rather than conventional ventilation have been lung function and neurological outcomes at
11-14 years (the manuscript has been accepted for publication in March 2014). Children
born at term have also now been recruited to time and target and their results will further
inform an understanding of the severity of the problems suffered by the UKOS children. A
series of studies have been completed in sickle cell patients showing that in both children
and adults, vascular abnormalities contribute to their lung function abnormalities. With our
collaborators at the University of Kingston (Jamaica) we have shown asthma and smoking
increases the risk of dying in young adults with SCD. With collaborators in Utrecht we have
shown that prematurely born infants have a genetic as well as a functional predisposition to
RSV infection and the associated chronic respiratory morbidity. Our collaborative work with
Professors Nicolaides and Davenport have highlighted that very premature delivery (<33
weeks gestation) after FETO in CDH patients is associated with a very poor outcome
emphasising research is needed to reduce premature delivery following the FETO
procedure. In addition, we have demonstrated routine neuromuscular blockade in the labour
suite of infants with CDH is disadvantageous.
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Anaesthetics
The research group in anaesthesia and peri-operative medicine at King's College Hospital
has continued recruitment and follow-up of ongoing portfolio trials in 2013, including
postoperative outcome studies ENIGMA2, the ERICCA trial in collaboration with the
cardiovascular division and the TITRE2 trial. This has been supported by R&D funds. In
addition recruitment and follow-up for the proof-of-concept Whipple's trial and the
postoperative cognitive dysfunction trial have been carried out successfully. Several
abstracts have been presented at National and International meetings, and the research
group was awarded an abstract prize at the National meeting of the Association of
Cardiothoracic Anaesthetists in June 2013 for a presentation about depth of anaesthesia and
postoperative cognitive dysfunction.
Renal
Professor Macdougall is the UK lead for the ongoing PIVOTAL trial, a randomised controlled
trial in over 2000 dialysis patients across over 40 sites in the UK, which is investigating the
optimum amount of intravenous iron dialysis patients should be given -- this trial secured
£2.5 million of funding from Kidney Research UK. In early 2013, he published two papers in
the prestigious New England Journal of Medicine on the theme of anaemia in kidney failure,
and more recently he was successful in an NIHR HTA bid for £2.1 million of funding to
conduct another randomised controlled trial in dialysis patients investigating the possible
benefits of regular cycling on exercise bikes during dialysis (the PEDAL study). Other
successful active research in the renal department includes Dr Claire Sharpe's involvement
as a principal investigator in the eGFR-C study, Helen MacLaughlin's research into measures
to combat obesity in chronic kidney disease, and Sharlene Greenwood's NIHR-funded
research into the effects of exercise post-kidney transplantation.
2d: Goals Agreed with Commissioners: The Commissioning for Quality and Innovation
(CQUIN) framework
A proportion (2.4%) of King’s College Hospital NHS Foundation Trust contract income in
2013/14 was conditional upon achieving quality improvement and innovation goals agreed
between King’s and both NHS South London Commissioning leads & NHS England
specialist services as part of the Commissioning for Quality and Innovation (CQUIN)
payment framework. This equated to a total of £10.5m in 2013/14. When the Trust acquired
the PRUH in October 2013/14 it also inherited additional CQUINs, the income of which
equated to £3m.
Please see the tables below for the detailed report of performance as measured for our
CQUIN indicators in 2013/14 for both our Denmark Hill & PRUH sites. King’s has delivered
significant quality improvements under the CQUIN schemes as shown.
The following table indicates the goals & achievement for CQUINs on the Denmark Hill site:
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Goal Number

1 - VTE Prevention

2 – Friends &
Family

3 -NHS Safety
Thermometer

4 - Dementia

National CQUIN Indicators

Q4 Actual

1a

Assessment of patients at risk of VTE

97%

98.8%

1b

Root case analysis of patients with VTE

80%

100%

2a

Roll out of Friends & Family in Maternity

NA

NA

2b

Response rate for Friends & Family

20%

25.8%

2c

Staff survey – increased satisfaction

NA

NA

3a

Completion of data

NA

NA

Multiple

Multiple

90%

90%

3b

Reduction of pressure ulcers

4a

Find, assess & refer patients

4b

Clinical leadership & staff training

NA

NA

4c

Supporting of careers of people with
dementia

NA

NA

5a

Screening of alcohol use & provision of
brief advice

80%

84%

5b

Staff training

70%

70%

6a

Improving outpatient experience: Suite 1

72%

72%

6b

Improving inpatient experience: MAU &
ASU

82%

87%

7a

Provision of bundles

75%

92%

7b

Care planning

75%

91%

8a

Increased number of directly bookable
clinics

50%

50%

8b

Additional specialist clinics

5

5

9a

End of treatment summaries

50%

70%

5 – Alcohol

6 – Patient
Experience

Q4 target

7 - COPD

8 – Choose &
Book

9 – Cancer
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Goal Number

National CQUIN Indicators

Q4 target

Q4 Actual

10 – Highly
Specialist
Services

10a

Presentation of data & analysis

NA

NA

11 – Clinical
Quality
Dashboards

11a

Provision of data

NA

NA

12a

Annual communication with GPs

95%

98%

12b

Increased use of home delivery

70%

74%

12c

Move from branded to generic drugs

80%

100%

13a

Information – UK vs US / European
donors

NA

NA

13b

Information – CT / ET tests per patient

NA

NA

13c

Information – Number of searches per
transplant

NA

NA

13d

Information – Turnaround times for
search request to delivery report

NA

NA

14 - NICU

14

Improved access to breast milk in
preterm infants

73%

82%

15 - PICU

15

Information – unplanned readmissions

NA

NA

12 – HIV

13 - BMT

The following table indicates the goals & achievement for CQUINs on the PRUH site:
Goal Number
1 - VTE Prevention

2 – Friends &
Family

3 -NHS Safety

National CQUIN Indicators

Q4 target

Q4 Actual

92%

96%

1a

Assessment of patients at risk of VTE

1b

Root case analysis of patients with VTE

NA

NA

2a

Roll out of Friends & Family in Maternity

NA

NA

2b

Response rate for Friends & Family

20%

30%

2c

Staff survey – increased satisfaction

NA

NA

3a

Completion of data

NA

NA

King’s College Hospital NHS Foundation Trust | Annual Report 2013/14

139

Quality Report
Goal Number
Thermometer

4 - Dementia

National CQUIN Indicators
3b

Reduction of pressure ulcers

Q4 target

Q4 Actual

NA

Multiple

90%

98%

4a

Find, assess & refer patients

4b

Clinical leadership & staff training

NA

NA

4c

Supporting of careers of people with
dementia

NA

NA

5a

Improve discharge

90%

100%

5b

Development of service

NA

NA

6a

Roll out of screening of patients who
smoke & provision of brief advice

NA

NA

Safeguarding training (adult)

50%

40%

7b

Children’s social care referrals

20%

90%

7c

Review of safeguarding

NA

NA

8a

Roll out of screening of patients who
smoke & provision of brief advice

NA

NA

9a

Service redesign: Cardiology

NA

NA

9b

Audits: Dermatology & Gynecology

NA

NA

9c

Service Redesign: Urgent Care Centre

NA

NA

9d

Provision of information: Pathology

NA

NA

9e

Service Redesign: Step up services

NA

NA

9f

Service Redesign: Diabetes

NA

NA

10a

Root Cause Analysis Training

NA

NA

10b

Serious Incident Action Plans

NA

NA

5 – Stroke

6 – Smoking

7a

7 - Safeguarding

8 – Alcohol

9–
Transformation

10 – PALs
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Goal Number

12 – Clinical
Quality
Dashboards

National CQUIN Indicators

Q4 target

Q4 Actual

10c

Sharing of Learning

NA

NA

12a

Provision of data

NA

NA

13a

Improved access to breast milk in
preterm infants

NA

NA

13b

Improved use of TPN in preterm infants

NA

NA

13 - NICU

King’s is currently in discussion with both the South London Clinical Support Unit and NHS
England Specialist Commissioning (SCG) to develop CQUIN schemes for 2014/15. As in
2013/14, 2.5% of King’s contract income will be allocated to this CQUIN payment
framework. This is estimated to be a value of £20m across 35 Quality improvement areas.
Three areas of these areas have been identified nationally and will apply to both the CCG &
Specialist contracts. These are expansion of the Friends and Family test, data collection
through the NHS Safety Thermometer and to improve the diagnosis and care of patients with
Dementia.
The list below outlines the proposed goals and descriptions to date for 2014/15. Further
details of the targets agreed with commissioners for the following 12 month period are
available on request from our website.
National CQUIN: Goal Name

Description of Goal

1

NHS Safety Thermometer (National
CQUIN)

Reduction in falls and pressure ulcers.

2

Dementia: Diagnosis (National CQUIN)

3

Patient Experience – Friends and
Family Test (National CQUIN)

Improve awareness and diagnosis of dementia, using risk assessment, in
an acute hospital setting.
Increased response rate, roll out of survey to staff, outpatients &
daycases.

CCG CQUIN: Goal Name

Description of Goal

4

Smoking Screening

To ask patients if they smoke and offer very brief advice

5

Alcohol Screening

To ask patients if they drink and offer very brief advice

6

Medication Reviews

To conduct comprehensive reviews of medication of patients in Geriatric
beds

7

Care Planning

Not yet agreed

8

Communications

Not yet agreed

9

Emergency Standards

To improve compliance with London Emergency Standards

NHS England CQUIN: Goal Name

Description of Goal

13

Dashboards

Provision of data for national dashboards

14

Highly specialist services

Meeting & joint annual review of services

NB End April 2014, remaining CQUNs still being negotiated with NHS England
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2e: Statements from the Care Quality Commission (CQC):
Care Quality Commission
King’s College Hospital NHS Foundation Trust (the Trust) has been registered with the Care
Quality Commission (CQC) since April 2010. As part of the acquisition of services and
locations following the dissolution of South London Healthcare Trust, the Trust registered the
following locations with the Care Quality Commission (CQC) on 1 October 2013:






Princess Royal University Hospital (PRUH),
Beckenham Beacon,
Orpington Hospital,
Sevenoaks and
Queen Mary Sidcup.

As of 31 March 2014, the Trust’s current registration status is without any condition for all
locations.
The CQC inspected the PRUH in December 2013 just 2 months following acquisition. The
inspection report did not highlight any issues that the Trust had not previously found through
its clinical due diligence exercise. The report was published on 6 February 2014 on the
CQC’s website.
The CQC requires the Trust to improve the PRUH’s performance and quality against the
following compliance actions:
 Improvements to the Emergency Department Pathway (Regulation 9: Care and
Welfare).
 Better availability of beds, improved discharge planning, management of outpatient
clinics and planning for children’s elective surgery (Regulation 9: Care and
Welfare).
 Embedding effective systems in place to monitor the quality of the services
provided (Regulation 10: Assessing and monitoring the quality of service
provision).
 Consistent use of infection control procedures amongst all staff and improved
provision of alcohol dispensers (Regulation 12: Cleanliness and Infection Control).
 Improvements to availability and quality of medical records (Regulation 20: Records).
 Improved staffing levels to provide enough qualified, skilled and experienced staff
(Regulation 22: Staffing).
 Improvements to arrangements to ensure that all staff have appraisals, supervision
and training (Regulation 23: Supporting Workers).
The Trust submitted an action plan to the CQC on the 28 February 2014 to demonstrate how
the Trust will improve compliance with the regulations.
The Care Quality Commission has not taken enforcement action against King’s during
2013/14.
The CQC actions plans will be implemented by the divisions and relevant corporate teams,
the monitoring of progress against actions will take place within the existing integration,
performance and quality governance infrastructure. Progress against the plan will also be
monitored by the CQC.
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Developments to improve quality assurance in line with CQC quality standards
During 2013/14 a trust-wide quality monitoring process was developed in collaboration with
senior nursing and divisional staff to enable a consistent and systematic approach in
assessing compliance with CQC and other national specialty-related standards. The process
was tested in October/November 2013 at the PRUH to establish a baseline of quality and
safety. Tools were developed and tested to cover a range of specialties and modalities at the
different locations. These tools will be used as part of a rolling program of self-assessments
and peer-review. Each inspection of safety and quality consists of:
 Observation of practice
 Review of documentation (including patient records)
 Interviews with people who use the service
 Staff interviews
 Feedback and recording of findings
 Compliance rating
 Development of action (plans) to improve quality and address issues and gaps in
assurance
 Reporting into the performance and governance framework for assurance purposes.
Linkages to risk and performance management are being established. It is planned that the
quality monitoring framework is rolled out across all services and Trust locations in 2014/15.
In addition a Quality Summit was held with all stakeholders invited
SUMMARY:


CQC inspection at The PRUH 2 months after acquisition highlighted issues that
had mostly been picked up during the due diligence process. Additional issues
noted have been resolved or have action plans in place



Trust wide quality monitoring processes in place and robust governance
frameworks in place which include external stakeholder input

2g: Information Governance Toolkit attainment levels
King’s College Hospital NHS Foundation Trust Information Governance Assessment Report
overall score for 2013/4 was 62% and was graded red (not satisfactory).
This is lower than the previous year as we have re-evaluated the evidence we have
previously provided as much of it was out of date or no longer appropriate. As a result, there
are eleven areas where our scores are below the required satisfactory score of 2. These
include
 Information Governance awareness and mandatory training procedures are in place
and all staff are appropriately trained.


A formal information security risk assessment and management programme for key
Information Assets has been documented implemented and reviewed.



Business continuity plans are up to date and tested for all critical information assets
(data processing facilities, communications services and data) and service - specific
measures are in place.
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All information assets that hold, or are, personal data are protected by appropriate
organisational and technical measures.



Procedures are in place for monitoring the availability of paper health/care records
and tracing missing records.

On a positive note the Trust has improved in two areas including scoring level 3, the highest
level possible, in the requirement that “There are approved and comprehensive Information
Governance Policies with associated strategies and/or improvement plans” demonstrating
our commitment to developing a high quality and robust approach to Information
Governance. As part of this strategy, the Trust has appointed an Information Governance
Manager who carried out this thorough evaluation exercise and identified where and how we
should be able to achieve the satisfactory scores we aspire to in the coming year. As a result
of having responsibility for the IG Toolkit sitting with a single IG Manager, the process of
completion has been significantly more rigorous than in previous years.
SUMMARY:
 11 areas below satisfactory score of 2
 Improvement in 2 areas
 Thorough evaluation exercise performed and confident we should be able to meet
required levels for 2014/15
2h: Clinical coding error rate
Clinical coding is the translation of medical terminology, as written by clinicians to describe a
patient’s complaint, diagnosis, treatment or reason for seeking medical attention, into a
nationally recognised code. Coding is important because it generates information that can
aid service improvement and clinical research, and because it determines how much the
Trust is paid for an episode of care through a national set of rules called ‘Payment by
Results’.
Kings was not subject to a Payment by Results (PbR) Audit in 2013/14, however, for Trusts
that did have a PbR audit in 2013/14, the national average coding error rate identified in the
Data Assurance Framework was 8% for inpatients.
King’s was subject to the annual mandatory Coding Audit for Information Governance
Standards during the 2013/14 financial year. The audits were completed bi-monthly by
accredited external coding auditors, and a total of 550 episodes were audited across 12
specialties.
The findings of the final report submitted to the Trust for the reporting period 2013/14, found
that the overall coding inaccuracy rate of 5.2 per cent is lower than the national 7.0 per cent
average error rate as identified in the Payment by Results Data Assurance Framework
2011/12. This audit has reviewed an increase of 43% more diagnosis codes and 10.8% more
procedure codes than the audit of 2012/13 indicating more depth of coding.
The Trust should be commended for maintaining the quality of the coding during a year when
many changes have occurred. There has been general re-organisation and the initial effect
on the clinical coding department has allowed the creation of specific training and audit
teams of nationally qualified staff across both sites to further support the improvements in
data quality.
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Regular audit of clinical coding data improves accuracy and consistency and allows
identification and resolution of issues before they become problematic. Kings College
Hospital NHS Foundation Trust maintains a robust audit cycle continually monitoring data
quality and providing feedback both to coders and clinicians on areas for improvement. In the
last year the Trust has continued the established external audit programme focusing on
specific areas of concern. The process allows early identification of error and subsequent
revision of the coded clinical data prior to final submission to the Secondary Uses Service
(SUS). These processes have a positive impact on data quality and in turn Trust income and
allow targeted training to be undertaken in a timely manner.
King’s College Hospital NHS Foundation Trust (Denmark Hill site) submitted records during
2013-14 to the Secondary Uses service for inclusion in Hospital Episode Statistics which are
included in the latest published data.
The percentage of records in the published data:
 Patient’s valid NHS Number:
 96.5% for admitted patient care;
 98.4% for outpatient (non-admitted) patient care; and
 89.7% for accident and emergency care.


Patient’s valid General Medical Practice code:
 99.9% for admitted patient care;
 99.8% for outpatient (non-admitted) patient care; and
 99.9% for accident and emergency care.


2013/14 overall coding inaccuracy rate of 5.2 per cent is lower than the national
7.0 per cent average error



Kings College Hospital NHS Foundation Trust maintains a robust audit cycle
allowing early identification of error and subsequent revision of the coded clinical
data prior to final submission to the Secondary Uses Service (SUS)

From the above statements, assurance can be offered to the public that King’s has in
2013/14:




Performed to essential standards (e.g. meeting CQC registration), as well as
excelling beyond these to provide high quality care;
Measured clinical processes and performance to inform and monitor continuous
quality improvement;
Participated in national cross-cutting project and initiatives for quality
improvement e.g. strong and growing recruitment to clinical trials.

These statements are included in accordance with both Monitor’s NHS Foundation Trust
Annual Reporting Manual (December 2013) for the quality report, as well as the Department
of Health’s Quality Accounts Regulations (2013, 2012, 2011, 2010).
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Part 3. An Overview of performance in 2013/14 against mandated national key standards
From 2013/14 all trusts are required to report against a core set of indicators, for at least the last two reporting periods, using a
standardised statement set out in the NHS (Quality Accounts) Amendment Regulations 2012. Only indicators that are relevant to the
services provided at King’s are included in the table below. The data relates only to the Denmark Hill site.
Indicator

Data Source

Period 1

Value

Period 2

Value

Actions taken to improve the result in year

Summary Hospital
Mortality Index
(SHMI)

NHS IC

Oct 11–Sept
12

93.0%

Oct 12–Sept 13

94.0%

The Trust discusses these results monthly with
the divisions at a special executive committee.
Follow up actions have led to an improvement in
scores.

Palliative Care
Indicator: % of
patient death with
palliative care
coding.

NHS IC

Oct 11–Sept
12

43.28%

Oct 12–Sept 13

35.05%

The Assistant Medical Director has audited a
sample of patients to ensure that palliative care
coding was appropriate and that the patients
were in receipt of expert palliative care
intervention.

62-day cancer waits

NHS IC

2012/13

87.6%

2013/14

87.1%

Readmissions 28 day
Patients aged 0-14

CHKS

Apr -Dec 12

3.8%

Apr to Dec 13

3.7%

Patients aged 15+

CHKS

Apr-Dec 12

4.5%

Apr to Dec 13

4.5%
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Indicator

Data Source

Period 1

Value

Period 2

Value

Actions taken to improve the result in year

Divisions are tasked with developing action plans to
address issues raised by patients. These are
monitored through the Patient Experience Committee
and through Divisional performance meetings.

Trust responsiveness to the personal needs of patients
Q32 Were you involved
as much as you
wanted to be in
decisions about your
care and treatment?

CQC

2012/13

7.3

2013/14

7.5

Q34 Did you find
someone on the
hospital staff to talk to
about your worries and
fears?

CQC

2012/13

6.01

2013/14

5.5

Q36 Were you given
enough privacy when
discussing your
condition or
treatment?

CQC

Q56 Did a member of
staff tell you about
medication side effects
to watch for when you
went home?

CQC

Q62 Did hospital staff
tell you who to contact
if you were worried
about your condition
or treatment after you
left hospital?

CQC

Examples of improvement work include:

The Trust dignity month which highlights
innovative projects across the trust to improve
patient dignity
2012/13

2012/13

8.47

4.8

2013/14

2013/14

8.7

4.7

Introduction of patient and relative diaries in the
Frank Cooksey Rehabilitation Unit to improve
communication, particularly out or hours and at
weekends.
In Haematology, patients are now offered a pretransplant information session which has been
well received by patients.
Development of new Discharge Policy to
improve the discharge process for patients and
improve the information that they receive

2012/13

7.6

2013/14

7.8

Patient stories and patient video stories on our
wards to gather qualitative feedback to support
service improvement.
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Indicator

Data Source

Period 1

Value

Period 2

Value

Actions taken to improve the result in
year

2012/13

Data not
available

2013/2014

Inpatient average
FFT score for DH
Site = 62 ranging
from 61 - 68

Divisions have developed action plans
to address issues raised by patients who
would not recommend King’s

Family & Friends Test
How likely are you to
recommend our ward
to friends and family if
they needed similar
care or treatment?"

Trust

Target FFT score
for inpatients is 68
to place King’s on
top 20% of
London trusts

How likely are you to
recommend our A&E
department/ to friends
and family if they
needed similar care or
treatment?"

Trust

2012/13

Data not
available

2013/2014

Emergency
average FFT
score for DH Site
= 45 ranging from
40 - 59
PRUH Site = 43
ranging from 10 –
79
Target FFT score
for inpatients is 61
to place King’s on
top 20% of
London trusts
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Indicator

Data Source

Period 1

Value

Period 2

Value

Actions taken to improve the result in
year

NHS IC

2012/13

4.05

2013/14

78.3

We have focused on improving
communications with staff in year, and
this work has been reflected in our
improved score in the survey.

NHS IC

2012/13

96.3%

2013/14

98.4%

The specialist team monitors this on a
regular basis. This ensures Kings
remains a national leader in this field.

2012/13

54

2013/14

49

The following actions have been taken
to review CDIFF in 2013/14:

Workforce
% of staff employed
who would recommend
the Trust as a provider
of care to their Family
or Friends

Patient Safety
% of patients admitted
who were risk
assessed for VTE
C-difficile infection rate
per 100,000 bed days

Reportable
cases

Reportable cases
18.56

Rate /100,000
bed days



Implementation of the DH’s two
stage testing methodology



Multidisciplinary review of all cases
to identify lessons to be learnt



An increased focus on cleaning
standards including the secondment
of the senior IC nurse



Introduction of hydrogen peroxide
vapour technology as an enhanced
cleaning technology
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Indicator

Data Source

Patient safety incidents
reported to the
National Reporting and
Learning Service
(NRLS)

NRLS

Patient safety incidents
reported to the
National Reporting and
Learning Service
(NRLS), where degree
of harm is recorded as
‘severe harm’ or
‘death’, as a
percentage of all
patient safety incidents
reported

NRLS

150

Period 1

Apr 12 – Sept
12

Value

3595*

Period 2

Value

0.42%*



Much stronger focus on antibiotic
prescribing including monthly
antibiotic stewardship audits.



Introduction of an antibiotic
prescribing app to further improve
antibiotic prescribing compliance.



Introduction of a practice facilitator
role in TEAM to improve
communication between the division
and the IPC team, better manage
isolation facilities and improve
training.

This data is
recorded below

This data is
recorded below

Increased establishment of IPC nurses
from 5.5 WTE to 7 WTE
This is monitored through the quarterly
safety report.

This data is
recorded below

This data is
recorded below

This figure is in line with that of other
large acute teaching hospitals.

3215 **

Apr 12 – Sept
12

Actions taken to improve the result in
year

(15)
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Indicator

Data Source

Period 1

Value

Rate per 100
admissions
(published)#

Period 2

Value

Actions taken to improve the result in
year

1%
(33)**
5.7**

* These figures accurately reflect data currently held by the NRLS on patient safety incidents at KCH, and discrepancies may exist with data previously published by the NRLS. Further
information on the total number of incidents reported to the NRLS (which includes October 2012-March 2013 information) is yet to be published but is expected to report 8749 patient
safety incidents for 2012/13 of which 34 (0.39%) resulted in death or severe harm.
**These figures are those published by the NRLS at a point in time, which have subsequently been adjusted to the figures marked with one asterisk.

Indicator

From local Trust
data
13-14
12-13

Most
recent
results for
Trust

Time period
for most
recent Trust
results

Best result
nationally

Worst result
nationally

National average

*Patient safety incidents reported to the National Reporting & Learning System


Number of patient
safety incidents

5206

3215

5,206

Apr 13-Sept
13

7757

1967

Not published



Rate of patient safety
incidents (number/100
admissions)

8.78

5.7

8.78

Apr 13-Sep
13

11.06

3.85

Not published



Percentage resulting in
severe harm or death

0.5

0.42

0.90%

Apr 13-Sept
13

0

0.9

Not published

*In relation to the rate of severe harm and death, that not all organisation apply the national coding of degree of harm in a consistent way which can make comparison of harm profile
of organisations difficult.
This Information has been taken from the most recently published [April 2014] Organisation Patient Safety Incident Report which covers the period April – September 2013. The
comparative data relates to the ‘Acute Teaching Organisation’ Cluster rather than National Data in line with the published safety data.
The data does not include PRUH figures as the figures cannot be disaggregated from the SLHT data for the period prior to acquisition on the 1st October.
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Patient safety incidents resulting in severe harm or death
The National Reporting and Learning Service (NRLS) was established in 2003. The system enables patient safety incident reports to
be submitted to a national database on a voluntary basis designed to promote learning. It is mandatory for NHS trusts in England to
report all serious patient safety incidents to the Care Quality Commission as part of the Care Quality Commission registration
process. To avoid duplication of reporting, all incidents resulting in death or severe harm should be reported to the NRLS who then
report them to the Care Quality Commission. Although it is not mandatory, it is common practice for NHS Trusts to report patient
safety incidents under the NRLS’s voluntary arrangements.
As there is not a nationally established and regulated approach to reporting and categorising patient safety incidents, different trusts
may choose to apply different approaches and guidance to reporting, categorisation and validation of patient safety incidents. The
approach taken to determine the classification of each incident, such as those ‘resulting in severe harm or death’, will often rely on
clinical judgment. This judgment may, acceptably, differ between professionals. In addition, the classification of the impact of an
incident may be subject to a potentially lengthy investigation which may result in the classification being changed. This change may
not be reported externally and the data held by a trust may not be the same as that held by the NRLS. Therefore, it may be difficult to
explain the differences between the data reported by the Trusts as this may not be comparable.
The data provided above represents the most up-to-date data held by the NRLS on patient safety incidents in KCH, but for the
reasons above differences may exist with data previously published by the NRLS.
Indicator

From local Trust
data
2013-14

2012-13

From Health and Social Care Information Centre

Most
recent
results for
Trust

Time
period for
most
recent
Trust
results

Best
result
nationally

Domain 3: Helping people recover from episodes of ill health or following injury
Emergency readmissions to hospital within 28 days of discharge:
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% of patients aged 0-15
readmitted within 28
days

3.80%

4.00%

3.80%

2013-14

0

14.94

3.11



% of patients aged over
15 readmitted within 28
days

4.50%

4.40%

4.50%

2013-14

0

17.15

4.51

Domain 4: Ensuring that people have a positive experience of care
Responsiveness to
inpatients’ personal needs
(Source: national NHS
inpatient survey)
Percentage of staff who
would recommend the
provider to friends or family
needing care Source:
national NHS staff survey

74.6

75.1

74.6

2013

84.3

17.6

59.7

78.3%

78.1%

78.3%

2013

93.9%

39.6%

66.2%

Domain 5: Treating and caring for people in a safe environment and protecting them from avoidable harm
Percentage of admitted
patients risk-assessed for
venous thromboembolism
(VTE)
Rate of clostridium difficile
(number of
infections/100,000 bed days).

98.4

15.53

96.8

18.56

98.4

2013-14

100

77

96

15.53

2013-14

0

30.8

16.1
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The Table below details the information the Trust is required to submit on PROMS over the last
three available reporting periods. Higher scores represent better reported outcomes.

Area

Hip

Knee

Varicose
Veins

Groin
Hernia

154

Measure

KCH Adjusted
Health Gain
11/12

KCH Adjusted
Health Gain
12/13

National
Adjusted Health
Gain 12/13

EQ-5D

0.5

0.4

0.4

EQ-VAS

13.3

12.2

11.6

Oxford Hip Score

21.5

20.3

21.3

EQ-5D

0.3

0.3

0.3

EQ-VAS

4.6

6.0

5.2

Oxford Knee Score

14.8

14.8

16.0

EQ-5D

0.1

0.0

0.1

EQ-VAS

0.0

0.1

-0.1

Aberdeen Varicose Vein
Score

-5.6

-4.3

-8.4

EQ-5D

0.1

No data available

0.1

EQ-VAS

-2.2

-2.3

-1.0
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Performance against key national priorities
As at quarter 4 the Trust self-certified a performance rating of ‘risks identified’ for 2013/14
against the Monitor Compliance Framework for Denmark Hill. This equates to a Monitor
governance risk rating of ‘risks identified’ which is in line with the planned trajectory.
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Appendix 1: Statements from Key External Stakeholders
In March the Trust shared the draft Quality Accounts for 2014/14 with its key external
stakeholders, External stakeholders were given three weeks to review and provide comments
and formal statements on the draft document.
This section includes the statements received from external stakeholders. These statements
have been unaltered, with the exception of any minor typographical errors. Where the Trust
could and felt appropriate it has responded to particular queries from stakeholders by either
amending/appending to the quality report or annual report.
The following stakeholders did not respond:


Lewisham Clinical Commissioning Group



NHS England



Statement from Health and Adult Services Scrutiny Sub-Committees

Statement from Commissioners


Southwark Clinical Commissioning Group

Response to Kings College Hospital NHS Foundation Trust Draft Quality Accounts 2014/15
Thank you for sharing the KCH Quality Accounts with us and inviting us to comment on the draft
document. I am able to set out below a summary of feedback from Southwark and Lambeth
CCGs. I understand you have received a separate document from Bromley CCG and so have
received comment from all major commissioners of service.
Some commissioners, including Southwark and Bromley CCGs, participated in the stakeholder
events you ran earlier in the year and are pleased to recognise some comments have been
taken on board as the document has evolved from early thoughts to final draft.
The NHS Southwark CCG Integrated Governance and Performance Committee, a committee of
the Governing Body, received the draft Kings College Hospital Quality Account last week and
were supportive of the priorities you have identified. The committee agreed that your priorities
are broadly in line with our own and asked for two comments to be passed on:


It was suggested that reducing cancelled operations for cancer patients be added as a
priority for cancer care 3

3

Cancellation rates are extremely low so this has not been included as a specific objective. However this data is
collated and can be accessed if required
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The committee queried if the audit info could be presented in a more accessible way for
a public facing document4

I note that you have responded to us with your feedback on how you intend to address this.
We have also received some feedback from NHS Lambeth CCG which I am able to pass onto
you.


Falls reduction – given the increased number of falls resulting in serious injury the CCG
believe the actions you are planning via your Quality Accounts will help to address this
issue. We are interested to hear whether any environmental issues need to be taken
into account that may reduce incidences and type of injury sustained, and whether,
given the level increase over the past year, you have considered identifying a lead at
senior level with responsibility for falls.5



Management of hip fractures – with regard to level of ambition for this initiative we
recommend you look to best performance elsewhere as identified in the national hip
fracture audit and be more specific about what your aspirations regarding to time to
surgery, LOS etc.



Discharge management – we note the current review of the Southwark and Lambeth
Integrated Care programme simplified discharge work and caution that some of your
plans may be subject to change depending upon the outcome of that. More specificity
such as time of discharge e.g. how many discharges will take place in the morning, and
the level of information given when patients are discharged to care homes would be
beneficial.6

We look forward to receiving the final version of your Quality Accounts and to hearing of the
impact of the actions you plan to implement in 2014/15.

Jacquie Foster
Head of Governance and OD
NHS Southwark CCG
30 April 2014
4

We have added in additional columns in the presentation of the audit data to demonstrate improvement as a
simple red/amber/ green status, however the more detailed data has remained stay for those readers who require
it
5

We review environmental factors as part of our root cause analysis and put in place improvements where
appropriate however this is limited due to the older design of some areas in the hospital. The lead at Board level is
Geraldine Walters. There is a falls team led by a Consultant Geriatrician and also comprises of nurse specialists.
6

The focus of the quality priority is around patient experience. Information given to patients will be included in
this.
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Bromley Clinical Commissioning Group

Thank you for the opportunity to comment on King’s quality account for 2013-14. Acute services
within Bromley transferred to King’s from the 1st October 2013, following a process put in place
by the Trust Special Administrator to dissolve the South London Healthcare Trust (SLHT). The
former SLHT services within Bromley have historically faced significant challenge. Bromley
CCG have welcomed the open approach from King’s to understanding those services, the
issues that they have faced, and in beginning to address difficulties identified. Bromley CCG
recognise that the process of change now underway within King’s services in Bromley is
designed to ensure that they meet the needs of Bromley residents and that standards of quality
are excellent.
Clinical Quality Review Group
Bromley CCG has joined the existing Clinical Quality Review Group (CQRG) with Lambeth and
Southwark CCGs which meets monthly. Whilst the main CQRG remains the focus for
contractual quality monitoring, during the on-going transition period a separate Bromley specific
CQRG has been established on the Princess Royal University Hospital site. King’s has engaged
extremely well with Bromley CCG both within the main CQRG and the at the Bromley focused
meeting, providing high level senior clinical input through the Medical and Nurse Directors as
well as other senior staff. This meeting gives an opportunity to focus on quality areas
highlighted locally in addition to those identified as quality priorities and subject to CQUINs,
such as reduction in pressure ulcers.
Quality Improvement targets
Bromley CCG appreciates the partnership approach taken by King’s in agreeing quality priorities
for 2014-15, and found the engagement meeting with King’s as well as representatives from
Public Health and Healthwatch, which took place in January 2014, to be a useful approach.
The CCG agrees with and supports the areas identified as targets for the coming year in the
areas of safety, clinical effectiveness and patient experience.
Safety
Bromley CCG agree that reducing the number of falls for in-patients is a valuable priority.
Bromley has a large elderly population and therefore the potential for harm caused through
falling in hospital is of concern. The safer surgery priority is an area which has been less
concerning for Bromley CCG. Nevertheless the focus on ensuring standardised processes is
welcomed.
Clinical Effectiveness
Bromley CCG supports King’s aim of promoting health and reducing harmful behaviours through
the use of brief interventions and onward referral for smoking and alcohol use, as well as
promotion of healthier lifestyles. Kings second clinical effectiveness priority of improving
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outcomes for patients following hip fracture is again very relevant to Bromley’s increasing elderly
population. Improving care for this group of patients is viewed by the CCG as an effective
means of increasing satisfaction with care and treatment and enabling recovery.
Patient Experience
Bromley CCG has raised concerns regarding the quality of discharge, and the impact of poor
discharge particularly in relation to communication with community based and primary care
services as a quality concern. We are therefore pleased that improving experience and
coordination of discharge has been agreed as a quality priority area and welcome
improvements in this area. Improving the experience of cancer patients is also an area that the
CCG endorses, particularly the focus on improved communication, information and access to
support.
Audits
The feedback from audit and confidential enquiries within the report highlights some difficulties
within Bromley services in that not all data has been submitted. A number of action plans are in
place as a result of audit and will support the general change and improvement programme in
place across King’s services in Bromley.
Consideration by Bromley CCG Quality Assurance sub –committee
The draft report has been considered by members of the Bromley CCG Quality Assurance subcommittee. The committee acknowledges the challenges for King’s due to the legacy issues in
place within Bromley services. The committee also recognises that as Kings took over services
from October 2013 full information regarding quality is not as accessible for the trust prior to this
date. Bromley CCG appreciates that transition for king’s will be on-going during 2014-15 to a
trust on a number of sites, but expect that future quality accounts will include increased detail
from the trusts expanded services on all sites, and the CCG will specifically focus on information
regarding sites and services used mainly by Bromley residents .
Sonia Colwill
Director of Quality, Governance and Patient Safety
April 2014
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Statement from Local Healthwatch Organisations
Local Healthwatch appreciates the opportunity to comment on the quality of the services
provided by King’s College NHS Foundation Trust at the Princess Royal University Hospital
(PRUH) and Denmark Hill (DH) Hospital site. We have compiled a joint response to the Quality
Account this year using feedback from Healthwatch Bromley, Lambeth, Lewisham and
Southwark due to the cross-over of services across boroughs.
1. Response to statement on quality of care from Chief Executive
The Chief Executive’s statement opened with the Francis report and KCH’s commitment on
“quality”, “safety”, “care and compassion”. We welcome this commitment but would like to point
out that “quality” and “safety" is built on a solid foundation of “transparency” “openness”,
continual learning and “listening to patients and their family and carers”.7
In the last Healthwatch response to KCH’s Quality Accounts, we commented that it would be
beneficial for Healthwatch to receive regular feedback on the Quality Priorities throughout the
year, and not just on annual basis when we are asked to respond to the Quality Accounts.
Some progress has been achieved last year but further work is needed this year.
We are pleased that in preparation of the Quality Account, KCH has organised engagement
events with stakeholders to feed into the Quality Account and setting next year’s quality
priorities. However, the time allowed for Healthwatch to comment on the quality account report
is too tight. We would like more time to truly involve patients in reviewing quality reports to
ensure comments reflect their experiences.
We remain concerned over the 30% expansion of King’s College Hospital by acquiring the
Princess Royal University Hospital and we seek assurance that any changes in the future, like
the potential merger with South London and Maudsley and Guy’s & St Thomas’ will still put
patient safety and quality of care as the priorities for local patients alongside international and
specialised research.
2. Quality Priorities and Objectives setting
We welcome the opportunity to be involved in the setting of the priorities and were pleased to
contribute highlighting what we feel accurately reflects the issues that matter to patients. We…


Appreciate the stated commitment to ‘meet or exceed’

7

It appears these comments have been made based on the Chief Executive statement of 2012/13. This was left in
the draft document as the Chief Executive will complete his new statement on completion and finalisation of this
document on or around 20/05/14
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Acknowledge this is an ongoing process year to year and that the process to be ‘clear
and meaningful’ to stakeholders is improving (following engagements events which we
were involved with in January and preparation prior to this)
Appreciate that the Trust expects to be held to account
Acknowledges that during the last year the enlarged Trust with significant additional sites
and services means that ‘enlarged and different communities’ are being served with
significant demographic and other differences which will need to be addressed.

3. Performance against Quality Priorities and Objectives for 2013/4
On the agreed priorities for 2013/14 it was acknowledged in the report that further improvement
was required particularly in the areas of patient safety, and the patient experience of discharge.
We are pleased that the Trust ‘Fully met’ four of the six priorities and that Discharge is carried
over into this year where we hope to see tangible outcomes for patients and carers. This is
crucial to local Healthwatch as we have collected people’s stories relating to the dissatisfaction
felt around this issue.
On the issue of the Surgical Safety Checklist, again it is essential that this priority was expanded
upon for 2014-15 as the Trust must get to the position of having zero Never Events.
We are concerned to see that under workforce, only 4.05 (not sure this is % or a score out of
10) of staff employed would recommend the Trust as a provider of care to their families or
friends. We are also concerned that the action taken to improve the result is through improved
communication with staff. Has the Trust investigated the causes for this poor performance?8
4. Agreed priorities for 2014/15
We understand the rationale for the Trust choosing the priorities below and agree with them and
have written some comments regarding the priorities below:
Patient Safety




8

Reduction in falls and resulting injury to patients (KCH DH and PRUH) Through our
monitoring of services we have noted the amount of falls that happen both within KCH
and in community settings. This has also been an issue at the South London Quality
Surveillance Groups that we attend and therefore welcome the attention being given to
it.
Surgical safety We presume that this is for the KCH DH site only for this period as
changes at PRUH and new elective orthopaedic surgery at Orpington Hospital are not

This score is out of 5 and is above the national average of 3.68

King’s College Hospital NHS Foundation Trust | Annual Report 2013/14

161

Quality Report
currently in place but it would be important to have assurances that this will be
implemented across all sites.9

Patient Outcomes




Reduce mortality associated with alcohol and smoking (KCH DH and all sites) As we
know there is a very high prevalence of illnesses caused by these within South East
London we agree that this is a high priority.
Improve outcomes for patients with hip fracture (KCH DH and PRUH) It is appreciated
that this is an issue which is of importance to clinicians as highlighted in the Quality
Account engagement event which we also agree should be a priority as it will produce a
significant outcome for patients

Patient Experience




Improve experience for cancer patients (KCH) As we know that this is an area of care
that needs to be improved across the country and is not unique to KCH. We look forward
to better experience and outcomes for those patients that will wait less time for
appointments and treatment.
Improve experience and coordination of discharge (KCH) At a recent Discharge
engagement event attended by several local Healthwatch we raised the issue of
discharge and noted that this is a quality priority that was not fully met from year
2012/13. We are pleased that patient’s experience on discharge is still the quality
priority for 2013/14 and the range of initiatives to improve this area of work as it is
disappointing that better results were not shown during 2013/14. This is a crucial area to
ensure that people have all they need to go back to living in the community as well as it
being key to reducing re-admission.

Well planned and coordinated discharge has to involve patient’s family and carers. These
are the individuals who will be caring for the patients after discharge, so it is important that they
are involved and informed before discharge to ensure a smooth transfer of care from hospital to
home. As part of this it is crucial that there is a named member of staff or team who is
responsible for ensuring family and carers are kept informed.
Recommendation: Clear named contact details of member of staff responsible for enquiries
about the patient by family and friends – to be verbally given on admission, with clear written
information about patient’s hospital stay within 24hrs to patient and family. If patient is moved to
a different part of the hospital, lead member of staff to advise family within 1hr of move.
Healthwatch Bromley would be particularly keen to see improvements to achieve well planned
and coordinated discharge (including essential joint services with community based health and
9

We can confirm this is only for the Denmark Hill site
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social care services) extended to the PRUH. Good practice needs to be extended from KCH
around liaison/cross referral (e.g. orthopaedic surgery and elderly care physicians, early
identification of dementia and multi-disciplinary/inter-agency working). On p.25 in terms of the
key outcomes for monitoring the care of hip fracture, it would be useful if readmissions could be
measured too. In terms of improving the quality of care for cancer patients as outlined on p29
‘Increase the number of doctors receiving advanced communication skills training’, it would be
helpful if this was audited to check whether training had been taken up.
Healthwatch Lambeth has received positive feedback on the @Home service, particularly for
patients who have high health and social care needs. The feedback we received was that
patients and families have quality time with the Doctor; it is flexible, efficient and effective and
caused no disruption to the care routine. We would like to see this service expanded.
Healthwatch Lewisham identified that the Trust needs to improve communication around
discharge procedures for patients from boroughs outside Southwark.
Healthwatch Southwark would particularly request that some of the work discharge be focussed
on patients who are in mental health distress in order to ensure that their discharge to mental
health services within South London and Maudsley and the community is carried out in an
effective way.
There are a number of ‘linked’ issues on patient experience:
Note on P. 66 that King’s intend to expand the ‘Friends and Family test’. On p.74 they highlight
‘Responsiveness to the personal needs of patients’ and on p.81 they refer to their monitoring of
Complaints and the current NHS review of complaints procedures. This is an issue of particular
concern at the PRUH given the history of poor and delayed responses to complaints in the past.
Additional points:
Healthwatch Lewisham would like to see improvements in Day surgery appointments for people
in certain protected groups. A particular recent example highlights just one of the issues relating
to appointments: An older man with dementia has appointment at day surgery at Kings College
Hospital at 7.30 am which is too early for someone in his condition. The hospital transport
requires him to be ready 3 hours before which means he is woken up at 4 am. Improvements
need to be made when arranging appointments for the elderly and also transport needs to be
taken into consideration.
5. Availability of data
We recognise the inherited problems that the Trust took over since the acquisition in October
2013 at the PRUH site. There was a significant lack of data available to King’s about the quality
and effectiveness of the care and treatment provided to patients which was also acknowledged
by the CQC during their inspections in December 2013.
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The report notes that some data from clinical audits were not available at the PRUH or are still
awaited (p34-54) but KCH have put action plans in place across sites where necessary to
improve data collection and submission. It is important to note that KCH intends to roll out their
Infection Control Audit Programme across all sites in 2014 (p 53).
6. Patient participation in clinical trials/research
The account of research developments/achievements at KCH is very positive and impressive
that the Trust is drawing in large amounts of funding. It would be encouraging to know whether
there are likely to be opportunities for PRUH patients to have the opportunity to participate in the
future. We congratulate the Trust for performing above average on the National Neonatal Audit
Programme for both the DH and PRUH sites (p49). There are some concerns that the results of
the audit standards are so variable; either very high or very low. 10
CQC inspection of PRUH December 2013
According to KCH the CQC list of requirements were in line with issues they had already
identified and highlighted. King’s submitted an action plan to the CQC on 28th February 2014. It
would be useful if the report was broken down into hospital sites for both DH and the PRUH so
that it is easier for a lay person to depict more borough specific issues. 11
Whilst we are delighted that there was a good response to the CQC report there is some
concern that there was so little data available from the PRUH. Having good data is essential to
effective risk management. On the whole we would have liked more inclusion of quality issues
relating to the new parts of the Trust.12
We look forward to continuing to work with the trust in the coming year to achieve significant
progress on the priorities identified.
Healthwatch Bromley, Healthwatch Lambeth, Healthwatch Lewisham and Healthwatch
Southwark
May 2014

10

We would recruit patients from both sites into research programs where appropriate. We could not identify
significant swings in the audit results but will be happy to comment on any specific queries
11

The CQC inspection was only of The PRUH

12

Data availability and reliability was limited looking back at 2013/13 pre-acquisition. Going forward similar data
will be collected on both sites
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Comments from Health and Adult Services Scrutiny Committee, London Borough of Lambeth
Lambeth Council’s Health and Adult Services Scrutiny Sub Committee would like to thank
King’s College Hospital NHS Foundation Trust for the invitation to submit a statement on the
Trust’s (draft) Quality Account 2013/14. The committee would also wish to acknowledge the
earlier invitation to the Quality Account Stakeholder event to develop the QA and draft priorities
which was attended by a member of the committee.
It has not been possible to formally consider the draft QA within the timeline requested and the
Committee is not therefore submitting a response this year. However the Committee would wish
to acknowledge the good working relationship that exists between the Scrutiny Committee and
the Foundation Trust.

Elaine Carter, Lead Scrutiny Officer, London Borough of Lambeth
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Appendix 2: 2013/14 Statement of the Directors; responsibilities in respect of the
Quality Report
The directors are required under the Health Act 2009 and the National Health Service (Quality
Accounts) Regulations 2010 to prepare Quality Accounts for each financial year. Monitor has
issued guidance to NHS foundation trust boards on the form and content of annual quality
reports (which incorporate the above legal requirements) and on the arrangements that NHS
foundation trust boards should put in place to support the data quality for the preparation of the
quality report.
In preparing the quality report, directors are required to take steps to satisfy themselves that:


the content of the quality report meets the requirements set out in the NHS Foundation Trust
Annual Reporting Manual;



the content of the quality report is not inconsistent with internal and external sources of
information, including:
 board minutes and papers for the period April 2013 to May 2014;
 papers relating to quality reported to the board over the period April 2013 to May 2014;
 feedback from the commissioners, dated 02 May 2014;
 feedback from governors, dated 02 May 2014;
 feedback from local Healthwatch organisations, dated 02 May 2014;
 the trust’s complaints report published under regulation 18 of the Local Authority Social
Services and NHS Complaints Regulations 2009, dated July 2013
 the 2013 national inpatient survey, published April 2014;
 the 2013 national staff survey, published February 2014;
 the Head of Internal Audit’s annual opinion over the trust’s control environment, dated 01
April 2013 to 31 March 2014;
 Care Quality Commission quality and risk profiles, dated 01 April 2013 to 31 March
2014;



the quality report presents a balanced picture of the NHS foundation trust’s performance
over the period covered;



the performance information reported in the quality report is reliable and accurate;



there are proper internal controls over the collection and reporting of the measures of
performance included in the quality report, and these controls are subject to review to
confirm that they are working effectively in practice;



the data underpinning the measures of performance reported in the quality report is robust
and reliable, conforms to specified data quality standards and prescribed definitions, is
subject to appropriate scrutiny and review; and



the quality report has been prepared in accordance with Monitor’s annual reporting guidance
(which incorporates the Quality Accounts regulations) (published at
www.monitor.gov.uk/annualreportingmanual) as well as the standards to support data
quality for the preparation of the quality report.
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The directors confirm to the best of their knowledge and belief they have complied with the
above requirements in preparing the quality report.
By order of the board

.......27 May 2014 ...........Date.............................................................Chair

........27 May 2014............Date......................................................Chief Executive
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Independent Audit Assurance
Independent auditor’s report to the board of governors of King’s College Hospital NHS
Foundation Trust on the quality report
We have been engaged by the Council of Governors of King’s College Hospital NHS
Foundation Trust to perform an independent assurance engagement in respect of King’s
College Hospital NHS Foundation Trust’s Quality Report for the year ended 31 March 2014 (the
“Quality Report”) and certain performance indicators contained therein.
This report, including the conclusion, has been prepared solely for the Council of Governors of
King’s College Hospital NHS Foundation Trust as a body, to assist the Council of Governors in
reporting King’s College Hospital NHS Foundation Trust’s quality agenda, performance and
activities. We permit the disclosure of this report within the Annual Report for the year ended 31
March 2014, to enable the Council of Governors to demonstrate they have discharged their
governance responsibilities by commissioning an independent assurance report in connection
with the indicators. To the fullest extent permitted by law, we do not accept or assume
responsibility to anyone other than the Council of Governors as a body and King’s College
Hospital NHS Foundation Trust for our work or this report, except where terms are expressly
agreed and with our prior consent in writing.
Scope and subject matter
The indicators for the year ended 31 March 2014 subject to limited assurance consist of the
national priority indicators as mandated by Monitor:



Clostridium Difficile: and
Maximum 62 day waiting time from urgent GP referral to treatment for all cancers.

We refer to these national priority indicators collectively as the “indicators”.
Respective responsibilities of the Directors and auditors
The Directors are responsible for the content and the preparation of the Quality Report in
accordance with the criteria set out in the NHS Foundation Trust Annual Reporting Manual
issued by Monitor.
Our responsibility is to form a conclusion, based on limited assurance procedures, on whether
anything has come to our attention that causes us to believe that:




the Quality Report is not prepared in all material respects in line with the criteria set out in
the NHS Foundation Trust Annual Reporting Manual;
the Quality Report is not consistent in all material respects with the sources specified in the
guidance; and
the indicators in the Quality Report identified as having been the subject of limited
assurance in the Quality Report are not reasonably stated in all material respects in
accordance with the NHS Foundation Trust Annual Reporting Manual and the six
dimensions of data quality set out in the Detailed Guidance for External Assurance on
Quality Reports.
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We read the Quality Report and consider whether it addresses the content requirements of the
NHS Foundation Trust Annual Reporting Manual, and consider the implications for our report if
we become aware of any material omissions.
We read the other information contained in the Quality Report and consider whether it is
materially inconsistent with the documents specified within the detailed guidance.
We consider the implications for our report if we become aware of any apparent misstatements
or material inconsistencies with those documents (collectively the “documents”). Our
responsibilities do not extend to any other information.
We are in compliance with the applicable independence and competency requirements of the
Institute of Chartered Accountants in England and Wales (ICAEW) Code of Ethics. Our team
comprised assurance practitioners and relevant subject matter experts.
Assurance work performed
We conducted this limited assurance engagement in accordance with International Standard on
Assurance Engagements 3000 (Revised) – “Assurance Engagements other than Audits or
Reviews of Historical Financial Information” issued by the International Auditing and Assurance
Standards Board (“ISAE 3000”). Our limited assurance procedures included:







Evaluating the design and implementation of the key processes and controls for managing
and reporting the indicators.
Making enquiries of management.
Testing key management controls.
Limited testing, on a selective basis, of the data used to calculate the indicator back to
supporting documentation.
Comparing the content requirements of the NHS Foundation Trust Annual Reporting Manual
to the categories reported in the Quality Report.
Reading the documents.

A limited assurance engagement is smaller in scope than a reasonable assurance engagement.
The nature, timing and extent of procedures for gathering sufficient appropriate evidence are
deliberately limited relative to a reasonable assurance engagement.
Limitations
Non-financial performance information is subject to more inherent limitations than financial
information, given the characteristics of the subject matter and the methods used for
determining such information.
The absence of a significant body of established practice on which to draw allows for the
selection of different, but acceptable measurement techniques which can result in materially
different measurements and can affect comparability. The precision of different measurement
techniques may also vary. Furthermore, the nature and methods used to determine such
information, as well as the measurement criteria and the precision of these criteria, may change
over time. It is important to read the Quality Report in the context of the criteria set out in the
NHS Foundation Trust Annual Reporting Manual.
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The scope of our assurance work has not included governance over quality or non-mandated
indicators which have been determined locally by King’s College Hospital NHS Foundation
Trust.
Basis for qualified conclusion
As set out in the ‘Structure of this report’ section on page 84 of the Trust’s Quality Report, the
Trust has not consolidated data in respect of the PRUH, acquired by the Trust on 1 October
2013. Our procedures, as set out in the ‘Assurance work performed’ section above, have
therefore only been performed on the applicable reported data in the Trust’s quality report,
which excludes data in respect of the PRUH by the Trust on 1 October 2013.
Qualified conclusion
Based on the results of our procedures, except for the effects of the matters described in the
‘Basis for qualified conclusion’ section above,nothing has come to our attention that causes us
to believe that, for the year ended 31 March 2014:
•

the Quality Report is not prepared in all material respects in line with the criteria set out in
the NHS Foundation Trust Annual Reporting Manual;

•

the Quality Report is not consistent in all material respects with the sources specified in the
guidance; and

•

the indicators in the Quality Report subject to limited assurance have not been reasonably
stated in all material respects in accordance with the NHS Foundation Trust Annual
Reporting Manual.

Deloitte LLP
Chartered Accountants
St Albans
29 May 2014
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Quality Report Glossary
ACRONYM/WORD

MEANING

AHP

Allied Health Professionals i.e. Physiotherapists, Occupational
Therapists, Speech & Language Therapists etc.

AHSC

Academic Health Science Centre

CCG

Clinical Commissioning Groups (previously Primary Care Trusts)

CHD

Congenital Heart Disease

CHR – UK

Child Health Clinical Outcome Review Programme (UK)

CLINIWEB

The Trust's internal web-based information resource for sharing clinical
guidelines and statements.

CLRN

Comprehensive Local Research Network

COPD

Chronic Obstructive Pulmonary Disease

CQC

Care Quality Commission

CQRG

Clinical Quality Review Group (organised by local commissioners)

CQUIN

Commissioning for Quality and Innovation

CRF

Clinical Research Facility

CT

Computerised Tomography

DAHNO

National Head & Neck Cancer Audit

DH/KCH DH

Denmark Hill. The Trust acute hospital based at Denmark Hill

DoH

Department of Health

ERR

Enhanced Rapid Response

EWS

Early Warning Score

GP

General Practitioner

GSTT

Guy's St Thomas' NHS Foundation Trust

HAU

Health and Aging Units
King’s College Hospital NHS Foundation Trust | Annual Report 2013/14

171

Quality Report
HF

Heart Failure

HIV

Human Immunodeficiency Virus

HNA

Holistic Needs Assessment

HQIP

Healthcare Quality Improvement Partnership

HTA

Human Tissue Authority

IBD

Inflammatory Bowel Disease

ICT

Information and Communications Technology

IGT

Information Governance Toolkit

iMOBILE

Specialist critical care outreach team

KCH, KING's, TRUST

King's College Hospital NHS Foundation Trust

KHP

King's Health Partners

KWIKI

The Trust's internal web-based information resource. Used for sharing
trust-wide polices, guidance and information. Accessible by all staff and
authorised users.

LCA

London Cancer Alliance

MDMs

Multidisciplinary Meeting

MDTs

Multidisciplinary Team

MEOWS

Modified Early Obstetric Warning Score

MHRA

Medicine Health Regulatory Authority

MINAP

The Myocardial Ischaemia National Audit Project

MRSA

Methicillin-resistant staphylococcus aureus

NADIA

National Diabetes Inpatient Audit

NAOGC

National Audit of Oesophageal & Gastric Cancers

NASH

National Audit of Seizure Management

NBOCAP

National Bowel Cancer Audit Programme
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NCEPOD

National Confidential Enquiry into Patient Outcome & Death Studies

NCISH

National Confidential Inquiry into Suicide & Homicide for People with
Mental Illness

NDA

National Diabetes Audit

NHFD

National Hip Fracture Database

NHIR

National Institute for Health Research

NHS

National Health Service

NHS Safety Thermometer

A NHS local system for measuring, monitoring, & analysing patient
harms and ‘harm-free’ care

NICE

National Institute for Health & Excellence

NICU

Neonatal Intensive Care Unit

NJR

National Joint Registry

NNAP

National Neonatal Audit Programme

NPDA

National Paediatric Diabetes Audit

NPSA

National Patient Safety Agency

NRAD

National Review of Asthma Deaths

OH/ORPINGTON HOSPITAL The Trust acquired services at this hospital site on 01 October 2013
PALS

Patient Advocacy & Liaison Service

PbR

Payment by Results

PICANet

Paediatric Intensive Care Audit Network

POMH

Prescribing Observatory for Mental Health

POTTS

Physiological Observation Track & Trigger System

PROMS

Patient Reported Outcome Measures

PRUH/KCH PRUH

Princess Royal University Hospital. The Trust acquired this acute hospital
site on 01 October 2013

RCPCH

Royal College of Paediatric and Child Health
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SBAR

Situation, Background, Assessment & Recognition factors for prompt &
effective communication amongst staff

SCG

Specialist Commissioning Group (NHS England)

SEL

South East London

SHMI

Standardised Hospital Morality Index. This measures all deaths of
patients admitted to hospital and those that occur up to 30 days after
discharge from hospital.

SLAM

South London & Maudsley NHS Foundation Trust

SLHT

South London Health Care Trust. SLHT dissolved on 01 October 2013
having being entered into the administration process in July 2012.

SSC

Surgical Safety Checklist

SSIG

Surgical safety Improvement Group

SSNAP

Sentinel Stroke National Audit Programme

SUS

Secondary Uses Service

SW

Social Worker

TARN

Trauma Audit & Research Network

TTAs

Tablets to take away

VTE

Venous-Thromboembolism

WHO

World Health Organisation
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FOREWORD TO THE ACCOUNTS
King's College Hospital NHS Foundation Trust
These accounts, for the year ending March 31 2014, have been prepared by
King's College Hospital NHS Foundation Trust in accordance with
paragraphs 24 and 25 of Schedule 7 to the National Health Service Act
2006.

Signed:

Date:

27 May 2014
Timothy Smart

Chief Executive Officer
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Statement of Chief Executive's responsibilities as the accounting
officer of King's College Hospital NHS Foundation Trust
The NHS Act 2006 states that the chief executive is the accounting officer of the NHS
foundation trust. The relevant responsibilities of the accounting officer, including their
responsibility for the propriety and regularity of public finances for which they are answerable,
and for the keeping of proper accounts, are set out in the NHS Foundation Trust Accounting
Officer Memorandum issued by Monitor.
Under the NHS Act 2006, Monitor has directed King's College Hospital NHS foundation trust to
prepare for each financial year a statement of accounts in the form and on the basis set out in
the Accounts Direction. The accounts are prepared on an accruals basis and must give a true
and fair view of the state of affairs of King's College Hospital NHS foundation trust and of its
income and expenditure, total recognised gains and losses and cash flows for the financial year.
In preparing the accounts, the Accounting Officer is required to comply with the requirements of
the NHS Foundation Trust Annual Reporting Manual and in particular to:


observe the Accounts Direction issued by Monitor, including the relevant accounting and
disclosure requirements, and apply suitable accounting policies on a consistent basis;



make judgements and estimates on a reasonable basis;



state whether applicable accounting standards as set out in the NHS Foundation Trust
Annual Reporting Manual have been followed, and disclose and explain any material
departures in the financial statements; and



ensure that the use of public funds complies with the relevant legislation, delegated
authorities and guidance; and



prepare the financial statements on a going concern basis.

"The accounting officer is responsible for keeping proper accounting records which disclose with
reasonable accuracy at any time the financial position of the NHS foundation trust and to enable
him/her to ensure that the accounts comply with requirements outlined in the above mentioned
Act. The Accounting Officer is also responsible for safeguarding the assets of the NHS
foundation trust and hence for taking reasonable steps for the prevention and detection of fraud
and other irregularities."
To the best of my knowledge and belief, I have properly discharged the responsibilities set out
in Monitor's NHS Foundation Trust Accounting Officer Memorandum.
Signed:

Date:

27 May 2014

Timothy Smart, Chief Executive Officer
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Annual Governance Statement
Scope of responsibility
As Accounting Officer, I have responsibility for maintaining a sound system of internal control
that supports the achievement of the NHS foundation trust’s policies, aims and objectives, whilst
safeguarding the public funds and departmental assets for which I am personally responsible, in
accordance with the responsibilities assigned to me. I am also responsible for ensuring that the
NHS foundation trust is administered prudently and economically and that resources are applied
efficiently and effectively. I also acknowledge my responsibilities as set out in the NHS
Foundation Trust Accounting Officer Memorandum.
The purpose of the system of internal control
The system of internal control is designed to manage risk to a reasonable level rather than to
eliminate all risk of failure to achieve policies, aims and objectives; it can therefore only provide
reasonable and not absolute assurance of effectiveness. The system of internal control is based
on an ongoing process designed to identify and prioritise the risks to the achievement of the
policies, aims and objectives of King’s College Hospital NHS Foundation Trust, to evaluate the
likelihood of those risks being realised and the impact should they be realised, and to manage
them efficiently, effectively and economically. The system of internal control has been in place in
King’s College Hospital NHS Foundation Trust for the year ended 31 March 2014 and up to the
date of approval of the annual report and accounts.
Capacity to handle risk
The Trust Board has overall accountability for the Trust’s Risk Management Strategy through
the Trust’s Executive Directors. The Trust’s Medical Director provides the lead, and is supported
by a centralised Patient Safety and Risk Management team. The Chief Financial Officer has
accountability for the development, implementation and testing of the Trust’s business continuity
plan. The Trust operates a unified approach covering both clinical and non-clinical risks which
are recorded on a computerised risk register. The Trust is committed to providing a learning
environment for all levels of staff, to ensure that good practice is developed and disseminated to
all areas of the organisation. This is achieved by


A commitment to individual appraisal and personal development planning for all staff;



Policies to encourage the open reporting and investigation of adverse incidents including
near misses. In addition the web based incident reporting system allows anonymous
reporting;



A commitment to root cause analysis of problems and incidents and the avoidance of
blaming and ‘scape-goating’;
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A range of problem resolution policies and procedures, including capability, raising concerns
or ‘whistle-blowing’, workplace stress, mediation, harassment and discipline, which are
designed to identify and remedy problems at an early stage;



A range of individual support mechanisms to encourage individuals to raise concerns about
their own performance in ways which will not threaten their security or livelihood, e.g.
appraisal, substance abuse policies, professional counselling and occupational health
services; and



A range of clinical and non-clinical audit mechanisms.

All staff are trained in these policies as part of the corporate and local induction policies and
updated via regular staff briefings and the Trust intranet.
The Trust recognises that it is important to be outward looking and to learn and improve from
the experience of other organisations and experts and where possible to benchmark the quality
and performance of the services we provide to our patients. We do this through a variety of
ways. We are members of external national groups and networks including but not limited to the
Shelford Group which comprises leading NHS multi-specialty academic healthcare
organisations, who are dedicated to excellence in clinical research, education and patient care.
Foundation Trust Network; the Association of University Hospitals; CHKS and other external
sources of healthcare intelligence such as Dr Foster and CQC reports and inspections. The
Trust has recently purchased Healthcare Evaluation database (HED) which is being set up to
enable benchmarking internally and externally across a wide range of clinical effectiveness,
patient experience and patient safety indicators. In addition, we seek both external and internal
expertise such as the Department of Health, KHP partners and our Governors to provide an
independent critical eye.
The risk and control framework
The Trust operates a cyclical mechanism for the identification, evaluation and control of risk,
facilitated by means of a central risk register. This is a dynamic document which reflects
corporate and local risks and their movement within the register. Local Risk Groups identify
risks and potential hazards and formulate actions plans to deal with them. Each risk is scored
on a common basis across the Trust for likelihood and potential impact. If risks cannot be
satisfactorily resolved at a local level, they are considered by the relevant corporate risk
management group.
The existing Trust governance structure was implemented in 2010 following an extensive
external review by the Trust’s internal auditors. The internal auditors reviewed the new Trust
structure in 2011 and concluded that the revised governance structures are:
‘Facilitating greater accountability and a clearer line of sight around strategy formulation. The
structural changes are helping to ensure greater Board assurance against the key areas of
quality, performance and finance; they provide greater focus on patient safety, outcomes and
experience; and they allow for a stronger Board focus on strategy.'
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In view of this review of the Trust’s governance framework, and independent assurance that it is
functioning effectively, the Trust has retained the governance structure, with one additional time
limited committee to oversee the integration of KCH with the PRUH. The Board Integration
Committee was established at the beginning of the transaction process to enable a full Board
focus on the planned acquisition and integration, and separation from the Board focus on
‘business as usual’. The Committee will continue during integration and be dissolved when the
integration is complete.
At the centre of the enlarged organisation’s quality governance framework is the Quality &
Governance Committee with a membership comprising the full Board with Commissioner
representation. The quality and governance reporting committees: Patient Outcomes, Patient
Safety, Patient Experience and Organisational Safety are chaired by Executive Directors, who
are also accountable for reporting to the Quality & Governance Committee on a quarterly basis.
The reporting structures and processes are already well embedded across the Denmark Hill site
and King’s satellite units down to Divisional and speciality level and will, in effect, be
superimposed across the extended organisation. This will ensure that patient outcomes/clinical
effectiveness, patient and organisational safety and patient experience at the PRUH site will be
integrated within an existing and established quality governance monitoring framework and
robust performance management infrastructure. Importantly, the relevant specialty and
divisional clinical governance and associated committees operate across all sites have been
required to implement the terms of reference and reporting procedures that are already in place
at King’s. Compliance with this requirement will be subject to internal audit.
Through a defined reporting programme the Quality and Governance Committee, which is a
committee of the Board, and its reporting committees: Patient Safety, Patient Outcomes, Patient
Experience and Organisational Safety, will receive progress reports and assurances from the
various committees which feed into them. All of these committees will be minuted and have in
place action trackers which are updated after every meeting.
The Board of the enlarged organisation continues to receive a monthly Performance Report and
performance scorecard which provides up to date information of key quality indicators drilling
down to site specific information - patient safety, patient experience and clinical effectiveness,
highlighting current quality and safety issues and action being taken. A suite of other reports are
received on a quarterly basis including a comprehensive Integrated Quality & Governance
report, separate reports on patient safety, patient outcomes and patient experience which
provide site specific information. A Nursing Performance report is presented together with a
quarterly report from the Director of Infection Prevention and Control, who is also the Executive
Director of Nursing and Maternity.
The quarterly Quality and Governance Report is presented to the Quality and Governance
Committee by the Medical Director, Director of Nursing & Midwifery (& DIPC), Director of
Corporate Affairs and Chief Operating Officer. The report addresses the three dimension of
quality – Patient Safety, Patient Outcomes, Patient Experience together with Organisational
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Safety across the enlarged organisation. It includes: updates on quality priorities and driving
improvement across the quality dimension:
Patient Outcomes: mortality monitoring and review of mortality outliers, progress against
NCEPODs and participation in National Audits, updates on public health priorities, NICE Quality
standards;
Patient Safety: profile and analysis of adverse incidents and progress against related
improvement work streams, serious incidents and improvement actions, adverse incident
benchmarking data, claims and inquests;
Patient Experience: National Surveys, monthly internal How Are Doing Survey, updates from
patient opinion websites, complaints and PALS trends and analysis, service improvements,
outcome of Ombudsman investigations, Local CQUIN, Friends and Family Test
Organisational Safety: analysis of health and safety incidents, inspection findings etc
The Divisional score cards will include the quality dimensions and other specialist indicators.
These are formally reviewed at the monthly Divisional performance review meetings led by the
Chief Operating Office in partnership with the Medical Director and Nursing & Midwifery Director
(& Trust DIPC). These discussions inform the monthly Performance Report and Trust score
card which will continue to be considered by the Board. The reports are structured so that the
Board can drill down to site specific performance and quality information.
Unresolved risks are passed to the Quality & Governance Committee to review the adequacy of,
and progress against action plans and to consider acceptance or further resolution. If additional
resources are required to reduce the risk to an acceptable level, this is considered by the
Business Resource and Strategy Group and, if necessary by the Trust Finance and
Performance Committee. Risks that have an above average consequence and likelihood are
given priority in the resource allocation process. It is the Trust’s policy as defined within the
Risk Management Strategy that its risk appetite is defined as all red risks are required to be
reviewed by the Board of Directors. The Board has decided that all risks assessed as having a
greater than average likelihood of occurrence with a potential impact of more than moderate
harm, are not acceptable and require mitigation. The Board reviews the nature and assessment
of these risks and the potential impact on delivery of the Trust’s Strategic priorities and careful
consideration is given to whether the level of risk should be accepted or further treatment plans
put in place. The Board will seek additional assurance or take direct action where it considers
that risks are not being adequately controlled or accepted.
The Board Assurance Framework provides a high level management assessment process and
record which enables the Trust to focus on the principal risks to delivering its strategic priorities
and the robustness of internal controls to reduce or manage the risks to acceptable levels. The
Assurance Framework is updated by the Executive Directors and reviewed by the Board on a
quarterly basis. The sources of key controls and assurances, both internal and external, are
reviewed for their adequacy and relevance and action plans are agreed.
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Information Governance is reviewed by the Quality and Governance Committee, who are
advised by the Caldicott Guardian and the Senior Information Risk Owner. The Trust completes
the annual Information Governance toolkit. In the submission made in March 2014, the Trust
achieved at least a Level 2 rating on all but two requirements and scored a total of 62% across
all indicators. The Trust has made significant efforts to ensure the security of the information it
holds and transmits to and from its systems. These include the enforcement of encryption for
any portable devices used on Trust systems, encryption for all Trust laptop computers and the
implementation of ‘remote wipe’ functionality for smart phones in the event of their loss or theft.
Key areas of risk remaining, and for which the Trust did not score Level 2, are to ensure the
pseudononymisation of all data being transferred and implementing a comprehensive records
management system for all Trust records.
All Trust policies, procedures and business cases include an Equality Impact Assessment so
that their implications can be considered by the Board of Directors. Major policy or strategic
decisions are taken only after consultation with the Council of Governors, Staff Side
representatives and public and patient stakeholders. The Trust holds community events, most
recently in March 2014, to receive the views of Trust Members and the Annual Public meeting in
September 2013 was very well attended.
As part of the process to acquire the PRUH and other sites and services from the former SLHT,
the Trust undertook a clinical due diligence review of SLHT governance and where possible
data and information which was PRUH-specific to enable the Board of Directors to understand
the governance and quality risks and opportunities of the transaction.
The findings were used to inform the acquisition process and provide the Board of Directors with
the appropriate assurance that it had considered the relevant issues surrounding the
governance of SLHT, and in particular the areas of risk and/or concern at the PRUH site.
The review provided the Trust with a clear indication of the differences between quality
governance structures at the Denmark Hill site and those employed at PRUH. This information
was central to determining one new coherent quality governance plan for the enlarged
organisation.
The clinical and operational due diligence exercise explored the clinical and operational profile
of the PRUH, to assess performance, any current or potential risks, and take a view on the
robustness of the governance and assurance processes.
Information was predominantly obtained by interrogating internal and external reports, and also
through conversation with key clinical and managerial staff. Identified risks were clearly outlined
in the Trust’s quality governance plan which was submitted to Monitor and included but was not
limited to: compliance with Monitor’s RAF, compliance with Monitor’s quality governance
framework, adequacy of risk management processes and systems, non-availability of medical
records, outstanding clinical negligence claims and nursing establishment.
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To provide independent assurance on the process and the documents required by Monitor, an
independent reporting accountant was commissioned. The reporting accountant reviewed all
relevant information and conducted a series of interviews with key members of staff before
issuing opinions on the quality governance plan, the post-transaction integration plan and the
financial plan.
Action plans were put in place to address the issues of most urgency immediately after the Trust
took responsibility on 01 October.
In November 2013, the Board of Directors held a risk workshop facilitated by KPMG to reassess
the key strategic risks facing the Trust. This workshop informed revision of the Board Assurance
Framework, which is reviewed by the Board on a quarterly basis. Each risk is scored on a
likelihood and impact matrix and cross-referenced to the Trust’s strategic aims. Following this
review the three highest scoring risks were identified as:
a) Failure to have sufficient capacity to meet the demand for the Trust’s services.
This risk was scored highly due to the significant increase in emergency demand seen at both
the Denmark Hill and PRU sites and the consequent effect on both access times for emergency
patients and cancellations of procedures for elective patients.
King’s has experienced growth in planned secondary and tertiary care and a significant surge in
local acute medicine, in particular, in older people. Length of stay for older people has also
increased due to higher acuity.
The impact of excessive demand and constrained capacity on operational performance is
already evident, with concerns in the following areas:
• Emergency department performance
• Elective waiting times including very long waiters
• Cancer waiting times
• Finances
• Patient experience
• Patient safety especially infection prevention and control
• Staff overworking and stress levels
• Tertiary and academic activity
As part of the operating plan, the Trust is seeking to mitigate these risks by:
•

Increasing capacity – the new Centenary wing at Denmark Hill, new Elective facilities at
Orpington and a new CDU at the PRUH.

• Reviewing the clinical strategy and catchment areas for services
• Reviewing the scale and efficiency of services
• Delivering performance improvements particularly at the PRU.
b) Failure to maintain financial sustainability due to reductions in tariffs and commissioning
levels. The reduced level of growth in NHS funding and commissioning decisions to reduce the
level of activity means that the Trust needs to improve efficiency to remain financially
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sustainable. The Trust set out a five year plan in the Business Case to acquire the assets from
South London, which focuses on increased cost control and improvements in productivity to
address this risk. This plan is overseen by the Finance and Performance Committee and Board
Integration Committee and delivered through a Programme Management Office. Delivery will
remain challenging in the foreseeable future and is regularly reviewed by the Board of Directors.
c) Failure to recruit sufficiently, suitably qualified permanent staff to maintain safe and effective
services. There is a risk of suboptimal staffing levels (especially at the PRUH) due to high
vacancy rates, low establishment rate, and challenges with regard to filling short-term vacancies
with agency staff. This risk is being addressed through workforce planning and improvement
plans with our recruitment service as well extending recruitment in to new labour markets.
The outcomes of these action plans on the assessed risk are considered by the Board on a
monthly basis as part of the finance & performance reports.
The Board will self-certify the validity of its Corporate Governance Statement. A number of
compliance assessments review the adequacy of the governance arrangements. These are
undertaken by the Finance Director who provides assurance on financial performance and the
relevant Executive Director on other areas of governance in relation to the Trust’s regulations.
Assurance on compliance with relevant regulations, internal policies and procedures is
undertaken through the Trust’s committee structure for example CQC registration via the QSC
and fire regulations through the Health and Safety Committee. Compliance assessments are
also undertaken by Internal Audit which has provided assurances in relation to aspects of the
Trust’s Licence.
The CQC inspected the Denmark Hill site in August 2012 and was found to be compliant in all 5
outcomes assessed. The CQC visited the PRUH as part of their programme of scheduled but
unannounced reviews between 2nd-4th December 2013 and on 10th December 2014. The
Inspectors made recommendations for improvement with regard to:
•

Patient flow

•

Reduction in A&E waiting times

•

Availability of medical records and improvement in quality of record keeping

•

Staffing levels

•

Training, appraisal and support to staff

•

Embedding King’s monitoring systems at the PRUH

These were all risks which had been identified prior to the acquisition as part of the due
diligence and Board assurance process.
The Trust hosted a Quality Summit on 30 January 2014 with key stakeholders and submitted an
Action Plan in response to the final report issued on 6th February 2014, which is now being
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implemented. The Board Integration Committee maintains oversight of the issues raised by the
CQC’s final report. The quality and governance quarterly report provides assurance that risks
identified are being mitigated as the Trust’s Quality Governance Framework is embedded at the
PRUH and across the enlarged organisation.
The Foundation Trust is fully compliant with the registration requirements of the Care Quality
Commission (CQC).
On-going compliance with the registration requirements is monitored through the Trust’s Quality
Governance Framework. The underpinning management committees: Patient Outcome, Patient
Safety, Patient Experience and Organisational Safety Committees have specific responsibility
within their terms of reference for reviewing and monitoring compliance against the CQC’s
Essential Standards (to be superseded by the Fundamental Standards in October 2014) , the
NHS Outcomes Framework and previously the NHS Litigation Authority’s Acute Risk
Management Standards.
To support this and to maintain a strong focus, the Trust has appointed Assurance and
Regulatory Performance teams The Assurance team work closely with Divisions in supporting
the registration of services or new locations with the CQC and assessing compliance with the
Essential Standards/Outcomes. During 2013/14, the Trust implemented a Quality Monitoring
system and assessment tool, mirroring the CQC’s new inspection methodology, in order to
assess compliance with CQC Fundamental Standards. This will be rolled out across all
services and Trust locations in 2014/15.
As an employer with staff entitled to membership of the NHS Pension Scheme, control
measures are in place to ensure all employer obligations contained within the Scheme
regulations are complied with. This includes ensuring that deductions from salary, employer’s
contributions and payments into the Scheme are in accordance with the Scheme rules, and that
member Pension Scheme records are accurately updated in accordance with the timescales
detailed in the Regulations.
Control measures are in place to ensure that all the organisation’s obligations under equality,
diversity and human rights legislation are complied with.
The Foundation Trust has undertaken risk assessments and Carbon Reduction Delivery Plans
are in place in accordance with emergency preparedness and civil contingency requirements,
as based on UKCIP 2009 weather projects, to ensure that this organisation’s obligations under
the Climate Change Act and the Adaptation Reporting requirements are complied with.
Control measures are in place to ensure that all the organisation’s obligations under equality,
diversity and human rights legislation are complied with.
The foundation trust has undertaken risk assessments and Carbon Reduction Delivery Plans
are in place in accordance with emergency preparedness and civil contingency requirements,
as based on UKCIP 2009 weather projects, to ensure that this organisation’s obligations under
the Climate Change Act and the Adaptation Reporting requirements are complied with.
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Review of economy, efficiency and effectiveness of the use of resources
The Board of Directors ensures that resources are used economically, efficiently and effectively
by means of monthly finance and performance reports. These are considered in detail by the
Finance and Performance Committee which is a committee of the Board, chaired by NonExecutive Directors. The Audit Committee receives regular reports from the Trust’s Internal
Auditors, KPMG LLP and its External Auditors, Deloitte LLP.
Annual Quality Report
The directors are required under the Health Act 2009 and the National Health Service (Quality
Accounts) Regulations 2010 (as amended) to prepare quality accounts for each financial year.
Monitor has issued guidance to NHS foundation trust boards on the form and content of annual
quality reports which incorporate the above legal requirements in the NHS Foundation Trust
Annual Reporting Manual.
The Board’s clinical plans and core quality priorities have been developed in consultation with a
wide range of internal and external stakeholders including senior clinical teams, Commissioners,
Health Overview and Scrutiny Committees, Healthwatch Governors and members of the
enlarged organisation. The Board receives regular reports on all aspects of quality through
monthly performance reports and scorecards, and quarterly reports on patient safety, patient
outcomes and patient experience and organisational safety. The Board also receives a separate
quarterly Quality and Governance Report which includes detailed analyses of all serious
complaints and adverse incidents together with actions taken and related service developments/
improvements. The Board considers the Assurance Framework and the Trust Risk Register on
a quarterly basis and agrees actions as necessary to mitigate risks. The Board of Directors held
a risk workshop in November 2013 facilitated by KPMG to reassess the key strategic risks
facing the Trust following the acquisition of the PRUH and others sites on 1 October 2013.
The data included within the Quality Report is subject to audit by both internal and external audit
to assure the Board that the underlying data is robust. This is supplemented by regular clinical
audits of data within specialities and national audits. Further information on the data included in
the Quality Report can be found on page 84.
Following an external review in December 2010, the Trust strengthened the Board Assurance
Framework and linked this explicitly to the Board Self Certification of the Annual Plan. It also
introduced a new Quality Governance Framework with the implementation of a new distributed
Board governance structure. The Quality & Governance Committee monitors the three
dimensions of quality, Patient Safety, Patient Outcomes which addresses clinical audit and
effectiveness, Patient Experience and Organisational Safety through a series of management
committees chaired by executive directors. This is underpinned by a robust performance
management and reporting structure which provides the Board and the Corporate and Divisional
management teams with up to date information of the key quality indicators. This enables a
strong Board focus on all aspects of quality and is the vehicle through which the Trust’s quality
priorities and Monitor’s Quality Governance Framework are monitored. The Trust’s centralised
King’s College Hospital NHS Foundation Trust | Annual Report 2013/14

185

Annual Accounts 2013/14
patient safety, clinical effectiveness, patient experience and assurance teams work closely
together, to ensure that the processes for the identification, analysis, monitoring and reporting of
quality issues are robust, systematic and responsive to the changes in the regulatory
environment.
Review of effectiveness
As Accounting Officer, I have responsibility for reviewing the effectiveness of the system of
internal control. My review of the effectiveness of the system of internal control is informed by
the work of the internal auditors, clinical audit and the executive managers and clinical leads
within the NHS foundation trust who have responsibility for the development and maintenance
of the internal control framework. I have drawn on the content of the quality report attached to
this Annual report and other performance information available to me. My review is also
informed by comments made by the external auditors in their management letter and other
reports. I have been advised on the implications of the result of my review of the effectiveness
of the system of internal control by the Trust Board, the Audit Committee, the Finance and
Performance Committee and the Quality and Governance Committee and a plan to address
weaknesses and ensure continuous improvement of the system is in place.
The Board reviews the proceedings of all its committees at every meeting and considers and
approves the arrangements for risk management in the Trust including the risk framework
incorporated in the Trust’s Risk Management Strategy. Committee chairs draw the Board’s
attention to any matters arising from the proceedings of their committees which have risk
implications at each Board meeting.
All Board committees produce an annual report and Committee Self-Assessment which covers
establishment, composition, reporting structure, the work plan, resources and meeting
arrangements which are reviewed by the Board.
Other key review:
King’s Response to the Francis Recommendations
Reporting to the Board of Directors, an internal Francis Working group was established to
provide a dedicated forum for considering the Francis Report and working collaboratively with
the health community in developing a response. A work programme was established around six
work themes led by members of the Executive.
-

186

Listening events for patients and staff - 'King’s is now entering the first full year as an
enlarged organisation which brings with it many challenges. Through the work we have
done and the listening events with staff and patients across the enlarged organisation,
the transformation programme has developed All Together Better, a programme of
culture change to help drive the integration to become single hospital with consistently
high standards and shared pride in King’s.
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-

Patient Experience and Listening to patients - aimed at improving the experience of
patients and how we receive and analyse the feedback they give us. Some of the key
achievements have been the introduction of a feedback questionnaire sent to all
complainants and the creation of a Serious Complaints Committee that will oversee
improvement work and implementation following serious complaints. This will increase
Board level scrutiny and independent challenge as well as ensuring appropriate learning
from complaints.
The improvements to date have included looking at the accessibility of the complaints
process and escalation of serious complaints, which now go immediately to key
Directors when received. A patient complaint or patient story now forms the first agenda
item at every Board Quality and Governance Committee meeting and a NED Patient
Experience Champion has been appointed.
This is already a well-established work programme across the Trust and progress will
continue to be monitored through the Quality and Governance and Patient Experience
Committees.

-

Identifying pressure in the hospital – patient dependency tool was developed to
capture patient acuity scores and calculate a ward’s overall acuity and staffing levels.
This will be used to provide an early warning signal that will identify hot spots where
there is a requirement for senior support or intervention.

-

Clinical Workforce - The new appraisal system will provide greater focus on
communication, behaviour and individual performance which will be welcomed by the
clinical leadership teams and will support the delivery of the cultural and behavioural
standards expected.
The medical workforce is looking at ward leadership as well as improving job plans to
ensure adequate time is provided for patient care. There are plans to develop the
interaction with junior staff through a series of regular meetings held at both the PRUH
and Denmark Hill sites, attended by senior clinicians.
The nursing team have commenced a detailed piece of work looking at two specific
wards with an objective to improve the patient experience and decrease harm through
the delivery of compassionate care.
This work will continue as national standards and government recommendations are
published and will be monitored through the Quality and Governance Committee.

-

Performance and Quality Management - A review of the performance framework was
undertaken and a number of metric changes have been implemented on the Trust
Performance Scorecard which add greater focus to quality and leading indicators of
care. The acquisition of the PRUH has added an extra dimension to this and we have
prioritised the development of performance and patient experience scorecards. These
were successfully rolled out at Trust and Divisional level at the end of 2013 and also
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include ward level patient experience data. The next phase is to roll out specialty level
scorecards across the Trust.
-

Communication Plan - The communication plan underpinning the Francis Working
Group activities will now be undertaken through the Trust’s Integration Programme. A
range of information and Chief Executive Brief material has been published to inform
staff of the programme of work.

Conclusion
No significant internal control issues have been identified by either the Trust’s internal
processes or by assurance reviews undertaken by external bodies with the exception of the
improvement recommendations made by the CQC in relation to the PRUH, which are outlined
above.

Signed:

Date: 27 May 2014

Timothy Smart
Chief Executive Officer
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Independent auditor's report to the Board of Governors and Board of Directors of King's
College Hospital NHS Foundation Trust
We have audited the financial statements of King’s College Hospital NHS Foundation Trust for
the year ended 31 March 2014 which comprise of the Statement of Comprehensive Income, the
Statement of Financial Position, the Statement of Changes in Taxpayers’ Equity, the Statement
of Cash Flows and the related notes 1 to 28. The financial reporting framework that has been
applied in their preparation is applicable law and the accounting policies directed by Monitor –
Independent Regulator of NHS Foundation Trusts.
This report is made solely to the Board of Governors and Board of Directors (“the Boards”) of
King’s College Hospital NHS Foundation Trust, as a body, in accordance with paragraph 4 of
Schedule 10 of the National Health Service Act 2006. Our audit work has been undertaken so
that we might state to the Boards those matters we are required to state to them in an auditor’s
report and for no other purpose. To the fullest extent permitted by law, we do not accept or
assume responsibility to anyone other than the trust and the Boards as a body, for our audit
work, for this report, or for the opinions we have formed.
Respective responsibilities of the accounting officer and auditor
As explained more fully in the Accounting Officer’s Responsibilities Statement, the Accounting
Officer is responsible for the preparation of the financial statements and for being satisfied that
they give a true and fair view. Our responsibility is to audit and express an opinion on the
financial statements in accordance with applicable law, the Audit Code for NHS Foundation
Trusts and International Standards on Auditing (UK and Ireland). Those standards require us to
comply with the Auditing Practices Board’s Ethical Standards for Auditors.
Scope of the audit of the financial statements
An audit involves obtaining evidence about the amounts and disclosures in the financial
statements sufficient to give reasonable assurance that the financial statements are free from
material misstatement, whether caused by fraud or error. This includes an assessment of:
whether the accounting policies are appropriate to the Trust’s circumstances and have been
consistently applied and adequately disclosed; the reasonableness of significant accounting
estimates made by the Accounting Officer; and the overall presentation of the financial
statements. In addition, we read all the financial and non-financial information in the annual
report to identify material inconsistencies with the audited financial statements and to identify
any information that is apparently materially incorrect based on, or materially inconsistent with,
the knowledge acquired by us in the course of performing the audit. If we become aware of any
apparent material misstatements or inconsistencies we consider the implications for our report.
Opinion on financial statements
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In our opinion the financial statements:
•

give a true and fair view of the state of the Trust’s affairs as at 31 March 2014 and of its
income and expenditure for the year then ended;

•

have been properly prepared in accordance with the accounting policies directed by Monitor
– Independent Regulator of NHS Foundation Trusts; and

•

have been prepared in accordance with the requirements of the National Health Service Act
2006.

Opinion on other matters prescribed by the National Health Service Act 2006
In our opinion:
•

the information given in the Strategic Report and the Directors’ Report for the financial year
for which the financial statements are prepared is consistent with the financial statements.

Matters on which we are required to report by exception
We have nothing to report in respect of the following matters where the Audit Code for NHS
Foundation Trusts requires us to report to you if, in our opinion:
•

the Annual Governance Statement does not meet the disclosure requirements set out in the
NHS Foundation Trust Annual Reporting Manual, is misleading or inconsistent with
information of which we are aware from our audit. We are not required to consider, nor have
we considered, whether the Annual Governance Statement addresses all risks and controls
or that risks are satisfactorily addressed by internal controls;

•

proper practices have not been observed in the compilation of the financial statements; or

•

the NHS foundation trust has not made proper arrangements for securing economy,
efficiency and effectiveness in its use of resources.

Qualified Certificate
We certify that we have completed the audit of the accounts in accordance with the
requirements of Chapter 5 of Part 2 of the National Health Service Act 2006 and the Audit Code
for NHS Foundation Trusts except that we have qualified our conclusion on the quality report.

Craig Wisdom, ACA (Senior Statutory Auditor) for and on behalf of Deloitte LLP
Chartered Accountants and Statutory Auditor
St Albans, United Kingdom
29 May 2014
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Statement of Comprehensive Income for year ended 31 March 2014
2013-14
£000

2012-13
£000

2
3

892,054
(871,875)
20,179

679,260
(667,894)
11,366

5
6
18

169
(17,059)
(165)
(10,195)
(27,250)

152
(10,234)
(175)
(7,764)
(18,021)

1,278
65,542

738
-

59,749

(5,917)

59,749

(5,917)

(2,139)
59,758
-

(4,766)
6,730
-

117,368

(3,953)

59,749
59,749

(5,917)
(5,917)

117,368
117,368

(3,953)
(3,953)

note
Operating income and costs
Operating income from continuing operations
Operating expenses from continuing operations
Operating surplus
Finance income and costs
Finance income
Finance expense - financial liabilities
Finance expense - unwinding of discount on provisions
Public Dividend Capital Dividends payable
Net finance costs
Share of profit of Associates/Joint Ventures accounted for using the
equity method
Gain from transfer by absorption
Movement in fair value of investment property and other
investments
Corporate tax expense
Surplus/(deficit) from continuing operations
Surplus/(deficit) of discontinued operations and the gain/loss on
disposal of discontinued operations
Surplus/(deficit) for the year
Other comprehensive income, that will not be reclassified
subsequently to income and expenditure
Impairments
Revaluations
Share of comprehensive income from associates and joint ventures
Other recognised gains and losses
Remeasurements of net defined benefit pension scheme
liability/asset
Other reserve movements
Fair value gains/(losses) on available-for-sale financial investments
Recycling gains/(losses) on available-for-sale financial investments
Total comprehensive income/(expense) for the year
Allocation of profits/(losses) for the year
(a) Surplus/(deficit) for the year attributable to:
(i) minority interest; and
(ii) owners of the parent
Total
(b) Total comprehensive income/(expense) for the year attributable to:
(i) minority interest; and
(ii) owners of the parent
Total
The notes on pages 197 to 247 form part of these accounts.

11.2
28

7
21
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Statement of Financial Position as at 31 March 2014

note
Non-current assets
Intangible assets
Property, plant and equipment
Investment property
Investment in associates (and joint controlled operations)
Other investments
Trade and other receivables
Other financial assets
Other assets
Total non-current assets
Current assets
Inventories
Trade and other receivables
Other financial assets
Non-current assets for sale and assets in disposal groups
Cash and cash equivalents
Total current assets
Total assets
Current liabilities
Trade and other payables
Borrowings
Other financial liabilities
Provisions
Other liabilities
Total current liabilities

9
10
11
11
13

12
13

14

15
17
18
16

Net current assets/(liabilities)
Total assets less current liabilities
Non-current liabilities
Trade and other payables
Borrowings
Other financial liabilities
Provisions
Other liabilities
Total non-current liabilities
Total assets employed:
Financed by:
Taxpayers' equity
Public Dividend Capital
Revaluation reserve
192

17
18

31 March
2014
£000

31 March
2013
£000

1,769
571,616
3,598
4,167
581,150

1,399
346,807
816
3,834
352,856

15,292
118,135
54,535
187,962
769,112

11,333
45,110
40,502
96,945
449,801

(137,329)
(4,289)
(1,144)
(9,989)
(152,751)

(82,821)
(1,939)
(3,316)
(5,552)
(93,628)

35,211
616,361

3,317
356,173

(206,565)
(6,886)
(213,451)
402,910

(90,934)
(6,893)
(97,827)
258,346

228,136
144,997

135,678
87,536
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Available for sale investments reserve
Other reserves
Merger reserves
Income and expenditure reserve
Total taxpayers' equity

29,777
402,910

35,132
258,346

The notes starting on page 197 form part of these accounts.
The financial statements were approved by the Board on 27
May 2014 and signed on its behalf by

Timothy Smart
Chief Executive

Date: 27/05/2014
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Statement of Changes in Taxpayers' Equity for the year ended 31 March 2014
Public
Dividend
Capital
£000

Income and
expenditure
reserve
£000

Revaluation
reserve
£000

Total
reserves
£000

Balance at 1 April 2013
Surplus for the year
Transfers by normal absorption:
transfers between reserves
Impairments
Revaluations - property, plant and
equipment
Transfer to retained earnings on
disposal of assets
Share of comprehensive income
from associates and joint ventures
Gains/losses on available-for-sale
financial investments
Other recognised gains and
losses
Public Dividend Capital received
Public Dividend Capital repaid
Public Dividend Capital written off
Other reserve movements
Balance at 31 March 2014

135,678
65,262

35,132
59,749
(65,542)

87,536
280

258,346
59,749
-

-

-

(2,139)
59,758

(2,139)
59,758

-

438

(438)

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

27,196
228,136

29,777

144,997

27,196
402,910

Balance at 1 April 2012
(Deficit) for the year
Transfers by normal absorption:
transfers between reserves
Impairments
Revaluations - property, plant and
equipment
Transfer to retained earnings on
disposal of assets
Share of comprehensive income
from associates and joint ventures
Gains/losses on available-for-sale
financial investments
Other recognised gains and
losses
Public Dividend Capital received
Public Dividend Capital repaid
Public Dividend Capital written off
Other reserve movements
Balance at 31 March 2013

135,678
-

40,642
(5,917)
-

85,979
-

262,299
(5,917)
-

-

-

(4,766)
6,730

(4,766)
6,730

-

407

(407)

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

135,678

35,132

87,536

258,346
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Statement of Cash Flows for the year ended 31 March 2014
Note
Cash flows from operating activities
Operating surplus/(deficit) from continuing operations
Operating surplus/(deficit) from discontinued operations
Operating surplus/(deficit)
Non-cash income and expense
Depreciation and amortisation
Impairments
Reversals of impairments
Gain/(loss) on disposal
Non-cash donations/grants credited to income
Interest accrued and not paid
Dividends accrued and not paid or received
Amortisation of PFI credit
(Increase) in trade and other receivables
(Increase)/decrease in other assets
(Increase) in inventories
Increase in trade and other payables
Increase/(decrease) in other liabilities
Increase/(decrease) in provisions
Movements in operating cash flow of discontinued operations
Other movements in operating cash flows
Net cash (used in)/generated from operations
Cash flows from investing activities
Interest received
Purchase of intangible assets
Sales of intangible assets
Purchase of property, plant and equipment
Sales of property, plant and equipment
PFI lifecycle payments (cash outflow)
Cash flows attributable to investing activities of discontinued operations
Cash flows attributable to acquisitions or disposals of business
units and subsidiaries (not absorption transfers)
Net cash generated from/(used in) investing activities
Cash flows from financing activities
Public Dividend Capital received
Public Dividend Capital repaid
Loans received from the Independent Trust Financing Facility
Loans received from the Department of Health
Other loans received
Loans repaid from the Independent Trust Financing Facility

2013-14
£000

2012-13
£000

20,179
20,179

11,366
11,366

16,925
2,648
430
(70,647)
(1,739)
47,434
4,437
(2,775)
2
16,894

14,688
9,129
474
159
253
(3,771)
(370)
16,865
(629)
2,993
(578)
50,579

169
(804)
(34,068)
17
-

154
(594)
(22,172)
403
-

(1,504)
(36,190)

(22,209)

27,196
33,600
1,683
(1,012)

4,400
(1,012)
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(123)
(2,005)
168
(730)
(16,310)
(9,138)
33,329

(123)
(733)
(591)
(9,656)
(7,760)
(15,475)

Increase/(decrease) in cash and cash equivalents

14,033

12,895

Cash and cash equivalents at 1 April
Cash and cash equivalents transferred by normal absorption
Cash and cash equivalents at 31 March

40,502
54,535

27,607
40,502

Loans repaid from the Department of Health
Other loans repaid
Capital element of finance lease repayments
Capital element of PFI and other service concession payments
Other capital receipts
Interest paid
Interest element of finance lease
Interest element of PFI and other service concession obligations
PDC dividend paid
Cash flows attributable to financing activities of discontinued operations
Net cash generated from/(used in) financing activities
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Notes to the accounts
1.

Accounting policies

Monitor has directed that the financial statements of NHS foundation trusts shall meet the
accounting requirements of the Foundation Trust Annual Reporting Manual (ARM), which shall
be agreed with HM Treasury. Consequently, the following financial statements have been
prepared in accordance with the 2013-14 ARM issued by Monitor. The accounting policies
contained in that manual follow International Financial Reporting Standards (IFRS) and HM
Treasury's Financial Reporting Manual (the FReM) to the extent that they are meaningful and
appropriate to NHS foundation trusts. They have been applied consistently in dealing with items
considered material in relation to the accounts.
1.1

Accounting convention

These accounts have been prepared under the historical cost convention modified to account
for the revaluation of property, plant and equipment, intangible assets, inventories and certain
financial assets and financial liabilities.
1.2

Acquisitions and discontinued operations

Activities are considered to be ‘acquired’ only if they are taken on from outside the public sector.
Activities are considered to be ‘discontinued’ only if they cease entirely. They are not considered
to be ‘discontinued’ if they transfer from one public sector body to another.
1.3

Transfers of functions from other NHS bodies

"For functions that have been transferred to the foundation trust from another NHS body, the
assets and liabilities transferred are recognised in the accounts as at the date of transfer
through the use of absorption accounting. The assets and liabilities are not adjusted to fair value
prior to recognition. The net gain corresponding to the net assets transferred is recognised
within income, but not within operating activities.
For property plant and equipment assets and intangible assets, the Cost and Accumulated
Depreciation / Amortisation balances from the transferring entity’s accounts are preserved on
recognition in the trust’s accounts. Where the transferring body recognised revaluation reserve
balances attributable to the assets, the trust makes a transfer from its income and expenditure
reserve to its revaluation reserve to maintain transparency within public sector accounts.
For transfers of assets and liabilities from those NHS bodies that closed on 1 April 2013,
Treasury has agreed that a modified absorption approach should be applied. For these
transactions only, gains and losses are recognised in reserves rather than the Statement of
Comprehensive Income. The foundation trust did not receive any assets or liabilities from those
NHS bodies that closed on 1 April 2013."
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1.4

Charitable funds

For 2013-14, the divergence from the FReM that NHS charitable funds are not consolidated with
NHS Foundation trusts' own returns is removed. Under the provisions of IAS 27 Consolidated
and Separate Financial Statements, those charitable funds that fall under common control with
NHS bodies are consolidated within the entity's financial statements. In accordance with IAS 1
Presentation of Financial Statements, restated prior period accounts are presented where the
adoption of the new policy has a material impact.
The King's College Hospital Charity is an independent charity and is not under the control of the
Foundation Trust. Therefore, the charity has not been consolidated within these accounts.
1.5

Subsidiaries

"Subsidiary entities are those over which the foundation trust has the power to exercise control
or a dominant influence so as to gain economic or other benefits. The income, expenses,
assets, liabilities, equity and reserves of subsidiaries are consolidated in full into the appropriate
financial statement lines. The capital and reserves attributable to minority interests are included
as a separate item in the Statement of Financial Position.
The amounts consolidated are drawn from the draft financial statements of the subsidiaries for
the year. Where subsidiaries' accounting policies are not aligned with those of the foundation
trust then the amounts are adjusted during consolidation where the differences are material.
The foundation trust has a wholly owned subsidiary company, KCH Commercial Services Ltd,
who wholly own Agnentis Ltd and KCH Management Ltd. The accounts for this company have
been consolidated into the foundation trust annual accounts. They are not shown separately in
the segmental analysis note to the accounts (note 1.26) as the figures were immaterial."
1.6

Associates

"Associate entities are those over which the foundation trust has power to exercise a significant
influence. Associate entities are recognised in the foundation trust's financial statements using
the equity method. The investment is initially recognised at cost. It is increased or decreased
subsequently to reflect the foundation trust's share of the entity's profit or loss or other gains and
losses (e.g. revaluation gains on the entity's property, plant or equipment) following acquisition.
It is also reduced when any distribution (e.g. share dividends) are received by the foundation
trust from the associate."
1.7

Joint ventures

"Joint ventures are separate entities over which the foundation trust has joint control with one or
more other parties. The meaning of control is the same as that for subsidiaries.
Joint ventures are accounted for using the equity method."
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1.8

Joint operations

Joint operations are activities which are carried out with one or more other parties but which are
not performed through a separate entity. The foundation trust includes within its financial
statements its share of the activities, assets and liabilities.
1.9

Income

"Income in respect of services provided is recognised when, and to the extent that, performance
occurs and is measured at the fair value of the consideration receivable. The main source of
income for the foundation trust is contracts with commissioners in respect of health care
services provided under the Department of Health's Payment by Results rules-based system
and local agreements for non-mandatory tariff activity.
Where income is received for a specific activity which is to be delivered in the following financial
year, that income is deferred.
Income from the sale of non-current assets is recognised only when all material conditions of
sale have been met, and is measured as the sums due under the sale contract.
The foundation trust has accounted for income for incomplete spells of patient activity at 31
March. The work in progress is derived from patients admitted before the year end but not
discharged as at 31 March. The calculation is based on the number of bed days and the
average bed price."
The foundation trust receives income under the NHS Injury Cost Recovery Scheme, designed to
reclaim the cost of treating injured individuals to whom personal injury compensation has
subsequently been paid e.g. by an insurer. The foundation trust recognises the income when it
receives notification from the Department of Work and Pensions' Compensation Recovery Unit
that the individual has logged a compensation claim. The income is measured at the agreed
tariff for the treatments provided to the injured individual, less a provision for unsuccessful
compensation claims and doubtful debts.
1.10

Expenditure on employee benefits

Short-term employee benefits
Salaries, wages and employment-related payments are recognised in the period in which the
service is received from employees. The cost of annual leave entitlement earned but not taken
by employees at the end of the period is recognised in the financial statements to the extent that
employees are permitted to carry-forward leave into the following period.
Pension costs
"Past and present employees are covered by the provisions of the NHS Pension Scheme. The
Scheme is an unfunded, defined benefit scheme that covers NHS employers, general practices
and other bodies, allowed under the direction of the Secretary of State, in England and Wales. It
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is not possible for the foundation trust to identify its share of the underlying scheme liabilities.
Therefore, the scheme is accounted for as a defined contribution scheme.
Employers pension cost contributions are charged to operating expenses as and when they
become due.
Additional pension liabilities arising from early retirements are not funded by the scheme except
where the retirement is due to ill-health. The full amount of the liability for the additional costs is
charged to operating expenses at the time the foundation trust commits itself to the retirement,
regardless of the method of payment."
1.11

Expenditure on other goods and services

Expenditure on goods and services is recognised when, and to the extent that they have been
received, and is measured at the fair value of those goods and services. Expenditure is
recognised in operating expenses except where it results in the creation of a non-current asset
such as property, plant and equipment.
1.12

Property, plant and equipment

Recognition
Property, plant and equipment is capitalised if:


it is held for use in delivering services or for administrative purposes;



it is probable that future economic benefits will flow to, or service potential will be
supplied to the foundation trust;



it is expected to be used for more than one financial year;



the cost of the item can be measured reliably; and



the item has cost of at least £5,000; or



collectively, a number of items have a cost of at least £5,000 and individually have a cost
of more than £250, where the assets are functionally interdependent, they had broadly
simultaneous purchase dates, are anticipated to have simultaneous disposal dates and
are under single managerial control; or



items form part of the initial equipping and setting-up cost of a new building, ward or unit,
irrespective of their individual or collective cost.

Where a large asset, for example a building, includes a number of components with significantly
different asset lives, the components are treated as separate assets and depreciated over their
own useful economic lives.
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Valuation
All property, plant and equipment is measured initially at cost, representing the cost directly
attributable to acquiring or constructing the asset and bringing it to the location and condition
necessary for it to be capable of operating in the manner intended by management. All assets
are measured subsequently at fair value.
Land and buildings are stated in the statement of financial position at their revalued amounts,
being the fair value at the date of revaluation less any impairment.
Revaluations are performed with sufficient regularity to ensure that carrying amounts are not
materially different from those that would be determined at the end of the reporting period. Fair
values are determined as follows:


land and non-specialised buildings – market value for existing use; and



specialised buildings – depreciated replacement cost.

Properties in the course of construction for service or administration purposes are carried at
cost, less any impairment loss. Cost includes professional fees but not borrowing costs, which
are recognised as expenses immediately, as allowed by IAS 23 for assets held at fair value.
Assets are revalued and depreciation commences when they are brought into use.
Operational equipment other than IT equipment, which is considered to have nil inflation, is
valued at net current replacement cost through annual uplift by the change in the value of the
GDP deflator. Equipment surplus to requirements is valued at net recoverable amount.
All land and buildings are restated to fair value using professional valuations in accordance with
IAS16 every five years. A three year interim revaluation is also carried out. The last asset
valuations were undertaken in 2013 as at the prospective valuation date at 31 March 2013.
Valuations are carried out by professionally qualified valuers in accordance with the Royal
Institute of Chartered Surveyors (RICS) Appraisal and Valuation Manual.
The valuations are carried out primarily on the basis of Depreciated Replacement Cost (DRC)
for specialised operational property (e.g. NHS patient treatment facilities) and Existing Use
Value for non-specialised operational property. The value of land for existing use purposes is
assessed at Existing Use Value. For non-operational properties including surplus land, the
valuations are carried out at Market Value.
The Department of Health has adopted the Modern Equivalent Asset approach (MEA) for its
DRC valuations rather than continuing with identical replacement.
The MEA approach used to value the property will normally be based on the cost of a modern
equivalent asset that has the same service potential as the existing asset and then adjusted to
take account of obsolescence. In the past, functional obsolescence has not been reflected in
asset valuations for the NHS.
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Functional obsolescence examines a building’s design or specification and whether it may no
longer fulfil the function for which it was originally designed or whether it may be much more
basic than the MEA. The asset will still be capable of use but at a lower level of efficiency than
the modern equivalent asset, or may be capable of modification to bring it up to a current
specification. Other common causes of functional obsolescence include advances in technology
or legislative change. The obsolescence adjustment will reflect either the cost of upgrading, or if
this is not possible, the financial consequences of the reduced efficiency compared with the
modern equivalent.
The MEA approach incorporates the Building Cost Information Service Index to determine an
increase or decrease in building costs which impact on the asset valuation.
Additional alternative Open Market Value figures have only been supplied for operational assets
scheduled for imminent closure and subsequent disposal.
The carrying values of property, plant and equipment are reviewed for impairment in periods if
events or changes in circumstances indicate the carrying value may not be recoverable. The
costs arising from financing the construction of the property, plant and equipment are not
capitalised but are charged to the Statement of Comprehensive Income in the year to which
they relate.
All impairments resulting from price changes are charged to the Statement of Comprehensive
Income. If the balance on the revaluation reserve is less than the impairment the difference is
taken to the Statement of Comprehensive Income.
The valuation included the foundation trust's PFI scheme.
Subsequent expenditure
Subsequent expenditure relating to an item of property, plant and equipment is recognised as
an increase in the carrying amount of the asset when it is probable that additional future
economic benefits or service potential deriving from the cost incurred to replace a component of
such item will flow to the enterprise and the cost of the item can be determined reliably. Where a
component of an asset is replaced, the cost of the replacement is capitalised if it meets the
criteria for recognition above. The carrying amount of the part replaced is de-recognised. Other
expenditure that does not generate additional future economic benefits or service potential,
such as repairs and maintenance, is charged to the Statement of Comprehensive Income in the
period in which it is incurred.
Depreciation
Items of property, plant and equipment are depreciated over their remaining useful economic
lives in a manner consistent with the consumption of economic or service delivery benefits.
Freehold land is considered to have an infinite life and is not depreciated.
Property, plant and equipment which has been reclassified as 'Held for Sale' ceases to be
depreciated upon the reclassification. Assets in the course of construction and residual interests
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in off-Statement of Financial Position PFI contract assets are not depreciated until the asset is
brought into use or reverts to the foundation trust, respectively.
"Buildings, installations and fittings are depreciated on their current value over the estimated
remaining life of the asset as advised by the District Valuer. Leaseholds are depreciated over
the primary lease term."
"Equipment is depreciated on current cost evenly over the useful economic life of the asset.
Standard useful economic lives are estimated for each major category of equipment and
individual lives will only be applied where it is clear that the standard lives are materially
inappropriate."
"The major categories and their useful economic lives are:
 vehicles - 7 years;
 furniture - 10 years;
 office and IT equipment - 5 years;
 soft furnishings - 7 years;
 short life medical and other equipment - 5 years;
 medium life medical equipment - 10 years;
 long life medical equipment - 15 years;
 mainframe-type IT installations - 8 years."
Revaluation gains and losses
"Revaluation gains are recognised in the revaluation reserve, except where, and to the extent
that, they reverse a revaluation decrease that has previously been recognised in operating
expenses, in which case they are recognised as operating income.
Revaluation losses are charged to the revaluation reserve to the extent that there is an available
balance for the asset concerned, and thereafter charged to operating expenses.
Accounting policies (continued)
Gains and losses recognised in the revaluation reserve are reported in the Statement of
Comprehensive Income as an item of 'other comprehensive income'."
Impairments
In accordance with the ARM, impairments that are due to a loss of economic benefits or service
potential in the asset are charged to operating expenses. A compensating transfer is made from
the revaluation reserve to the income and expenditure reserve of an amount equal to the lower
of (i) the impairment charged to operating expenses; and (ii) the balance in the revaluation
reserve attributable to that asset before the impairment.
An impairment arising from a loss of economic benefit or service potential is reversed when, and
to the extent that, the circumstances that gave rise to the loss is reversed. Reversals are
recognised in operating income to the extent that the asset is restored to the carrying amount it
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would have had if the impairment had never been recognised. Any remaining reversal is
recognised in the revaluation reserve. Where, at the time of the original impairment, a transfer
was made from the revaluation reserve to the income and expenditure reserve, an amount is
transferred back to the revaluation reserve when the impairment reversal is recognised.
Other impairments are treated as revaluation losses. Reversals of 'other impairments' are
treated as revaluation gains.
De-recognition
Assets intended for disposal are reclassified as ‘Held for Sale’ once all of the following criteria
are met:
 the asset is available for immediate sale in its present condition subject only to terms
which are usual and customary for such sales; and
 the sale must be highly probable.
As at 31 March 2014, the foundation trust did not hold any assets intended for disposal.
Donated, government grant or other grant-funded assets
Donated and grant funded property, plant and equipment assets are capitalised at their fair
value on receipt. The donation/grant is credited to income at the same time, unless the donor
has imposed a condition that the future economic benefits embodied in the grant are to be
consumed in a manner specified by the donor, in which case, the donation/grant is deferred
within liabilities and is carried forward to future financial years to the extent that the condition
has not yet been met.
The donated and grant funded assets are subsequently accounted for in the same manner as
other items of property, plant and equipment.
Private finance initiative (PFI) transactions
PFI transactions which meet the IFRIC 12 definition of a service concession, as interpreted in
HM Treasury’s FReM, are accounted for as “on-Statement of Financial Position” by the trust. In
accordance with IAS 17, the underlying assets are recognised as property, plant and equipment
at their fair value, together with an equivalent finance lease liability. Subsequently, the assets
are accounted for as property, plant and equipment and/or intangible assets as appropriate.
"The annual contract payments are apportioned between the repayment of the liability, a finance
cost and the charges for services.
The service charge is recognised in operating expenses and the finance cost is charged to
Finance Costs in the Statement of Comprehensive Income."
"Components of the asset replaced by the operator during the contract (‘lifecycle replacement’)
are capitalised where they meet the foundation trust’s criteria for capital expenditure. They are
capitalised at the time they are provided by the operator and are measured initially at their fair
value.
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The element of the annual unitary payment allocated to lifecycle replacement is predetermined
for each year of the contract from the operator’s planned programme of lifecycle replacement.
Where the lifecycle component is provided earlier or later than expected, a short-term finance
lease liability or prepayment is recognised respectively."
"Where the fair value of the lifecycle component is less than the amount determined in the
contract, the difference is recognised as an expense when the replacement is provided. If the
fair value is greater than the amount determined in the contract, the difference is treated as a
‘free’ asset and a deferred income balance is recognised, and is released to the operating
income over the shorter of the remaining contract period or the useful economic life of the
replacement component.
Assets contributed by the foundation trust for use in the scheme continue to be recognised as
items of property, plant and equipment in the foundation trust’s Statement of Financial Position."
1.13

Intangible assets

Recognition
Intangible assets are non-monetary assets without physical substance, which are capable of
sale separately from the rest of the trust’s business or which arise from contractual or other
legal rights. They are recognised only when it is probable that future economic benefits will flow
to, or service potential be provided to, the trust; where the cost of the asset can be measured
reliably.
Software
Software that is integral to the operating of hardware, for example an operating system, is
capitalised as part of the relevant item of property, plant and equipment. Software that is not
integral to the operation of hardware, for example application software, is capitalised as an
intangible asset.
Internally generated intangible assets
Internally generated goodwill, brands, mastheads, publishing titles, customer, lists and similar
items are not capitalised as intangible assets.
"Expenditure on research is not capitalised: it is recognised as an operating expense in the
period in which it is incurred.
Expenditure on development is capitalised only where all of the following can be demonstrated:"
 the technical feasibility of completing the intangible asset so that it will be available for
use;
 the intention to complete the intangible asset and use it;
 the ability to sell or use the intangible asset;
 how the intangible asset will generate probable future economic benefits or service
potential;
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the availability of adequate technical, financial and other resources to complete the
intangible asset and sell or use it; and
the ability to measure reliably the expenditure attributable to the intangible asset during
its development.

Measurement
"Intangible assets are recognised initially at cost, comprising all directly attributable costs
needed to create, produce and prepare the asset to the point that it is capable of operating in
the manner intended by management.
Subsequently intangible assets are measured at fair value. Revaluation gains and losses and
impairments are treated in the same manner as for Property, Plant and Equipment.
Intangible assets held for sale are measured at the lower of their carrying amount or ‘fair value
less costs to sell’."
Amortisation
"Intangible assets are amortised over their expected useful economic lives in a manner
consistent with the consumption of economic or service delivery benefits."
1.14

Inventories

Inventories are valued at the lower of cost and net realisable value. The cost of inventories is
measure using the First In, First Out method. This is considered to be a reasonable
approximation to current cost due to the high turnover of stocks.
1.15

Cash and cash equivalents

Cash is cash in hand and deposits with any financial institution repayable without penalty on
notice of not more than 24 hours. Cash equivalents are investments that mature in 3 months or
less from the date of acquisition and that are readily convertible to known amounts of cash with
insignificant risk of change in value. These balances exclude monies held in the Foundation
Trust's bank account belonging to patients. Account balances are only set off where a formal
agreement has been made with the bank to do so. In all other cases overdrafts are disclosed
within payables. Interest earned on bank accounts and interest charged on overdrafts is
recorded as, respectively, interest receivable and interest payable in the periods to which they
relate. Bank charges are recorded as operating expenditure in the periods to which they relate.
1.16

Financial instruments and financial liabilities

Recognition
"Financial assets and financial liabilities which arise from contracts for the purchase or sale of
non-financial items (such as goods or services), which are entered into in accordance with the
foundation trust’s normal purchase, sale or usage requirements, are recognised when, and to
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the extent which, performance occurs, ie. when receipt or delivery of the goods or services is
made.
Financial assets or financial liabilities in respect of assets acquired or disposed of through
finance leases are recognised and measured in accordance with the accounting policy for
leases described below.
All other financial assets and financial liabilities are recognised when the Trust becomes a party
to the contractual provisions of the instrument."
De-recognition
"All financial assets are de-recognised when the rights to receive cash flows from the assets
have expired, or the trust has transferred substantially all of the risks and rewards of ownership.
Financial liabilities are de-recognised when the obligation is discharged, cancelled or expires."
Accounting policies (continued)
Classification
"Financial assets are categorised as Loans and receivables or ‘Available-for-sale financial
assets’.
Financial liabilities are classified as 'Other Financial liabilities'."
Loans and receivables
"Loans and receivables are non-derivative financial assets with fixed or determinable payments
which are not quoted in an active market. They are included in current assets.
The foundation trust’s loans and receivables comprise: cash at bank and in hand, NHS debtors,
accrued income and ‘other debtors’."
"Loans and receivables are recognised initially at fair value, net of transactions costs, and are
measured subsequently at amortised cost, using the effective interest method.
The effective interest rate is the rate that discounts exactly estimated future cash receipts
through the expected life of the financial asset or, when appropriate, a shorter period, to the net
carrying amount of the financial asset.
Interest on loans and receivables is calculated using the effective interest method and credited
to the Statement of Comprehensive Income."
Available-for-sale financial assets
"Available-for-sale financial assets are non-derivative financial assets which are either
designated in this category or not classified in any of the other categories.
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They are included in long-term assets unless the Trust intends to dispose of them within 12
months of the Statement of Financial Position date. "
Available-for-sale financial assets are recognised initially at fair value, including transaction
costs, and measured subsequently at fair value, with gains or losses recognised in reserves and
reported in the Statement of Comprehensive Income as an item of 'other comprehensive
income'. When items classified as ‘available-for-sale’ are sold or impaired, the accumulated fair
value adjustments recognised are transferred from reserves and recognised in 'Finance Costs'
in the Statement of Comprehensive Income.
Financial liabilities
"All financial liabilities are recognised initially at fair value, net of transaction costs incurred, and
measured subsequently at amortised cost using the effective interest method.
The effective interest rate is the rate that discounts exactly estimated future cash payments
through the expected life of the financial liability or, when appropriate, a shorter period, to the
net carrying amount of the financial liability."
They are included in current liabilities except for amounts payable more than 12 months after
the Statement of Financial Position date, which are classified as long-term liabilities.
Interest on financial liabilities carried at amortised cost is calculated using the effective interest
method and charged to Finance Costs. Interest on financial liabilities taken out to finance
property, plant and equipment or intangible assets is not capitalised as part of the cost of those
assets.
Determination of fair value
For financial assets and financial liabilities carried at fair value, the carrying amounts are
determined using discounted cash flow analysis.
Impairment of financial assets
At the Statement of Financial Position date, the Trust assesses whether any financial assets,
other than those held at ‘fair value through income and expenditure’ is impaired. Financial
assets are impaired and impairment losses are recognised if, and only if, there is objective
evidence of impairment as a result of one or more events which occurred after the initial
recognition of the asset and which has an impact on the estimated future cashflows of the asset.
For financial assets carried at amortised cost, the amount of the impairment loss is measured as
the difference between the asset’s carrying amount and the present value of the revised future
cash flows discounted at the asset’s original effective interest rate. The loss is recognised in the
Statement of Comprehensive Income and the carrying amount of the asset is reduced through
the use of a bad debt provision.
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The carrying amount of the financial assets is reduced when the outstanding debt is greater
than 6 months and payment has not been agreed with the respective debtor. Due to the
complexities of Private Patient debt recovery the reduction in these debts is based on
outstanding debts greater than one year where payment has not been agreed with the
respective debtor.
1.17

Leases

Leases are classified as finance leases when substantially all the risks and rewards of
ownership are transferred to the lessee. All other leases are classified as operating leases.
Accounting policies (continued)
Operating leases
Operating lease payments are recognised as an expense on a straight-line basis over the lease
term. Lease incentives are recognised initially as a liability and subsequently as a reduction of
rentals on a straight-line basis over the lease term.
Contingent rentals are recognised as an expense in the period in which they are incurred.
Where a lease is for land and buildings, the land and building components are separated and
individually assessed as to whether they are operating or finance leases.
Rental income from operating leases is recognised on a straight-line basis over the term of the
lease. Initial direct costs incurred in negotiating and arranging an operating lease are added to
the carrying amount of the leased asset and recognised on a straight-line basis over the lease
term.
1.18

Provisions

"The foundation trust recognises a provision where it has a present legal or constructive
obligation of uncertain timing or amount; for which it is probable that there will be a future
outflow of cash or other resources; and a reliable estimate can be made of the amount.
The amount recognised in the Statement of Financial Position is the best estimate of the
resources required to settle the obligation. Where the effect of the time value of money is
significant, the estimated risk-adjusted cash flows are discounted using the discount rates
published and mandated by HM Treasury."
Clinical negligence costs
The NHS Litigation Authority (NHSLA) operates a risk pooling scheme under which the
foundation trust pays an annual contribution to the NHSLA which in return settles all clinical
negligence claims. The contribution is charged to expenditure. Although the NHSLA is
administratively responsible for all clinical negligence cases the legal liability remains with the
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Foundation Trust. The total value of clinical negligence provisions carried by the NHSLA on
behalf of the foundation trust is disclosed at note 18.
Non-clinical risk pooling
The foundation trust participates in the Property Expenses Scheme and the Liabilities to Third
Parties Scheme. Both are risk pooling schemes under which the foundation trust pays an
annual contribution to the NHS Litigation Authority and, in return, receives assistance with the
costs of claims arising. The annual membership contributions, and any excesses payable in
respect of particular claims are charged to operating expenses as and when they become due.
1.19

Contingencies

"A contingent asset is a possible asset that arises from past events and whose existence will be
confirmed by the occurrence or non-occurrence of one or more uncertain future events not
wholly within the control of the foundation trust. A contingent asset is disclosed where an inflow
of economic benefits is probable."
Contingent liabilities are not recognised, but are disclosed in Note 19, unless the probability of a
transfer of economic benefits is remote. Contingent liabilities are defined as:


possible obligations arising from past events whose existence will be confirmed only by the
occurrence of one or more uncertain future events not wholly within the entity's control; or



present obligations arising from past events but for which it is not probable that a transfer of
economic benefits will arise or for which the amount of the obligation cannot be measured
with sufficient reliability.

Where the time value of money is material, contingencies are disclosed at their present value.
1.20

Public dividend capital

"Public Dividend Capital (PDC) is a type of public sector equity based on the excess of assets
over liabilities at the time of establishment of the predecessor NHS Trust. HM Treasury has
determined that PDC is not a financial instrument within the meaning of IAS 32.
A charge, reflecting the cost of capital utilised by the foundation trust, is payable as public
dividend capital dividend. The charge is calculated at the rate set by HM Treasury (currently
3.5%) on the average relevant net assets of the NHS foundation trust during the financial year. "
Relevant net assets are calculated as the value of all assets less the value of all liabilities,
except for:


donated assets (including lottery funded assets);



average daily cash balances held with the Government Banking Services (GBS) and
National Loans Fund (NLF) deposits, excluding cash balances held in GBS accounts that
relate to a short-term working capital facility;
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"for 2013-14 only, net assets and liabilities transferred from bodies which ceased to exist on
1 April 2013; and"
any PDC dividend balance receivable or payable. In accordance with the requirements laid
down by the Department of Health (as the issuer of PDC), the dividend for the year is
calculated on the actual average relevant net assets as set out in the ‘pre-audit’ version of
the annual accounts.

The dividend thus calculated is not revised should any adjustment to net assets occur as a
result the audit of the annual accounts.
1.21

Value added tax

"Most of the activities of the foundation trust are outside the scope of VAT and, in general,
output tax does not apply and input tax on purchases is not recoverable.
Irrecoverable VAT is charged to the relevant expenditure category or included in the capitalised
purchase cost of fixed assets. Where output tax is charged or input VAT is recoverable, the
amounts are stated net of VAT. "
1.22

Corporation tax

"The Finance Act 2004 amended S519A Income and Corporation Taxes Act 1988 provided
power to the Treasury to make certain non-core activities of Foundation Trusts potentially
subject to corporation tax. This legislation is effective from September 12 2005. Any outstanding
payments of corporation tax as at the end of the financial year are provided for in the Statement
of Comprehensive Income.
The foundation trust did not incur Corporation Tax in 2013-14 as the Trust did not generate any
taxable income."
1.23

Foreign exchange

"The functional and presentational currencies of the trust are sterling.
A transaction which is denominated in a foreign currency is translated into the functional
currency at the spot exchange rate on the date of the transaction. The foundation trust does not
have material foreign currency transactions."
1.24

Third party assets

Assets belonging to third parties (such as money held on behalf of patients) are not recognised
in the accounts since the NHS foundation trust has no beneficial interest in them. However, third
party assets are disclosed in Note 24 to the accounts in accordance with the requirements of
the HM Treasury Financial Reporting Manual.
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1.25

Losses and special payments

Losses and special payments are items that Parliament would not have contemplated when it
agreed funds for the health service or passed legislation. By their nature they are items that
ideally should not arise. They are therefore subject to special control procedures compared with
the generality of payments. They are divided into different categories, which govern the way that
individual cases are handled.
Losses and special payments are charged to the relevant functional headings in expenditure on
an accruals basis, including losses which would have been made good through insurance cover
had NHS bodies not been bearing their own risks (with insurance premiums then being included
as normal revenue expenditure).
However the losses and special payments note is compiled directly from the losses and
compensations register which reports on an accrual basis with the exception of provisions for
future losses.
1.26

Segmental analysis

The foundation trust has a number of business divisions which are aggregated under one
reportable segment being the provision of healthcare. The foundation trust provides Private
Patient, Research and Development and Training and Education services within this healthcare
sector, but as they do not have a material impact they are aggregated under this one reportable
segment. Note 2 entitled "Other Operating Income" includes the relevant income figures for
these services.
1.27

Going concern

After making enquiries, the Directors have a reasonable expectation that the foundation trust
has adequate resources to continue in operational existence for the foreseeable future. For this
reason, they continue to adopt the going concern basis in the preparation of the accounts.
1.28

Critical accounting judgements and key sources of estimation uncertainty

In the application of the foundation trust’s accounting policies, management is required to make
judgements, estimates and assumptions about the carrying amounts of assets and liabilities that
are not readily apparent from other sources. The estimates and associated assumptions are
based on historical experience and other factors that are considered to be relevant. Actual
results may differ from those estimates. The estimates and underlying assumptions are
reviewed on an on-going basis. Revisions to accounting estimates are recognised in the period
in which the estimate is revised if the revision affects only that period or in the period of the
revision and future periods if the revision affects both current and future periods.
"Management has made the following critical judgements in the process of applying the entity’s
accounting policies and this has had a significant effect on the amounts recognised in the
accounts:
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1) The use of estimated asset lives in calculating depreciation (see note 1.12 and 1.13);
and
2) Provisions for early voluntary retirement pension contributions and injury benefit
obligations are estimated using expected life tables and discounted at the pensions rate
of 2.2%."
1.29

Future changes in accounting policy

The following changes to standards issued by the IASB have not been implemented in these
accounts. The foundation trust does not expect these changes to have a significant impact in
the period of initial application.

Change published

IFRS 9 Financial Instruments
IFRS 10 Consolidated Financial
Statements
IFRS 11 Joint Arrangements
IFRS 12 Disclosure of Interests in
Other Entities
IFRS 13 Fair Value Measurement
IAS 27 Separate Financial Statements
IAS 28 Associates and joint ventures.
IAS 32 Financial Instruments:
Presentation – amendment
Offsetting financial assets and
liabilities

Published
by IASB

Financial year for which the change
first applies

October 2010

Uncertain. Not likely to be adopted by
the EU until the IASB has finished the
rest of its financial instruments project

May 2011
May 2011

Effective from 2014/15*.
Effective from 2014/15*.

May 2011
May 2011
May 2011
May 2011
December
2011

Effective from 2014/15*.
Effective from 2014/15*.
Effective from 2014/15*.
Effective from 2014/15*.
Effective from 2014/15*.

* This reflects the EU-adopted effective date rather than the effective date in the standard.
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2.

Operating income

2.1

Income from activities by classification

Elective income
Non-elective income
Outpatient income
Accident and emergency income
Other NHS clinical income*
Private Patient income
Other non-protected clinical income
Total income from activities
Other operating income
Total operating income

2013-14
£000

2012-13
£000

128,598
145,188
122,874
22,028
312,044
13,149
6,157
750,038
142,016
892,054

108,453
127,077
88,385
16,041
233,172
13,151
2,569
588,848
90,412
679,260

* Other NHS clinical income includes HIV/AIDS funding, NSCG funding for liver services, bone
marrow transplant funding, critical care funding from CCGs, off-tariff drugs and devices, renal
dialysis, direct access, community midwifery, community dental services, national screening
programmes, RTA funding and IVF services.
Other operating income includes the following:

Research and development
Education and training
Received from NHS charities: donations for capital acquisitions
Received from NHS charities: other charitable and other
contributions to expenditure
Non-patient care services to other bodies
Other**
Rental revenue from operating leases
Total

2013-14
£000

2012-13
£000

12,117
49,652
32

9,652
47,347
960

312
69,836
9,795
272
142,016

918
19,255
11,994
286
90,412

** Other income includes NHS provider-to-provider services, clinical excellence awards, staff
nursery, car parking, accommodation and commercial rents.
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2.2

Income from activities arising from commissioner requested and non-commissioner
requested services
2013-14
2012-13
£000
£000
Commissioner requested services
Non-commisioner requested services
Total

2.3

618,526
60,734
679,260

Operating lease income

Rental revenue from operating leases

Future minimum lease payments due on leases of buildings expiring
- not later than one year
- between one and five years
- later than five years
Total

2.4

779,310
112,744
892,054

2013-14
£000

2012-13
£000

272

286

31 March
2014
£000

Restated
31 March
2013
£000

1,230
839
135
2,204

218
849
342
1,409

2013-14
£000

2012-13
£000

700
1,382
720,658
1,934

876
859
35,094
529,248
2,623

201
13,149
6,157
3,055
2,802
750,038

13,151
2,569
2,635
1,793
588,848

Income from activities by type

NHS Foundation Trusts
NHS Trusts
Clinical Commissioning Groups and NHS England
Strategic Health Authorities*
Primary Care Trusts*
Department of Health
NHS Other (including Public Health England and Prop Co)
Non-NHS
Local Authorities
Private patients
Overseas patients (non-reciprocal)
Injury costs recovery**
Other***
Total
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* Strategic Health Authorities and Primary Care Trusts ceased to exist on 31 March 2013, under the
Health and Social Care Act 2012. Their functions have been transferred to various new bodies in the
health landscape: the majority of income types previously received from Strategic Health Authorities and
Primary Care Trusts in 2012-13 was received from Clinical Commissioning Groups and NHS England in
2013-14.
** NHS Injury Scheme income is subject to a provision for doubtful debts of 15.8% to reflect expected
rates of collection. The total outstanding claims against this scheme at 31 March 2014 were £8.735m (31
March 2013: £6.827m), and a provision of £1.380m (31 March 2013: £0.717m) was raised against this
amount.
*** Non-NHS Other income includes patient care provided to devolved administrations, personal
contributions for IVF treatment and services to prisons.
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3.

Operating expenses

3.1

Operating expenses by type
2013-14
£000

Restated
2012-13
£000

90,028
79,702
3,453
4,220
9,156
31,215
8,625
39,511
13,336
25,808

67,894
69,645
2,717
2,806
6,666
23,862
7,180
24,961
10,010
25,275

2,403
3,999
2

3,191
896
6
-

16,226
699
2,648
430

13,925
763
9,129
474

Drug inventories consumed
Supplies and services - clinical
Supplies and services - general
Establishment
Transport
Premises
Rentals under operating leases - minimum lease payments
PFI service costs
Clinical negligence
Purchase of healthcare from non-NHS bodies
Services from NHS bodies
NHS Foundation Trusts
NHS Trusts
Primary Care Trusts
Other NHS bodies
Non-cash movements on non-current assets
Depreciation on property, plant and equipment
Amortisation on intangible assets
Impairments and reversals of property, plant and equipment
Loss on disposal of property, plant and equipment
Non-cash movements on provisions
Increase in provision for impairment of receivables
Audit fees payable to the external auditor
Statutory audit
Regulatory reporting
Other auditor remuneration
Non-Executive Director benefits
Other*
Total operating expenses (excluding employee benefits)

4,597

2,262

141
2
155
138
35,814
372,308

81
2
5
166
22,034
293,950

Employee benefits
Executive Director benefits
Other employee benefits
Redundancy costs
Total employee benefits

1,601
497,966
499,567

1,473
372,405
66
373,944

Total

871,875

667,894

* Other operating expenses include expenditure on consultancy costs, leasing equipment,
training and legal fees.
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3.2

Operating leases
Rentals under operating leases include the
following:
2013-14
£000

2012-13
£000

6,069
2,556
8,625

4,684
2,496
7,180

2013-14
£000

2012-13
£000

Hire of plant and machinery
- not later than one year
- between one and five years
- later than five years
Total hire of plant and machinery

8,038
22,823
1,336
32,197

4,293
9,945
1,807
16,045

Rental of buildings
- not later than one year
- between one and five years
- later than five years
Total rental of buildings
Total

2,594
5,190
115
7,899
40,096

2,403
7,496
803
10,702
26,747

Hire of plant and machinery
Rental of buildings
Total
Future minimum lease payments fall due as follows:

Better Payment Practice Code - measure of compliance
3.3
The Better Payment Practice Code requires the Foundation Trust to aim to pay all undisputed
invoices by the due date or within 30 days of receipt of goods or a valid invoice, whichever is the
earlier. The Foundation Trust's performance against this target was as follows:
2013-14
Number
Non-NHS trade invoices:
Paid in the year
Paid within target
Percentage paid within target
NHS trade invoices
Paid in the year
Paid within target
Percentage paid within target

218

£000

2012-13
Number

£000

147,920
86,196
58%

384,944
304,352
79%

122,690
46,331
38%

289,177
186,883
65%

3,399
1,887
56%

108,086
90,460
84%

3,076
1,269
41%

74,573
53,812
72%
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3.4

Late Payment of Commercial Debts (Interest) Act 1998

Compensation paid to cover debt recovery costs under this
legislation

3.5

2013-14
£000

2012-13
£000

3

5

Audit fees (external auditors)
There was no limitation on auditor's liability in 2013-14 or in 12-13.

4

Employee benefits and staff numbers

4.1

Employee benefits
2013-14

Salaries and wages
Social security costs
Employer contributions to NHS
Pensions
Other pension costs
Agency and contract staff
Gross employee benefits
Less income where netted off expenditure from:
NHS bodies
Other bodies
Total

Total
£000
393,316
30,310

Permanently
employed
£000
331,127
30,310

Other
£000
62,189
-

43,622
733
34,013
501,994

43,622
733
405,792

34,013
96,202

(1,842)
(585)
499,567

(1,842)
(585)
403,365

96,202

2012-13

Salaries and wages
Social security costs
Employer contributions to NHS
Pensions
Other pension costs
Agency and contract staff
Gross employee benefits
Less income where netted off expenditure from:
NHS bodies
Other bodies
Total

Total
£000
306,330
25,343

Permanently
employed
£000
300,721
25,343

Other
£000
5,609
-

31,973
707
12,775
377,128

31,973
707
358,744

12,775
18,384

(2,124)
(1,060)
373,944

(2,124)
(1,060)
355,560

18,384
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4.2

Employee numbers

Total
Average employee numbers
Medical and dental
Administration and estates
Healthcare assistants and other support
staff
Nursing, midwifery and health visiting staff
Nursing, midwifery and health visiting
learners
Scientific, therapeutic and technical staff
Social care staff
Other
Total

4.3

2013-14
Permanently
employed

2012-13
Other

Total

1,533
1,720

665
1,617

868
103

1,235
1,381

707
2,992

698
2,899

9
93

566
2,529

13
1,364
7
655
8,991

7
1,197
7
7,090

6
167
655
1,901

20
1,126
7
6
6,870

Staff sickness absence

Days lost (long term)
Days lost (short term)
Total days lost
Total staff years
Average working days lost
Total staff employed in period (headcount)
Total staff employed in period with no absence (headcount)
Percentage of staff with no sick leave

2013-14
Number
29,367
25,298
54,665
8,436
6.5

Restated
2012-13
Number
26,696
31,008
57,704
6,660
8.7

12,606
6,806
54%

8,962
3,846
43%

Average sickness absence days are provided by the Department of Health, and are calculated using
calendar years, rather than financial years.

4.4

Early retirements due to ill health

Early retirements on the grounds of illhealth

Early retirements on the grounds of illhealth
The cost of ill-health retirements is borne by NHS Pensions.
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2012-13
Number

7

3

£000

£000

353
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4.5

Termination benefits

4.5a

By number of cases:

2013-14

Exit package cost band (including any
special payment element)
Less than £10,000
£10,000-£25,000
£25,001-£50,000
£50,001-£100,000
Total

Other
departures
agreed
14
1
1
16

4.5b

Compulsory
redundancy
5
2
7

2012-13

Total
14
6
3
23

Total
1
1
2

By value of payments:
2013-14
Exit package cost band (including any
special payment element)
Less than £10,000
£10,000-£25,000
£25,001-£50,000
£50,001-£100,000
Total

4.5c

Compulsory
redundancy
£000
101
60
161

Other
departures
agreed
£000
61
14
37
112

2012-13

Total
£000
61
115
97
273

Total
12
54
66

Other departures agreed are as follows:
2013-14
Number

£000

16

112

-

-

Contractual payments in lieu of notice
Of which:
Non-contractual payments made to individuals where the payment value was
more than 12 months of their annual salary

No other departures were agreed in 2012-13: the two departures in 2012-13 were compulsory redundancies.
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4.6 Salary and pension entitlements of senior managers
4.6a Median salary disclosures

Band of highest paid director's total remuneration
Median total remuneration (£)
Ratio

2013/2014
(bands of
£5,000)
245-250
37,947
6.6

2012/2013
(bands of
£5,000)
230 - 235
37,395
6.2

The above note discloses the median remuneration of the Trust's staff and the ratio between this and
the mid-point of the banded remuneration of the highest paid director. The calculation is based on fulltime equivalent staff of the reporting entity at the reporting period end date on an annualised basis.

4.6b Business related travel and subsistence expenses
Five Executive Directors received travel and subsistence expenses totalling £4,609
(2012-13: five, £4,848).
Two Non-Executive Directors received travel and subsistence expenses totalling £710
(2012-13: two, £706).
Three Governors received travel and subsistence expenses totalling £539
(2012-13: three, £348).
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4.6 Salary and pension entitlements of senior managers
4.6c Remuneration
2013-14

Name

Salary &
Fees
(bands of
£5,000)

Pension
Related
Benefits
(bands of
£2,500)

55 - 60
10 - 15
10 - 15
10 - 15
10 - 15
10 - 15
-

-

Angela Huxham

Chief Executive
Chief Financial Officer
Executive Director of Operations
Executive Medical Director
Executive Director of Nursing,
Midwifery and Infection Control
Executive Director of Workforce
Development

245
150
185
85

Co-opted members of the Trust's board
Jane Walters
Director of Corporate Affairs
Jacob West
Director of Strategy
Pedro Castro
Interim Director of Strategy
Graham Meek
Sue Slipman
Professor Gulam J Mufti
Professor Alan McGregor
Maxine James
Jacob West
Pedro Castro

Total
(bands of
£5,000)

Salary &
Fees
(bands of
£5,000)

Total
(bands of
£5,000)

Title

Chairman and Non-Executive Directors
Professor Sir George Alberti
Chairman
Graham Meek
Acting Chairman
Graham Meek
Vice Chairman
Faith Boardman
Non-Executive Director
Marc Meryon *
Non-Executive Director
Professor Gulam J Mufti
Non-Executive Director
Sue Slipman
Non-Executive Director
Chris Stooke
Non-Executive Director
Maxine James
Non-Executive Director
Professor Alan McGregor
Non-Executive Director
Executive Directors
Tim Smart
Simon Taylor
Roland Sinker
Michael Marrinan
Dr Geraldine Walters

Other
remuneration
(bands of
£5,000)

2012-13
Pension
Related
Other
Benefits remuneration
(bands of
(bands of
£2,500)
£5,000)

Acting Chairman
Non-Executive Director
Non-Executive Director
Non-Executive Director
Non-Executive Director
Director of Strategy
Interim Director of Strategy

1
1
1
1
1
1
1

-

250
155
190
90

32.5 - 35
32.5 - 35
50 -52.5

150 -155

55 - 60
10 - 15
10 - 15
125 - 130

140 - 145
10 - 15
10 - 15

55
35
0
10

- 60
- 40
-5
- 15
5 - 10
5 - 10
10 - 15
0-5
10 - 15

55
35
0
10

- 60
- 40
-5
- 15
120 - 125
5 - 10
10 - 15
0-5

32.5 - 35
57.5 - 60
50 - 52.5

5 - 10
95 - 100

230
205
230
225

230
170
170
75

35 - 37.5

185 - 190

140 - 145

-

-

140 - 145

145 - 150

67.5 - 70

210 - 215

130 - 135

97.5 - 100

-

225 - 230

125 - 130
100 - 105
125 - 130

47.5 - 50
30 - 32.5
-

170 - 175
130 - 135
-

110 - 115
140 - 145
-

157.5 - 160
40 - 42.5

-

270 - 275
185 - 190

105 - 110

235
175
175
80

115 - 120
110 - 115

245 - 250
210 - 215
215 -220
245 - 250

25 - 30

-

-

-

235
210
235
230

May 2012 - 31 December 2012
July 2012 - 31 March 2013
December 2012 - 31 March 2013
March 2012 - 30 November 2012
April 2012 - 30 April 2012
April 2013 - 30 November 2013
December 2013 - 31 March 2014

None of the Non-Executive or Executive Directors received benefits in kinds in 2013-14 or 2012-13.
* Marc Meryon has waived his fee.
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4.6d Pension entitlements at 31 March 2014

Name

Real
increase
in pension
at age 60
£000
(bands of
£2,500)

Real
increase
in pension
lump sum
at age 60
£000
(bands of
£2,500)

2.5 - 5.0
0 - 2.5
2.5 - 5.0
0 - 2.5
2.5 - 5.0

5.0 - 7.5
7.5 - 10
5.0 - 7.5
10 - 12.5

2.5 - 5.0
2.5 - 5.0

7.5 - 10.0
-

Total
accrued
pension
at age 60
£000
(bands of
£5,000)

Lump sum
at age 60
£000
(bands of
£5,000)

CETV
at start of
year
£000

CETV
at end of
year
£000

Real
increase
in CETV
£000

Normal
Retirement
Age

105
1,065
709
1,159
-

139
1,165
842
1,275
-

34
100
133
116
-

65
60
60
60
60

63

85

22

60
65

Title

Non-Executive Directors
Non-Executive Directors do not receive pensionable remuneration.
Executive Directors
Roland Sinker
Simon Taylor
Michael Marrinan
Dr Geraldine Walters
Angela Huxham

Executive Director of Operations
Chief Financial Officer
Executive Medical Director
Executive Director of Nursing, Midwifery & IC
Executive Director of Workforce Development

Co-opted members of the Trust's board
Jane Walters
Director of Corporate Affairs
Jacob West
Director of Strategy

10
60
30
55
50

- 15
- 65
- 35
- 60
- 55

45 - 50
10 - 15

180
105
170
155

- 185
- 110
- 175
- 160

140 - 145
-

During the 2013-14 the total value of employer contributions to the pension scheme in respect of Board member directors was £138k (2012-13: £136k).
A Cash Equivalent Transfer Value (CETV) is the actuarially assessed capital value of the pension scheme benefits accrued by a member at a particular point in time. The
benefits valued are the member’s accrued benefits and any contingent spouse’s pension payable from the scheme. A CETV is a payment made by a pension scheme or
arrangement to secure pension benefits in another pension scheme or arrangement when the member leaves a scheme and chooses to transfer the benefits accrued in their
former scheme. The pension figures shown relate to the benefits that the individual has accrued as a consequence of their total membership of the pension scheme, not just
their service in a senior capacity to which disclosure applies. The CETV figures and the other pension details include the value of any pension benefits in another scheme or
arrangement which the individual has transferred to the NHS pension scheme. They also include any additional pension benefit accrued to the member as a result of their
purchasing additional years of pension service in the scheme at their own cost. CETVs and other disclosures are provided by NHS Pensions, and are calculated within the
guidelines and framework prescribed by the Institute and Faculty of Actuaries.
The real increase in CETV reflects the increase in CETV effectively funded by the employer. It takes account of the increase in accrued pension due to inflation, contributions
paid by the employee (including the value of any benefits transferred from another scheme or arrangement) and uses common market valuation factors for the start and end
of the period.
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4.7

Pension costs

Past and present employees are covered by the provisions of the NHS Pensions Scheme.
Details of the benefits payable under these provisions can be found on the NHS Pensions
website at www.nhsbsa.nhs.uk/pensions. The scheme is an unfunded, defined benefit scheme
that covers NHS employers, GP practices and other bodies, allowed under the direction of the
Secretary of State, in England and Wales. The scheme is not designed to be run in a way that
would enable NHS bodies to identify their share of the underlying scheme assets and liabilities.
Therefore, the scheme is accounted for as if it were a defined contribution scheme: the cost to
the NHS Body of participating in the scheme is taken as equal to the contributions payable to
the scheme for the accounting period.
In order that the defined benefit obligations recognised in the financial statements do not differ
materially from those that would be determined at the reporting date by a formal actuarial
valuation, the FReM requires that “the period between formal valuations shall be four years, with
approximate assessments in intervening years”. An outline of these follows: "
a) Accounting valuation
A valuation of the scheme liability is carried out annually by the scheme actuary as at the end of
the reporting period. This utilises an actuarial assessment for the previous accounting period in
conjunction with updated membership and financial data for the current reporting period, and
are accepted as providing suitably robust figures for financial reporting purposes. The valuation
of the scheme liability as at 31 March 2014, is based on valuation data as 31 March 2013,
updated to 31 March 2014 with summary global member and accounting data. In undertaking
this actuarial assessment, the methodology prescribed in IAS 19, relevant FReM interpretations,
and the discount rate prescribed by HM Treasury have also been used. "
The latest assessment of the liabilities of the scheme is contained in the scheme actuary report,
which forms part of the annual NHS Pension Scheme (England and Wales) Pension Accounts,
published annually. These accounts can be viewed on the NHS Pensions website. Copies can
also be obtained from The Stationery Office.
b) Full actuarial (funding) valuation
The purpose of this valuation is to assess the level of liability in respect of the benefits due
under the scheme (taking into account its recent demographic experience), and to recommend
the contribution rates.
The last published actuarial valuation undertaken for the NHS Pension Scheme was completed
for the year ending 31 March 2004. Consequently, a formal actuarial valuation would have been
due for the year ending 31 March 2008. However, formal actuarial valuations for unfunded
public service schemes were suspended by HM Treasury on value for money grounds while
consideration is given to recent changes to public service pensions, and while future scheme
terms are developed as part of the reforms to public service pension provision due in 2015.
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The Scheme Regulations were changed to allow contribution rates to be set by the Secretary of
State for Health, with the consent of HM Treasury, and consideration of the advice of the
Scheme Actuary and appropriate employee and employer representatives as deemed
appropriate.
The next formal valuation to be used for funding purposes will be carried out at as at March
2012 and will be used to inform the contribution rates to be used from 1 April 2015. "
c) Scheme provisions
The NHS Pension Scheme provided defined benefits, which are summarised below. This list is
an illustrative guide only, and is not intended to detail all the benefits provided by the Scheme or
the specific conditions that must be met before these benefits can be obtained:"
The Scheme is a “final salary” scheme. Annual pensions are normally based on 1/80th for the
1995 section and of the best of the last three years pensionable pay for each year of service,
and 1/60th for the 2008 section of reckonable pay per year of membership. Members who are
practitioners as defined by the Scheme Regulations have their annual pensions based upon
total pensionable earnings over the relevant pensionable service.
With effect from 1 April 2008 members can choose to give up some of their annual pension for
an additional tax free lump sum, up to a maximum amount permitted under HMRC rules. This
new provision is known as “pension commutation”.
Annual increases are applied to pension payments at rates defined by the Pensions (Increase)
Act 1971, and are based on changes in retail prices in the twelve months ending 30 September
in the previous calendar year. From 2011-12 the Consumer Price Index (CPI) has been used
and replaced the Retail Prices Index (RPI).
Early payment of a pension, with enhancement, is available to members of the scheme who are
permanently incapable of fulfilling their duties effectively through illness or infirmity. A death
gratuity of twice final year’s pensionable pay for death in service, and five times their annual
pension for death after retirement is payable.
For early retirements other than those due to ill health the additional pension liabilities are not
funded by the scheme. The full amount of the liability for the additional costs is charged to the
employer.
Members can purchase additional service in the NHS Scheme and contribute to money
purchase AVC’s run by the Scheme’s approved providers or by other Free Standing Additional
Voluntary Contributions (FSAVC) providers.

226

King’s College Hospital NHS Foundation Trust | Annual Report 2013/14

Annual Accounts 2013/14

5

Finance revenue
2013-14
£000
101
68
169

2012-13
£000
79
73
152

2013-14
£000

2012-13
£000

749

578

12,313
3,997
17,059

7,513
2,143
10,234

2013-14
£000

2012-13
£000

Changes in market price - charged to operating expenses

2,648

9,129

Changes in market price - charged to the revaluation reserve
Total

2,139
4,787

4,766
13,895

Interest on bank accounts
Interest on loans and receivables
Total

6

Finance expenses
Interest
Loans from the Independent Trust Financing Facility
Finance costs on PFI and other service concession arrangements
Main finance cost
Contingent finance cost
Total

7

Impairments

Asset valuations were undertaken in 2014 as at the prospective valuation date of 31 March 2014.
The revaluation resulted in an increase of £4.253m in the value of land owned by the Trust and an
overall increase to buildings and dwellings net book value of £53.142m.
A net impairment amount of £2.648m has been charged to the Statement of Comprehensive Income.
This is as a result of a decrease in value of certain buildings leading to an impairment of £4.043m.
This impairment has been offset by the reversal of prior year impairments of £1.395m where buildings
values has increased in 2013/2014.
The buildings which decreased in value include CDU Modular building (£650k), Infill Block 4 (£769k),
Cheyne Wing Block 4 (£1.403m), Denmark Wing (£476k), Unit 8, KCH Business Park (£587k) and
other buildings (£158k).

8

Share of operating profit in associates and joint
ventures

GSTS Pathology LLP
NIHR/Wellcome Trust Clinical Research Facility

2013-14
£000

2012-13
£000

1,278
(361)
917

738
(120)
618
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9

Intangible non-current assets

9.1

Intangible non-current assets - current year

Cost or valuation
At 1 April 2013
Transfer by absorption from SLHT
Additions purchased
Reclassifications
At 31 March 2014
Amortisation
At 1 April 2013
Transfer by absorption from SLHT
Charged during the year
Reclassifications
At 31 March 2014
Net book value
Purchased
Total at 31 March 2014
Revaluation reserve balance
At 1 April 2013
Indexation movement in year
At 31 March 2014

9.2

Development
expenditure

Total

£000

£000

£000

4,820
3,721
803
9,344

687
687

5,507
3,721
803
10,031

3,423
3,455
697
7,575

685
2
687

4,108
3,455
699
8,262

1,769
1,769

-

1,769
1,769

48
48

-

48
48

Development expenditure represents the implementation cost of the Activity Based Costing project,
which was completed in 2006-07, and is still in use.
Intangible non-current assets - prior year
Software
Development
Total
licences
expenditure
Cost or valuation
At 1 April 2012
Additions purchased
Reclassifications
At 31 March 2013
Amortisation
At 1 April 2012
Charged during the year
Reclassifications
At 31 March 2013
Net book value
Purchased
Total at 31 March 2013
Revaluation reserve balance
At 1 April 2012
Indexation movement in year
At 31 March 2013

228

Software
licences

£000

£000

£000

3,921
594
305
4,820

687
687

4,608
594
305
5,507

2,647
763
13
3,423

685
685

3,332
763
13
4,108

1,397
1,397

2
2

1,399
1,399

48
48

-

48
48
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10 Property, plant and equipment
10.1 Property, plant and equipment - current year
Land

£000

Buildings
excluding
dwellings
£000

Dwellings

Assets under
construction

Plant &
machinery

Information
technology

Furniture
& fittings

Total

Cost or valuation
At 1 April 2013
Transfer by absorption from SLHT
Additions purchased
Additions donated
Reclassifications
Disposals
Upward revaluation/positive indexation
Impairments/negative indexation
Reversal of impairments
At 31 March 2014

£000

£000

£000

£000

£000

£000

53,802
17,690
4,188
75,680

265,769
122,570
4,878
174
22,487
28,774
(2,139)
442,513

2,130
249
91
2,470

16,218
21,185
(22,736)
58
14,725

46,475
20,199
4,183
103
(2,642)
215
68,533

17,031
2,541
4,452
(9,760)
14,264

1,089
5
701
14
1,809

402,514
163,005
35,399
277
(12,402)
33,340
(2,139)
619,994

Depreciation
At 1 April 2013
Transfer by absorption from SLHT
Charged during the year
Reclassifications
Disposals
Upward revaluation/positive indexation
Impairments/negative indexation
Reversal of impairments
At 31 March 2014

70
(70)
-

13,272
10,432
6
(26,354)
2,648
4

7
59
(6)
(60)
-

(58)
58
-

28,463
10,785
4,330
(2,195)
41,383

13,447
1,383
1,284
(9,760)
6,354

506
2
121
8
637

55,707
12,170
16,226
(11,955)
(26,418)
2,648
48,378

Net book value
Owned - purchased
Owned - donated
On balance sheet PFI
Total at 31 March 2014

59,966
2,324
13,390
75,680

203,806
13,600
225,103
442,509

1,989
481
2,470

14,725
14,725

21,076
1,886
4,188
27,150

7,901
9
7,910

1,143
29
1,172

310,606
18,329
242,681
571,616

Revaluation reserve balance
At 1 April 2013
Revaluation and indexation in year
At 31 March 2014

35,360
4,254
39,614

41,256
54,451
95,707

737
395
1,132

1,424
(1,424)
-

8,490
(222)
8,268

-

221
7
228

87,488
57,461
144,949
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10.2 Property, plant and equipment - prior year
Land

230

£000

Buildings
excluding
dwellings
£000

Dwellings

Assets under
construction

Plant &
machinery

Information
technology

Furniture
& fittings

Total

Cost or valuation
At 1 April 2012
Additions purchased
Additions donated
Reclassifications
Disposals
Upward revaluation/positive indexation
Impairments/negative indexation
At 31 March 2013

£000

£000

£000

£000

£000

£000

52,214
1,588
53,802

245,395
1,376
28,347
(58)
(4,525)
(4,766)
265,769

2,504
(374)
2,130

27,532
16,799
463
(28,576)
16,218

46,275
1,647
582
(6)
(2,850)
827
46,475

21,280
1,218
15
(70)
(5,412)
17,031

1,124
72
(127)
20
1,089

396,324
21,112
1,060
(305)
(8,447)
(2,464)
(4,766)
402,514

Depreciation
At 1 April 2012
Charged during the year
Reclassifications
Disposals
Upward revaluation/positive indexation
Impairments/negative indexation
At 31 March 2013

70
70

4,233
9,439
57
(1)
(9,585)
9,129
13,272

13
93
(99)
7

(58)
(58)

27,052
3,365
(1)
(2,434)
481
28,463

17,544
922
(11)
(5,008)
13,447

518
106
(127)
9
506

49,430
13,925
(13)
(7,570)
(9,194)
9,129
55,707

Net book value
Owned - purchased
Owned - donated
On balance sheet PFI
Total at 31 March 2013

51,540
2,192
53,732

164,478
11,522
76,497
252,497

2,038
85
2,123

15,813
463
16,276

15,722
2,290
18,012

3,568
16
3,584

548
35
583

253,707
16,603
76,497
346,807

Revaluation reserve balance
At 1 April 2012
Revaluation and indexation in year
At 31 March 2013

33,767
1,593
35,360

41,308
(52)
41,256

648
89
737

1,424
1,424

8,555
(65)
8,490

-

229
(8)
221

85,931
1,557
87,488
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11

Investments

11.1

Subsidiary undertakings, associates and joint ventures held
The Foundation Trust's principal subsidiary undertakings, associates and joint ventures as
included in its consolidated accounts are set out below.
The accounting date of the financial statements for the subsidiaries is 31 March 2014, and for
the associate, 31 December 2013. For the associate undertaking that has a different accounting
year end date, interim accounts to 31 March 2014 have been consolidated.
Country of
Incorporation
Directly owned subsidiary undertakings
KCH Commercial Services
Ltd
UK
Indirectly owned subsidiary undertakings
KCH Management Ltd
UK
Agnentis Ltd
UK

Associates
GSTS Pathology LLP (GSTS)
Kings College Hospital Clinics
LLC (KCHC)
(not yet trading)
Joint
operations
NIHR/Wellcome Trust
Clinical Research Facility* (CRF)
Equity
Constructions

UK
UAE

Beneficial
interest

Principal activity

100%

Holding company

100%
100%

Healthcare services
Software consultancy
and supply

33.3%
49%

Healthcare services
Specialist outpatient
healthcare treatment

UK
35%
54%

Research
Research

* The Foundation Trust entered into a joint operation with King's College London and South
London and Maudsley NHS Foundation Trust for the construction and use of premises known as
the NIHR/Wellcome Trust Clinical Research Facility, which opened in November 2012.
The Foundation Trust has capitalised 54% of the cost of the building, and equipment assets
therein based on the construction proportion. The Foundation Trust recognises 35% of revenue
and expenditure generated by the facility, based on the equity proportion as stipulated in the
Collaboration Agreement.
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11.2

Carrying value of investments held

Balance of 1
April
Acquisitions in
year
Share of profit
Balance at 31 March
11.3

2013-14
CRF
£000
5,025
1,060
(361)

12

Inventories

12.1

Inventories - current year

At 1 April 2013
Additions
Inventories consumed and
expensed
Transfer by absorption from
SLHT
At 31 March 2014

2013-14
Total
£000

2012-13
Total
£000

816

-

816

78

1,278
2,094

1,504
1,504

1,504
1,278
3,598

738
816

2013-14
GSTS
£000
12,190
(12,169)
30,818
1,278

2013-14
KCHC
£000
1,504
-

2013-14
Total
£000
18,719
(12,169)
31,878
917

2012-13
Total
£000
16,820
(12,779)
30,333
618

Drugs
£000

Consumables
£000

Energy
£000

Total
£000

3,566
90,535

7,767
73,846

310

11,333
164,691

(90,028)

(72,601)

(323)

(162,952)

820
4,893

1,373
10,385

27
14

2,220
15,292

Drugs
£000

Consumables
£000

Energy
£000

Total
£000

3,108
68,352

7,855
59,380

-

10,963
127,732

(67,894)
3,566

(59,468)
7,767

-

(127,362)
11,333

Inventories - prior year

At 1 April 2012
Additions
Inventories consumed and
expensed
At 31 March 2013

232

2013-14
KCHC
£000

Fair value of investments held

Assets
Liabilities
Revenues
Profit/(loss)

12.2

2013-14
GSTS
£000
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13

Trade and other receivables

13.1

Trade and other receivables
Restated
31
March
2014
£000

31 March
2013
£000

68,120
17,035

12,553
2,628

Current
NHS receivables - revenue
NHS prepayments and accrued
income
PDC receivable from the Department of
Health
Receivables with related parties - revenue
Receivables with related parties - capital
Non-NHS receivables - revenue
Non-NHS receivables - capital
Non-NHS prepayments and accrued income
Provision for the impairment of receivables
VAT receivable
Operating lease receivables
Other receivables
Total current receivables

-

253

840
24,670
95
9,947
(7,576)
3,267
1,737
118,135

2,487
263
22,614
6,243
(4,666)
1,968
767
45,110

Non-current
Receivables with related parties
- revenue
Non-NHS receivables - revenue
Total non-current receivables
Total

2,596
1,571
4,167
122,302

2,598
1,236
3,834
48,944

The majority of trade is with NHS England and Clinical Commissioning Groups. As these bodies
are funded by Government to buy NHS patient care services, no credit scoring of them is
considered necessary.
The largest debtor at 31 March 2014 was NHS England, with outstanding invoices totalling
£33.650m.
13.2

Receivables past their due date but not impaired

By up to three months
By three to six months
By more than six months
Total

31 March
2014
£000

31 March
2013
£000

17,842
11,263
11,063
40,168

7,938
5,310
12,975
26,223
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13.3

Provision for impairment of receivables

Balance at 1 April
Amount written off during the year
Amount recovered during the year
Decrease in receivables impaired
Balance at 31 March
13.4

4,666
(1,687)
(1,751)
6,348
7,576

2,756
(352)
(1,154)
3,416
4,666

31 March
2014
£000

31 March
2013
£000

713
531
6,332
7,576

371
1,008
3,287
4,666

31 March
2014

31 March
2013

£000

£000

40,502
14,033
54,535

27,607
12,895
40,502

51,060
3,475

20,224
20,278

54,535

40,502

12

14

Cash and cash equivalents

Opening balance
Transfer by absorption from SLHT
Net change in year
Closing balance
Made up of
Cash with Government Banking Service
Commercial banks and cash in hand
Cash and cash equivalents as in statement of financial
position
Patients' money held by the Foundation Trust, not included above

234

31 March
2013
£000

Impaired receivables past their due date

By up to three months
By three to six months
By more than six months
Total

14

31 March
2014
£000
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15 Trade and other payables

Current
Receipts in advance
NHS payables - revenue
NHS accruals
Payables with related parties - revenue
Non-NHS payables - revenue
Non-NHS payables - capital
Non-NHS accruals
Social security costs payable
Other taxes payable
PDC Dividends payable
Other payables
Total

31 March
2014
£000

Restated
31 March
2013
£000

1,428
5,619
12,428
967
36,922
3,410
55,140
5,260
5,744
804
9,607

2,111
4,234
5,397
693
29,061
2,080
23,352
3,997
4,095
7,801

137,329

82,821

31 March
2014
£000

31 March
2013
£000

5,415
4,574
9,989

1,573
3,979
5,552

31 March
2014
£000

31 March
2013
£000

1,012
78
3,199
4,289

1,012
123
804
1,939

47,842
1,700
157,023
206,565
210,854

15,254
95
75,585
90,934
92,873

All trade and other payables are current; there are no non-current balances.

16 Deferred income

Current
NHS deferred income
Non-NHS deferred income
Total
All deferred income is current; there are no non-current balances.

17 Borrowings

Current
Loans from the Independent Trust Financing Facility
Other loans
Obligations under PFI contracts
Total current borrowings
Non-current
Loans from the Foundation Trust Financing Facility
Other loans
Obligations under PFI contracts
Total non-current borrowings
Total
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18

Provisions

18.1 Provisions - current year

At 1 April 2013
Transferred by
absorption from
SLHT
Arising during the year
Utilised during the
year non-cash
Utilised during the
year cash
Reversed unused
Change in discount
rate
Unwinding of discount
At 31 March 2014

Total
£000

Early
Departure
costs
£000

Legal
claims
£000

Redundancy

£000

Other
£000

10,209

7,600

165

2,309

135

431
555

5
279

426
115

90

71

(197)

(187)

(10)

-

-

(2,607)
(526)

(547)
-

(13)
(129)

(2,047)
(262)

(135)

165
8,030

157
7,307

8
562

90

71

749

234

90

71

2,993
3,565
7,307

168
160
562

90

71

Total
£000

Early
Departure
costs
£000

Legal
claims
£000

Redundancy
£000

Other
£000

7,216
2,533

6,916
49

156
96

2,309

144
79

(176)

(176)

-

-

-

(637)
(69)

(531)
-

(18)
(69)

-

(88)
-

1,167

1,167

-

-

-

Expected timing of cash flows:
1,144
No later than one year
Later than one year
and
3,161
not later than five years
3,725
Later than five years
Total
8,030
18.2

Provisions - prior year

At 1 April 2012
Arising during the year
Utilised during the
year non-cash
Utilised during the
year cash
Reversed unused
Change in discount
rate
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Unwinding of discount
At 31 March 2013

175
10,209

Expected timing of cash flows:
3,316
No later than one year
Later than one year
and
2,827
not later than five years
4,066
Later than five years
Total
10,209
18.3

175
7,600

165

2,309

135

707

165

2,309

135

2,827
4,066
7,600

165

2,309

135

Provisions - further information
Clinical negligence
£141,982m (31 March 2013: £80,881m) is included in the provisions of the NHS Litigation
Authority at 31 March 2014, in respect of the estimated clinical negligence liabilities of the
Foundation Trust.
Pensions
The measure of the Foundation Trust's pension liability for early retired staff was recalculated in
2012-13, using the Office for National Statistics life expectancy tables. Expected future cash
flows have been discounted using the real discount rate of 2.2% (set by HM Treasury) to
determine the full liability.
Legal claims
The provision is based upon information provided by the NHS Litigation Authority and refers to
non-clinical claims against the Foundation Trust (e.g. public and employer's liability cases).
Other
The Foundation Trust has provided £0.071m (31 March 2013: £0.135m) for outstanding
Employment Tribunal cases and associated legal fees.

19

Contingencies

Contingent liabilities
Non-clinical legal claims

31
March
2014
£000

31 March
2013
£000

97

99

The above contingencies refer to non-clinical legal claims, dealt with by the NHS Litigation
Authority on behalf of the Foundation Trust.
The Foundation Trust has no contingent assets.
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20

Contracted capital commitments

Property, plant and equipment

31
March
2014
£000

31 March
2013
£000

45,550

2,245

These contracts include the Critical Care Unit (£42.640m), the Energy Performance Contract
(£1.728m), the Endoscopy department (£296k), Sitewide Infrastructure (£80k), Infill 4 (£162k),
Portakabins on PRUH site (£570k) and other projects totalling £74k.
It is anticipated that all these projects will be completed in the next financial year.

21

Revaluation reserve

A 1 April
Transfers by absorption from
SLHT
Impairments
Revaluations
Disposals
At 31 March

22

31
March
2014

31 March
2013

Intangible
s
£000

Property,
plant and
equipmen
t
£000

Total
£000

Total
£000

48

87,488

87,536

85,979

48

280
(2,139)
59,758
(438)
144,949

280
(2,139)
59,758
(438)
144,997

(4,766)
6,730
(407)
87,536

PFI - additional information

22.1 On SoFP liabilities

238

31 March
2014
£000

31 March
2013
£000

Gross PFI liabilities

448,902

206,139

Of which liabilities are due:
- not later than one year
- later than one year and not later than five years
- later than five years
Total

20,479
78,954
349,469
448,902

8,246
32,982
164,911
206,139
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Finance charges allocated to future periods
Net PFI liabilities
Of which liabilities are due:
- not later than one year
- later than one year and not later than five years
- later than five years
Total
22.2

(129,750)
76,389

3,199
12,135
144,888
160,222

804
4,080
71,505
76,389

31 March
2014
£000

31 March
2013
£000

36,627
156,228
994,343
1,187,198

22,246
96,519
722,504
841,269

Commitments

Commitments in respect of the service element will fall due:
- not later than one year
- later than one year and not later than five years
- later than five years
Total

22.3

(288,680)
160,222

PFI Schemes

King's College Hospital
The PFI consisted of two phases: phase 1 (construction of the new Golden Jubilee Clinical
Wing) and phase 2 (refurbishment of the existing Ruskin Wing). The project enabled the
centralisation of acute services on the Denmark Hill site following the transfer of services from
Dulwich Hospital and Mapother House. As part of the scheme, HpC (King's College Hospital)
plc also took responsibility for the provision of site-wide catering, domestic and portering
services from April 2000. As a result recurrent revenue savings were achieved.
The project has been financed by a means of a wrapped, index linked bond guaranteed by
MBIA-AMBAC and debt and equity capital provided by Costain, Skanska, Sodexho and Edison
Capital. The contract period is 38 years. The annual payments by the Trust are dependent on
availability and service quality standards being met.
The commitments above include an inflationary increase of 2.77% based on the rate used for
2013-14.
Princess Royal Hospital - Building PFI
Under the building PFI, United Healthcare (Bromley) Ltd provided the land, building and sitewide hard and soft facilities management at the Princess Royal Hospital.
The capital funding is a combination of senior debt and equity finance. The senior debt financing
was originally provided by way of loan from Commerzbank AG (and others). There was a
refinancing process in 2004 which involved the issue of 3.018% index-linked guaranteed secure
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bonds, repayable in 66 six monthly instalments which commenced in 2004 and will end in 2036,
and are subject to half yearly indexation in line with RPI.
Princess Royal Hospital - Managed equipment services PFI
The MES PFI Scheme agreement dated 22 March 2002 is a 30 year PFI agreement and relates
to the purchase of medical equipment, and the installation, maintenance and replacement of this
and other clinical equipment. This agreement is between (1) The Trust, (2) United Healthcare
(Bromley) Limited and (3) Healthsource (Bromley) Limited and commenced on the 1st of
January 2003.

23

Financial instruments

23.1

Risk profile and management

Financial risk management
Financial reporting standard IFRS 7 requires disclosure of the role that financial instruments
have had during the period in creating or changing the risks a body faces in undertaking its
activities. Because of the continuing service provider relationship that the Foundation Trust has
with NHS England and clinical commissioning groups, and the way those commissioners are
financed, the Foundation Trust is not exposed to the degree of financial risk faced by business
entities. Also financial instruments play a much more limited role in creating or changing risk
than would be typical of listed companies, to which the financial reporting standards mainly
apply. The Foundation Trust has limited powers to borrow or invest surplus funds and financial
assets and liabilities are generated by day-to-day operational activities rather than being held to
change the risks facing the Foundation Trust in undertaking its activities.
The Foundation Trust's treasury management operations are carried out by the finance
department, within parameters defined formally within the Foundation Trust's standing financial
instructions and policies agreed by the board of directors. This treasury activity is subject to
review by the internal auditor.
Currency risk
The Foundation Trust is principally a domestic organisation with the great majority of
transactions, assets and liabilities being in the UK and sterling based. The Foundation Trust has
no overseas operations. The Foundation Trust therefore has low exposure to currency rate
fluctuations.
Interest rate risk
34% of the Foundation Trust's financial assets and 100% of its financial liabilities carry nil or
fixed rates of interest. The Foundation Trust is not, therefore, exposed to significant interest-rate
risk. The two tables below show the interest rate profiles of the Foundation Trust's financial
assets and liabilities.
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Credit risk
Because the majority of the Foundation Trust's revenue comes from contracts with other public
sector bodies, the Foundation Trust has low exposure to credit risk. The maximum exposures
as at 31 March 2014 are in receivables from customers, as disclosed in the trade and other
receivables note.
Liquidity risk
The Foundation Trust’s operating costs are incurred under contracts with clinical commissioning
groups and NHS England, which are financed from resources voted annually by Parliament.
The Foundation Trust funds its capital expenditure from funds obtained within its prudential
borrowing limit. The Foundation Trust is not, therefore, exposed to significant liquidity risks.

23.2

Financial assets

Gross financial assets
at 31 March 2014
at 31 March 2013

Total

Floating
rate

Fixed
rate

Noninterest
bearing

£000

£000

£000

£000

160,095
77,236

54,535
40,502

-

105,560
36,734

The weighted average interest rate for total financial assets was 0.3% (2012-13: 0.3%).
The weighted average period for which fixed years was unlimited (2012-13: unlimited).
The non-interest bearing weighted average term years was nil (2012-13: nil).

23.3

Financial liabilities

Gross financial liabilities
at 31 March 2014
at 31 March 2013

Total

Floating
rate

Fixed
rate

Noninterest
bearing

£000

£000

£000

£000

340,862
176,444

-

218,515
102,863

122,347
73,581

The weighted average interest rate for total financial liabilities was 8.6% (2012-13: 9.6%).
The weighted average period for which fixed years was unlimited (2012-13: unlimited).
The non-interest bearing weighted average term years was nil (2012-13: nil).
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23.4

Fair values of financial assets by category

Trade and other receivables
Cash and cash equivalents
Total
23.5

31 March
2014
£000

31 March
2013
£000

105,560
54,535
160,095

36,734
40,502
77,236

31 March
2014
£000

31 March
2013
£000

50,632
160,222
122,252
8,030
341,136

16,484
76,388
73,363
10,209
176,444

Fair values of financial liabilities by category

Borrowings (excluding finance leases and the PFI liability)
Obligations under PFI arrangements
Trade and other payables excluding non-financial liabilities
Provisions under contract
Total

Fair value is not significantly different to book value, because in the calculation of book value the
expected cash flows have been discounted by the HM Treasury discount rate of 2.2% in real
terms.
23.6

Maturity of financial liabilities

In one year or less
In more than one year but not more than two years
In more than two years but not more than five
years
In more than five years
Total

242

31 March
2014
£000

31 March
2013
£000

127,958
7,102

78,618
2,679

23,681
182,395
341,136

13,780
81,367
176,444
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24

Third party assets

At 31 March 2014, the Foundation Trust held £11,618 (31 March 2013: £13,687) cash at bank
and in hand that related to monies held by the Foundation Trust on behalf of patients. This has
been excluded from the cash at bank and in hand figure reported in the accounts.

25

Events after the reporting period

There have been no material adjusting or non-adjusting events after 31 March 2014.

26

Related parties

King's College Hospital NHS Foundation Trust is a body corporate established by order of the
Secretary of State for Health.
During the year, none of the Board members, the Foundation Trust's governors, members of the
key management staff or parties related to them have undertaken any material transactions with
the Foundation Trust.
The Department of Health is regarded as a related party. During the year, the Foundation Trust
has had a significant number of material transactions with the Department, and with other
entities for which the Department is regarded as the parent department.
The main local commissioners are Lambeth, Southwark, Lewisham, and Bromley Clinical
Commissioning Groups (CCGs). Significant commissioning is also carried out by NHS England.
In addition, the Foundation Trust has transacted with a large number of other CCGs and NHS
Trusts, as well as the NHS Litigation Authority and the NHS Business Services Authority
(including NHS Supply Chain).
The Foundation Trust has also received revenue and capital payments from a number of
charitable funds, principally the King's College Hospital Charitable Fund.
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The Foundation Trust has entered into the following material related party transactions:

Department of Health
NHS England
NHS Bexley CCG
NHS Bromley CCG
NHS Croydon CCG
NHS Dartford, Gravesham And Swanley CCG
NHS Greenwich CCG
NHS Lambeth CCG
NHS Lewisham CCG
NHS Medway CCG
NHS Southwark CCG
NHS Wandsworth CCG
NHS West Kent CCG
Guys And St Thomas NHS Foundation Trust
South London and Maudsley NHS Trust
Lewisham and Greenwich NHS Trust
NHS Litigation Authority
NHS Blood and Transplant
HM Revenue and Customs
King's College Hospital Charitable Fund
GSTS Pathology LLP (associate)

Income
£000
2,804
377,926
16,028
85,094
17,072
8,955
14,246
77,998
29,754
2,936
99,548
2,385
7,700
5,789
3,347
2,150
1,545
674
19,685

Expenditure
£000
116
374
56
1,188
984
4,794
13,336
6,742
35,779

Receivables
£000
98
33,842
3,403
9,518
2,559
648
1,433
2,323
1,619
310
8,430
469
806
2,639
1,271
2,491
169
223
840

Payables
£000
1,580
1,741
117
1,324
145
26
1,060
354
1,370
22
2,958
389
5,566
8
518
5,744
967

In addition, there were many transactions with King's College London (which is not a related party) in respect
of education, training and research and development.
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Losses and special
27 payments
2013-14
Number
Losses of cash due to:
- theft, fraud etc
3
- overpayment of salaries
21
Bad debts and claims abandoned in relation
to:
- private patients
364
- overseas visitors
696
- other
Damage to buildings, property etc
due to:
- theft, fraud etc
13
Total losses
1,097
Special, ex-gratia, payments due
to:
- loss of personal effects
Total special payments
Total losses and special
payments

Value
£000

2012-13
Number

Value
£000

0
11

3
30

505
38

236
3,078
-

74
112
221

42
598
135

5
3,330

8
448

3
1,321

20
20

12
12

17
17

7
7

1,117

3,342

465

1,328

In 2013-14 there were no cases where the loss or special payment exceeded £250,000 (201213: 1).
Losses and special payments are disclosed on an accruals, rather than a cash, basis, but
exclude provision for future losses.
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28 Transfers by absorption
Dissolution of South London Healthcare NHS Trust
The Secretary of State for Health accepted the recommendations made by the Trust Special
Administrator which led to the dissolution of South London Healthcare NHS Trust (SLHT) on 30
September 2013.
As a result of the dissolution of SLHT, SLHT's assets, liabilities and reserves were assigned to the
five receiving organisations on 1 October 2013. The assets and liabilities received by King's
College Hospital NHS Foundation Trust are detailed as follows:
£000
Non-current assets
Property, plant and equipment
Intangible assets
Trade and other receivables
Total non-current assets
Current assets
Inventories
Trade and other receivables
Total current assets
Total assets
Current liabilities
Trade and other payables
Provisions
Borrowings
Total current liabilities
Non-current assets less net current liabilities
Non-current liabilities
Provisions
Borrowings
Total non-current liabilities
Total Assets Employed

150,835
266
1,031
152,132
2,220
2,101
4,321
156,453

(4,921)
(81)
(1,200)
(6,202)
150,251

(350)
(84,359)
(84,709)
65,542

The transfer of services from SLHT has been accounted for by use of absorption accounting in line
with the Treasury Financial Reporting Manual (the FReM). The FReM does not require retrospective
adoption and requires that entities account for their transactions in the period in which they took
place, with no restatement of performance required when functions transfer within the public sector.
The gain resulting from the transfer of assets and liabilites from SLHT has been recognised in the
Statement of Comprehensive Income, and disclosed separately from operating costs.
The information relating to assets and liabilities transferring to the Trust was supplied by the SLHT
Legacy Office on the 17th of April 2014.
The information below provides a split of the Trust's income and expenditure between the Denmark
Hill Site (including new services on the Orpington Site) (KCH) and the Princess Royal University
Hospital (including Beckenham Beacon, Queen Mary's Sidcup and existing Orpington Sites) (PRUH).
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KCH
12
months
£000

PRUH

Total

6 months
£000

2013-14
£000

Operating income from continuing operations
Operating expenses of continuing operations
Operating surplus

769,843
(752,754)
17,089

122,211
(119,121)
3,090

892,054
(871,875)
20,179

Finance income
Finance expense - financial liabilities
Finance expense - unwinding of discount on
provisions
PDC Dividends payable
Net finance costs

169
(10,520)

(6,539)

169
(17,059)

(151)
(8,479)
(18,981)

(14)
(1,716)
(8,269)

(165)
(10,195)
(27,250)

Share of profit of associates
accounted for using the equity method

1,278

-

1,278

Deficit from continuing operations

(614)

(5,179)

(5,793)
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To clarify details of this report contact:
Foundation Trust Office
King’s College Hospital NHS Foundation Trust
Denmark Hill
London SE5 9RS
Email: kch-tr.FTO@nhs.net
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